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1. Message from the Chairman
To the Members of Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, S.A.,
The year under review was marked by a significant crisis in some of the countries in which we
operate. Although we have witnessed a growth of the global economy, with forecasts
suggesting a global GDP growth rate of 3.1%, we have also witnessed an economic recession in
countries such as Angola and Brazil and also a devaluation of oil surprising for its the amplitude
and speed. In the eurozone, the reference interest rates of the major central banks continue at
historically low levels. During 2015 speculation as to a possible exit of Greece from the
eurozone and the progressive devaluation of the currency against the dollar, down by about
10.2%, were striking topics.
During the 2015, the Orey Group tried to solidify its strategy, developing the various business
areas, keeping the focus on financial services and carrying out some divestments in nonfinancial areas. During the year now ended all authorisations were obtained for the acquisition
on January 8, 2016, of 49.99% of the share capital of Banco Inversis, increasing the Group’s
presence in Spain and its exposure to the financial sector.
Banco Inversis, whose acquisition was successfully concluded by Orey, is a financial institution
in Spain that offers execution, settlement and custody services, and also allows total
outsourcing lf operations, IT and the "back-office" for its clients. In this way, Banco Inversis
stands as a provider of highly qualified services and permits high efficiency gains. In 2015,
Inversis performed well, increasing its assets under custody by 7.5% compared to 2014 to
stand at €53.4 billion and generating a net income of €6.4 million.
At the beginning of 2016 Inversis announced that it had reached agreement to acquire the
business of RBC Investor & Treasury Services in Spain, which will help to consolidate Inversis in
the Spanish market as a strong player and will open up the way for it to have a very promising
growth in the future.
The year was one of consolidation of processes for the business of Orey Financial, which
includes the Group's financial services directed at the retail segments. In Portugal, in online
brokerage, efficiency improved and commissions grew, very relevant facts in a particularly
difficult and extremely competitive market context. In Spain the number of clients continues to
increase, demonstrating that it is a market with potential, one that Orey Financial intends to
develop.
In terms of Private Equity, we continued to undertake active and timely management of assets
and of capital invested. During 2015, and in keeping with the established strategy, the Group
made no new investments in this area, having continued to look for opportunities to create
value through the sale of assets.
4
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In Brazil, where we have capital invested vehicle companies for alternative investments,
distressed assets in particular, we have continued to move forward in the resolution of the
legal proceedings underway involving vehicle companies FAWSPE and OPINCRIVEL. I am
confident that we are on the right path to materialisation of the return on these investments,
although it may still be a path the length of which in not dependent depend on us. In this
sense, the maturity originally scheduled for November 30, 2016, for the bond of vehicle
company Araras Finance BV (used to finance FAWSPE in the purchase of credits in Brazil) will
probably not be enough for the materialisation of the operation. Although the management
team of the vehicle company is currently conducting several measures and negotiations, which
are expected to be concluded favourably, the resources required to settle of the liabilities of
this vehicle company have not yet been assured.
With regard to real-estate investments, the Group has been reducing its exposure in the sector
and, during 2015, it sold several properties in Portugal. During 2016 our strategy woll be to
continue to sell the real-estate assets in the portfolio.
In this connection, the Group Orey generated presented results of €3.049 billion.
To continue with our strategy and achieve our goals, we launched a major project of
reorganisation, simplification of the structure and costs-cutting to be implemented in 2016, as
well as several measures to balance our balance sheet and lend it long-term sustainability.
We have a team of recognised management skills and ambition, one that is prepared to face
the future with enthusiasm. I am sure that 2016 begins with challenges but also offers good
opportunities. We are working to take advantage of them in the best possible way!
A word of thanks to clients, suppliers, banks and investors, for their support and for their trust
in Orey. A word in closing for our shareholders and for the teams of the various Group
companies; without them 2015 would not have been possible.
Thank you all.
Duarte d’Orey
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2. Macroeconomic Review
According to estimates of the growth of the global economy and despite successive downward
revisions of its growth rates, the projections now suggest stabilisation of the economic growth
rates. It can therefore be expected that in 2015 global GDP is set to have returned a growth
rate of 3.1% (3.4% in 2014). This lower growth is largely due to the economic slowdown in the
emerging countries.
With regard to evolution of interest rates, despite the differing behaviour in the context of
monetary policy implemented in the various economic blocs, the reference interest rates in
the US in December increased, contrary to what occurred in the eurozone, where the
benchmark interest rates of the major central banks remain at historically low levels (ECB
0.05%, BoE 0.50% FED 0.25%-0.50%, BoJ -0.10%).
Thus, in an environment where there was a gradual increase in volatility and speculation of a
possible Greek exit from the eurozone and with the slowdown of growth of the Chinese
economy, the low levels of the reference interest rates in the European markets provided an
economic growth rate in the eurozone estimated at 1.5% in 2015. However, the Consumer
Price Index aggregate stagnated (0.0%), though with a slight improvement in that in 2014 it
had decreased by 0.4%.
In this context, the active role that the ECB adopted managed to normalise money-market and
risk-premium conditions of the eurozone. The single currency depreciated against the dollar in
2015 by about 10.2%, with the EUR/USD closing the year at 1.0866 (1.2100 in 2014).
With regard to the Portuguese economy, in general, and despite the country's bailout
programme finalised in 2014, the fiscal consolidation goals for correction of the excessive
deficit remained in place. It should be noted that even in this context there was an
acceleration of GDP growth to 1.5% in 2015 (compared to 0.9% in 2014). This improvement
was largely due to increased domestic demand to the dynamism of exports, despite the
slowdown in demand from some foreign trading partners, as was the case of Angola, where
growth in 2015 slowed compared to the previous year.
The unemployment rate, though still high, continued the downward trend seen in recent
years, standing at 12.4% in 2015 compared to 13.9% in 2014.
The country's 10-year borrowing costs were somewhat volatile, primarily due to the rise of risk
perception in the middle of the year, closing the year the 10-year yield at 2.52% (2.69% in
2014). During 2015, Portugal was able to repay in advance about €8.4 billion of the loan
obtained from the IMF. With this repayment, Portugal has managed to amortise about 29% of
the total loan obtained.
For 2016, Portugal is expected to have an economic growth rate of 1.5%.
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3. Strategic positioning and analysis of the business areas
Even though it's a centennial company, and despite having started its activity in the industrial
sectors, selling iron, steel and machinery, and in shipping and transport, in recent years the
Orey Group has chosen the financial area as strategic , and it has consistently strengthened its
position in this area, in both the domestic and the foreign markets. At this time the financial
sector accounts for about 51.1% of the Group's assets.

Even taking into account the focus on the financial sector in Portugal and Spain, the Group
maintains continues to be present on the most diverse areas in several countries, though there
are close ties with Brazil, Angola and Mozambique.
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The holding company Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, ("SCOA”) focuses on the
strategic management of the entire Group, including implementation of the process of
strategic allocation in accordance with the investment criteria and weighting targets for each
asset class established by the board of directors.

Note 1: It should be noted that the percentage of SCOA’s holding (through OFH, Sàrl) on Banco
Inversis is 49.99999936%, but for the sake of simplicity in this document it is stated at a
holding of 49.99%. This percentage does not take into account the Bank's treasury shares in its
portfolio; taking into account the own portfolio, the percentage of Orey's holding in Banco
Inversis would 48.967%.

Financial Area
In the financial sector the Group has strategic assets, and it is involved in their management,
for which long-term management has been established. In Portugal, the Orey Group focuses
on the financial sector though its subsidiary Orey Financial - Instituição Financeira de Crédito,
8

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

S.A. (“Orey Financial”, “OF”). In the case of Spain, the focus in the financial sector is dealt with
by Banco Inversis.
Orey Financial
Orey Financial is a company that has operated in the market since 2004, the goal being to
provide the best financial solutions in keeping with the needs and characteristics of each
client. In Portugal Orey Financial is an entity licenced to operate in the financial market as a
Financial Credit Institution.
An agreement was closed between the Orey Financial and the Domusvenda Group in February
2016 for the sale of the financial credit company, Orey Financial’s present business coming to
be carried on by a financial brokerage company.
Orey Financial is also present in Spain (since 2008), where it operates through a branch
engages in brokerage business, and in Brazil, through the Distressed Assets, Private Equity,
Corporate Finance, Real Estate, Private Wealth and Asset Management areas.
As at December 31, 2015 & 20134, total assets under management and net commissions of
Orey Financial on a consolidated basis were as follows:
Thousand euros

Total Orey Financial

31.Dec.2015

31.Dec.2014

15 vs. 14

Assets under Management/Custody

159 000

173 341

-8,3%

Net Commissions*

6 122

5 995

2,1%

* Total commissions including those not directly related with assets under management/custody

On those dates, assets under management/ custody were broken down by Orey Financial's
business areas as follows:
Thousand euros

Assets under Management/Custody

31.Dec.2015

31.Dec.2014

15 vs. 14

Online Brokerage

49 469

54 996

-10,0%

Investment Consultancy & Discretionary Management

58 763

62 775

-6,4%

Real-estate Investment Funds

12 362

11 484

7,6%

Private Equity Funds

24 602

25 263

-2,6%

Liability Management

13 804

18 823

-26,7%

Total

159 000

173 341

-8,3%

During 2015, the most relevant aspects of the business of each of these areas can be
summarised as follows:
Online Brokerage : regarding the online brokerage area in Portugal, and considering the annual
evolution, and despite the decrease of assets under custody (15.6% compared with 2014), the
volume of transactions rose considerably (13.3% compared with 2014), in particular in CFDs
and Forex, this business area having achieved significant growth. Net commissions were also
9
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up 3.2% compared with 2014, primarily as a result of the increase of the volume of
transactions, in the Forex market on particular. An additional note is warranted for the 12.4%
growth of the number of clients compared to 2014, demonstrating the growing interest in the
use of a transactional platform when investors take their decisions.
Thousand euros

Brokerage Portugal

31.Dec.2015

31.Dec.2014

15 vs. 14

Assets under Custody

20 289

24 045

-15,6%

Transaction volume (CFD and FX)

11 250 338

9 928 562

13,3%

Net Commissions

3 174

3 076

3,2%

Nº of Clients

4.091

3.639

12,4%

The business of the Branch in Spain continued the trend of growth, marked by a significant
increase of new clients (20% compared to 2014). However, assets under management
decreased 5.7% compared to the same period of the previous year. Net commissions
accompanied this downward trend, having fallen 13.8% compared to 2014, despite the 3.3%
increase of transactions carried out on CFD and Forex, compared to the same period of the
previous year.

Thousand euros

Brokerage Spain

31.Dec.2015

31.Dec.2014

15 vs. 14

Assets under Custody

29 180

30 950

-5,7%

Transaction volume (CFD and FX)

4 052 062

3 924 498

3,3%

Net Commissions

1 050

1 218

-13,8%

Nº of Clients

2.926

2.438

20,0%

Investment Consultancy: 2015 was marked by increasing demand for risk assets by investors
during the first half of the year, followed by a significant reduction as from mid-August
because of lower economic growth of the Chinese economy. On the other hand, with the
buyback programme announced by the ECB and the historically low interest rates, investors
sought alternatives returns against a backdrop of significantly low and even negative yields (as
was the case of shorter maturities). In this way the investment consultancy service sought to
respond to the clients’ investment needs, taking into account the economic situation in the
various economic blocs and the strategic orientation presented by the institution.
Real-Estate Investment Funds: the real estate market was one of the economic sectors in
Portugal most negatively affected by the economic climate of the past five years. The
combination of strong banking deleveraging with a sharp drop of funding available for the
sector continues to lead to a relevant increase of insolvencies of construction and real-estate
companies, which are at unprecedented levels in this sector.
With regard to the funds managed by Orey Financial, at the end of 2015 two funds were
active, with a net asset value of €12.4 million.
10
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Private Equity Funds: Orey Financial has focused its business in this area on the Orey Capital
Partners Transports and Logistics SCA (“SICAR”), (a buyout fund in essence), the indicators of
which as at December 31, 2015 & 2014, were as follows:

Thousand euros

Private Equity Fund

31.Dec.2015

31.Dec.2014

15 vs. 14

Assets under Management

24 602

25 263

-2,6%

Net Commissions

465

431

7,8%

The decline of the appreciation of assets is the result of the current risk perception of the
developing markets (Angola and Mozambique), which translates into a reduction of the market
multiples considered. From an operational performance viewpoint, investments remained at
the previous year's levels.
Corporate Finance and Liability Management: the Corporate Finance area of Orey Financial
provides clients with a broad range of advisory services: Mergers, Acquisitions and Sales
(M&A); Finance Advisory; Project Finance; Company and Business Valuation; Corporate
Restructuring; Business Strategy; Structuring and and Setting Up Investment Vehicles.
Additionally, through Orey Financial Brasil Capital Markets, we added management of
Distressed Assets and Special Situations to the Corporate Finance services.
Throughout 2015, in addition to carrying out services already mandated, new Corporate
Finance services were provided (e.g. M&A, Valuation, Finance Advisory, Business Strategy) and
attracted new investors for operations under management.
Extending credit : in terms of extending credit, Orey Financial focuses on Loans for Acquisition
of Securities (investment Credit), providing support for Investment Consultancy. In a scenario
marked by low interest rates greater investor focus on risk assets without recourse to credit,
there has been a decrease of total of loans granted to clients, as well as less demand by clients
for this type of financial product.
Banco Inversis
Since the agreement reached to acquire a 49.99% stake in Banco Inversis in Spain the Orey
Group’s involvement in the financial area has been strengthened. From the outset, the Group
has been working in conjunction with its partner in the development of the platform and
services of Banco Inversis, not only in Spain where there are clear opportunities for growth and
consolidation but also in international expansion.
The acquisition of the holding in the Bank was completed on January 8, 2016.
The main indicators of Banco Inversis in December 2015 compared with December 2014 are as
follows:
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Inversis - Main Indicators - Consolidated
Net Commi s s i ons
Fi na nci a l Ma rgi n
Res ul ts from Fi na nci a l Opera tions a nd Others
Activity Income
Net Income
Net As s ets
Total Assets
Equi ty

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
25,045
20,387
11,962
19,654
10,885
10,636
47,892
50,677
6,382
10,155
142,902
668,402
45,569

157,063
878,660
39,217

Var.
22.85%
-39.14%
2.34%
-5.50%
-37.15%
-9.02%
-23.93%
16.20%

Other Indicators
Ti er 1 Ra tio
Depos i ts
Mutua l Funds
Equi ty
Fi xed Income
Pens i on Funds
Assets under Custody
Number of Cl i ents
Number of Empl oyees

23.44%

17.62%

310,120
24,850,400
14,273,050
13,781,100
140,340
53,355,010

238,660
21,480,661
13,440,252
14,122,480
370,622
49,652,675

>90
190

29.94%
15.69%
6.20%
-2.42%
-62.13%
7.46%

>90
196

Banco Inversis is a financial institution in Spain that offers execution, settlement and custody
services, as well as allowing its institutional clients to outsource operations services, from
front end to back office. This portfolio of services also includes management of the
transactions and of the operational and tax information of the accounts of the end customers,
in what could be said to be a B2B2C model. Inversis was born in 2001, leveraging a group of
shareholders that were relevant players in the financial and the technology sectors.
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In 2016, Banco Inversis entered into a process directed at the purchase of the whole of the
business carried on by the Spanish subsidiaries of RBC Investor & Treasury Services (RBC I&TS),
which form part of the Royal Bank of Canada (RBC). The agreement reached for this acquisition
will allow its customer base to grow to include major global institutions, as is the case of RBC,
assets under custody increasing by about €30 billion, with customer numbers rising to more
than 110, both in Spain and in Latina America.

Non-financial area
Private Equity
Since the creation of the private equity fund for the non-financial sector the company has
been adding to this fund all its holdings in the shipping, security and industry areas, thus
maximising the synergies of the group.
The main strategy of this fund is directed at attracting capital from outside investors with a
view to increasing the Group's involvement in these business areas, boosting the considerable
know-how and expertise of the management teams. Orey is involved in Private Equity through
the SICAR fund, incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg, a venture capital investment
company managed by Orey Capital Partners GP.
The SICAR is a sector fund that aims to achieve higher returns and capital growth over the
medium and long term, incorporating all of the Group’s traditional, non-financial companies
operating in the Iberian Peninsula, Brazil and Africa, Angola and Mozambique in particular.
At the end of 2015 the SICAR was valued at €23.01 million (€25.3 million in 2014), in
accordance with a marke--multiples valuation.

Currently the Group's strategy is to manage ongoing projects, no new investments in this area
being expected.
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Alternative Investments
Alternative Investments are understood to be those where the return does not depend on the
market, but on other factors, in particular the ability to manage the portfolio and other
external factors. This includes hedge funds, special-situation funds, distressed funds and all
types of non-classical investments.
Through Orey Financial Brazil, Orey has identified the business opportunities resulting from the
acquisition and management of bankrupt estates of great potential surplus, but are locked in
complex litigation and negotiation processes. Though complex, the plan of action and
management of bankrupt estates allowed the Group to deepen its knowledge of these
matters, thus expanding its area ofoperation. These investments currently relate to FAWSPE
and OP Incrível, both relating to distressed situations in Brazil. These investments have a
duration of more than one year and their return is realisable only at the end of the process.
Real Estate
Real Estate is understood to mean direct or indirect real-estate investments in any territory.
The investments may be undertaken from a standpoint of leasing or of property development.
The aim is to achieve annual returns of 8%.
The company’s real estate business seeks to its productivity and to manage administrative,
technical and commercial aspects related to this business. The Group's real estate assets are
currently held by two companies: SCOA and Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA (“OG”I).
The primary aim of the creation of OGI was to allow greater efficiency in the management of
the real-estate assets, both through better use of the premises by Group companies, and
through the income generated in the form of rents received from external companies.
The Group’s strategy in respect of real-estate investment, within the context of the focus on
the financial sector, involves divesting in assets held in the portfolio that are not strategic for
the Group in order to be able to invest in the financial area, as said earlier.
The Group's properties are detailed hereunder:
Real Estate investments

Total area (m2)

Onwer
company

R. Espírito Santo nº 187 Leça de Palmeira - Matosinhos

732

OGI

R. Roberto Ivens nº 317, R/C e 1º - Matonsinhos

407

OGI

Two carehouses located at the Leziria Park logistic
complex at Forte da Casa - Vila Franca de Xira

4,370

OGI

R. Maria Isabel Saint Léger, 20 Alcântara

2,134

OF

794

SCOA

R. Maria Isabel Holstein, 18
Campo Caído, Guimarães

66

Note: OGI is Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA; OF is Orey FinancialInstitução Financeira de Crédito, SA
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By focusing on increasing its holdings in the financial area, the Orey Group has an ongoing
process of reducing exposure to non-strategic assets and reinvesting those resources on
growth opportunities in the area of financial services and in reducing the consolidated debt of
the Group.
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4. Presentation of Accounts, Financial Information
Following the General Meeting held on June 1, 2009, at which the transfer of the non-financial
businesses of the Group to a Private Equity Fund was approved, 2011 marked the beginning of
the implementation of the new consolidation method that reflects this positioning of the
Group as an investment holding company. Later, in the first half of 2012 the non-financial subholding companies were transferred to the Private Equity Fund, and were recorded in the
financial position as financial investments, due to the sale of shares in the entities engaged in
these activities, and also to the formalisation of shareholders' agreements. These
shareholders' agreements came about in the wake of the Orey transformation process,
reflected in the implementation of a joint-control model, replacing the individual control that
the Group had employed till then.
Following the conclusion of these transformations by the end of 2012, it was decided in 2013
to alter the model of presentation of the accounts, migrating the accounts to the model
employed by financial institutions, in both its separate accounts and its consolidated accounts.
This change took place to the extent that the Company believes that its consolidated accounts
mainly reflect the records of the financial companies in Portugal and abroad, or other
companies whose business falls within this presentation model.
With regard to the statutory consolidated accounts, also mentioned is the distressed assets
segment, which consists of two insolvency projects called OPINCRÍVEL and ARARAS. These
projects have a duration of more than one year and their return is realisable only at the end of
the process. Given that these are uncertain-return processes in accordance with international
regulations in force, the expenses inherent in these processes shall be fully recognised as
expenses in the period they occur. A best estimate shall then be made of the amounts of
income to be recognised in their respect, reflecting the prospect of a return on this business.
Pro forma accounts

In order to simplify the analysis and understanding of the Company's accounts, in particular
the of the business of the financial sector, the accounts are presented and analysed on a pro
forma basis. Compared to the statutory accounts, the pro forma accounts present the
following reclassifications in the statement of income: (1) the distressed assets segment is
disclosed only by the contribution margin, and the inherent costs and income are cancelled out
under in the various headings; (2) the financial costs associated with the distressed assets are
also purged so as to allow effective analysis of the financial performance of the Group and (3)
the private equity segment incorporates not only the impact of equity method of those
subsidiaries and joint ventures that it does not consolidate, in line with what happens in the
statutory accounts, but also the result of discontinuing operations (available-for-sale noncurrent assets and liabilities).
In the statement of financial position (balance sheet) the reclassifications are as follows: (1)
the distressed assets segment is presented on a separate basis, and (2) the private equity

16
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segment is also presented separately, discontinuing operations being presented with the
assets net of the corresponding liabilities.
Financial analysis

With regard to the statement of income, the performance of the Orey Group during 2015 was
marked by the following factors:
(1) The Orey Financial’s contribution to the consolidated net income of the Group, with
regard to the product of the business, is down 13% compared to 2014, at €5.48
million. This decrease was due primarily to a reduction in the volume of credit
extended, which had adverse impact on the net interest income generated in the
period.
(2) The contribution of the product of investment activity in 2015 rose 27% to €13.84
million, compared to €10.88 million. This growth is primarily the result of recording the
holding acquired in Bank Inversis at market value. On the other hand, in 2015 no
margin was recorded arising from the business in Brazil, which penalised the evolution
of the product of investment activity. In this way, a prudent perspective view is
recorded of the developments related to the judgement of the motion for clarification
in respect of A. Araújo at the Special Court of the Supreme Court of Justice (STJ) of
Brazil, which have not yet been judged. The margin of Brazil was also penalised by the
devaluation of the real in Brazil, which reduced the margin by €6.93 million.
(3) The Group's consolidated overheads rose 12.6 % in 2015, compared to 2014, to €12.1
million. This performance is essentially the result of by the increase of general
administrative expenses in the amount of €439k to €5.10 million in 2015. There was
also an increase of staff costs by about €441k compared to 2014 to €6.53 million. The
increase of general and administrative costs by about €439k compared to 2014 is
primarily the result of recognition of expenses with the completion of the Inversis
project. In 2015 the sum of €0.48 million was also recorded under Other operating
costs related to the Group’s shared-services platform, which in 2014 were considered
under EBITDA.
(4) Orey's consolidated EBITDA amounted (in the pro forma accounts) to €6.15 million,
maintaining a solid level within the context of the Group's business. This growth is
primarily the result of the consolidation of the holding in Inversis, as mentioned above.
(5) The increase of net interest expense is mainly due to the evolution of the Group's
consolidated debt as well as to the 1% increase of the interest rate on the Orey Best
Bond, in that the call option was not exercised in July 2015.
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SCOA CONSOLIDATED
Income Statement
Orey Financial. Net interest income
Orey Financial. Net commissions
Orey Financial. Other operating income
Financial Activity Income
Orey Serviços & Organização Revenue
Real Estate rents
Other operating income
Inversis
Private Equity (equity method)
Brazil margin (revenues less direct costs)
Capital gains
Investment activity income
Consolidated activity income
Staff costs
General administrative costs
Other operating costs
Overheads
Consolidated operating profit
Other operating revenue and income
Other costs & losses
Other income
EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Depreciation/amortisation charges for the period
Provisions and impairments, net
Pre-tax profit
Taxes
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Consolidated net profit of the Orey Group

2015
84,706
5,176,025
220,221
5,480,952
1,476,452
320,964
406,196
13,509,879
(96,434)
(2,684,694)
907,501
13,839,864
19,320,817
(6,527,167)
(5,103,975)
(475,812)
(12,106,953)
7,213,864
381,171
(1,448,631)
(1,067,460)
6,146,404
(2,662,362)
(259,391)
(122,618)
3,102,033
(186,633)
133,392
3,048,793

2014
Var. 2014
310,779
(73%)
5,210,844
(1%)
802,947
(73%)
6,324,570
(13%)
1,495,153
(1%)
351,045
(9%)
1,454,778
(72%)
3,861,902
(102%)
5,330,000
(150%)
(1,612,368)
156%
10,880,509
27%
17,205,079
12%
(6,086,113)
(7%)
(4,664,708)
(9%)
(10,750,821)
(12.6%)
6,454,258
12%
89,126
328%
(1,395,346)
(4%)
(1,306,220)
18%
5,148,038
19%
(2,691,981)
1%
(323,782)
20%
(270,871)
55%
1,861,403
67%
(468,351)
60%
130,538
2%
1,523,590
100%
Monetary Unit - Euros

In the proforma consolidated statement of financial position the following are underscored:
(1) total assets and equity amounted to €126.11 million and €22.85 million, respectively.
(2) The growth of total assets (€24.08 million compared to 2014) is mainly the result of
the impact of the initial book entry of Inversis Bank, as explained below (€35.25
million).
(3) As at December 31, 2015, the current assets of the Orey Group are less than current
liabilities by €29.3 million, and this shortfall includes €24.8 million euros of liabilities
relating to the Araras bond which matures on November 30, 2016. Although we are
currently conducting several measures and negotiations, which are expected to be
concluded favourably, the resources required to settle of the liabilities of this vehicle
company have not been assured as of this date.
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SCOA CONSOLIDATED
Balance Sheet
Cash & equivalents
Loans & advances to customers
Goodwill
Real Estate assets
Other assets
Inversis
Private Equity
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Investments
Non-current assets held for sale, net of related liabilities
Brazil
Loans
Investments
Total Assets
Orey Best
Araras
Orey - NB Vida
Leasing
Other liabilities
Bank loans
Borrowings
Mortgage loans
Total Liabilities
Share capital
Issue premiums
Treasury shares
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves and retained earnings
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

2015
6,277,220
1,248,307
8,745,765
7,743,500
5,506,439
35,245,838
25,787,760
760,745
9,355,911
15,671,105
35,552,442
11,720,697
23,831,745
126,107,271
29,167,741
24,769,397
4,999,564
383,410
15,490,272
28,446,786
22,554,990
5,891,796
103,257,169
12,000,000
6,486,204
-324,132
639,903
1,347,832
3,048,793
-348,499
22,850,102
126,107,271

2014
8,157,639
1,312,344
8,745,765
15,258,100
5,963,821
0
25,206,312
1,764,187
8,942,075
14,500,050
37,383,045
15,594,390
21,788,655
102,027,026
29,881,363
19,912,089
0
4,053,463
13,153,906
11,665,049
5,999,246
5,665,802
78,665,871
12,000,000
6,486,204
-324,132
750,207
3,140,393
1,523,590
-215,106
23,361,155
102,027,026
Monetary Unit - Euros

As previously announced, the impact of the acquisition of the holding in Banco Inversis in the
amount of €35,245,838 was recorded in 2015, which had an impact of €13,509,879 on the on
the P & L in the Orey Group's accounts. Although the deed was formalised only on January 8,
2016, the relevant date for the acquisition of the holding was December 15, 2015, when the
Orey Group met all the conditions for the completion of the transaction. In this connection,
the understanding of SCOA is that (1) by complying with the conditions precedent occurred
prior to the respective deadline, and (2) by obtaining the funding for the outstanding payment
for the acquisition of the holding in Banco Inversis, the irrevocable right to carry out the
purchase is obtained, as is the irrevocable duty to carry it out. In this sense, SCOA believes that
this set of rights and duties has to be reflected in the accounts as an effective -forward
contract, which has to be measured at fair value.
Thus, for purposes of the pro forma financial statements, the impact of the valuation of the
said forward contract (€13.5 million, as mentioned above) is entered in the income statement,
and the overall valuation of the holding in Banco Bank Inversis (€35.2 million euros, as
mentioned above) is carried in the statement of financial position. As for the latter, it should
be noted that, as of December 31, 2015, it consisted of a cash position in the amount of €21.7
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million and of the valuation at fair value of the aforesaid forward contract in the amount €13.5
million.
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5. Human Resources
The Human Resources policies of the Orey Group reflect the guiding principles that underpin
our plans and actions, and drawn up in an articulated manner with the Group's strategic
guidelines, taking human and ethical values into account at all times.
These policies are based on four objectives: attracting the best talent through a recruitment
strategy integrated with the Group's values; promoting the Orey culture among its employees,
and this corporate disclosure will enable the Group to stand out from others for its excellence,
rigour and creativity; acknowledging and rewarding behaviour and performance through an
equitable policy of salaries and benefits; retaining the best through an appropriate talentmanagement strategy, encouraging internal and external mobility.
Selection and Recruitment

The Orey Group gives precedence to internal recruitment as the tool to promote enhancement
of human potential and seeks to provide career-enhancement opportunities, contributing in
this way to the maintenance of high levels of satisfaction and motivation of its talented people.
Additionally, the Group, with its ability to attract talent, is alert to the opportunities of external
resources in order to strengthen its own staff, should it be deemed to constitute an asset.
Along these lines, the Orey Group relies on the collaboration of its partners, in particular
recruitment and selection companies and executive search firms, when there is a need for
external recruitment.
Employee Training and Development

The Training Plan of the Orey Group primarily aims to develop human capital in a systematic
way through a performance-management and ongoing training strategy. Encouraging the
involvement of various hierarchical levels in the training process and including the Orey Values
in the formation programmes as well as in the career-development processes in order to
develop conducts and attitudes appropriate to and consistent with the Values and Culture of
the company.
The definition and implementation of training courses is directed at the development and
optimisation of skills within the organisation, at ensuring the personal and professional
development of the employees and also at encouraging greater motivation and productivity,
thus increasing the profitability of the Company.
Performance Assessment

The Performance Assessment System at the Orey Group is primarily intended to encourage the
continuous improvement of its employees and if its business, defining a "path" between the
company's expectations and the employee performance, fostering professional motivation and
a dynamic of change.
This system aims to allow employees and the organisation to determine their own
competences, which can be furthered in line with the competences of the organisational
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structure itself, as well as with the Group's values, mission and culture. Another of the Group's
concerns is to identify the effectiveness of the training and to determine employee training
needs, based on ongoing improvement in the performance of their duties.
Remuneration and Incentives

The compensation and benefits policies ensure the external competitiveness of the Orey
Group and foster internal fairness based on merit and results. The Orey Group therefore seeks
to recognise and reward the best performance levels inducing a culture of high alignment
between individual goals and those of the Company, in which employees feel they are
encouraged and treated fairly.
The Group's Human Resources Structure

As at December 31, 2015 & 2014, the number of Group employees by business area was as
follows:

In December 2015 the total number of employees included in the companies consolidated
using full consolidation and those included in the Private Equity fund was 478 (510 in
December 2014, a decrease of 32 (6% compared to 2014).

22

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

6. Risk Management Objective and Policies
Risk management is crucial to sustainable development, since it aims to control the
opportunities and threats that may affect the performance of the Orey Group. This effort to
control the variables to which we are exposed and condition the success of the Group is part of
its commitment to all related parties and stakeholders in the business of the Group.
The strategy risk is deemed to be the main risk to which Orey is exposed. With regard to the
strategy risk, the Executive Committee makes frequent use of external entities – consultants –
with a view to drawing up a strategic plan or to appraise an existing one, which, in conjunction
with the Executive Committee, perform the assessment in the light of the scenarios under
consideration.
Liquidity risk reflects the ability of the Orey Group to meet its financial liabilities, taking into
account the financial resources available in the short term. Orey seeks to have at its disposal
from time to time sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities within the context of the
strategy it has defined. The aim is therefore to have ability capacity to honour commitments to
third parties within the set deadlines. During 2015 the Group continued to manage its debt,
seeking to properly manage the terms of the bank loads in the context of proper management
in the matter of maturity of the debt and of its cost. In this connection, the Group renewed a
comprehensive set of credit lines and issued new financial instruments with a number of credit
institutions. The Group also sought to diversify its relationships with financial institutions and
has been pursuing alternative paths, in particular as regards access to the capital market.
Emphasis is given to the bond issues in May 2015 and March 2016, amounting to €5 million
and €2.1 million respectively. With regard to the liquidity risk, it should be said that, as
mentioned in Note 28 of the consolidated accounts, the Orey Group had, as of December 31,
2015, €24,769,397 of liabilities in respect of the Araras bond loan maturing on November 30,
2016. The Board is carrying out several actions / negotiations, which are expected to be
finalised by that date, to guarantee the satisfaction of that liability by that date. The resources
required for its settlement have not yet been assured as of this date.
The reputational risk is also a relevant risk to which Orey is subject, one transverse to the
entire Group. It is based on the way in which clients, partners, shareholders and investors view
Orey. Their assessment is based on Orey's identity, its vision and strategy, its activity over time
and its social responsibility. Reputational risk is therefore the potential loss of reputation
through negative publicity, loss of income, litigation, decline of the customer base or
departure of important employees.
Operational risk is also considered one of the main risks to which Orey is exposed. It is defined
as the potential occurrence of failures related with people, contractual specifications and
documentation, technology, infrastructure and disasters, projects, external influences and
customer relations. The organisational structure involves roles and responsibilities, determines
the lines of the hierarchy, ensures appropriate communications and provides tools and
systems allowing adequate Operational-Risk management, based at all times on the
Company's size and on its needs.
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Furthermore, the Company, through the Planning & Management Control area, has as a prime
objective a reduction of the impact of these risks and, consequently, of their implications as far
as the business is concerned.
Should a need arise for immediate intervention in any situation/ area revealing the existence
of materially significant risks for the Company, the Executive Committee is prepared to call in
an external consultant for the purpose.
With regard to investment and risk analysis, in the various aspects, the post of assets and
liabilities manager was created at the Company's branch in Madrid. As regards other areas
Orey Financial provides the necessary services to the Company.
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7. Remuneration of Governing Bodies
As at December 31, 2015, remuneration paid to the Company's Governing Bodies has to do
solely with short-term benefits, as follows:
Remuneration earned by key personnel

Dec/15

Board of Directors

1,076,242

Board of Auditors

24,000

Dec/14
1,808,742
24,000
(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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8. Highlights of the year and including subsequent events

2015
03 | 02

On February 3 Orey provides information on management transactions.

30 | 04

On April 30 Orey provides information on the 2014 Consolidated Results.

30 | 04

On April 30 Orey provides information on the 2014 Corporate Governance Report.

05 | 05

On May 5 Orey provides information on the resignation of a member of the Board of
Directors.

05 | 05

On May 5 Orey provides information on the replacement of the representative for
relations with the market and with the Securities Market Commission.

06 | 05

On May 6, Orey provides information on the notice of the General Meeting to be
held on May 28, 2015.

06 | 05

On May 6, Orey provides information on the Proposals to be submitted to the
General Meeting to be held on May 28, 2015 – Items 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10.

06 | 05

On May 6, Orey provides information on the Proposals to be submitted to the
General Meeting to be held on May 28, 2015 – Item 5.

19 | 05

On May 19 Orey provides information on the issue of a bond loan.

28 | 05

On May 28 Orey provides information on the resolutions passed by the General
Meeting on May 28, 2015.

28 | 05

On May 28 Orey provides information on the appointment of an Executive Director.
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28 | 05

On May 28 Orey provides information on the Consolidated Results of the 1st
Quarter of 2015.

29 | 05

On May 29 Orey provides information on the Interim Report for the 1st Quarter of
2015.

23 | 07

On June 23 Orey provides information on the resignation of a member of the Board
of Directors.

31 | 08

On August 31 Orey provides information on the Consolidated Results for the 1st Half
of 2015.

01 | 09

On September 1 Orey provides information on the appointment of the Company’s
Alternate Secretary.

03 | 09

On September 3 Orey issues at Statement of Conformity.

08 | 10

On October 8 Orey provides information on the rating notation issued by ARC
Rating.

28 | 10

On October 28 Orey provides information on the sales of two real-estate investment
properties.

27 | 11

On November 27 Orey provides information on management transactions and
qualifying holdings.

30 | 11

On November 30 Orey provides information on the Consolidated Results for the 3rd
Quarter of 2015.
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2016

08 | 01

The January 8, 2016 Orey provides information on the completion of the acquisition
of Banco Inversis, SA

25 | 02

On February 25, 2016, Orey provides information of the agreement reached with
the Domusvenda Group.

11 | 03

On March 11, 2016, Orey provides information of the offer for of acquisition by
Banco Inversis of the business in Spain of RBC Investor Services and Treasury.

01 | 04

On April 1, 2016, Orey provides information on the issuance of a bond loan.

01 | 04

On April 1, 2016, Orey provides information on the resignation of Director and on
the co-option.
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9. Proposal for the Appropriation of Net Income
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, closed 2015 with net profit determined on a consolidated
basis, in the sum of €3,048,793 and, on a separate basis, a net loss of €1,838,616.
Taking legal and statutory provisions into account, the Board of Directors proposes the following
appropriation of profit:



To Legal Reserve (5%): €0



The remainder to Retained Earnings.

Lisbon, May 25, 2016
The Board of Directors
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10. Treasury Shares
During 2015 the Company did not carry out transactions on treasury shares, the position as at
December 31 standing as follows:
Treasury shares

Quantity

Held as at 31/12/2015 by:
- SCOA

145,385

Average cost

Total Value

2.23

324,132

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As at December 31, 2015, the Company directly and indirectly holds 145,385 shares, corresponding
to 1.21% of the share capital and voting rights.
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11. Orey Share Price
The Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, share capital is represented by 12,000,000
ordinary, dematerialised bearer shares, each of a par value of €1, admitted to listing on
Eurolist by Euronext Lisbon.
As at December 31, 2015, the share price stood at €1.50. The market capitalisation of Orey as of
December 31 was €18 million. The lowest price of the year was €1.179 on September 18, and the
maximum was €2.17 on May 18.

Orey's Share Evolution

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes
2.5

Share Evolution in 2015
Close

1.500

Highest

2.170

Lowest

1.179

Variation

-17.13%

Volume (shares)

108,144

Volume (€)

€ 175,899

Monthly Average Volume
Market Value
Outstanding Shares
Fluctuation

9,012
€ 15,612,000

2
1.5

1.5
1.81

1
0.5
0
dez/14

1º Trim

12,000,000

2º Trim

3º Trim

Orey

2,033,000

Liquidity between 2011 and December 2015 is as follows:
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12. Management Transactions
Pursuant to Article 14.8 of CMVM Regulation 5/2008, Orey informs that it received the following
reports relating to directors' transactions:
During 2015, Juan Lazaro carried out the following directors’ transactions:
Transaction Nº

Transaction type

1
2
3

Purchase
Purchase
Purchase

Quantity

Price

160,492
2,000
500

1.93
1.47
1.35

Settlement Date

Notes

02/02/2015
25/09/2015
07/10/2015

1)
2)
2)

1) Purchase of in Floridablanca Juan Lazaro. Transaction carried out outside the market
2) Purchase made on the stock market

On November 27, 2015, the following transaction of shares by Tristão José da Cunha Mendonça e
Menezes was reported:
Transaction Nº

Transaction type

1
2

Sale
Sale

Quantity
4,444
42,607

Price
1.50
1.50

Settlement Date

Notes

19/11/2015
24/11/2015

1)
2)

1) Transaction carried out on the Euronext Lisbon regulated market
2) Transaction carried out outside the regulated market

Also on November 27, 2015, the following transaction of shares by Duarte Maia de Albuquerque
d’Orey was reported:
Transaction Nº

Transaction type

1
2

Purchase
Purchase

Quantity
4,444
42,607

1) Transaction carried out on the Euronext Lisbon regulated market
2) Transaction carried out outside the regulated market
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2)

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

13. Shares and Securities held by members of the Company's
Governing Bodies
(Under Article 447 of the Companies Code and of Article 14(7) of CMVM Regulation 5/2008)

Members of the Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Francisco dos Santos Bessa
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Alexander Somerville Gibson
Francisco Van Zeller
Juan Celestino Lázaro González
Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes
Total

Members of the Board of Auditors
José Martinho Soares Barroso
Acácio Augusto Lougares Pita Negrão
Nuno de Deus Vieira Paisana Salvador Pinheiro
Total

Held on
31-12-2014
9,252,949
214,252
219,786
160,492
280,458
10,127,937
Held on
31-12-2014
-

Acquired

Transferred

47,051
2,500
49,551

47,051
47,051

Acquired

Transferred

-

-

Held on
31-12-2015
9,300,000
214,252
219,786
162,992
233,407
10,130,437
Held on
31-12-2015
-

Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey: holds directly 47,051 shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA, and indirectly through Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL, 9,252,949 shares representing
77.50% of the voting rights in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, under the terms of Article 20
of the Securities Code (“CVM”).
Francisco dos Santos Bessa: Holds directly no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA;
Alexander Somerville Gibson: As at December 31, 2015, does not directly hold any shares in
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes SA, and holds indirectly through Jane and Melissa Gibson, a
total of 219,785 shares representing 1.83% of the share capital of Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA.
Francisco Van Zeller: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly or
indirectly;
Juan Celestino Lázaro González: As at December 31, 2015, directly holds 162,992 shares,
representing 1.36% of the voting rights, under Article 20 of the Securities Code
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira: As at December 31, 2015, indirectly holds 214,252 shares in Sociedade
Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, through Invespri SGPS, SA, representing 1.79% of the voting rights.
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Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes: holds directly 233,407 shares in Sociedade
Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, representing 1.95% of the voting rights in Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA, under the terms of Article 20 of the Securities Code.
Board of Auditors
José Martinho Soares Barroso: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly
or indirectly;
Acácio Pita Negrão: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly or
indirectly;
Nuno de Deus Pinheiro: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly or
indirectly.
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14. List of Holders with Qualifying Shareholding
(Under Article 448 of the Companies Code and of Article 8.1(b) of CMVM Regulation 5/2008)
As at December 31, 2015, shareholders having qualifying holdings, calculated under Article 20 of
the Securities Code, in the Company's share capital were as follows:

Qualifying Holdings

Quantity

Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
> Directly
> Indirectly:
- Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL
SUB-TOTAL
Joachin Michalski
Miguel de Melo Mardel Correia
> Directly:
> Indirectly through MC FA, SGPS, SA
SUB-TOTAL
TOTAL QUALIFYING HOLDINGS
OTHER
TREASURY SHARES
TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL

% of share
capital

47,051

0.39%

0.39%

9,252,949
9,300,000

77.11%
77.50%

77.11%
77.50%

424,449

3.54%

3.54%

121,211
242,421
788,081
10,088,081
1,766,534
145,385
12,000,000

1.01%
2.02%
6.57%
84.07%
14.72%
1.21%
100.00%

1.01%
2.02%
6.57%
84.07%
14.72%
1.21%
100.00%

Updated information about qualifying holdings in the Company can be found at
http://www.orey.com/investidores/ and on the CMVM website.
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15. Conformance Statement
For the purposes of Article 245.1(c) of the Securities Code, the undersigned, in their capacity as
directors of the company known as “SOCIEDADE COMERCIAL OREY ANTUNES, SA”, a public limited
company having its registered office in Lisbon at Rua Carlos Alberto da Mota Pinto 17, 6º, A, single
VAT and Company Registration number 500 255 342, declare that, to their best knowledge, the
information contained in the condensed financial statements has been drawn up in accordance
with the applicable accounting standards, providing a fair view of the assets and liabilities, of the
financial situation and of the results of the company and of the companies included within the
consolidation perimeter.
They further declare that, to the best of their knowledge, the management report truly and fairly
sets out the evolution of the business, the performance and the situation of the company and of
the companies included within the consolidation perimeter.

Lisbon, May 25, 2016

The Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Nuno Manuel Teiga Luis Vieira (*)
Alexander Somerville Gibson
Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa
Francisco Van Zeller
Tristão José da Cunha Mendonça e Menezes

(*) On March 30, 2016, Juan Celestino Lázaro González resigned as member of the Board of Directors of
SCOA. On April 1, 2016 Nuno Manuel Teiga Luis Vieira was co-opted to complete the current term
(2013-2016).
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16. Report on Corporate Governance
Part I - Information on the shareholder structure, organisation
and governance of the Company
A. SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
I. Share capital structure
1. Share capital structure (share capital, number of shares, distribution of share capital
among shareholders), including indication of shares not admitted to trading, different
categories of shares, rights and duties inherent therein and percentage of the share capital
represented by each category (Article 245-A(1) (a)).

The share capital of Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA (hereinafter "SCOA", "Orey", or
"Company"), in the amount of €12,000,000 (twelve million euros), is represented by 12,0000,000
(twelve million) shares each of a par value of €1, in keeping with Article 5(1) of the Company's
articles of association (hereinafter "Bylaws"). The shares are admitted to trading on the Euronext
Lisbon regulated market. There are 145,385 treasury shares not admitted to trading.

The shares are nominative and dematerialised (see article 5.2 of the Bylaws). The Company's
shares comprise a single category, and they are fully paid up. There are no shares that assign
special rights.
In equity capital increases in cash shareholders enjoy right of preference in subscribing to the new
shares, unless such right is reduced or suppressed by a resolution of the general meeting passed
under the terms of the law for each specific share capital increase. (see article 6 of the Bylaws).

2. Restrictions to the transferability of shares, such as consent clauses for their sale, or
limitations to share ownership (Article 245-A(1) (b)).

Under the Bylaws there are no rules imposing restrictions on the transfer of shares, such as
disposal consent clauses, or limitations to ownership of shares.

3. Number of treasury shares, percentage of share capital and corresponding percentage of
voting rights inherent in the treasury shares (Article 245-A(1) (a)).
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There are 145,385 treasury shares not admitted to trading. These shares represent 1.21% of the
company’s share capital and have no voting rights. Throughout 2015 no treasury shares were
bought or sold.

4. Significant agreements to which the company is a party that come into force, are altered
or cease in the event of change of control of the company in the wake of a take-over bid, as
well as the respective effects, unless, by their nature, the disclosure thereof would be
seriously prejudicial to the company, provided always that the company is not bound to
divulge such information by virtue of other legal imperatives (Article 245-A(1) (j)).
There are no agreements entailing potential restrictions on the transferability of the SCOA shares .

5. Mechanism governing the renewal or revocation of defensive measures, particularly
those that provide for limitation of the number of votes that may be held or exercised by a
single shareholder individually or in concert with other shareholders.
The Company has not adopted defensive measures that automatically cause serious erosion of the
Company's assets in the event of transfer of control or change in the composition of the Board of
Directors, hampering the free transferability of the shares and free appraisal by its shareholders of
the performance of members of the Board of Directors.
Likewise, the Company has not adopted other measures to prevent the success of takeover bids
that could challenge the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

6. Shareholders' agreements known to the company that could lead to restrictions in the
matter of transfer of securities or voting rights (Article 245-A(1) (g)).
The Company is not aware of any shareholders' agreements that could lead to restrictions in the
matter of transfer of securities or voting rights.

II. Shares and Bond holdings
7. Identity of natural or corporate persons who, directly or indirectly, are holders of
qualifying holdings (Articles 245-A(1) (c) and (d) and Article 16), with detailed indication of
the percentage of capital and votes attributable and the source and cause of the imputation.
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As at December 31, 2015, shareholders having qualifying holdings, calculated under Article 20 of
the Securities Code, in the Company's share capital were as follows:

Duarte Maia de Albuquerque D'Orey

Nº of shares

Directly
Through the firm Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL
Total attributable

47,051
9,252,949
9,300,000

% Share capital with
voting rights
0.39%
77.11%
77.50%

Duarte Maia Albuquerque d'Orey holds a total of 9,300,000 ordinary, dematerialised registered
shares each of a par value of one euro, representing 77.5% of the share capital and voting rights of
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes SA, of which 47,051 shares are held directly and the remaining
9,225,949 are held indirectly through the company Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL, whose capital is
wholly owned by the company Orey Control BV, an, in turn, the shall capital the latter wholly is
owned by Duarte Maia Albuquerque d'Orey, directly and through the company Inversiones
Financieras Orey, SL.

Joachin Michalski

Nº of shares

Directly
Total attributable

424,449
424,449

Miguel de Melo Mardel Correia

Nº of shares

Directly
Through the firm MC FA, SGPS, SA
Total attributable

121,211
242,421
363,632

% Share capital with
voting rights
3.54%
3.54%

% Share capital with
voting rights
1.01%
2.02%
3.03%

Miguel de Melo Mardel Correia is a director and shareholder of MC FA, SGPS, SA

8. Indication of the number of shares and bonds held by members of governing bodies.
As at December 31, 2015, shares held by members of governing bodies, in accordance with article
447 of the Companies Code (“CC”) and article 14(7) of CMVM Regulation nº 5/2008 are detailed in
the following table.
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Members of the Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Francisco dos Santos Bessa
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Alexander Somerville Gibson
Francisco Van Zeller
Juan Celestino Lázaro González
Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes
Total

Held on
31-12-2014
9,252,949
214,252
219,786
160,492
280,458
10,127,937

Acquired
47,051
2,500
49,551

Transferred
47,051
47,051

Held on
31-12-2015
9,300,000
214,252
219,786
162,992
233,407
10,130,437

Additionally, the following supplementary information is provided.

Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey: holds directly 47,051 shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA, and indirectly through Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL, 9,252,949 shares representing
77.11% of the voting rights in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, under the terms of Article 20
of the Securities Code (“CVM”).
Francisco dos Santos Bessa: Holds directly no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA;
Alexander Somerville Gibson: As at December 31, 2015, does not directly hold any shares in
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes SA, and holds indirectly through Jane and Melissa Gibson, a
total of 219,785 shares representing 1.83% of the share capital of Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA.
Francisco Van Zeller: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly or
indirectly;
Juan Celestino Lázaro González: As at December 31, 2015, directly holds 162,992 shares,
representing 1.36% of the voting rights, under Article 20 of the Securities Code
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira: As at December 31, 2015, indirectly holds 214,252 shares in Sociedade
Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, through Invespri SGPS, SA, representing 1.79% of the voting rights.
Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes: Holds directly in Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA, 233,407 shares representing 1.95% of the voting rights in Sociedade Comercial Orey
Antunes, SA, under the terms of Article 20 of the Securities Market Code.
Board of Auditors
José Martinho Soares Barroso: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly
or indirectly;
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Acácio Pita Negrão: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly or
indirectly;
Nuno de Deus Pinheiro: Holds no shares in Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, directly or
indirectly.

9. Special powers of the management body, in particular regarding resolutions to increase
share capital (Article 245-A(1) (i)), indicating, as for these powers, the date on which they
were granted, the term during which those powers may be exercised, the maximum
quantitative limit increase of the share capital already issued under the attribution of
powers and means of implementation of the powers conferred.

Pursuant to the law the Board of Directors has the most ample powers of management of the
Company, during its 2013-16 term of office, and is charged with passing resolutions on all matters
and with carrying out all acts legally considered to be exercise of management powers. The Board
of Directors must also comply with the resolutions of the shareholders passed at General Meetings
or the intervention of the Board of Auditors, in cases where the law or the Bylaws so provide.

Additionally, the General Meeting held on May 28, 2015, conferred the following special powers on
the Board of Directors:
(1) To decide on the acquisition of shares, including rights to their acquisition or attribution, up to a
limit of 10% of SCOA's share capital, less any sales made, without prejudice to the quantity
required to fulfil the Company's obligations stemming from the law, contracts or issue of securities
or contractual ties, subject, if applicable, to subsequent sale, under the law, of any shares in excess
of the said limit, and without prejudice to the acquisition of treasury shares for the execution of a
resolution to reduce the share capital approved by the General Meeting, in which case the specific
limits fixed in the reduction resolution shall apply; The period during which the acquisition may be
undertaken is eighteen months as from the date of the resolution passed by the General Meeting.
The remaining terms are detailed in Item 6 (six) adopted at the general meeting of May 28, 2015.
(2) To decide on the sale of treasury shares, including rights to their acquisition or attribution, that
have been acquired, particularly as to the minimum number of shares to be sold and the number of
sale transactions in the light of what may be considered necessary or desirable, from time to time,
for the pursuit of the corporate interest and for the fulfilment of obligations arising from the law or
contract. The period during which the sale may be undertaken is eighteen months as from the date
of the resolution passed by the General Meeting. The remaining terms are detailed in Item 6 (six)
adopted at the general meeting of May 28, 2015.
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(3) To decide on the acquisition and sale of own bonds or other securities or debt securities issued
by the Company and/or its subsidiaries (current and/or future) as defined in item 7 (seven), which
was adopted at the general meeting of May 28, 2015. The period during which the acquisition
and/or sale may be undertaken is eighteen months as from the date of the resolution passed by
the General Meeting.
(4) To resolve on the suppression of the preference right of the shareholders in the share capital
increase under Article 8 of the Bylaws (Item 8 (eleven) of the agenda of the general meeting held
on May 28, 2015).
(5) To resolve, on one or more occasions, on the increase of the share capital, on one or more
occasions, by a maximum amount of €8,000,000 (eight million euros), it being seen to be prudent
to open up the possibility of using other means of attracting funds generally employed
internationally. No deadline has been set in respect of the resolutions to increase the share capital,
under the terms defined in the Item 9 (nine), which was approved at the general meeting of May
28, 2015.
(6) To resolve on the issuance of bonds and other securities of any kind, including those
representing debt, even though of a hybrid nature, up to a maximum amount of €50,000,000 (fifty
million euros) or the respective equivalent in other currencies at the date of issue, as defined in the
Item 10 (ten), which was approved at the general meeting of May 28, 2015.

10. Information on the existence of significant commercial relations between qualifying
shareholders and the company.
SCOA or any of the companies that it controls do not have significant relationships of a commercial
nature with holders of qualifying holdings or entities with they are related within the meaning of
article 20 of the Securities Code. Excluded are transactions of little economic significance for the
parties concerned, carried out under normal market conditions for similar transactions and within
the framework of the day-to-day business of the Company.

B. GOVERNING BODIES AND COMMITTEES
I. General Meeting
a) Composition of the board of the general meeting
11. Identity and post of the members of the board of the general meeting and its mandate
(start and end).
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The Orey Board of the General Meeting comprises two members: the chair of the General Meeting
and the Secretary. The chair of the Board of the General Meeting has the human and logistic
support resources appropriate to its needs, within the context to the size of the Company.

The Board of the General Meeting in office at the end of 2015 was elected at the General Meeting
held on May 28, 2015, pursuant to Article 12(1) of the Bylaws for the 2013-16 term of office and
comprises the following members:
Chair: Prof. Daniel Proença de Carvalho

Secretary:

Ana Sá Couto

According to the aforementioned article 12(1) of the Bylaws, the start and end of the current term
of office are 2013 and 2016, respectively.

b) Exercise of voting rights
12. Any restrictions on voting rights, such as limitations on the exercise of voting dependent
on the ownership of a number or percentage of shares, deadlines for exercising voting rights
or systems for equity rights (Article 245-A(1) (f).
Each share represents 1 (one) vote in accordance with the provisions of Article 10(2) of the Bylaws.
The Bylaws do not contain any rules on the existence of shares that do not grant voting rights or
determine that voting rights above a certain number, when cast by a single shareholder or by
shareholders related with him/her, shall not be counted.
Under article 23(1) of the Securities Code, ownership of the shares has to be demonstrated by
sending to the chair of the Board of the General Meeting, at least 5 (five) trading days before the
date on which the meeting is to be held, a declaration issued and authenticated by the financial
intermediary with which the shares are registered, confirming that the said shares have been
registered in the shareholder's name at least since the fifth trading day next before the date of the
General Meeting ("Registration Date").

Only shareholders who have indicated their intention to attend the General Meeting and
whose financial intermediary with whom they have opened the individualise registration
account shall have sent to the Chair of the Board of the General Meeting by the end the
Registration Day information on the number of shares registered in their name on the
Registration Date may attend and vote at the General Meeting, which information may be sent
by email (see Article 10(5) of the Bylaws).
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Shareholders may exercise their voting right by correspondence on each item of the Agenda, by
means of postal or electronic communication, such shareholders being deemed present for the
purpose of constitution of the General Meeting. Exercise of the right to vote by correspondence
provided for in article 11-A of the Bylaws under the terms described in points 1.10 (by post) and
1.12 (electronically) hereunder.
The Company has no form for the exercise of voting rights by correspondence. Under article 11A(3) of the Bylaws and without prejudice to the obligation to provide proof of that standing under
article 10(4), shareholders may vote by post by means of declarations signed by the holders of the
shares or their legal representative, accompanied by a certified copy of the identity card or citizen's
card or notarised document attesting the signature, the capacity and the powers for the act. In
accordance with Article 11-A(5) of the Company's Bylaws, ballot papers shall be considered valid
only if they expressly and unequivocally show:
▪ a precise, unconditional indication of the vote cast for each item.
▪ the specific proposal in question, with an indication of its proposer or proposers; and
▪ indication of the items of the agenda to which they refer;
In accordance with Article 23-C(7) of the Securities Code, shareholders who have declared to the
chair of the Board of the General Meeting their intention to take part in the General Meeting and
have transferred their shares between the Registration Date and the end of the General Meeting,
shall so inform the chair of the Board General Meeting and the CMVM immediately.
Article 13(1) of the Bylaws determines, in respect of the constitutive quorum on first call, that the
General Meeting may pass resolutions no matter what the number of shareholders present or
represented.
The company has no mechanism having the effect of causing a mismatch between the right to
receive dividends or to subscribe new securities and the right of each ordinary share.

13. Indication of the maximum percentage of voting rights that may be exercised by a single
shareholder or by shareholders who are, with that shareholder, in any of the relations of
Article 20(1).
There is no limitation to the percentage of voting rights that may be exercised by a single
shareholder or by shareholders who are, with that shareholder, in any of the relations of article
20(1) of the Securities Code.
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14. Identity of shareholders resolutions that, by imposition of the bylaws, can only be passed
by a qualifying majority, other than those provided by law, and details of such majorities.
Regarding resolutions on amendments to the articles of association, merger, split, transformation,
dissolution of the Company, or other matters for which the law requires a qualifying majority,
without specifying it, the Bylaws determine, in article 13(2), replicating the provisions of Article
383(2) of the Companies Code, that shareholders must be present or represented holding at least
shares corresponding to one third of the Orey share capital.
On second call, the General Meeting may pass resolutions regardless of the number of
shareholders present or represented, under the provisions of article 13(3) of the Bylaws.
Regarding the deliberative quorum, in accordance with the provisions of article 14 of the Bylaws,
the resolutions of the General Meeting are passed by simple majority, whatever the percentage of
share capital represented, unless otherwise provided for by law.

II. MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISION
a) Composition
15. Indication of the governance model adopted.
Orey adopts a complex classic or Latin structure model as the structural basis of its governing
bodies. To that extent, the management and supervision of the Company are assured respectively
by the Board of Directors, responsible for the management of the Company's business, and the
Board of Auditors, responsible for the supervision and monitoring of all Orey's business. The
statutory auditor is charged with the audit of the Company's financial statements. Additionally,
pursuant to article 413.2(a) of the Companies Code, the inclusion of the External Auditor in this
structure is mandatory. The Orey's organic structure also includes a Remuneration Committee,
which is elected by the General Meeting and is responsible for fixing the remuneration of corporate
officers.
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The model adopted has the advantage of granting the shareholders an important role in choosing
the members of the management and supervisory bodies, while allowing more and better
circulation of information among the executive and non-executive directors. The decision to adopt
a management model having these characteristics had to do with the fact that Orey considers it to
be the best way of ensuring, with transparency, clarity and rigour, total separation of duties, thus
seeking specialisation of the field of supervision. Orey also believes that the model adopted
contributes to a more efficient management of the business.
Orey has not identified any constraints to the functioning of corporate governance model adopted,
and therefore felt no need to propose additional specific measures.

16. Bylaw rules on procedural and substantive requirements governing the appointment and
replacement of members, as applicable, of the Board of Directors, the Executive Board of
Directors and the General and Supervisory Board (Article 245-A(1)(h)).
Board members are elected and removed by the General Meeting, which shall appoint from
among the members of the board, the member who will hold the position of chair (see Articles
15(1) and 15(2) of the Bylaws).
The deputy-chair, if any, shall be appointed by the elected Board of Directors.
On the other hand, the Company's Bylaws stipulate that, under Article 15(4), a number of members
of the Board of Directors, no more than one third of all its members, shall be separately elected
from among persons proposed in lists subscribed by groups of shareholders, provided that no such
group holds shares representing more than 20% (twenty per cent) or less than 10% (ten per cent)
of the share capital.
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Under Article 393 of the Companies Code, in the event of a need to replace a director, the
replacement may take place in one of the following ways: if there are no alternate directors, the
Board of Directors may co-opt a director who shall be submitted for ratification to the General
Meeting next following; in the event of no director being co-opted within 60 (sixty) days, the Board
of Auditors shall appoint a replacement, an appointment likewise to be submitted for ratification to
the General Meeting next following; should this not came about, the replacement shall be by
means of election of a new director by the General Meeting.

17. Composition, as applicable, the Board of Directors, the Executive Board of Directors and
the General and Supervisory Board, indicating the minimum and maximum statutory
number of members, statutory term of office, number of full members, date of first
appointment and date of the end of the term of office of each member.
At the end of the year, the Orey Board of Directors comprised seven members, four of whom are
non-executive directors, a number that ensures effective supervision, monitoring and evaluation of
the activity of the executive directors. In keeping with the article 15(1) of the Company's bylaws,
the Board of Directors consists of a minimum of three and a maximum of nine members, elected at
the General Meeting. The members of the Board of Directors were elected for the 2013-16 term of
office at the General Meeting held on April 8, 2013. The resignation tendered by director Joaquim
Paulo Claro dos Santos took effect on April 30, 2015, and that tendered by director Rogério Paulo
Caiado Raimundo Celeiro took effect on July 16, 2015.
Board of Directors (December 31, 2015)

Chair and CEO: Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Executive director: Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa
Executive director: Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Non-executive director: Alexander Somerville Gibson
Non-executive director: Francisco Van Zeller
Non-executive director: Juan Celestino Lázaro González
Non-executive director: Tristão José da Cunha Mendonça e Menezes

47

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

Post

Assessment of
Independence

Date of 1st
appointme
nt

End of
Term of
Office

Duarte Maia de
Albuquerque d’Orey

Chairman and

Non-independent

2003

2016

Francisco Manuel de
Lemos dos Santos
Bessa

Executive director

Non-independent

2013

2016

Miguel Ribeiro
Ferreira

Executive director

Non-independent

2010

2016

Alexander Somerville
Gibson

Non-executive director

Independent

2010

2016

Francisco Van Zeller

Non-executive director

Independent

2010

2016

Juan Celestino Lázaro
González

Non-executive director:

Non-independent

2008

2016

Tristão José da Cunha
de Mendonça e
Menezes

Non-executive director

Non-independent

2013

2016

Name

CEO

The legal rules that were considered for the qualification of members of the Board of Directors as
independent are those of Recommendation II.1.7 of the Code of Corporate Governance adopted.
Pursuant to the provisions of Article 17(1) of the Bylaws, the Board of Directors shall meet
whenever convened by its chair or by two members, verbally or in writing, at least three working
days prior to the date of the meeting, which shall take place when and where the corporate
interest so requires, and at least once per quarter.
Additionally, Article 17(2) of the Bylaws stipulates that the resolutions of the Board of Directors
shall be valid only as long as the majority of its members is present or represented, and any
director unable to attend the meeting may vote by postal ballot or be represented by another
director.

Postal ballots shall be exercised and the proxies shall be granted by letter or other means of
written communication addressed to the chair of the Board of Directors (see Article 17(4) of
the Bylaws).
The resolutions of the Board are passed by majority vote of the directors present or
represented and of those voting by postal ballot (see Article 17(5) of the Bylaws).
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18. Distinction between executive and non-executive directors and, with respect to nonexecutive members, identity of members who can be considered independent or, if
applicable, identity of members of the General and Supervisory Board.
Executive Committee
Chairman: Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey

Executive director: Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa
Executive director: Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Comprising 3 (three) directors, the respective delegation setting its limits, the composition of the
Executive Committee and its mode of operation.
Non-executive directors:
The non-executive members of the Board of Directors are as follows:
▪ Alexander Somerville Gibson
▪ Francisco Van Zeller
▪ Juan Celestino Lázaro González
▪ Tristão José da Cunha Mendonça e Menezes
Taking into account the criteria set out in Recommendation II.1.7 of the Code of Corporate
Governance adopted, the Board of Directors of Orey considers that the following non-executive
directors are independent:
 Alexander Somerville Gibson
 Francisco Van Zeller

19. Professional qualifications and other relevant curricular elements of each member, as
applicable, the Board of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and of Executive
Board of Directors.
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Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey (chairman)
Work Experience
2003 – to date: Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Managing Director
Main responsibilities:
- Proposing the definition of the strategy of the Orey Group and ensuring its
implementation;
- Co-ordination of the Strategic Plan;
- Taking part in the financial execution of the business strategy;
- Taking part in the identification of organic and inorganic growth
opportunities;
- Taking part in the definition of long-term Human Resources policies.
Main operations undertaken during his tenures:
- 2005: acquisition of a brokerage company with a view to the launch of the
online Orey iTrade platform (a platform launched in Spain in 2008);
- 2003 to 2006:
Profound restructuring of the entire Orey Group, significant generational
transition, with the introduction of modern management measures and
procedures;

Preparation for growth through a share capital increase and issue of
convertible bonds;
Organic growth through acquisition of companies in the transport and logistics
area, with special emphasis on Agemasa (port operator in Bilbao);
- 2008 - Present: focus on the financial areas, managing non-financial holdings
through a private equity fund and international growth in Brazil and Iberia,
organically and inorganically.
1999 – 2003

First Portuguese Group (now Orey Financial)
Managing Director and Founder Shareholder
In 1999, he created the First Portuguese Opportunity Fund, the first hedge fund
in Portugal, in partnership with GLG (now Man Group), introducing alternative
investments with a new asset class to the Portuguese market;
Introduces to the domestic market investment funds on soccer players rights,
with the creation of the First Portuguese Football Players Fund, an innovative
concept that gave investors access to a class of assets only available to football
clubs.
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1997 – 1998

Banco Mello de Investimentos
Responsible for the Integrated Treasury of the José de Mello Group (Banco
Mello de Investimentos, Banco Mello Lisboa, Paris, SFEM and Banco Mello
Luxembourg).

1995 – 1996

Grupo Banco Mello/União de Bancos Portugueses
Head of Treasury and Trading Room, having started his career as joint head of
the interest-rate derivbatives table.

1992 – 1994

Citibank Portugal

Money market, capital market, derivatives and currencies dealer

Academic Background
Degree in Company Management at Universidade Católica de Lisboa.

Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa (member)
Work Experience
May 14 – to date: Banco Inversis, SA
Director
Apr. 13 – to date: Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Executive director
 Oct. 14 – to date: Group CFO and COO Investor relations
 Apr.13 - Sept.14: Co-ordination of the financial business model
Jan.10 - Oct.14 Orey Financial, Instituição Financeira de Crédito, SA
Chief executive officer (CEO)
Main duties: Private Equity, Planning and Control, Support Services and Business Solutions,
brokerage business management
Jun.04 – Dec.09

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Director, CFO & COO

Apr.98 –Jun.04

Banco Comercial Português Manager.

Interbanco – Management Control Manager (2001-04).
CrédiBanco – Planning and Risk Manager (2000-01).

Banco Mello – Assistant Manager – Financial Department (1998-2000).
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Feb. 96 – Mar. 98 Ernst & Young – Senior Manager – Financial Services Group
Audit, consultancy and structuring financial transactions. Securitisation

May. 92 - Jan. 96 União de Bancos Portugueses – various functions within the Financial Department:
M. Fiduciária, SGP (Asset Management) - Investments Manager (1995-96)
Ascor Dealer, SFC (Brokerage) – Director (CFO) (1992-93)
Uniger, SGFIM (Investment Funds) - General Manager (1992-96)
Sept .89 - Apr. 92

KPMG – Senior Auditor (Senior A) - Audit, Consultancy and Company Valuation

Academic Background
Degree in Company Management from Instituto Superior de Gestão.
Advanced Management Programme, INSEAD.
Audit and consolidation of accounts (KPMG), Portfolio management (Euromoney), advanced derivatives (Ernst
& Young International), Project Management (BCP) and Capital Allocation.

Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira (member)
2015 - to date:

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Executive director

2010 – 2015

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Non-executive director

2005 – to date:

Fonte Viva-Jet Cooler Águas e Cafés, SA
Director

2002 – to date:

Invespri SGPS, SA
Founding partner and CEO of the Invespri holding company. Chair of the
Board of Directors of all subsidiaries, involved in all aspects of strategic
management. Acts particularly in the following areas: Real Estate, low cost
building and housing solutions: World Housing Systems. Residential centre for
disabled children: Quinta Essência, food & beverage: Pasta House and
Marisco

na

Praca,

new

technologies:

NGNs

Ingenious

Solutions,

Logistics/Services: Acqua Jet (Spain) and Fonte Viva, Plastics Industry:
Trignoláxia.
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2000 – to date:

Acqua Jet, SL
Director

Academic Background

Marketing Management taken at IPAM and post-graduate in Management at the University of
East London.

Alexander Somerville Gibson (member)
Work Experience
2003 – to date:

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
 2010 – to date. Non-executive director
 2003 – to date. Group's representative in the United Kingdom

1999 – 2003

Whitney Group
Director

1987 – 1999

Tyzach & Partners
Shareholder and Director

1977 – 1987

Chemical Bank
1984 – 1987: General Manager, in charge of the investment banking business
outside the United States
1977 – 1984: Executive Manager of Chemical Bank International in London, in charge
of international syndicated operations

1970 – 1977

London Multinational Bank
Director
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1968 – 1970

Hill Samuel
Assistant Director

1966 – 1968

First National City Bank (now Citibank) – in London and New York

Academic Background

Master's in Classics and Philosophy taken at the University of Oxford.

Francisco Van Zeller (member)
Work Experience
2010 – to date:

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Non-executive director
Hovione Holdings Ltd
Non-executive director

2000 – to date:

AssetGest SGPS (family business)
Chair of the Board of Directors

2010 – 2011

CPI, Council for Internationalisation
Chairman

2002 – 2010

Confederation of Portuguese Industry, CIP
Chairman

1998 – 2002

Ferro Corporation Group
M&A Manager for Europe

1996 – 2002

Portuguese Association of Chemical Companies, APEQ
Chairman
Ferro Portugal, S.A

54

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

Chair of the Board of Directors
1967 – 1996

Metal Portuguesa, SA.
Director (COO)

1961 – 1964

Fábrica do Braço de Prata (Military Service)
Head of the Chemical Department

Academic Background
Degree in Chemical Engineering take at Instituto Superior Técnico

Juan Celestino Lázaro González (member)
2008 – to date:.

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Non-executive director

2007 – to date:.

Independent Consultant
Company advisor on issues related to strategy and organisation

2007

Mutua Madrileña
General Manager Chair of the Steering Committee

2002 – 2007

Caser
Assistant General Manager

1999 - 2001

Banco Mello
Advisor to the Board of Directors reporting to the chair of the Executive
Committee

2001 - 2002

McKinsey & Company

1990 - 1999

Senior Management Consultant at the Madrid, Lisbon and Buenos Aires offices.
for clients fundamentally of the financial sector and, to a lesser extent, of
transport and heavy industry.

1984 - 1990

Asfaltos Españoles, SA. – ASESA
Assistant to the General Manager

1984 - 1990

Univerdad Pontifica Comillas (ICADE)
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Professor of Company Accounting in the Company Management Degree
Academic Background

Degree in Law at Facultad de Derecho del ICADE (Universidad Pontificia Comillas) and in
Economic and Corporate Sciences (Corporate Sciences Section) at Facultad de C.C. E.E. y E.E.
del ICADE (Universidad Pontificia Comillas)

Tristão José da Cunha Mendonça e Menezes (memberl)
Work Experience
2010 – to date:

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Non-executive director

2004 –to date:

Orey Financial – Instituição Financeira de Crédito, SA
Director
2010 – 2015 Member of the Executive Committee:
2004 – 2010: Chair of Orey Financial – Instituição Financeira de Crédito, SA

1999 – 2004

First Portuguese Group
Chairman

1995–97

Banco Mello de Investimentos (José de Mello Group).
Chair of the Executive Committee

Director of the financial holding company of the Mello Group and of Banco
Mello.
1987 – 1994

Banco Essi
Chairman and CEO
SAPEC
Non-executive director

1979 – 1986

Saudi International Bank
Manager of the Banking area

Previously with London Continental Bankers (1978 - 1979), London Multinational Bank (1975 1978) and Banco Totta & Açores (1967 - 1975)
Academic Background
Degree in Law at Universidade de Direito de Lisboa, Portugal
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20. Regular and significant family, professional or commercial relationships of the members,
as applicable, of the Board of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and of the
Executive Board of Directors with shareholders to whom a qualifying holdings exceeding 2%
of the voting rights is imputable.
There was no relationship of this kind during the course of 2015.

21. Organisational charts or tables of duties in respect of the division of responsibilities
among the various corporate offices, committees and/or departments of the company,
including information on delegations of responsibilities, in particular with regard to the
delegation of the day-to-day management of the company
Management Body
At the end of 2015, the Board of Directors comprised seven members elected for the 2013-2016
term by the General Meeting held on April 8, 2013, four of whom are non-executive directors, a
number that ensures effective supervision, monitoring and assessment of the work done by the
executive directors, in that they constitute 70% (seventy per cent) of all members of the Board of
Directors.
Pursuant to the provisions of Article 17(1) of the Bylaws, the Board of Directors shall meet
whenever convened by its chair or by two members, verbally or in writing, at least three working
days prior to the date of the meeting, which shall take place when and where the corporate
interest so requires, and at least once per quarter. Additionally, Article 17(2) of the Bylaws
stipulates that the resolutions of the Board of Directors shall be valid only as long as the majority of
its members is present or represented, and any director unable to attend the meeting may vote by
postal ballot or be represented by another director.

Postal ballots shall be exercised and the proxies shall be granted by letter or other means of
written communication addressed to the chair of the Board of Directors (see Article 17(4) of
the Bylaws).
The resolutions of the Board are passed by majority vote of the directors present or
represented and of those voting by postal ballot (see Article 17(5) of the Bylaws).
Some of the powers of the Board of Directors are delegated on the Company's Executive
Committee, comprising three directors, the respective delegation setting its limits, the composition
of the Executive Committee and its mode of operation.
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Given that the chair of the Board of Directors performs executive duties, the Board decided to
adopt a number of mechanisms allowing easy access by non-executive members to the information
seen to be necessary or appropriate to the performance of their duties and the pursuit of their
activity, so that their decisions are taken in a free, conscious and enlightened manner. Additionally,
without prejudice to access to any other kind of information requested, non-executive members
have access to all the resolutions passed by the Executive Committee and to information on the
business carried on by the Company. In this way, they ensure continuous monitoring of the work of
the Executive Committee.
In performing their duties the members of the Board of Directors who perform executive duties
endeavour to provide all information on the management of the Company to Orey's other
corporate officers on a regular basis. In this connection, when such information is requested by any
corporate officer, the Company's Executive Directors seek to provide, in good time, all the items
requested, in the most adequate manner possible.
The duties of the members of the Board of Directors are as follows:

Duarte d’Orey

Francisco Bessa

Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira

To promote the definition and
execution of the Group and to
co-ordinate the respective CFO
and COO activities of the Group.

Relations with markets and
shareholders

Leading activities aimed at
improving the productivity
and efficiency of the Group

Leading the search for organic
and inorganic growth
opportunities

Director of Banco Inversis

Lead the management of the
Group's real estate,
stimulating its profitability

Proposing and leading long-term
Human Resources policies.

Manager of OSO, the shared
services company of the Orey
Group

Company Secretary
Under Article 20 of the Bylaws, the Company Secretary and his alternate are appointed by the
Board of Directors, who stand down at the end of the term of office of the management body that
elected them. As provided for in Article 446-B of the Companies Code, the secretary is charged in
particular with acting as secretary of the meetings of the governing bodies, certifying their acts and
the powers of their members, fulfilling requests of shareholders exercising the right to information
and certifying copies of minutes of meetings and other Company documents.
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The posts of Company Secretary and the Alternate Secretary are performed by Ana Sá Couto and
Manuel Cordeiro Ferreira, respectively.
Supervisory Body
The supervision of the business rests with the Board of Auditors, which, in accordance with Article
19(1) of the Bylaws, comprises three full and one alternate members, who are not members of the
Board of Directors, and an official auditor or firm of official auditors elected by the General
Meeting for four-year terms.

The Board of Auditors has the powers and is subject to the duties established by law (see
Article 420 of the Companies Code) and in the Bylaws, being charged in particular with:
▪ supervising the management of the Company;
▪ overseeing compliance with law and the Bylaws;
▪ checking that the books, accounting records and supporting documents are in order;
▪ checking, as and when deemed fit and in the manner deemed appropriate, cash-in-hand and
the existence of any kind of assets or monetary instruments belonging to the Company or
received by it by way of guarantee or deposits or for any other purpose;
▪ verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;
▪ checking that the accounting policies and valuation criteria adopted by the Company lead to a
correct valuation of the assets and liabilities and of the results;
▪ drawing up an annual report on its supervisory activity and issuing an opinion of the report,
accounts and proposals submitted by management;
▪ convening General Meetings if the chair of the respective board, being so charged, fails to do
so;
▪ monitoring the efficacy of the risk-management system, of the internal control system and of
the internal audit system;
▪ receiving communications of irregularities made by shareholders, Company employees or
others;
▪ hiring the services of specialists to assist one or more of its members in the performance of
their duties, the hiring and the remuneration of specialists to take into account the importance
of the matters entrusted to them and the Company's economic situation;
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▪ monitoring the process of preparation and disclosure of financial information;
▪ supervising the audit of the Company's accounting documents;
▪ monitoring the independence of the official auditor, especially with regard to the provision of
additional services, and ensuring that there are, within the Company, the conditions adequate
to the performance of the duties of the official auditor;
▪ representing the Company for all purposes before the Statutory Auditor;
▪ performing an annual appraisal of the work undertaken by the Statutory Auditor, proposing its
dismissal to the General Meeting in the event of due cause;
▪ performing such other duties as may be stipulated by law or the Bylaws.
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members elected by the General Meeting,
independent with regard to the members of the management body (see Article 21 of the
Bylaws). All three members have knowledge of and experience in remuneration-policy matters.
Also under Article 21 of the Company's Bylaws, the Remuneration Committee is charged with fixing
the remuneration of the Board of Directors and of the other corporate officers. The remuneration
of the directors may consist wholly or partly of a share of the Company's profits, the total
percentage of the share not to exceed 15% (fifteen per cent) of the distributable profit for the year.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Luis Filipe Alves Monteiro, who was elected to the post
at the General Meeting of May 29, 2014. Also part of the Remuneration Committee are Lourenço
Nascimento da Cunha and Teresa Wiborg de Sousa Botelho, who were elected at the General
Meeting of April 8, 2013.
As at December 31, 2015, none of the members of the Remuneration Committee referred to above
belonged to a management body of the Company of had a kindred in a direct line or up to the third
degree with the executive directors.
Executive Committee
Under the powers conferred by Article 16(1) of the articles of association, Orey's Board of Directors
delegates the management of the Company on an Executive Committee comprising three executive
directors.
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Ample powers have been delegated on the Executive Committee related with the management of
the Company's business. The non-executive directors are kept informed of all important corporate
matters.
The core competencies delegated on Executive Committee, in accordance with article 407(4) of the
Companies Code are as follows: (1) Acquisition, disposal and encumbrance of real estate; (2)
Opening and closing facilities or important part thereof; (3) Important extensions or reductions of
the Company's business; (4) Major changes to the organisation of the company, and (5)
Establishment or termination of enduring, important co-operation with other companies.
Besides those matters prescribed by law, the following cannot be delegated on the Executive
Committee: (1) Definitions of Orey's strategy and generate policies; (2) Definition of the corporate
structure of the Orey Group; and (3) Approval of decisions that must be considered strategic
because of their amount, risk or special characteristics.
The Chair of the Executive Committee is charged with suspending any resolution of the Executive
Committee that might, for its nature, be considered strategic, and shall refer the matter to the
Board of Directors.

b) Working
22. Existence and location where the working regulations, as applicable, of the Board of
Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and Executive Board of Directors can be
consulted.
With a view to meeting the Recommendations of the Code of Corporate Governance, the
regulations relating to the Board of Directors and to the Board of Auditors and the minutes of
the meeting delegating powers on the Executive Committee are published on the Company’s
website (http://www.orey.com/investidores/).

23. Number of meetings held and degree of attendance at meetings of each member, as
applicable, of the Board of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and Executive
Board of Directors.
The Company's Board of Directors held 5 (five) face-to-face and 4 (four) online meetings during
2015. The meetings of the Board of Directors rely on the presence of the executive and non-
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executive members. No member of the Board of Directors was absent without cause. In terms of
attendance, reference is made to:
-Duarte Albuquerque D'orey, Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa, Alexander Gibson,
Francisco Van Zeller, Juan Lázaro González and Tristan da Cunha Mendonça e Menezes who
attended all meetings (five), an attendance level of 100%;
- Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira attended 4 (four) meetings, an attendance level of 80%;
- Joaquim Santos attended 1 (one) meeting and Rogério Celeiro 2 (two) meetings. Attendance
levels are 100% in both cases, since they attended all Board meetings held until their resignation
tendered respectively with effect from April 30, 2015, and July 16, 2015.
During 2015 the Executive Committee met on 27 (twenty-seven) occasions, (23 meetings and 4
separate minutes), minutes of these meetings having been written up as is the rule at the
Company. Notices of meetings and well as the minutes of meetings were sent by the chair of the
Executive Committee to the chair of the Company's Board of Auditors.
With regard to attendance by the Executive Committee, Duarte D'Orey and Francisco Bessa
attended all meetings of this Committee, a degree of attendance of 100%. Joaquim Santos
attended 7 (seven) Committee meetings, a degree of attendance of Executive Committee meetings
of 100% held until his resignation as director with effect from April 30, 2015. Miguel Ribeiro
Ferreira attended 12 (twelve) meetings of the Executive Committee, a degree of attendance of 80%
since his appointment as executive director on May 28, 2015.

24. Indication of the company's bodies competent to perform the evaluation of the
performance of the executive directors
The Board of Directors is the body responsible for conducting the performance evaluation of the
executive directors, and it comprises 7 (seven) members, 4 (four) of them non-executive directors
and 2 (two) independent. This composition of the Board of Directors ensures effective supervision,
monitoring and evaluation of the activity of the Executive Directors.
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25. Predetermined criteria for the evaluation of the performance of the executive directors
The Remuneration Committee has defined a set of guiding principles and a remuneration policy
that are intended to be stable for the period of each term of office of the governing bodies,
provided no exceptional or unforeseeable circumstances arise justifying alteration.
The executive directors' remuneration policy follows the following guiding principles: (1) be simple,
clear and transparent; (2) be appropriate and adjusted to the size, nature, scope and specificity of
activity of the SCOA; (3) ensure a competitive, fair total compensation aligned with best practices
and latest trends at national and European level, in particular with companies comparable to SCOA;
(4) incorporate a fixed component adjusted to the roles and responsibilities of the directors; (5)
incorporate a reasonable variable component indexed to the individual and organisational
performance assessment in keeping with the achievement of concrete, measurable objectives
aligned with the interests of the company and shareholders; and (6) establish a variable
remuneration component indexed to the medium-term appreciation of SCOA, linking the
remuneration of Executive Directors to the sustainability of results and the creation of shareholder
value.
Having regard to these principles, the assessment of performance and the executive directors'
remuneration is determined based primarily on four general criteria: (1) competitiveness, taking
into account the practices of the Portuguese market; (2) fairness, the remuneration to be based on
uniform, consistent, fair and balanced criteria; (3) evaluation of performance, according to the
functions and the level of responsibility of each director, as well as the with assumption of
adequate levels of risk and compliance with the rules applicable to SCOA's business; and (4)
alignment of the directors' interests with the interests of company and with its long-term
sustainability and wealth creation.

26. Availability of each member, as applicable, of the Board of Directors, the General and
Supervisory Board and Executive Board of Directors, with indication of the positions held
simultaneously in other companies inside and outside the group, and other relevant
activities carried out by the members of those bodies during the period.
Duties of the executive members of the Board of Directors in Group companies
The duties that executive members of the Company's Board of Directors perform at other Group
companies are detailed in the following table:
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Duarte d’Orey

NAME

Francisco
Bessa

Miguel
Ribeiro
Ferreira

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA

C

D

D

Orey Financial IFIC SA

C

D

-

Orey Capital Partners GP Sàrl

G

G

-

Orey Serviços e Organização, SA

C

D

-

Orey - Gestão Imobiliária, SA

C

D

-

OFH, Sàrl

C

D

-

Horizon View, SA

D

-

-

Orey Apresto e Gestão de Navios Lda

D

D

-

CMA-CGM Portugal - Agentes de Navegação SA

D

-

-

Orey (Angola) - Comércio e Serviços Lda

D

-

-

Sofema - Soc.Ferramentas e Máquinas,Lda.

-

D

-

Oilwater Industrial, Serviços e Representações SA

-

D

-

Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA

-

D

-

Orey Safety and Naval, SA

-

C

-

Orey Industrial Representations, SA

-

C

-

Orey (Moçambique) - Comércio e Serviços Lda

-

D

-

Orey Mauritius Transports and Logistics Ltd

-

D

-

Orey Management (Cayman) Ltd

D

-

-

OP Incrível SGPS

C

-

-

Orey Financial Brasil, SA

AC

-

-

Orey Investments Holding BV

-

-

-

Orey Investments Malta Ltd

M

-

-

Orey Holding Ltd Malta

M

-

-

Safocean – Comércio e Serviços, Lda

D

-

-

Parcel Express - Expedições Internacionais, Lda.

D

-

-

Orey Super Transportes e Distribuição, Lda

D

-

-

LYNX Transports and Logistics, B.V.

D

D

-

Legend: C: Chair of the Board; D: Director; M: Manager: AC Advisory Chair

Duties of the executive members of the Board of Directors at companies outside the Group
Duarte d´Orey
▪ Director of the Board of Directors of Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL;
▪ Sole Director of Monte S. José - Actividades Agrícolas, Imobiliárias e Recreativas, SA.
▪ Director of Monte de São José, SL.
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Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa
 Member of the Board of Directors of Banco Inversis

Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
 Director of Capital Disperso, Lda.
 Director of Central das Massas Restauração, Lda.
 Chair of Invespri, SA.
 Director of Espinpubli – Publicidade em Espaços Interiores, Lda.
 Director ofTrignoláxia, Lda.
 Director of Eres Relocation Portugal, Lda.
 Director of Ironworld Systems, Unipessoal, Lda.
 Director of Rush Drift Trike, Lda.
 Director of Burgotreasure, Lda.
 Director pf BlocoMed, Lda.

The duties performed by the non-executive members of the Board of Directors at other companies
inside and outside the Group:
Alexander Somerville Gibson
 Performs no duties in non-Group companies.
Francisco Van Zeller
 Director of Hovione Holding, Lda.
 Chairman of the Board of Directors of AssetGest
Juan Celestino Lázaro González
 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Floridablanca Consultoria de Negócios, SA.
 Director of Inverpetrol, SA.
 Director of Consultoria & Inversiones Escorial, SL.
 Director of Invercombustibles, S.L.
 Chairman of the Board of Directors of matinis, SL.

Tristão José da Cunha Mendonça e Menezes
 Director of Orey Financial IFIC, SA.
 Director of Orey Capital Partners GP Sàrl
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 Director of Orey Capital Partners, SCA SICAR
 Director of OFH, Sàrl

c) Committees within the management or supervisory bodies and managing directors
27. Identification of committees created within, as applicable, the Board of Directors, the
General and Supervisory Board and Executive Board of Directors, and where the working
regulations can be found.
The Committee set up within the Board of Directors is the Executive Committee, see 1.21.
The regulation of the Executive Committee can be found in the investors' section of the Orey
Group’s corporate website (http://www.orey.com/investidores/), or directly using the following
link:

http://www.orey.com/pdfs/Orey_Regulamento_Comissao_Executiva.pdf

28. Composition, if applicable, of the executive committee and/or identity of the managing
director(s).
Executive Committee
▪ Chairman: Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
▪ Executive director: Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa
▪ Executive director: Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Comprising three directors, the respective delegation setting its limits, the composition of the
Executive Committee and its mode of operation.

29. Indication of the competencies of each committee created and summary of the activities
performed in the exercise of those competencies.
With respect to the committees and respective competences, see 1.21.
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III. SUPERVISION
a) Composition
30.Identification of the supervisory body corresponding to the model adopted.
Supervisory Body
The supervision of the business rests with the Board of Auditors, which, in accordance with Article
19(1) of the Bylaws, comprises three full and one alternate members, who are not members of the
Board of Directors, and an official auditor or firm of official auditors elected by the General
Meeting for four-year terms. The term of office of the Board of Auditors is 4 (four) years.

31. Composition, as applicable, of the Board of Auditors, the Audit Committee, the General
and Supervisory Board or the Financial Matters Committee, indicating the minimum and
maximum statutory number of members, statutory term of office, number of full members,
date of first appointment and date of the end of the term of office of each member, with a
possibility of stating the point of the report in which this information is set out pursuant to
nº 17.
As mentioned in point 1.30, in accordance with article 19 of the bylaws, the supervision of the
Company is entrusted to a Board of Auditors comprising three full members and one alternate. The
chair of the Board of Auditors is designated by the General Meeting from among the elected
members. The members of the Board of Auditors in office were elected by the General Meeting of
April 8, 2013.

Chair

Nº of shares
in the
Company
-

Acácio Augusto Pita Negrão

Member

-

2007

2016

Nuno de Deus Vieira P. Salvador
Pinheiro

Member

-

2007

2016

Board of Auditors
José Martinho Soares Barroso

Post

Date of 1st
appointment

Ending

2007

2016

The Alternate member of the Board of Auditors is Tiago Antunes da Cunha Ferreira de Lemos, as
decided at the General Meeting of Shareholders on April 8, 2013.
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32. Identity, as applicable, of the members of the Board of Auditors, the Audit Committee,
the General and Supervisory Board or the Financial Matters Committee considered
independent, under the terms of articles 414(5) of the Companies Code, with a possibility of
stating the point of the report in which this information is set out pursuant to nº 18.
All members of the Board of Auditors, including the alternate, comply with the criteria set out in
Article 414(5) and have due regard for the incompatibility rules provided for in Article 414-A(1),
including subparagraph f), both of the Companies Code, and have all the competencies required to
perform their duties.

33. Identity, as applicable, of the members of the Board of Auditors, the Audit Committee,
the General and Supervisory Board or the Financial Matters Committee considered
independent, under the terms of articles 414(5) of the Companies Code, with a possibility of
stating the point of the report in which this information is set out pursuant to nº 21.
José Martinho Soares Barroso
 Degree in Company Organisation and Management at ISCTE.
 Statutory auditor since 1990, entered in the respective Association under nº 724.
 Collaborator and Partner of BDO & Associados, SROC, Lda, since 1982.
 Exercise of professional activity in the areas of auditing and consultancy at medium and large
enterprises.
 Member of the Committees of the BDO international network.
Acácio Augusto Pita Negrão
 In October 1993, he entered the Faculty of Law of the University of Lisbon. Graduated in July
1998.
 March to September 1998, worked in the Financial Department of Banco Mello, performing
duties in the Market Room, responsible for the cash management of the institution's Foreign
Branches.
 From September 1999 to July 2000, attended and concluded the post-graduate course in
Markets, Institutions and Financial Instruments organised by the Porto Derivatives Exchange,
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NovaForum (FEUNL) and the Faculties of law of University of Lisbon (FDUL) and Universidade Nova
de Lisboa (FDUNL).
 From September 2004 to July 2005, attended and concluded the post-graduate course in Tax
Management of Organisations organised by Instituto Superior de Economia e Gestão (IDEFE –
Instituto para o Desenvolvimento e Estudos Económicos, Financeiros e Empresariais).
 From late September 1998 to October 2000, attended the advocacy training course at law firm

“Pena, Machete & Associados” (which, as from September 1999, following a merger with other
firms, came to be known as “PMBGR – Sociedade de Advogados), his patron being Rui Machete.
 Having concluded his advocacy trainee course in October 2000, he joined law firm “Abreu &
Marques, Vinhas e Associados”, where he worked as senior associate lawyer until February 2007.
 In March 2007, he was co-founder of PLEN – Sociedade de Advogados, RL, where he now carries
on this professional activity as a lawyer.
 In October 2012, he completed his master's in Labour Law at Universidade Católica de Lisboa.
 Director of PLEN – Deus Pinheiro, Ferreira de Lemos, Pita Negrão – Sociedade de Advogados, RL,
VAT nº 507 992 580, enrolled in the General Board of the Bar Association under nº 4/2007, having
an equity capital of €5,000 and registered office at Rua Castilho 59, 4.º Dto. Lisbon. Lisbon,
 Member of the Orey Board of Auditors.
Nuno de Deus Vieira Paisana Salvador Pinheiro
 Graduated in Law from Universidade Católica de Lisboa in 1998.
 Took his Master's in International Comparative Law at Vrije Universitait Brussels in 1999

and a post-graduate in Securities Law at the University of Lisbon in 2000.
 Exercised advocacy at Simmons & Simmons in Brussels and at Grupo Legal Português from 1998
to 2001.
 From 2001 he practiced law at Abreu & Marques, Vinhas e Associados in the commercial law
and real estate department.
 In March 2007, he was co-founder of PLEN – Sociedade de Advogados, RL, where he now carries
on this professional activity as a lawyer.
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 Director of PLEN – Deus Pinheiro, Ferreira de Lemos, Pita Negrão – Sociedade de Advogados, RL,
VAT nº 507 992 580, enrolled in the General Board of the Bar Association under nº 4/2007, having
an equity capital of €5,000 and registered office at Rua Castilho 59, 4.º Dto. Lisbon. Lisbon,
 Member of the Orey Board of Auditors.

b) Working
34. Existence and location where the working regulations, as applicable, of the Board of
Auditors, the Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory Board or the Financial Matters
Committee can be consulted, with a possibility of stating the point of the report in which this
information is set out pursuant to nº 22.
With a view to meeting the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code, the
regulation of the Board of Directors and of the Board of Auditors are published on the
Company's website(http://www.orey.com/investidores/).

35. Number of meetings held and assiduity at the meetings held, as applicable, of each
member of the Board of Auditors, the Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory Board
or the Financial Matters Committee can be consulted, with a possibility of stating the point
of the report in which this information is set out pursuant to nº 23.
During 2015 the Board of Auditors met 3 (three) times and minutes of the meetings were written
up. All members of the Board of Auditors attended the 3 (three) meetings, an attendance rate of
100%.

36. Availability of each member, as applicable, of the Board of Auditors, the Audit
Committee, the General and Supervisory Board or the Financial Matters Committee, with
indication of the positions held simultaneously at other companies inside and outside the
group, and other relevant activities carried out by the members of those bodies during the
period, with a possibility of stating the point of the report in which this information is set out
pursuant to nº 26.
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In 2015, the members of the Board of Auditors confirmed they were in a position to perform their
duties.
José Martinho Soares Barroso
 Member of the Board of Auditors of:
 Águas do Algarve, SA
 Cooperativa Agrícola do Funchal, CRL
 Performs no duties at other Group companies.
Acácio Augusto Pita Negrão
 Chair of the Board of the General Meeting of Aluflow, SA
 Partner of PLEN – Sociedade de Advogados RL
 Chair of the Board of the General Meeting of Sodisal – Z6, SA
 Deputy- chair of the Justice Council of the Portuguese Aeronautics Federation
 Performs no duties at other Group companies.
Nuno de Deus Vieira Paisana Salvador Pinheiro
 Partner of PLEN – Sociedade de Advogados RL
 Secretary of the Board of the General Meeting of:
 American Appraisal, Lda;
 Sociedade Jerónimo Martins SGPS, SA
 Secretary of the Board of the General Meeting of:
 White Staff Corporation, SGPS, SA
 ISQ Capital – Sociedade de Capital de Risco, SA
 Clube do Autor, SA
 Caleira Eterna - Fabrico e Comércio de Componentes e Máquinas para Caleiras, SA
 Mogope, SA
 Massivsky, SA
 Discoverability, SA
 NETVIAGENS – Agência de Viages e Turismo, SA
 Grupo Media Capital SGPS, SA
 Shilling Capital Partners, SA
 Chair of the Board of the General meeting and member of the Board of Auditors ACAI Association of Real Estate Consultation and Valuation Companies;
 Chair of the Board of the General Meeting of the following Venture Capital funds:
 Ask Celta
 Ask Capital
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 ISQ Capital – Fundo de Capital de Risco
 ISQ Capital Brasil Sustentável
 Performs no duties at other Group companies.

c) Duties and functions
37. Description of the procedures and criteria for intervention by the supervisory body for
the purpose of hiring additional services by the external auditor.
Supervisory Body
The supervision of the business rests with the Board of Auditors, which, in accordance with Article
19(1) of the Bylaws, comprises three full and one alternate members, who are not members of the
Board of Directors, and an official auditor or firm of official auditors elected by the General
Meeting for four-year terms.
The Board of Auditors has the powers and is subject to the duties established by law, the
Company's Bylaws and the Regulations of the Board of Auditors, and it is charged in particular (see
Article 4 of the Regulation of the Board of Auditors) with: (a) representing the company for all
purposes before the external auditor; (b) proposing to the General Meeting the company's external
auditor, its remuneration and its dismissal upon due cause; (c) ensuring that, within the company,
the conditions are extant for the external auditor; (d) performing duties as the company’s
interlocutor; (e) being the first recipient of the reports of the company’s external auditor; and (f)
annually providing the General Meeting with the assessment of the company's external auditor.

38. Other duties of the supervisory board and, if applicable, of the Financial Matters
Committee.
No duties are performed by the company's supervisory bodies other than those detailed in point
1.37.
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IV. STATUTORY AUDITOR
39. Identity of the statutory auditor and of the partner firm of statutory auditors who
represents it.
The External Auditor of SCOA is PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados – Sociedade de
Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda, represented by José Manuel Henriques Bernardo (ROC Nº
903) or Jorge Manuel Santos Costa (ROC Nº 847).

40. Indication of the number of years in which the auditor performs duties consecutively for
the company and/or group.
The statutory auditor was appointed by the General Meeting of April 8, 2013, for the 2013-2016
term of office

41. Description of other services rendered to the Company by the statutory auditor.
During 2015 PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados, in its capacity as statutory auditor, was
contracted to provide certification work by Orey Financial, a Group entity. This certification work
entailed:
- Internal control report, pursuant to Bank of Portugal Notice 5/2008
- Opinion on the internal control system for the prevention of money laundering and terrorist
financing, in accordance with the law (Notice 9/2012)
Other services provided by the external auditor during 2015 included the Opinion of the Statutory
Auditor of Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA, on proposal to buy the properties situate in the Lapa district
of Lisbon.

V. EXTERNAL AUDITOR
42. Identity of the external auditor appointed for the purposes of Article 8 and of the official
auditor partner who represents it in the performance of these duties, as well as its
registration number with the CMVM.
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The External Auditor of SCOA is PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados – Sociedade de Revisores
Oficiais de Contas, Lda, represented by José Manuel Henriques Bernardo (ROC Nº 903) or Jorge
Manuel Santos Costa (ROC Nº 847).

43. Indication of the number of years in which the external auditor and respective statutoryauditor partner who represents it have consecutively have performed those duties for the
company and/or the group.
The external auditor was appointed by the shareholders at General Meeting of April 8, 2013, for
the 2012-16 term of office, and 2015 was the third consecutive year in which it acts as the
Company's external.

44. Policy and frequency of the rotation of the external auditor and respective statutoryauditor partner who represents in the performance of those duties.
PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados was appointed for the first time as the external auditor of
the Group in 2013 and is thus fulfilling its first term. Since the tenure is four years in accordance
with Article 19(1) of the Bylaws, Orey complies with the CMVM Recommendation regarding the
rotation of the External Auditor, in accordance with which rotation tales place at the end of each
two complete terms of office.

45. Indication of the body responsible for the assessment of the external auditor and
frequency with which an assessment is made.
The Board of Auditors is the body responsible for the assessment of the external auditor, which is
done on an ongoing basis, in conjunction with the CFO. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the
Board of Auditors assesses the external auditor at least once a year at the time of the review of the
annual external audit process. Where there is due cause, the Board of Auditors may propose to the
competent body its dismissal or termination of the contract for the provision of its services.
Additionally, PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados has a system of internal control and
monitoring of its policy of independence that is fully in keeping with the rules on independence in
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force nationally and internationally. It has been instituted to determine potential threats to
independence and the respective safeguards.
This policy establishes services expressly prohibited for the risk they constitute for the external
auditor's independence, and its rules are strictly observed. In parallel, the personal independence
of each professional is ensured through an internal process, whereby each partner, director and
professional collaborator regularly attests that they are familiar with the said policy and warrant
that they comply with it.
There are regular, ongoing training courses in connection with this policy. Monitoring compliance
with the independence policy is performed through regular internal audits undertaken by auditors
of PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados' international network.

46. Details of work, other than audit work, performed by the external auditor for the
company and/or for companies with which it is in a controlling relationship, as well as an
indication of internal procedures for the approval of hiring such services, stating the reasons
for hiring it.
During 2015 PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados, in its capacity as external auditor, was
contracted to provide certification work and other assurance and reliability services by Orey
Financial, a Group entity.
This certification work entailed:
(1) a report on impairment of the loan portfolio, in terms of instruction 5/2013, and
(2) annual report in accordance with Article 304(4) of the Securities Code.
Other services provided by the external auditor during 2015 included the Opinion of the Statutory
Auditor of Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA, on proposal to buy the properties situate in the Lapa district
of Lisbon.

47. Details of the amount of annual remuneration paid by the company and/or corporate
persons in a controlling or group to the auditor and to other natural or corporate persons
belonging to the same network, and details of the percentage in respect of the following
services.
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The remuneration paid or payable to the Company's external auditors or other natural or corporate
persons belonging to the same network by corporate persons in a controlling or group relationship
with the Company was as follows in 2015: (1) By the company: €58,190, and (2) By all entities
forming part of the group: €169,370*.
Euros
By the Company**

%

58,190

Amount for audit services

58,190

100%

Amount for assurance and reliability services

-

0%

Amount for tax consultancy services

-

0%

Amount of for services other than audit

-

0%

By Group entities**

169,370

Amount for audit services
Amount for assurance and reliability services
Amount for tax consultancy services
Amount of for services other than audit
Consolidated total

148,460

87.7%

19,910

11.8%

-

0%

1,000

0.6%

227,560

Amount for audit services
Amount for assurance and reliability services
Amount of for services other than audit

206,650

90.8%

19,910

8.7%

1,000

0.4%

*This does not include the amount paid by the company
** Including separate and consolidated accounts

C. INTERNAL ORGANISATION
I. Bylaws
48. Rules applicable to the alteration of the company's articles of association
Amendments of the Bylaws are dependent on approval by the General Meeting. There are no
special rules for amendments of the Bylaws other than those provided for in the Companies Code,
reproduced in Article 13(e) of the Bylaws, that is, for the General Meeting to vote, on first call, on
the amendment of the Bylaws, merger, division, transformation, dissolution of the Company or
other matters for which the law requires a qualifying majority, without specifying it, shareholders
must be present or represented holding at least shares corresponding one third of the equity
capital.
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On second call, the General Meeting may pass resolutions regardless of the number of
shareholders present or represented, under the provisions of article 13(3) of the Bylaws.

Regarding the deliberative quorum, in accordance with the provisions of article 14 of the Bylaws,
the resolutions of the General Meeting are passed by simple majority, whatever the percentage of
share capital represented, unless otherwise provided for by law.

II. Communication of irregularities
49. Means and policy for the communication of irregularities occurring at the company.
The Company's management is in constant contact with its external auditors and with the
managers of the main business areas, thus allowing any irregularity encountered to be duly
communicated.
Orey has implemented a safe, effective, direct and confidential mechanism for reporting
irregularities available to all Group employees. An electronic mail box was therefore created
(presidente.conselho.fiscal@orey.com), allowing any entity to inform the chairman of the Board

of Auditors of any irregular action that, in its view, could have occurred within the Company,
particularly in respect of illicit or unclear accounting and financial practices. This enables
communication by Orey employees to the corporate body charged with supervising the Company's
business of any malpractice, as well as their doubts and concerns about the Company. On the other
hand, this type of mechanism also makes it easier to detect, at an early stage, any practices
prejudicial to the proper governance of the Company, thus avoiding damage to the Company, its
members and employees and, consequently, to its shareholders.
The Company adopts a communication of irregularities policy that includes confidential treatment
of communications, should the declarant do wish. In the case of Orey, any communications
described above will be treated as absolutely confidential, to the extent that such confidential
treatment does not prejudice the resolution of the problem.
On a regular basis, the chair of the Board of Auditors presents a summary of all communications
received to the chair of the Board of Directors.
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III. Internal control and risk management
50. Persons, bodies or committees responsible for the internal audit and/or for the
implementation of internal control systems.
The Company's business is overseen by the Orey Board of Auditors and by the external auditor,
which are responsible, in particular, for assessing the working of the internal-control and riskmanagement systems adopted, and for proposing such adjustments as may be appropriate taking
Orey's needs into account.
Orey Financial’s corporate structure includes specific bodies for the performance of internal audit
and implementation of internal control duties. These bodies are the Internal Audit area, the
Compliance area and the Risk area.
The monitoring team of the private equity fund Orey Capital Partners Transports and Logistics SCA
SICAR is responsible for the implementation of the internal control systems of the assets held in the
private equity area and for the implementation of control of the risk of these assets, in particular
by taking part in the management bodies of each of the companies.
Additionally, the Corporate structure of the Orey Group includes a team at the Group’s sharedservices centre that implements planning and internal control systems for the business of the
various subsidiaries.

51. Explanation, even by inclusion of an organisation chart, of relationships of hierarchical
and/or functional dependence in relation to other of the company's bodies or committees.
Point 1.15 hereof details the company's governance model.

52. Existence of other functional areas having responsibilities in risk control.
As of this date the Group does not hire internal audit or compliance services.
On the other hand, in the Group's financial area, Orey Financial is the society that has most risk. It
therefore has different areas of expertise in risk control:
Compliance
The main task of Compliance is to ensure, together with other areas, the adequacy, strengthening
and working of the institution's Internal Control System, seeking to mitigate risks according to the
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complexity of its business and to spread the culture of controls to ensure compliance with existing
laws and regulations.
Compliance performs its duties independently of the functional areas and is responsible for:
a) Ensuring compliance with all obligations and standards set by the supervisory authorities
(Bank of Portugal, CMVM, APIFPP and Bank of Spain) and with those defined internally. For
the purpose there is a report table, which includes all responsibilities towards the
regulatory authorities, which helps with regard to timely fulfilment of the tasks;
b) Certifying fulfilment of and compliance with laws and regulations issued by the Regulatory
and Supervisory Entities, as well as responding to requests for information by these entities;
c) Ensuring the existence and observance of ethical principles and standards of conduct;
d) Drafting and revising the Company's Process Manuals, Internal Regulations, Bylaws and
contracts;
e) Disclosing the culture of Prevention of Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing, as well as
ensuring implementation of internal processes allowing this risk to be monitored and
mitigated;
f) Control, maintenance and updating of the documentation associated with the account
opening process of the Company's customers, under MiFID;
g) Maintaining a Complaint Database and its definition, and implementation of appropriate
corrective measures;
h) Lending support to all areas of the Company in the various issues relating to the their
suitability to achieving high good market practice standards.
i) Compliance is also charged with providing information to the Executive Committee of any
sign of non-compliance and with its registration, monitoring and proposed corrective
measures to be taken by the Company.

Internal Audit
The Orey Financial Internal Audit Function is carried on permanently and independently by the
Internal Audit Unit, taking into account the nature, scale and complexity of the business.
This unit is responsible for:
a) Drawing up and updating an audit plan to examine and evaluate the adequacy and
effectiveness of the various components of the institution's internal control system, as well as
of the internal control system as a whole;
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b) Issuing recommendations based on the results of evaluations carried out and ensuring
compliance therewith; and
c) Preparing and submitting to the Executive Committee and to the Board of Auditors a report,
at least annually, on audit issues, with a summary of the main weaknesses encountered in the
control activities, which, even though immaterial when considered separately, can show any
trends of deterioration of the internal control system, as well as indicating those
recommendations that were followed.
The mission of the internal audit unit is to assess and contribute to the improvement of the riskmanagement procedures, of the internal control and of the governance, using a systematic,
disciplined approach.
It is thus a support function for the business that seeks to ensure compliance with the principles
and recommendations of the regulatory and supervisory bodies, the implementation of best
market practices and the practices issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, directed
at minimisation of those risks that might affect the institution.
A comprehensive audit plan has been defined for the institution's activities, systems and processes,
which allow an assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal-control system, as
shown in the plan of activities to be undertaken this year.
For each evaluation a programme was drawn up defining the objectives of the audit, resources
used, and internal-control procedures to be reviewed.
Risk
The Executive Committee establishes and monitors the adequacy and the effectiveness of the
policies and procedures adopted for risk management, compliance therewith by the relevant
persons, and the adequacy and effectiveness of the measures taken to correct any shortcomings.
Risk Management performs its duties independently of the functional areas and is responsible for:
1.

Identifying, assessing, monitoring and controlling all material risks to which the Company is
exposed, both internally and externally;

2.

Ensuring the implementation of the policies and respective procedures by means of
periodic reviews, through planning, monitoring and reporting the impacts of the risks;

3.

Instilling a risk culture through monitoring the laws and regulations issued by the
supervisory bodies;

4.

Providing information and support to the management body, as well as drafting and
submitting risk-management reports and stating whether appropriate measures were
taken to correct any deficiencies encountered;
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5.

Contributing to the objectives of creation of value through the improvement of decisionsupport tools and optimisation of evaluation techniques;

6.

Ensuring the existence of procedures for determining the Company's capital level
adequate to the risks assumed.

This function is provided a person assigned on an exclusive basis, independent of the functional
areas, and it covers transversely all types of risk in terms of methodologies, evaluation models and
risk policies, providing advice on risk management to the Board.

53. Identification and description of the main risks (economic, financial and legal) to which
the company is exposed in carrying on its business.
The strategy risk is deemed to be the main risk to which Orey is exposed. With regard to the
strategy risk, the Executive Committee makes frequent use of external entities – consultants – with
a view to drawing up a strategic plan or to appraising an existing one, which, in conjunction with
the Executive Committee, perform the assessment in the light of the scenarios under
consideration.
Liquidity risk reflects the ability of the Orey Group to meet its financial liabilities, taking into
account the financial resources available in the short term. Orey seeks to have at its disposal from
time to time sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities within the context of the strategy it
has defined. The aim is therefore to have ability capacity to honour commitments to third parties
within the set deadlines. During 2015 the Group continued to manage its debt, seeking to properly
manage the terms of the bank loads in the context of proper management in the matter of
maturity of the debt and of its cost. In this connection, the Group renewed a comprehensive set of
credit lines and issued new financial instruments with a number of credit institutions. The Group
also sought to diversify its relationships with financial institutions and has been pursuing
alternative paths, in particular as regards access to the capital market. Emphasis is given to the
bond issues in May 2015 and March 2016, amounting to €5 million and €2.1 million respectively.
With regard to the liquidity risk, it should be said that, as mentioned in Note 28 of the consolidated
accounts, the Orey Group had, as of December 31, 2015, €24,769,397 of liabilities in respect of the
Araras bond loan maturing on November 30, 2016. The Board is carrying out several actions /
negotiations, which are expected to be finalised by that date, to guarantee the satisfaction of that
liability by that date. The resources required for its settlement have not yet been assured as of this
date.
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The adverse evolution of economic conditions in the countries in which the Group operates, as well
as of the global economy, can lead to inability to inability of Group customers to fulfil their
obligations, which could lead to possible negative effects on the Group’s results. In this context, the
group is subject to credit risk regarding operational activity. The Group seeks to properly evaluate
the credit risk of all its clients with ultimate goal of ensuring effective recovery of its credits within
the time limits laid down.
The reputational risk is also a relevant risk to which Orey is subject, one transverse to the entire
Group. It is based on the way in which clients, partners, shareholders and investors view Orey.
Their assessment is based on Orey's identity, its vision and strategy, its activity over time and its
social responsibility. Reputational risk is therefore the potential loss of reputation through negative
publicity, loss of income, litigation, decline of the customer base or departure of important
employees.
Operational risk is also considered one of the main risks to which Orey is exposed. It is defined as
the potential occurrence of failures related with people, contractual specifications and
documentation, technology, infrastructure and disasters, projects, external influences and
customer relations. The organisational structure involves roles and responsibilities, determines the
lines of the hierarchy, ensures appropriate communications and provides tools and systems
allowing adequate Operational-Risk management, based at all times on the Company's size and on
its needs.
Underlying the business and the diversity of services provided by Orey, as well as its exposure to
countries other than Portugal, market and country risks are also of significant importance in the
day-tp-day management of the Company's risks. Market risk management is largely the
responsibility of the Asset Management team, which meets regularly, with decisions at the
Investment Committee and at ALCO (Asset-Liability Committee).

There is also the Compliance risk, which is the probability of occurrence of negative impacts on
earnings or capital, resulting from violations of or non-conformities with respect to laws,
instructions of the supervisory entities, regulations, contracts, codes of conduct, instituted
practices or ethical principles. Risk management is carried out directly by the Compliance of the
Company with the help of external legal advice where applicable, and is monitored continuously by
the Board of Directors. Mitigation of the Compliance risk is complemented by the practices laid
down in the various documents of the Company on this matter.
Lastly, emphasis is given to the information-systems risk. This is mitigated through fostering a
culture of security of information systems and work on the network, and information systems
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support and management contracts, as well as specific software to carry out operations. With
regard to the integrity and continuity of the information systems, there is a Disaster Recovery Plan
and tests are conducted annually, as well as daily back-ups of the information, existence of
mechanisms for the protection and security of software and access authorisation and control
procedures.

54. Description of the process of identification, assessment, monitoring, control and
management of risks.
It is considered that an internal-control and risk-management system – as is the case implemented
by Orey – must include, among others, the following components:


fixing the Company's strategic objectives in terms of risk-taking;



identification of the main risks relating to the particular activity and of events that might
generate risks;



analysis and measurement of the impact and likelihood of occurrence of each potential risk;



risk management to align the risks actually incurred with the strategic option of the Company
regarding risk-taking;



mechanisms for monitoring implementation of the risk-management measures adopted and
their effectiveness;



adoption of internal information and communication mechanisms regarding the various
system components and risk warnings;



periodic assessment of the implemented system and adoption of such modifications as may
be seen to be necessary.

Risk Management Process
Orey has reflected the components set out in the Recommendations of the Code of Corporate
Governance in its internal-control and risk-management systems.
During the year under review, as in previous years, a risk-management process was in force across
the entire Company, applied according to the structure and characteristics of each of the
Company's business sectors.
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The Group's policy is geared to business diversification, in order to balance its involvement in
different markets.

On October 15, 2004, at a meeting of the Board of Directors, the creation was approved of a
Finance Committee called ALCO (Asset-Liability Committee) to monitor, assess and manage the
financial risks to which Orey is exposed, of which we would underscore the interest-rate,
exchange-rate, liquidity and credit risks.
The aim of ALCO is to advise the Board of Directors on the Group's financial management,
defining and controlling application of the policy dealing with the financing of the business and
its growth, including balance-sheet and own-funds planning.
The Management Planning and Control area is responsible for providing the elements required to
assess these risks, and this is done on a weekly basis in some cases (liquidity and credit risks) and
on a monthly basis in others (interest-rate and exchange-rate risks).
On the other hand, the aim of the Personnel Committee, whose creation was also approved at the
meeting of the Company's Board of Directors on October 15, 2004, is to support the Board of
Directors in the periodic collection of systematised information on the performance of the human
resources, providing knowledge about and allowing monitoring of special situations in order to
ensure reasoned implementation of the human-resources policy and proper use of the in-house
human resources by fostering career management. This encourages rational, efficient use of the
available human resources.
This risk-management system has proved very effective, and in the year under review it enabled
proper identification of risk factors, their possible consequences and the means to deal with and
minimise them, contributing to a more-enlightened decision-taking bore in line with tolerable risk.
The duties of organisation of risk-management and of monitoring of the risks inherent in the
Group's business are carried out by the board of directors of each of the Group companies. Each
such body comprises one or more members of the Company's Board of Directors, who monitor
directly the business of the subsidiaries and transmit the most important concerns to the
Company's Board of Directors.
The Boards of Directors of the Group's subsidiary companies engaged in operating activities meet
on a monthly basis with a view to permanent monitoring of the significant risks of each of these
companies.
The Company's Board of Directors has assigned increasing importance to the development and
perfecting of systems of internal-control and risk-management having a major relevant impact on
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the business of the Group companies, in line with the national and international recommendations,
with a focus on the CMVM Recommendations.

55. Main elements of the internal control and risk management systems implemented by the
company with regard to the process of disclosure of financial information
The effectiveness of the internal controls in the financial reporting process is one of the
commitments of the company's Board of Directors, which seeks to identify and improve processes
in the preparation and dissemination of such information, in which it is governed by the principles
of transparency and consistency.
The purpose of internal control in the process of preparation and dissemination of financial
reporting process is to ensure that the information is in accordance with the accounting principles
used and the quality of the report.
The reliability of the financial information is ensured in the course of the process, from the
preparation of the information to its use by those who consult it, during which various control
procedures are performed.
The main bases of the internal control process with regard to accounting and preparation and
dissemination of financial information are as follows:
▪ Updated, formalised identification of risks associated with controls in the process of preparation
and dissemination of the information.
▪ Three main types of control: controls at entity level, information systems controls and
procedural controls.
▪ Use of accounting principles that are described throughout the financial information disclosed;
▪ The financial information is analysed regularly to ensure permanent monitoring and its control;
▪ During the process of preparation of the financial information, the documents are reviewed in
relation to the principles used and policies defined;
▪ The annual financial statements are prepared under the supervision of the Board of Directors
and in accordance with the various accounting principles; They are subsequently sent to the
External Auditor that issues the Legal Certification of Accounts, are also sent to the Board of
Auditors that issues its opinion the company's accounts:
▪ Meetings held during the year between the Company's various bodies allow greater control
over the information provided;
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▪ Everyone involved in the process of analysis and preparation of the company's financial
information is included the list of persons having access to inside information and are especially
informed as to the content of their obligations and as to the penalties resulting from improper
use of the information;
▪ The internal rules for financial disclosure seek to ensure its timeliness and to prevent
asymmetry in the market's knowledge thereof.
The more evident causes of risk regarding financial reporting are as follows:
▪ Accounting estimates - The accounting estimates are described in the notes to the financial
statements and were based on the best possible knowledge and experience in order to reduce
possible risks.

IV. Investor Support
56. Service responsible for investor relations, composition, duties, information provided by
these services and contact persons.
With a view to ensuring permanent contact with the market, with due regard at all times for
the principle of shareholder equality and of preventing asymmetries in access to information
by investors, Orey has a person responsible for Investor Relations and, on the other hand, an
Investor Support Office.
The head of Investor Relations is Nuno Vieira. His professional address is as follows:
Nuno Vieira, CFA
Rua Carlos Alberto da Mota Pinto, 17 6 A
1070 – 313 Lisbon
Phone: + 351 21 340 70 00
Fax: + 351 21 347 00 00
Email: nuno.t.vieira@orey.com
The Company has an Investor Support Office in line with CMVM Recommendations. Investors can
access the office by telephone, +351 213 407 057, fax +351 21 347 3937 and e-mail: ir@orey.com,
and, via the Company's Internet site at www.orey.com, may obtain a more complete perception of
the manner of working of this body. Hours of attendance are 9.00 to 12.30 and 14.00 to 17.30 on
business days.
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The principal work of this office is to provide the market with all relevant information, the
disclosure of interim financial information and news related with the Company and, in parallel, to
answer questions or requests for explanations made by investors or by the general public
concerning financial information and information of a public nature related with the Group's
business. In 2015, the office kept records of the requests made, in particular by telephone and
email, and of their processing, in a simplified user database.

57. Market Relations Representative.
The role of Representative for Market Relations is performed by Nuno Vieira. His professional
address is as follows:
Nuno Vieira, CFA
Rua Carlos Alberto da Mota Pinto, 17 6 A
1070 – 313 Lisbon
Phone: + 351 21 340 70 00
Fax: + 351 21 347 00 00
Email: nuno.t.vieira@orey.com

58. Information on the proportion and the deadline for responding to requests for
information received during the year or pending from previous years.
During 2015, the questions that were put to Orey in the area of investor relations and capital
markets, through the Investor Relations mailbox, by phone or other means, were replied to within
three working days.

V. Internet site
59. Address.
The address of the Group's central Internet site is http://www.orey.com. The area dedicated to
investors can be found at http://www.orey.com/investidores/.
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60. Place where information on the firm, the standing as a public limited company, the
registered office and the other elements mentioned in Article 171 of the Companies Code
are located.
On the Group's central Internet site (address: http://www.orey.com) where one can intuitively
find all the information regarding the company and the information required by Article 171 of the
Companies Code.

61. Place where the articles of association and the working regulations of the bodies and/or
committees can be found.
On the Group's website, in its investors' section (http://www.orey.com/investidores/), the
Company's Bylaws can be found (http://www.orey.com/estatutos/) as can the regulations
governing the working of the Board of Directors and of the Board of Auditors.

62. Place where information is provided on the identity of the members of the governing
bodies, of the market relations representative , of Investor Support Office or equivalent
structure, their duties and the means of access.
The Internet site where this information is provided is the “Investors area, which "Corporate
Bodies" tab where information as to the identity of the corporate officers can be found, and it also
has a link to the Investor Support Office where there is information on the market-relations
representative detailing his duties and means of access. Point 1.56 hereof includes further
information on the Investor Support Office.

63. Place where the financial statements are available, which must be available for at least
five years, as well as the half-yearly calendar of corporate events published at the start of
each half year, including, among others, general meetings, disclosure of annual, half-yearly
and, if applicable, quarterly accounts.
The Group's website has two tabs named "Press Releases" and "Financial Information" where the
financial information as well as other related press releases can be found. The same information
may also be obtained via the CMVM website.
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The place where the event calendar is available is as follows:

http://www.orey.com/investidores/calendario

64. Place where notices of general meetings and all preparatory and subsequent information
related therewith are disclosed
The specific Internet site that provides information on the notice convening the general meeting
and all information related therewith is as follows:

http://www.orey.com/investidores/assembleias_gerais

65. Place where historic records are kept, detailing the resolutions passed at the company's
general meetings, the share capital represented and the results of the balloting in respect of
the preceding 3 years
The specific location where this information is provided on the Group's website is its investors area,
at the following link:

http://www.orey.com/investidores/assembleias_gerais

D. REMUNERATION
I. Competence for the determination
66. Indication as to the competence to determine the remuneration of the governing bodies,
members of the executive committee or managing director of the company.
Remuneration Committee
In accordance with Article 21 of the Bylaws, the Remuneration Committee is charged with fixing
the remuneration of the Board of Directors and of other corporate officers. The remuneration of
the directors may consist wholly or partly of a share of the Company's profits, the total percentage
of the share not to exceed 15% (fifteen per cent) of the distributable profit for the year.
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The remuneration of the other Company managers, as defined in Article 248-B of the Securities
Code, is defined by the Board of Directors, through the Executive Committee.
Exercise of the position of member of the Remuneration Committee is not compatible with
membership of the Board of Directors or of the Board of Auditors.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Luis Filipe Alves Monteiro, who was elected to the post
at the General Meeting of May 29, 2014. Also part of the Remuneration Committee are Lourenço
Nascimento da Cunha and Teresa Wiborg de Sousa Botelho, who were elected at the General
Meeting of April 8, 2013.

II. Remuneration Committee
67. Composition of the Remuneration Committee, including identification of natural or
corporate persons hired to provide it with support and statement on the independence of
each advisory members.
As mentioned earlier in this report (see 1.21) the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members elected by the General Meeting, independent with regard to the members of the
executive management body. All three members have knowledge and experience in
remuneration-policy matters.
The Remuneration Committee comprises:
▪ Chair: Luis Filipe Alves Monteiro
▪ Member: Lourenço Nascimento da Cunha
▪ Member: Teresa Wiborg de Sousa Botelho
Exercise of the position of member of the Remuneration Committee is not compatible with
membership of the Board of Directors or of the Board of Auditors. Moreover, no member of the
Remuneration Committee has provided, during the past three years, service to any structure
dependant on the Board of Directors or to the Company's Board of Directors itself or had, during
2015, any relation with Orey's consultant. Excluded are transactions of little economic significance
for the parties concerned, carried out under normal market conditions for similar transactions and
within the framework of the day-to-day business of the Company.
During 2015 no persons and/or external entities were contracted to provide support to the
Remuneration Committee to the extent that there was no such need.
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68. Knowledge and experience of the members of the remuneration committee on
remuneration policy.
It is understood that the experience and knowledge of the members of the Remuneration
Committee are adequate to the proper performance of the duties entrusted to the Committee in
that all the members are knowledgeable in various areas of company law, business management,
executive search and executive coach. Their experience in matters related to the establishment of
remuneration guidelines and policies is comprehensive. The curricula vitae of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are as follows:
Luís Filipe Alves Monteiro
 Currently serving as Chair of the Remuneration Committee of Sociedade Comercial Orey

Antunes, SA (since May 2014) and of Orey Financial, SA, and is Partner of Boyden Global
Executive Search (since May 2006). He is also chair of the Steering Committee of the
Workmen’s Compensation Fund of the Insurance Supervisory Authority appointed by order-incouncil of the Minister of State and Finance. He also performs duties as chair of the General
Board of Casa Santa Maria, a charitable institution engaged in solidarity activities in Long-term
Care.
 From December 2013 to March 2015 he has accumulated the foregoing duties with those of

non-executive director with responsibilities of the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee of Banco BIC Português;
 In 2005 he was director of Caixa-Banco de Investimento;
 From 2004 to 2005 he was executive director of Caixa Geral de Depósitos and chair of the Board

of Directors of Caixa Leasing e Factoring.
 From 2003 to 2004 he was CEO of Hospital de Sta. Maria;
 From 2002 to 2003 was manager of the Incentive Programme for the Modernisation of the

Economy (PRIME), manager of the Operational Programme of the Economy (POE) and manager
of the PEDIPm chairing the respective Management Committees;
 From 2000 to June 2002 he was, in accumulation with executive duties at Banco BIC, director of

PME Investimentos – Sociedade de Investimentos, SA, in representation of the BPI Group. He
was also director of Sociedade F. Turismo-Capital Risco, SA, in representation of the BPI Group;
During this period he was also a director of Luságua in the representation of the same group.
 From 1997 to June 2002 was Central Corporate Manager for Banco Fonsecas & Burnay, Banco

Borges & Irmão, Banco de Fomento e Exterior and Banco BPI;
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 In 1996 and 1997 he was director of the BFE Group and of BFE Investmentos, SA. During that

period he was also director of BFE – Mercado de Capitais e Serviços SGPS, SA;
 From 1991 to 1995 was secretary of State for Industry of the 12th Constitutional Government,

and from 1989 to 1991 was secretary of State for Industry of the 11th Constitutional
Government;
 During the years from 1988 to June 1989 he was Director General of Industry at the Ministry of

Industry and Energy
 From 1984 to 1988 he was Credit Manager at Banco de Fomento Nacional and in 1983 was

representative of that bank in Venezuela, having, since 1976, performed duties successively as
Technical Co-ordinator and Assistant Manager in Credit Services to Companies of this
development bank
 From 1973 to 1976 he was Studies and Maintenance Manager in the Studies and Maintenance,

Budgetary Control Area, and of the Technical Management of Covina;
 From 1970 to 1973 he was General Manager at the Evinel Factory (Covina Group);
 Academic Background: Degree in Mechanical Engineering taken at Instituto Superior Técnico in

1970. In 2001 he concluded Strategic Management in Banking at INSEAD in Fontainebleau;
 In addition to the previously-listed duties, he performed and still performs other professional

activities, including:
 Member of the Management of the CIP during 3 successive terms, elected since

1997;
 Member of the Portuguese Industry Council of the CIP (Business Confederation of

Portugal);
 Member of the Board of the Portuguese Association of Banks in 2004 and 2005;
 Co-ordinator of the Executive Committee of the Specialisation in Engineering and

Industrial Management of the Engineers’ Association, and member Engineering and
Industrial Management Advisory Board of the Instituto Superior Técnico
 Chair of the General Meetings of Compta and SPI

Lourenço Nascimento da Cunha
 Performs duties as chair/secretary of the Board of General Meeting and is a member of the
Remuneration Committee of several companies;
 From January 1998 until the end of 2013 he worked as legal adviser at the Sorel Group, involved
especially in the motor and real-estate areas where he also provided legal services mainly in
the area of commercial and labour law;
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 Since 1997 he works as a lawyer at his own firm, having provided services of a general nature,
though particularly in company law and corporate advisory;
 Internship in legal services at Montepio Geral, for four months in 1997;
 Worked as an intern at a law office in Lisbon, September 1996 to October 1998, where he
learned general law;
 Academic Background: Degree in Law in Legal Sciences at the Faculty of Law of the University of
Lisbon.
Teresa Wiborg de Sousa Botelho
 Since March 2007 to the present performs duties as Business & Executive Coach, accredited by
Action Coach, with certification by the International Business Coach Institute of Las Vegas, USA.
Also performs duties as board member of the Business Angels Club of Lisbon;
 From May 2004 to June 2006 was managing director of Snucker Portugal Confecções, a textile
products company;
 From 2002 to April 2004 was general manager in Spain and Portugal at Mary Kay Cosmetics.
From 1998 to 2002 was general manager of the same company in Portugal, reporting directly
to the president for Europe. Previously, from 1996 to 1998, was operations manager for
Portugal, reporting to the president for Europe, and from 1994 to 1996 was on the board of
the company as Sales Development Director for Portugal;
 From 1992 to 1994 Teresa Botelho was sales manager for Portugal of Guerlain, Paris, reporting
directly to the general manager of the company in Portugal;
 Previously, from 1990 to 1992, she worked at Playtex Spain as sales representative for the
South;
 She also lectured philosophy and psychology during ten years, from 1980 to 1990.

III. Structure of the Remuneration
69. Description of the remuneration policy of the management and supervisory bodies to
which Article 2 of Law 28/2009 of July 19 refers.
Board of Directors
Orey sets its remuneration policy in accordance with applicable law taking into account, in
particular: (i) the criteria set out in article 2.3 of Act 28/2009, of June 19, applicable to Orey as a
public-interest entity pursuant to Decree-Law 225/2008, of November 20; (ii) article 399 of the
Companies Code deals with the remuneration of the Board of Directors; (iii) article 374 of the
Companies Code, as regards the remuneration of the members of the Board of the General
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Meeting; (iv) article 422 of the Companies Code, concerning the remuneration of the Board of
Auditors; and (v) article 60 of Decree-Law 224/2008, of November 20, with regard to the
remuneration of the Statutory Auditor. The remuneration policy also includes the criteria for
determining the remuneration to be paid to corporate officers, information regarding the potential
maximum amounts payable to the members of those officers, as well as identification of
circumstances in which these maximum amounts may be due, in both individual and in aggregate
terms, this inclusion being in compliance with the CMVM recommendations, including matters in
respect of the (un)enforceability of payments for the dismissal or termination of office of directors.
The Remuneration Committee has defined a set of guiding principles and a remuneration policy
that are intended to be stable for the period of each term of office of the governing bodies,
provided no exceptional or unforeseeable circumstances arise justifying alteration.
The executive directors' remuneration policy follows the following guiding principles: (1) be simple,
clear and transparent; (2) be appropriate and adjusted to the size, nature, scope and specificity of
activity of the SCOA; (3) ensure a competitive, fair total compensation aligned with best practices
and latest trends at national and European level, in particular with companies comparable to SCOA;
(4) incorporate a fixed component adjusted to the roles and responsibilities of the directors; (5)
incorporate a reasonable variable component indexed to the individual and organisational
performance assessment in keeping with the achievement of concrete, measurable objectives
aligned with the interests of the company and shareholders; and (6) establish a variable
remuneration component indexed to the medium-term appreciation of SCOA, linking the
remuneration of Executive Directors to the sustainability of results and the creation of shareholder
value.
Having regard to these principles, the assessment of performance and the executive directors'
remuneration is determined based primarily on four general criteria: (1) competitiveness, taking
into account the practices of the Portuguese market; (2) fairness, the remuneration to be based on
uniform, consistent, fair and balanced criteria; (3) evaluation of performance, according to the
functions and the level of responsibility of each director, as well as the with assumption of
adequate levels of risk and compliance with the rules applicable to SCOA's business; and (4)
alignment of the directors' interests with the interests of company and with its long-term
sustainability and wealth creation. In this connection, the remuneration of the executive directors
includes a fixed component and a variable component, which consists of a portion that aims to
reward short-term performance and another to reward medium-term performance.
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Fixed component
The fixed-remuneration component comprises solely the basic remuneration, no other
consideration being due. This component is paid in cash, 14 times a year.
In accordance with the current remuneration policy, the fixed remuneration of all the Company's
executive directors may not exceed a gross annual amount of €2,000,000.00 (two million euros),
paid directly or indirectly by SCOA, it being incumbent upon the Committee to set the maximum
amount to be allocated individually. No other fixed remuneration is added to this basic
remuneration, except for additional benefits relating to the use of a vehicle, associated costs and
insurance.
Even though an executive receives remuneration for the performance of duties at subsidiaries, to
total fixed remuneration may not exceed the maximum amounts set forth above.
Variable component
The variable component of the remuneration includes a short-term portion and a medium-term
portion, in accordance with the remuneration policy in force in 2015 and 2016, and it shall exceed
neither an amount equivalent to 10% of the consolidated distributable profit for the year, nor an
amount corresponding to 100% of the maximum annual fixed remuneration stated above.
General requirements applicable to both portions of the variable component: (1) occurs only after
the approval of the accounts of each financial year, after the evaluation of performance for the
year to which the payment refers and only in the event that the predefined targets have been met;
(2) the degree of achievement of the defined targets is gauged through annual performance
evaluation, which is based on a predefined matrix; (3) the annual performance evaluation is based
on the SCOA’s Key Performance Indicators (KPI) on a consolidated basis (80% weight) and on the
individual performance evaluation (20% weight); (4) for the purpose of point (3) the following Key
Performance Indicators are considered during the term of office: Average Cost of Debt, Return on
Invested Capital, EBITDA, Earnings per share (compound annual growth rate).
Variable sort-term remuneration is paid in cash, depending on the annual performance evaluation,
the amount varying in accordance with the degree of achievement of the targets relating to the
said Key Performance Indicators and will correspond to an amount of up to 50% of the total
variable remuneration paid each year. The Medium-Term Variable Remuneration “(MTVR”) serves
the purpose of strengthening the alignment of interests of the SCOA executive directors with those
of the Company and shareholders, varying depending on the annual performance evaluation. It is
fixed in Remuneration Units (“RU”) relating to each term of office in which each executive director
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has performed duties. The value of each RU corresponds to the SCOA share price on the the MTVR
is fixed, and the evolution of their value is the same as that of the Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
of the SCOA shares. The right of each executive director to conversion of the RUs is formed
successively, and it is considered consolidated in respect of 1/4 of the amount in question at the
end of the year to which they refer, and of each remaining 1/4 at the end of each of the three
subsequent years, provided that the director performs executive during in the in question.
Lastly, there are no agreements between the Company and members of the Board of Directors and
senior managers that provide for indemnity in case of dismissal or termination of directors' duties
by mutual agreement.

Board of Auditors
For the Board of Auditors and members of the board of the General Meeting, the law determines
that the remuneration shall consist of a fixed amount.
The members of the Board of Auditors earn a fixed remuneration paid one or more times a year,
which is determined in the same way by the Annual General Meeting or by a committee appointed
thereby, taking into account the duties performed and the economic situation of the Company. In
this connection, it is incumbent upon the Orey Remuneration Committee to set the amounts to be
allocated to each member of the Board of Auditors, pursuant to the remuneration policy prevailing
at the Company.

70. Information as to the way in which the remuneration is so structured as to allow an
alignment of the interests of the members of the management body with the company's
long-term interests, as well as to the way it is based on the appraisal of the performance and
discourages excessive risk-taking.
The Company's remuneration is so structured as to enhance the fixed remuneration component.
This aspect, combined with the possibility that administrators may receive up to 15% of the
distributable profit in a given fiscal year, in accordance with the provisions of article 21(1) of the
Bylaws, provides an incentive for directors to improve the Company's financial performance while
also discouraging excessive risk-taking and the manipulation of the price of the shares (given that
the bonus is awarded on the basis of a percentage of the Company's profit and not in accordance
with the market performance of the Company's shares).Having regard to these principles, the
assessment of performance and the Executive Directors' remuneration is determined primarily
based on four general criteria: (1) competitiveness, taking into account the practices of the
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Portuguese market; (2) fairness, the remuneration to be based on uniform, consistent, fair and
balanced criteria; (3) evaluation of performance, according to the functions and the level of
responsibility of each director, as well as the with assumption of adequate levels of risk and
compliance with the rules applicable to SCOA's business; and (4) the alignment of the directors'
interests with the interests of company and with its long-term sustainability and wealth creation. In
this connection, the remuneration of the executive directors includes a fixed component and a
variable component, which consists of a portion that aims to reward short-term performance and
another to reward medium-term performance.

71. Reference, if applicable, to the existence of a variable remuneration component and
information about possible impact of the appraisal of performance on this component.
The remuneration of the directors may, in accordance with Article 21(1) of the Bylaws and subject
to the duties performed and the economic situation of the Company (see Article 399(1) of the
Companies Code), be increased by an amount up to 15% (fifteen per cent) of the distributable
profits generated by the Company.
In keeping with the current remuneration policy, the variable-remuneration component includes a
short-term portion and a medium term portion, which, during 2015 and 2016, shall exceed neither
an amount equivalent to 10% of the distributable consolidated profit for the year, nor and amount
corresponding to 100% of the maximum annual fixed remuneration.
In setting the variable component there is also weighting of other factors that result essentially
from the general principles – market, specific duties, situation of the Company – and, in many
cases, have a more individual component relating to the specific position and performance of each
director (see point 1.69 above).

72. Deferral of payment of the variable component of the remuneration, stating the period
of deferral
The variable component of the remuneration includes a short-term portion and a medium-term
portion as referred to in point 1.69.
Variable sort-term remuneration is paid in cash, depending on the annual performance evaluation,
the amount varying in accordance with the degree of achievement of the targets relating to the
said Key Performance Indicators and will correspond to an amount of up to 50% of the total
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variable remuneration paid each year. The Medium-Term Variable Remuneration “(MTVR”) serves
the purpose of strengthening the alignment of interests of the SCOA executive directors with those
of the Company and shareholders, varying depending on the annual performance evaluation. It is
fixed in Remuneration Units (“RU”) relating to each term of office in which each executive director
has performed duties. The value of each RU corresponds to the SCOA share price on the the MTVR
is fixed, and the evolution of their value is the same as that of the Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
of the SCOA shares. The right of each executive director to conversion of the RUs is formed
successively, and it is considered consolidated in respect of 1/4 of the amount in question at the
end of the year to which they refer, and of each remaining 1/4 at the end of each of the three
subsequent years, provided that the director performs executive during in the in question.

73. Criteria on which the attribution of variable remuneration in shares is based, as well as
on the retention of those shares by executive directors, on the close of any contracts relating
to such shares, particularly hedging or risk-transfer contracts, their limits and its ratio as a
proportion of the total annual remuneration.
The variable component of the remuneration of executive directors does not include allocation of
shares. However, it should be noted that the medium-term component of the variable
remuneration is indexed to SCOA share price on the date the MTVR is fixed and its evolution is the
same as that of the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of the SCOA shares.

74. Criteria on which the award of variable remuneration in options is based and indication
of the period of deferral and of the exercise price
The variable component of remuneration of executive directors does not include allocation of
shares.

75. Main parameters and rationale for any bonus scheme and any other non-cash benefits.
The parameters and rationale of the annual bonus system are set out in detail in point 1.69.
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76. Main characteristics of supplementary pension or early retirement mechanisms for
directors and date of their approval by the general meeting, in individual terms.
None exist.

IV. Disclosure of the Remuneration
77. Indication of the annual remuneration earned in aggregate and individual terms, by
members of the company's management body, paid by the company, including fixed and
variable remuneration, and for the latter, indication of the various components that gave
rise to it.
During 2015, the annual fixed and variable remuneration earned by the executive and nonexecutive members of the Company's Board of Directors was as follows (in euros):
Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Francisco dos Santos Bessa
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Alexander Somerville Gibson
Francisco Van Zeller
Juan Celestino Lázaro González
Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes
Joaquim Paulo Claro dos Santos
Rogério Paulo Caiado Raimundo Celeiro

Fixed
component
560,000
245,000
43,050
-

Total

848,050

Variable
component
152,359
152,359

Attendance fees

Total

10,000
10,000
10,000
15,000
12,500
15,000
3,333
75,833

722,359
255,000
53,050
15,000
12,500
15,000
3,333
1,076,242

The amount relating to the variable component is in respect of bonuses granted due to the
performance of the company during 2015 and to adjustments, paid in 2015 relating to 2014.
It should be mentioned that directors Joaquim Santos and Rogério Celeiro tendered their
resignation as directors during 2015, and they were therefore no longer members of the Board of
Directors as at December 31, 2015.

78. Amounts paid for any reason whatsoever by other companies in a controlling
relationship or subject to common control.
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Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Francisco dos Santos Bessa
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Alexander Somerville Gibson
Francisco Van Zeller
Juan Celestino Lázaro González
Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes
Joaquim Paulo Claro dos Santos
Rogério Paulo Caiado Raimundo Celeiro
Total

Fixed
component
100,912
149,318
74,975
325,206

Variable
component

Attendance fees
4,425
-

135,300
446,490

100,912
289,043
521,465
911,421

4,425

581,790

Total

It should be mentioned that directors Joaquim Santos and Rogério Celeiro tendered their
resignation as directors during 2015, and they were therefore no longer members of the Board of
Directors as at December 31, 2015.

79. Remuneration paid in the form of profit sharing and/or payment of bonuses and the
reason why such bonuses and/or profit sharing were granted.
The amount relating to the variable component described in points 1.77 and 1.78 is in respect of
bonuses granted due to the performance of the company during the period.

80. Indemnities paid or owed to former executive directors in respect of termination of their
duties during the year
No indemnities were paid to former executive directors in respect of termination of office during
the period.

81. Indication of the annual remuneration earned in aggregate and individual terms by the
members of the company's supervisory board for the purposes of the Law 28/2009 of June
19.
Members of the Board of Auditors
José Martinho Soares Barroso
Acácio Augusto Lougares Pita Negrão
Nuno de Deus Vieira Paisana Salvador Pinheiro
Total

Fixed
component
12,000
6,000
6,000
24,000

100

Variable
component

Attendance fees
-

-

-

Total
12,000
6,000
6,000
24,000
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82. Indication of the remuneration of the chair of the board of the general meeting.
During 2015, the chair of the Board of the General Meeting earned no remuneration for taking part
in the Company's General Meetings.

V. Agreements with remuneration implications
83. Contractual limitation stipulated for compensation payable for dismissal of a director
without due cause and its relationship with the variable component of the remuneration
There is no contractual limitation for compensation payable for unfair dismissal administrator.

84. Reference to the existence and description, with indication of the amounts involved, of
agreements between the company and members of the management body and managers, in
the acceptation of Article 248-B(3) of the Companies Code, stipulating indemnities in the
event of dismissal without due cause or termination of the employment tie in the wake of a
change of control of the company (Article 245-A(1)(l).
There are no agreements between the Company and members of the management body and
managers, in the acceptation of Article 248-B(3) of the Companies Code, stipulating indemnities in
the event of dismissal without due cause or termination of the employment tie in the wake of a
change of control of the Company.

VI. Share allocation plans or stock options
85. Identification of plans and their recipients.
No share allocation plans or stock-option plans were in force or adopted during 2015.

86. Characterisation of the plan (conditions of allocation, clauses on non-disposal of shares,
criteria on the share price and the exercise price of the options, the period during which the
options may be exercised, characteristics of shares or options to be granted, existence of
incentives for and the acquisition of shares or exercise options).
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There are no share allocation plans or stock options between the company and any recipient.

87. Stock options for company employees and collaborators.
There are no share allocation plans or stock options between the company and any recipient.

88. Control mechanisms provided for in any system of employee participation in the share
capital to the extent that they do not directly exercise voting rights (Article 245-A(1) (e).
No control mechanisms are provided for in any system of employee participation in the share
capital to the extent that they do not directly exercise voting rights.

E. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
I. Control mechanisms and procedures
89. Mechanisms implemented by the company for the purpose of control of transactions
with related parties
The Company does not consider it necessary to submit transactions of significant importance to
prior opinion or to establish oversight mechanisms to define the relevant level of significance of
such transactions and other terms of intervention because the Board of Auditors has been granted
the necessary powers and means of action to oversee the Company's business, including
transactions by holders of relevant holdings and/or transactions that may involve conflicts of
interest.
It should be noted that during 2015 the Company realised no transactions other than at arm's
length.

90. Indication of transactions subjected to control in the reference year.
No company transactions were subject to control in 2015.
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91. Description of the procedures and criteria applicable to the intervention of the
supervisory body for the purpose of prior assessment of transactions to be undertaken
between the company and owners of qualifying holdings or with entities in any relationship
with them under article 20 of the Securities Code
The Company does not consider it necessary to submit transactions of significant importance with
holders of qualifying holdings to prior opinion or to establish oversight mechanisms to define the
relevant level of significance of such transactions and other terms of intervention because the
Board of Auditors has been granted the necessary powers and means of action to oversee the
Company's business, including transactions by holders of relevant holdings and/or transactions that
may involve conflicts of interest.
It should be noted that during 2015 there were no Company transactions with shareholders with
qualifying holdings or entities with which they are in any relationship, pursuant to Article 20 the
Securities Code, carried out other than at arm's length.

II. Information relating to the business
92. Indication of the location of accounting documents containing information on
transactions with related parties, in accordance with IAS 24, or alternatively reproduction of
such information.
Information on transactions with related parties, in accordance with IAS 24, is available in the notes
to the separate and consolidated financial statements in the Report and Accounts:
- On the separate financial statements it can be found in Note 36;
- On the consolidated financial statements it can be found in Note 47.

Part II - Evaluation of corporate governance
1. Identification of the Corporate Governance Code adopted
This report (hereinafter "Report") was drawn up on the basis of the model contained in Schedule I
of the Securities Market Commission (hereinafter "CMVM") Regulation 4/2013, which is the
Corporate Governance adopted by Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes SA (hereinafter "SCOA",
"Orey" or "Company").
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2.

Analysis of compliance with Corporate Governance Code adopted

The following table aims to bring together schematically the CMVM recommendations of the
Corporate Governance Code (hereinafter "Recommendations"), distinguishing those fully adopted
and those not adopted in 2015 by SCOA, as well as the section of this report where a more detailed
description regarding compliance with each of these Recommendations can be found.
Recommendation

Adoption of the Descripti
Recommendati on in this
on
Report

I. VOTING AND CONTROL OF THE COMPANY
I.1. Companies should encourage shareholders to attend and vote at
general meetings, in particular by not setting an excessively high
number of shares required to be entitled to one vote and
implementing measures indispensable to the exercise of voting rights
by correspondence or by electronic means.

Partially
Adopted(1)

1.12

I.2. Companies shall not adopt mechanisms that hinder the passing of
resolutions by shareholders, including setting a resolution quorum
greater than required by law.

Adopted

1.12
1.13
1.14

I.3. Companies shall not establish mechanisms that have the effect of
causing a mismatch between the right to receive dividends or to
subscribe new securities and the right of each ordinary share, unless
duly justified in the light of the long-term interests of shareholders.

Adopted

1.12

I.4. The bylaws of companies that stipulate a limitation of the number
of votes that may be held or exercised by a single shareholder,
severally or in concert with other shareholders, shall also stipulate
that, at least every five years, the continuation or otherwise of such a
statutory provision shall be submitted to resolution by the general
meeting – with no requirement for a quorum greater than that
stipulated by law – and that in such a resolution all votes cast shall be
counted without subjection to such limitation.

Not Applicable

1.12

1.5. Measures shall not be adopted the default effect of which is to
demand payments by the company nor that it assume charges in the
event of transfer of control or alterations to the composition of the
management body that could hinder the free transfer of shares and
the free appraisal by shareholders of the performance of the members
of the management body.

Adopted

1.4
1.5

Adopted

1.9
1.21

1.13

(1)

Explanation of the divergence: As stated in points 1.12 and 1.13.
above, the company complies with the recommendations, with the
exception of the electronic voting requirement. The number of
shareholders and their representatives present at recent General
Meetings does not, in practical and economic terms, justify
implementation of an electronic voting system.

II. SUPERVISION, MANAGEMENT AND INSPECTION
II.1. SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT
II.1.1. Within the limits established by law, and except because of the
small size of the company, the board of directors shall delegate the
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day-to-day running of the company, the delegated powers to be
detailed in the company's annual report on the governance of the
company.
II.1.2. The Board of Directors shall ensure that the company acts in a
manner consistent with its objectives, and shall not delegate its
responsibilities particularly with regard to: i) defining the company's
strategy and general policies; ii) defining the corporate structure of
the group; and iii) decisions that must be considered strategic owing
to the amount, risk or special characteristics involved.

Adopted

II.1.3. Besides exercising the supervisory powers with which it is
entrusted, the General and Supervisory Board must assume full
responsibility for Corporate Governance, and therefore, through
statutory provision or equivalent means, this body shall be charged
with expressing its opinion as to the Company's strategy and major
policies, the definition of the corporate structure of the group and the
decisions that must be considered strategic due to their amount or
risk. This body shall also assess compliance with the strategic plan and
implementation of the company's major policies.

Not
Applicable(2)

1.9
1.21

(2)Explanation

of the divergence: Due to the small size of the company
there is neither a General and Supervisory Board nor a financial
matters committee)
II.1.4. Save by virtue of the small size of the company, the Board of
Directors and the General and Supervisory Board, depending on the
model adopted, shall set up those committees seen to be necessary:

Not
Applicable(3)

1.21
1.24
1.27

Not Adopted(4)

1.50
1.54

a)

to
ensure competent, independent assessment of the
performance of the executive directors and of its overall
performance, as well as that of any other committees;
b)
to
reflect on the governance system structure and practices
adopted determine their effectiveness, and to propose to the
competent bodies measures to be implemented with a view
to their improvement.
(3)Explanation of the divergence: Due to the small size of the company
there is no corporate governance committee.
II.1.5. The Board of Directors or the General and Supervisory Board,
depending on the model applicable, shall set the objectives for risktaking and create systems for its control, so as to ensure that the risks
actually incurred are consistent with those objectives.
(4)Explanation of the divergence: Since the main subsidiaries of the
group, in particular the subsidiaries of its financial area, which is the
strategically most important area, have included risk control and
management models in their structures, and given the small size of
the company, this recommendation is not adopted by the holding
company.
II.1.6. The Board of Directors shall include a number of non-executive
members to ensure effective monitoring, supervision and assessment
of the activity of the other members of the management body.

Adopted

1.15
1.17
1.18

II.1.7. Non-executive directors shall include a suitable proportion of
independents, taking into account the governance model adopted,
the size of the company and its shareholder structure and

Adopted

1.17
1.18
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respective free float.
The independence of the members of the General and Supervisory
Board and of the members of the Board of Auditors is assessed in
accordance with applicable law, and as to the other members of the
Board of Directors, a person is considered independent who is not
associated with any specific interest group in the company nor is in
any circumstance likely to affect his/her impartiality of analysis or
decision, particularly by virtue of:
a)
havin
g been a collaborator of the company or of a company in a
controlling or group relationship with it during the previous
three years;
b)
havin
g, in the previous three years, provided services to or
established a significant business relationship with the
company or with a company in a dominant or group
relationship therewith, either directly or as a shareholder,
director or officer of a corporate person;
c)
recei
ves remuneration paid by the company or by a company in a
controlling or group relationship therewith, other than
remuneration resulting from the performance of the duties of
a director;
d)
being
a common-law partner, a spouse, relative or kindred in the
direct-line to the 3rd degree, including the collateral line, of
directors or of natural persons directly or indirectly owning a
qualifying holding;
e)
owni
ng a qualifying holding or being a representative of a
qualifying shareholder.
II.1.8. Directors performing executive duties, when so requested by
other corporate officers, shall provide the requested information in
good time and in a manner appropriate to the request.

Adopted

1.15
1.21

II.1.9. The chair of the executive management body or of the executive
committee shall send, as applicable, to the chair of the Board of
Directors, the chair of the Board of Auditors, the chair of the Audit
Committee, the chair of the General and Supervisory Board and the
chair of the Financial Matters Committee, notice of meetings and the
respective minutes.

Adopted

1.23

II.1.10. Should the chair of the management body perform executive
duties, this body shall appoint, from among its members, an
independent director to ensure the co-ordination of the work of the
other non-executive members and the conditions allowing them to
make independent and informed decisions or find an equivalent
mechanism to ensure that co-ordination
(5)Explanation of the divergence: The Board of Directors decided to
adopt a set of mechanisms that allow easy access by non-executive
members to the information that may be necessary or convenient for
the performance of their duties and pursuit of their activity.

Not Adopted(5)

1.21
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II.2. SUPERVISION
II.2.1. In accordance with the applicable model, the chair of the Board
of Auditors, of the Audit Committee or of the Financial Matters
Committee shall be independent, in keeping with the applicable legal
criterion, and shall have the competencies appropriate to the
performance of the respective duties.

Adopted

1.15
1.21
1.32

II.2.2. The supervisory body shall be the main interlocutor of the
external auditor and the first recipient of the reports, responsible,
inter alia, for proposing its remuneration and for ensuring that it is
provided, within the company, with conditions appropriate to the
provision of its services.

Adopted

1.21

II.2.3. The supervisory board shall assess the external auditor annually
and propose to the competent body its dismissal or termination of
the provision of service contract where there is due cause.

Adopted

1.37

II.2.4. The supervisory board shall evaluate the functioning of the
internal control and risk management systems and propose such
adjustments as are seen to be required.

Adopted

1.30
1.37

II.2.5. The Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory Board
and the Board of Auditors shall express their opinion on the work
plans and the resources allocated to internal audit services and
services that ensure compliance with the rules applicable to the
company (compliance services), and shall be recipients of the
reports drafted by these services at least where issues related to
the submission of accounts and identification or resolution of
conflicts of interest and the detection of potential illegalities are at
issue.

(6)

1.37
1.52

II.3.1. All members of the Remuneration Committee or similar body
shall be independent with regard to the members of the management
body and shall include at least one member having knowledge of and
experience in remuneration-policy matters.

Adopted

1.21

II.3.2. No natural or corporate person shall be hired to support the
remuneration committee in the performance of its duties that
provides or has provided, during the previous three years, services to
any structure dependent on the board of directors, to the company's
board of directors itself or has a present relationship with the
company or with a consultant of the company. This recommendation
is likewise applicable to any natural or corporate person that has a
relationship with the foregoing through an employment or provisionof-service contract.

Adopted

1.69

II.3.3. The declaration on the remuneration policy of the management
and supervisory bodies to which Article 2 of Law 28/2009 of July 19
refers, shall also contain:
a) Identification and details of the criteria for determining the
remuneration to be granted to members of the governing
bodies;

Partially
Adopted(7)

1.69

(6)Explanation

1.30
1.37

1.50
Not Adopted

of the divergence: Due to the small size of the Company.

II.3. SETTING REMUNERATION

b) Information on the maximum potential amount, in individual
terms, and the maximum potential amount, in aggregate, to
be paid to members of governing bodies, and identification
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of the circumstances under which these maximum amounts
may be payable;
c) Information regarding the enforceability or unenforceability
of payments for the dismissal or termination of office of
directors.
(7)Explanation of the divergence: In keeping with the understanding of
the CMVM, this company complies with the recommendations, except
as provided in subparagraph (b) above.
II.3.4. The proposal relating to the approval of stock-option plans,
share allocation plans, and/or options to acquire shares on the basis of
variations of the price of the shares, to be granted to members of the
governing bodies shall be submitted to the General Meeting. The
proposal shall contain all elements required for a correct evaluation of
the plan.
(8)Explanation

of the
allocation/acquisition plan.

divergence:

There

is

no

Not
Applicable(8)

1.73

Not
Applicable(9)

1.76

Adopted

1.21

1.74

share

II.3.5. The proposal on the approval of any system of retirement
benefits established for members of governing bodies shall be
submitted to the General Meeting. The proposal shall contain all
elements required for a correct evaluation of the plan.
(9)Explanation of the divergence: No retirement benefit system for
members of governing bodies exists.
III. REMUNERATION
III.1. The remuneration of executive members of the management
body shall be based on actual performance and discourage excessive
risk-taking.

1.69
1.70
1.71
1.77
1.78

III.2. The remuneration of non-executive members of the
management body and the remuneration of members of the
supervisory board shall not include any component the amount of
which depends on the performance or value of the company.
III.3. The variable component of the remuneration shall be generally
reasonable in relation to the fixed component of the remuneration
and maximum limits shall be fixed for all components;

Adopted

Adopted

1.77

1.69
1.70
1.77

III.4. A significant part of the variable remuneration shall be deferred
for a period of no less than three years and its payment shall depend
on the continuity of the good performance of the company over that
period.

Adopted

1.72

III.5. Members of the management body shall not conclude contracts
either with the company or with third parties, the effect of which is to
mitigate the risk inherent in the variability of the remuneration fixed
for them by the company.

Adopted

Part II,
point 3

III.6. Until the end of their tenure executive directors shall maintain
any shares that they have accessed by virtue of variableremuneration schemes, up to a limit of twice their total annual
remuneration, with the exception of those that need to be sold to pay

Not
Applicable(10)
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taxes resulting from the benefit of these same shares;
(10)
Explanation of the divergence: There are no share distribution
schemes
III.7. Where the variable remuneration includes the attribution of
options, the start of the exercise period shall be deferred for a period
no less than three years.

Not
Applicable(11)

1.74

Adopted

1.69

(11)

Explanation of the divergence: There are no option distribution
schemes
III.8. Where the dismissal of directors is not due to serious breach of
their duties or their unfitness for the normal performance of their
duties but nevertheless entails inadequate performance, the
company shall have the adequate and necessary legal instruments to
ensure that any indemnity or compensation, beyond the legally due,
is not enforceable.

1.80
1.84

IV. AUDIT
IV.1. The external auditor shall, within the scope of its duties, verify
the application of the remuneration policies and systems of the
governing bodies and the efficacy and working of the internal-control
mechanisms, and shall report any deficiencies to the company's
supervisory body.

Not Adopted

1.21

IV.2. The company and any entities with which it has a relationship of
control shall not hire from the external auditor or any entity in a
group relationship with it or that is part of the same network, services
other than auditing services. If there are reasons to hire such services
-– which must be approved by the supervisory body and explained in
its annual report on Corporate Governance – they must not exceed
more than 30% of the total value of services provided to the
company.

Not Adopted

1.46

IV.3. Companies shall promote rotation of the auditor at the end of
two or three terms of office, depending on whether the term is of
four or three years. Grounds shall be provided for their continuation
beyond this period in a specific opinion issued by the supervisory
body, expressly weighing the auditor's conditions of independence
and the advantages and costs of his replacement.

Adopted

1.44

V.1. The Company's deals with shareholders having a qualifying
holding or with entities having any relations with them, under the
terms of Article 20 of the Securities Code, shall be carried on at arm's
length.

Adopted

1.89

V.2. The supervisory or inspection body shall establish the procedures
and criteria required to define the relevant level of significance of
business with shareholders with qualifying holdings – or with entities
in any of the relationships laid down in article 20(1) of the Securities
Code – the conduct of business of significant importance being
dependent on the prior assent of that body.
(12)Explanation of the divergence: It is the understanding of the Board
of Directors and also of the Board of Auditors that any quantification
for deals to be concluded between, on the one hand, any qualifying
shareholder or related party and, on the other, Orey or any company
in a controlling or group relationship with it is not sufficient to qualify
the need for its appraisal by the Board of Auditors. Furthermore, the

Not Adopted(12)

1.45

V. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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Board of Auditors believes that , the criteria to be observed in
identifying deals to be submitted to it should not be based on purely
arithmetic criteria, but rather on the identification, by the Board of
Directors, of transactions that, for their special economic significance
(for any of the parties involved) or for the circumstances in which they
are undertaken, can be understood not being in keeping with normal
market conditions for similar operations carried out within the scope
of Orey's day-to-day business.
VI. INFORMATION
VI.1. Companies shall provide, through their website, in Portuguese
and English, access to information providing information on their
evolution and their current situation in economic, financial and
governance terms.

Adopted

VI.2. Companies shall ensure the existence of an investor support
office and permanent contact with the market, answering investor
requests in a timely manner, a record to be kept of requests made
and of the treatment given to them.

Adopted

1.60
1.61
1.62
1.63
1.64
1.65
1.57
1.58
1.62

3. Other information
As far as is known to the Company, the members of the management body have not
concluded contracts either with the Company or with third parties the effect of which is to
mitigate the risk inherent in the variability of the remuneration fixed for them by the
Company.
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17. Separate Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position
(expressed in euros)
Dec-15
ASSETS

NOTES

Cash & balances at central banks
Balances with other credit institutions
Placements with credit institutions
Loans to affiliates and subsidiaries
Investment properties
Other tangible assets
Intangible assets
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investments in associates and subsidiaries
Current tax assets
Expenses pending recognition and debtor accruals
Other assets

7
7
8
9
10
11
11
12
13
14
15
16

Total Assets

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Debt securities
Loans from associates and subsidiaries
Provisions
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Creditor accruals and income pending recognition
Other liabilities

GROSS
ASSETS
5,595
21,989,776
41,689
12,126,828
972,000
614,693
4,465
13,509,879
53,202,547
359,085
2,062,055

IMPAIRMENT
DEP.
522,973
-

104,888,612

522,973

NOTES
17
18
19
20
14
14
21
22

Total Liabilities

Share capital
Issue premiums
Treasury shares
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves and retained earnings
Net income for the period

23
24
25
26
26

Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

Dec-14
NET ASSETS NET ASSETS
5,595
21,989,776
41,689
12,126,828
972,000
91,720
4,465
13,509,879
53,202,547
359,085
2,062,055

7,040
4,777,996
725
6,321,896
997,000
96,463
84,366,414
174,083
202,161
4,887,641

104,365,639

101,831,420

Dez-15

Dec-14

26,942,964
33,944,868
3,155,032
2,432,612
110,043
72,076
1,590,023
2,741,416

9,450,968
29,766,152
259,010
2,310,395
64,491
77,701
956,255
1,398,309

70,989,034

44,283,280

12,000,000
6,486,204
(324,132)
(219,039)
17,272,187
(1,838,616)

12,000,000
6,486,204
(324,132)
22,181,744
13,135,206
4,069,117

33,376,605
104,365,639

57,548,140
101,831,420

The notes between pages 119 and 186 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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Statement of Income by nature of expense
(expressed in euros)
Statement of Income

NOTES

Interest & similar income
Interest & similar costs

27
27

Strict net interest income

Income on equity instruments
Results of financial assets & liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Results of sale of other assets
Other operating income

28
29
30
31

Product of the business

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
General administrative costs
Expenses / (reversals) of depreciation & amortisation

32
33
34

Overheads

Provisions net of items written back and written off
Impairment of other assets net of reversals and recoveries

20

Income before taxes and non-controlling interests

Deferred taxes
Corporation tax

14
14

Net income

Dec-15

Dec-14

278,724
(2,438,035)

328,131
(2,893,132)

(2,159,311)

(2,565,002)

4,509,295
(47)
139,667

9,005,000
(360,053)
147,934
630,505

2,489,604

6,858,384

(1,999,240)
(2,079,429)
(25,891)

(1,196,726)
(1,975,545)
(26,188)

(4,104,560)

(3,198,459)

(122,218)
-

(86,184)
220

(1,737,174)

3,573,961

5,625
(107,067)

584,000
(88,844)

(1,838,616)

4,069,117

(1,838,616)

4,069,117

(0.155)
(0.155)

0.343
0.343

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Income for the period

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

35
35

The notes between pages 119 and 186 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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Comprehensive Income Statement
(expressed in euros)
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Notes

Net income
Revaluation of financial investments in subsidiaries

26

Actuarial deviations

22

Comprehensive Income

Dec-15

Dec-14

(1,838,616)

4,069,117

(22,400,783)

(12,002,000)

67,864

(290,479)

(24,171,535)

(8,223,362)

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The notes between pages 119 and 186 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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Statement of Changes in Equity
(expressed in euros)
Statement of Changes in Equity

Balance as at 01 January 2014

Issued share
capital
12,000,000

Issue
premiums
6,486,204

Treasury
shares – par
value
(145,385)

Treasury
shares –
discounts &
premiums
(178,747)

Revaluation
reserves
34,280,080

Legal reserves

1,641,898

Retained
earnings
7,733,908

Net income for the period
(12,098,336)

7,391,382

69,209,338
4,069,117

(194,143)

Dividends

(12,292,479)

(3,437,838)

Transfer of the 2013 net income

7,391,382

Constitution of reserves

369,569
12,000,000

6,486,204

(145,385)

(178,747)

22,181,745

2,011,467

(3,437,838)
(7,391,382)

11,123,740

4,069,117

57,548,140

(1,838,616)

Other comprehensive income

(22,400,783)

Constitution of legal reserve

67,864
203,456

Transfer of the 2014 net income
12,000,000

6,486,204

(145,385)

(178,747)

(219,039)

2,214,923

-

(369,569)

Net income for the period

Balance as at 31 December 2015

Total

4,069,117

Other comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 December 2014

Net income

(1,838,616)
(22,332,919)

(203,456)

-

4,069,117

(4,069,117)

15,057,265

(1,838,616)

33,376,605

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The notes between pages 119 and 186 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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Statement of Cash Flows
(expressed in euros)
Separate Statement of Cash Flows (Direct Method)

Notes

Dec-15

Dec-14

OPERATING ACTIVITY
Cash receipts from customers

713,535

Cash paid to suppliers

1,452,432

(2,154,522)

Cash paid to employees
Cash generated by operating activities
Payment of corporation tax
Other relating to operating activity
Cash flow before extraordinary items

(1,884,125)

(958,648)

(957,731)

(2,399,635)

(1,389,424)

(17,708)

(61,652)

(539,168)

(3,365,657)

(2,956,511)

Net cash from operating activities [1]

(4,816,733)

(2,956,511)

(4,816,733)

INVESTING ACTIVITY
CASH RECEIVED FROM:
Tangible fixed assets

2,090

Financial investments

-

3,116,601

Other financial assets
Investment in Group companies
Interest & similar income

-

-

956,643

-

5,579,372

6,855

22,361

Dividends

710,000
3,125,546

7,268,376

CASH PAID IN RESPECT OF:
Tangible fixed assets

(27,173)

Intangible assets

(1,699)

(4,465)

Financial investments

-

(6,986,574)

(5,289,378)

(7,018,212)

Cash flows from investing activities (2)

(5,291,077)

(3,892,665)

1,977,300

FINANCING ACTIVITY
CASH RECEIVED FROM:
Loans

32,456,070

10,015,456

32,456,070

10,015,456

(6,180,899)

(4,676,132)

CASH PAID IN RESPECT OF:
Loans
Amortisation of finance lease contracts

-

Interest & similar costs

(127,345)

(2,300,207)

Dividends

(1,074,616)

-

(3,429,059)

(8,481,106)

Cash flows from financing activities (3)

Changes of cash & cash equivalents (1+2+3)
Effect of currency translation differences
Cash & cash equivalents at the start of the period
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period

(9,307,152)

23,974,964

6|7|8|17

708,305

17,125,788
(4,702)

(2,131,128)

4,785,036
21,906,120

6,916,164
4,785,036

The notes between pages 119 and 186 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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18. Notes to the Separate Financial Statements

For the period ended December 31, 2015
(All amounts are in euros, save where expressly indicated)

1. Introduction
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, ("Company" or "SCOA") was incorporated by Rui d'Orey
under the name Rui d'Orey & Cia. Its corporate purpose is commission and consignment trading
and any other branch of trade or industry that, by resolution of the Board of Directors, it may
decide to undertake, provided it is not forbidden by law. SCOA has securities admitted to trading
on Euronext Lisbon.
SCOA is a company incorporated under Portuguese law, having its registered office at Rua Carlos
Alberto da Mota Pinto, 17, 6º A. Ed. Amoreiras Square, Lisbon, Portugal
In 2009 SCOA began a process of strategic repositioning and is currently focused on the financial
sector. Traditionally a Business Group centred on the areas of Shipping, Transport & Logistics and
Naval and Industrial agency business, it now stands in the market as an investment holding
company.

The Group's traditional businesses have been transferred to a Private Equity fund managed by
the Group's financial area. The management of the investment is undertaken under a familyoffice reasoning based on strategic, dynamic allocation of the various classes of assets that
make up the Group's investment portfolio.
The parent company of the Company is Orey Inversiones Financeiras, SLU (“Orey Inversiones”).
Orey Inversiones is a company incorporated under Spanish law having its registered office at Calle
de Goya, 15-1ª Planta, Madrid, Spain.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on May 20, 2015.
Under Article 68 of the Companies Code, the General Meeting may reject the proposal by the
members of the Baird of Directors in respect of the approval of the accounts, provided a reasoned
resolution is adopted to the affect that new accounts be drawn up in full or that specific points of
the accounts presented are amended.

116

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

Holdings of Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Entity

Registered Office

Business sector

Type of holding

Holding %

Share Capital

Currenc
y

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA

Lisbon

Other

------------

------------

12,000,000

EUR

Orey Investments Holding BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Other

Direct

100.00%

25,000,000

EUR

Orey Serviços e Organização, SA

Lisbon

Other

Direct

100.00%

100,000

EUR

NovaBrazil Investments Holding

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Other

Indirect

100.00%

18,200

EUR

Orey Investments Malta Ltd

Malta

Other

Indirect

100.00%

240

EUR

Orey Holding Ltd Malta

Malta

Other

Indirect

100.00%

240

EUR

Worldwide Renewables BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Other

Indirect

100.00%

18,000

EUR

Orey Financial IFIC, SA

Lisbon

Direct

100.00%

11,500,000

EUR

Orey Capital Partners GP,Sàrl

Luxemburg

Indirect

100.00%

35,000

EUR

Orey Management (Cayman) Ltd

Cayman Islands

Indirect

100.00%

42,384

USD

Orey Management BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Indirect

100.00%

5,390,000

EUR

Orey Investments NV

Curacao - Netherlands Antilles

Indirect

100.00%

6,081

USD

Football Players Funds Management Ltd

Cayman Islands

Indirect

100.00%

40,000

EUR

Orey Financial Brasil, SA

São Paulo - Brazil

Indirect

76.48%

600,000

BRL

Orey Financial Holding, SA

São Paulo- Brazil

Indirect

99.98%

7,601,573

BRL

OFP Investments

São Paulo- Brazil

Indirect

89.98%

305,000

BRL

Orey Financial Holding, Sarl

Luxemburg

Indirect

100.00%

12,500

EUR

Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage

Orey- Gestão Imobiliária S.A.

Lisbon

Real Estate

Direct

100.00%

1,000,000

EUR

Horizon View - Navegação e Trânsitos, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

250,000

EUR

Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

850,000

EUR

Atlantic Lusofrete - Afretamentos, Transportes e Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

50,000

EUR

Mendes & Fernandes - Serv. Apoio à Nav., Lda.

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

5,000

EUR

CMA-CGM Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

20.00%

100,000

EUR

Storkship- Navegação, Trânsitos e Logística, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

250,000

EUR

TARROS Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

25.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey Capital Partners SCA SICAR

Luxemburg

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

17,046,000

EUR

OA International Antilles NV

Curacao - Netherlands Antilles

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

6,000

USD

Orey Apresto e Gestão de Navios Lda

Funchal

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey (Cayman) Ltd

Cayman Islands

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

USD

Orey Shipping, SL

Bilbao - Spain

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

60,000

EUR

CORREA SUR SL

Bilbao - Spain

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

60,120

EUR

Orey (Angola) - Comércio e Serviços Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,100,000

KWZ

Orey Super Transportes e Distribuição Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,400,000

KWZ

Parcel Express - Expedições Internacionais, Lda.

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

2,000,000

KWZ

SAFOCEAN - Comércio e Serviços, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

200,000

KWZ

LYNX Angola - Transporte e Logística, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

20,000,000

KWZ

LYNX Transports and Logistics, B.V.

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

132,150

USD

OA Technical Representations- Rep.Nav.Ind. SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

450,000

EUR

Orey Técnica Serviços Navais, Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

350,000

EUR

Sofema - Soc.Ferramentas e Máquinas,Lda.

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Contrafogo, Soluções de Segurança SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

537,155

EUR

Oilwater Industrial, Serviços e Representações SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Lalizas Marine- Equipamentos Nauticos Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

6,000

EUR

Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey Safety and Naval, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

100,000

EUR

Orey Industrial Representations, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Orey Safety Angola, S.A.

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,000,000

KWZ

Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda

Maputo

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

60,000

MZM

Orey Mauritius Transports and Logistics Ltd

Mauritius

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

750,000

USD

FAWSPE - Empreendimentos e Participações, SA

São Paulo- Brazil

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

7,960,228

BRL

Araras BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

18,000

EUR

Op. Incrível SGPS, SA

Lisbon

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

EUR

OP. Incrível Brasil

São Paulo- Brazil

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

4,670,882

BRL

NovaOpIncrivel

São Paulo- Brazil

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

4,493,158

BRL
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2. Accounts Presentation Structure
Following the General Meeting held on June 1, 2009, at which the transfer of the Group's nonfinancial businesses to a Private Equity Fund was approved, 2011 marks the beginning of the
implementation of the restructuring of the Group's financial holdings that has reflected this
position of the Group as an investment holding company.
In the first half of 2012 the non-financial sub-holding companies were transferred to the Private
Equity Fund and were recorded in the financial position as financial investments, due to the sale of
shares in the entities engaged in these activities, and also to the formalisation of shareholders'
agreements.
These shareholders' agreement came about in the wake of the Orey transformation process, which
was reflected in the implementation of a joint-control model, replacing the individual control that
the Group had employed till then.
Following the conclusion the changes by the end of 2012, it was decided in 2013 to alter the model
of presentation of the accounts, when it came to use the model employed by financial institutions,
in both its separate accounts and its consolidated accounts.
This change took place as a result of the consolidated accounts reflecting the majority of the
records of financial companies in Portugal and abroad, or other companies doing business that falls
within this presentation.
This reflects the beginning of a new cycle for Orey and is in keeping with the decisions taken at the
said General Meeting of June 1, 2009.
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3. Adoption of new or revised International Financial Reporting Standards
The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS - formerly referred to as International
Accounting Standards - IAS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or
the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), on the date of preparation of the said
financial statements.
The attached financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis from the
Company's books and accounting records, based on the historic cost, except for land and buildings
measured by the revaluation method and investment properties, derivative financial instruments,
financial assets held for trading, non-current assets held for trading and investments in affiliates
and subsidiaries measured at fair value.
In preparing the Company's financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the Company adopted
certain estimates and assumptions that affect reported assets and liabilities and income and
expenses for the periods reported.
All amounts shown in the Notes for which no other currency is indicated are in euros.
The Company has not adopted in advance any standard, interpretation or alteration issued but not
yet effective, nor does it expect them to have a significant effect on the financial statements.
Up to the date of approval of these financial statements the European Union had approved the
following accounting standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions.
Of the said standards (standards that have not been adopted, application of which is mandatory
only in future periods) none have been applied in advance and they are not expected to generate
relevant impacts on the Company's financial statements.
New standards and interpretations
As a result of the endorsement by the European Union (EU), the following standards and
interpretations, revisions, alterations and improvements occurred, which had no impact on the
presentation of the financial statements:
a) Standards and interpretations that became effective in 2015
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IFRIC 21 - Levies
IFRIC 21 is an interpretation of IAS 37, essentially on the recognition of liabilities, clarifying that a
past event that results in an obligation to pay a levy or tax (other than corporation tax (IRC)
corresponds to what is required/ regulated in the relevant legislation that obliges the payment.
b) Amendments of standards that became effective in 2015
IFRS 1 (Amended) – First-time adoption of the IFRS
The improvement to IFRS 1 clarifies that a first-time adopter may use either the previous version or
the new version of a standard that, although yet being not necessarily applicable, is available for
early adoption.
IFRS 3 (Amended) - Business Combinations
The improvement to IFRS 3 clarifies that this standard does not apply to the initial accounting for a
joint arrangement established within the scope of IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements, in the Financial
Statements of the Joint Arrangement itself.
IFRS 13 (Amended)– Fair value: measurement and disclosure
The improvement clarifies that the exception to the fair value measurement of a portfolio on a net
basis is applicable to all types of contracts (including non-financial contracts) under IAS 39 –
recognition and measurement.
IAS 40 (Amended) - Investment property
This improvement clarifies that IFRS 3 – Business Combinations must be used when an investment
property is acquired, to determine whether the acquisition is or not a business combination.
c) Annual cycle of improvements 2010-2012
IFRS 2 – Share-based payments
The improvement to IFRS 2 amends the definition vesting conditions, and to provide for only two
types of vesting conditions: "service conditions" and "performance conditions”. The new definition
of “performance conditions" provides that only conditions related with the entity are considered.
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IFRS 3 – Business combinations
The improvement to IFRS 3 clarifies that a liability for contingent consideration is classified in
accordance with IAS 32 – Financial instruments: presentation as a liability or as an equity
instrument should it meet the definition of a financial instrument. Contingent consideration
classified as liabilities is initially and subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.
IFRS 8 – Operating segments
This improvement alters IFRS 8, which now requires disclosure of judgements made by
management for the aggregation of operating segments, and also requires reconciliation between
assets by segment and the total assets of the entity, where this information is reported.
IFRS 13 – Fair value: measurement and disclosure
The improvement to IFRS 13 clarifies that the standard does not eliminate the possibility of
measurement of current receivables and payables based on invoiced amounts, when the effect of
discounting is not material.
IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 – Intangible assets
The improvement to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarifies the accounting treatment of gross accounting
amounts and accumulated depreciation/ amortisation, where the entity adopts the revaluation
method in the subsequent measurement of tangible fixed assets and/or intangible assets, using
two recording methods. This clarification is significant when both the useful lives and the methods
of depreciation/ amortization are re-estimated during the revaluation period.
IAS 24 – Related party disclosures
The improvement to IAS 24 alters the definition of related party, and all entities that provide
management services to the reporting entity or its parent entity of the reporting entity come to be
part of this concept .
d) Changes to standards endorsed by the EU that have not yet become effective
IAS 19 – Employee benefits – Employee contributions
This amendment to IAS 19 refers to accounting for contributions of employees and third parties for
defined-benefit plans assigned to employees, and is intended to simplify the accounting of these
contributions, in cases that are independent of the employees' years of service (dependency on
other factors).
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IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation
This amendment clarifies that a revenue-based method of calculation of depreciation/ amortisation
is not, as a rule, considered to be appropriate for the measurements of the pattern of consumption
of the economic benefits associated with the asset. Its application is prospective.
IFRS 11 – Account of the of an interest in a joint operation
This amendment introduces guidance on the accounting for the effect on acquisition of the interest
in a joint operation that qualifies as a business, the principles of IFRS 3 – Business combinations to
apply.
IAS 1 – Revision of disclosure initiatives
This amendment to IAS 1 is the result of a project to review disclosures of the IFRS and refers to
materiality and aggregation and to the presentation of subtotals in the IFRS financial statements, to
the structure of the financial statements, to the disclosure of accounting policies, and to the
presentation of items of Other comprehensive income generated by investments measured by the
equity method.
IAS 27 – Equity method in separate financial statements
This amendment allows an entity to apply the equity method in the measurement of investments
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, in its separate financial statements. This amendment
is of retrospective application.
IAS 16 and IAS 41 – Agriculture: plants that produce consumable biological assets
This amendment defines the concept of a plant that produces consumable biological assets, and
removes this type of assets from the scope of IAS 41 – Agriculture to the scope of IAS 16 –
Property, Plant and Equipment, with the consequent impact on the measurement. However,
biological assets produced by these plants remain within the scope of IAS 41 – Agriculture.
e) Annual cycle of improvements 2012-2014
IFRS 5 – Available-for-sale non-current assets and discontinued operating units
The improvement to IFRS 5 clarifies that when an asset (or disposal group) is reclassified from
available-for-sale” to “held for distribution to owners” or vice versa, it does not constitute a change
of the plan to sell or distribute.
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IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: disclosures
The improvement to IFRS 7 includes additional information about the meaning of continued
involvement in the transfer (derecognition) of financial assets for the purposes of disclosure.
IAS 19 – Employee benefits
The improvement clarifies that in determining the discount rate of liabilities for defined-benefit
post-employment plans, it has to correspond to high-quality bonds of the currency in which the
liabilities are calculated.
IAS 34 – Interim financial report
This improvement clarifies the meaning of “information disclosed in another area of the interim
financial statements”, and requires the inclusion of cross-references for that information.
f) Changes to standards not yet endorsed by the EU
IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 28 – Investment Entities: Applying the consolidation exception
This amendment clarifies that the consolidation exemption applies to an intermediate parent
undertaking that is a subsidiary of an investment entity. Additionally, it clarifies that the option of
applying the equity method is extensible to an entity that is not an investment entity but has an
interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity.
f) New standards not yet endorsed by the EU
IFRS 9 – Financial instruments
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 – financial instruments: recognition and measurement, as regards:
(i) the classification and measurement of financial assets, introducing a simplification of the
classification based on the business model defined by management;
(ii)

recognition of the component of own credit risk of voluntary measurement of liabilities
at fair value;

(iii)

recognition of impairment on receivables, based on the model of estimated losses in
model rather than on the replacement of losses incurred model; and

(iv)

hedge accounting rules, intended to be more aligned with the economic rationale of riskhedging with the accounting treatment.
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IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers
This new standard applies only to contracts for the delivery of goods or provision of services, and
requires the entity to recognise revenue when the contractual obligation to deliver assets or
provide services is satisfied and for the amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity is
entitled, as provided for in the 5-step method.

4. Accounting Policies

4.1 Comparative information
The Company has not altered the presentation of accounts, or changed in accounting policies and
practices used in the 2014 financial statements, and therefore the elements contained in these
financial statements are, in their entirety, comparable with those of the previous year, presented
as comparatives in these financial statements.
4.2 Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements obliges the Board to make judgements and estimates
that affect the figures reported for income, costs, assets, liabilities and disclosures.
Nevertheless, the uncertainty surrounding such estimates and judgements may lead to future
adjustments that might affect future assets and liabilities. These estimates were determined on the
basis of the best available information at the time of preparation of the financial statements.
This information is based on historic events, accumulated experience and expectations about
future events. Nevertheless, events may occur in subsequent periods that, by virtue of their timing,
have not been included in these estimates.
Estimates and judgements that involve a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amount reflected in financial statements, include:
4.2.1 Useful life of tangible and intangible assets
The useful life of an asset is the period over which an entity expects that the asset is available for
use and must be reviewed at least at the end of each financial year.
The amortisation/ depreciation method to be applied and the estimated losses resulting from the
replacement of assets before the end of their useful life, due to technological obsolescence, is
essential to determine the actual useful effective life of an asset.
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These parameters are defined in keeping with management's best estimate, for the assets and
businesses concerned, also considering the practices adopted by companies of the sector.
4.2.2 Fair value of the Investment Properties
Investment property is measured at fair value.
The company decided to adopt the fair-value model determined using valuations by qualified,
independent professionals, as described in Note 4.3.4 (Accounting policies – recognition and
measurement criteria).
The assumptions used in each valuation reflect management's best estimate for those assets.
4.2.3 Impairment
The company assesses annually whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
there is any indication, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset (which is the
higher of the fair value of the asset or of a cash-generating unit less costs to sell and its value in
use) and recognises the impairment in profit or loss for the period where the recoverable amount
is less than carrying amount.
In assessing whether there is indication of impairment the following situations are taken into
account:
 During the period, the market value of an asset has declined significantly more than would
be expected as a result of the passage of time or normal use;
 During the period, significant changes have occurred, or will occur in the near future, with an
adverse effect on the entity, related with the technological, market, economic or legal
environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated;
 The market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased
during the period, and those increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in
calculating the value in use of an asset and substantially decrease the asset's recoverable
amount;
 The carrying amount of the entity's net assets is more than its market capitalisation;
 Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
 Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity occurred during the period, or are
expected to occur in the near future, to the extent that, or to in the way in which, an asset is
used or expected to be used. These changes include an asset that has become idle, plans to
discontinue or restructure the operational unit to which the asset belongs and plans to
dispose of an asset before the previously expected date;
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 There is evidence in in-house reports that indicates that the economic performance of an
asset is, or will be, worse than expected.
Impairment reversals are recognised in profit or loss (unless the asset is carried at the revalued
amount, in which case it is treated as a revaluation excess) and shall not exceed the carrying
amount of the asset that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been previously
recognised.
4.2.4 Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all recoverable losses to the extent that it is probable that
there will be taxable profits against which the losses can be used, or where there are deferred tax
liabilities whose reversal is expected during the period in which the deferred taxes assets are
reversed.
Taking into account the context of crisis and the impact it may have on future results, judgement is
required of the Board of Directors to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, taking into account the probable date and amount of future taxable profits.
4.2.5 Recognition of services rendered and inherent costs
The Company recognises revenue and respective costs at the time that they become effective, that
is, the moment when the service is provided or the cost incurred.
Use of this method requires that the Company estimate the revenue of the services to be rendered
in respect of the actual costs already booked and the costs to be recognised in services already
rendered and fully recognised as revenue for the year.
4.2.6 Fair value of the financial instruments
When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the financial reporting date is not
determinable on the basis of active markets, it is determined based on valuation techniques that
include the discounted cash-flow or other models appropriate in the circumstances. The data for
these models are taken, whenever possible, from observable market variables, but where this is
not possible, a certain degree of judgement is required to determine the fair value, which includes
considerations as to the liquidity risk, the credit risk and volatility.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is their market value, where available, or is
determined on the basis of valuation techniques, including discounted cash-flow models and
options valuation models, as appropriate.
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4.2.7 Provisions for taxes
Taking into account the liabilities recognised, the Company believes that any revision of these tax
returns will not result in material corrections to the financial statements requiring the
establishment of any provision for taxes, other than those already recognised.
4.2.8 Provisions
Recognition of provisions is entails determining the likelihood of future outflows and their reliable
measurement. These factors are often dependent on future events not always under the control of
the Company that may lead to significant future adjustments due both to changes in the
assumptions made, and to future recognition of provisions previously disclosed as contingent
liabilities.
4.2.9 Actuarial assumptions
The determination of liabilities for retirement pensions requires the use of assumptions and
estimates of a demographic and financial nature which may significantly affect the amount of
liabilities determined at each reporting date. The more sensitive variables refer to the updating
rate of the liabilities, the rate of return on assets and the mortality tables.
4.3 Recognition and measurement criteria

4.3.1 Accrual accounting
The Company employs the accrual accounting principle with regard to the headings of the financial
statements as a whole, particularly with regard to interest on loan and deposit transactions, which
are recorded as and when generated regardless of when paid or received.
Therefore:
▪ Income generated by the provision of services is recognised in the income statement with
reference to the stage of completion of the provision of services as at the balance sheet
date.
▪ Interest and financial income are recognised in accordance with accrual accounting
principles and in accordance with the effective interest rate applicable;
▪ Costs and income are recorded during the period to which they refer, regardless of when
paid or received;
Therefore, as at December 31, 2015:
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▪ Deferred assets, more specifically insurance and rents, are recognised in accordance with
accrual accounting principles, and costs imputable to the current period but whose
outgoings will occur only in future periods are recorded.
▪ Deferred liabilities include amounts inherent in rents to be recognised in future periods.

For financial instruments measured at amortised cost and financial instruments classified as
Financial assets held to maturity, interest is recognised using the effective interest method,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the set of future cash receipts or payments until
maturity or until the next repricing date, for the net amount of the financial asset or liability
currently recorded. When the effective interest rate is calculated an estimate is made of the
future cash flows considering all contractual terms and all other income or charges directly
attributable to the contracts.
Dividends are recorded as income when received or made available to the beneficiaries.
4.3.2 Cash and balances at central banks and balances at other credit institutions
The amounts included under Cash and balances at central banks and Balances with other credit
institutions correspond to cash and other deposits with maturities up to three months, which may
be mobilised immediately with insignificant risk of change of value.
These balances are measured as follows:
 Cash – at cost;
 Deposits with no defined maturity – at cost;
 Other deposits with defined maturity – at cost;
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, Cash & equivalents also includes, in addition to
cash and bank deposits, bank overdrafts included under Borrowings.
4.3.3 Placements with credit institutions
The amounts included under Placements with credit institutions are remunerated term deposits
with a maturity greater than 3 months.
4.3.4 Investment properties
Investment properties comprise land and buildings held to obtain rents or for capital appreciation.
The company decided to adopt the fair-value method in the valuation of the Investment Properties.
In accordance with this method:
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▪ An investment property is initially measured: (i) at cost, which comprises the purchase price
and any directly attributable expenditure (for example, professional fees for legal services,
property transfer taxes and other transaction costs); (ii) after initial recognition, all
investment property is stated at fair value, and is not depreciated.
Investment properties were subject to valuation by qualified, independent valuers as at
December 31, 2015, as was the case of the procedure carried out on December 31, 2014.
▪ The valuations were performed at market value, understood to be "presumed value of

the transaction on the open market" ("Open Market Value"), and on discounted cash
flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of existing contracts, using discount rates that reflect current market assessments
as to uncertainty in the amount and timeliness of the cash flows.
It should also be pointed out that in this valuation process no conditioning factors of a commercial
nature or economic obsolescence of the businesses carried on in the properties were taken into
account. The properties are valued as found and with their present usages.
Costs incurred with investment property in use, namely maintenance, repairs, insurance and
property taxes (municipal rates) are recognised in the income statement for the year to which they
refer.
4.3.5 Other tangible and intangible assets

Tangible fixed assets
Under IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment, the tangible assets used by the Company in carrying
on its business are carried at acquisition cost (including costs directly attributable), less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Acquisition cost includes the purchase price of the asset, costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, including non-deductible taxes, and charges incurred in preparing the asset for use.
Repair and maintenance costs and other expenses associated with their use are recognised as cost
for the period under General administrative costs.
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is recorded on a systematic basis over their estimated useful
lives:
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Years of useful life
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible assets

2015
4 - 15
4-6
3-8
3-8

2014
4 - 15
4-6
3-8
3-8

Assets acquired under finance lease are depreciated using the same rates as other tangible fixed
assets, that is, based on their useful lives.
Useful lives of assets are reviewed at each financial reporting date so that depreciation charged is
in accordance with the patterns of use of the assets. Changes in useful lives are treated as a change
of accounting estimate and are applied prospectively.
Depreciation charges are recognised in the statement of income under Depreciation and
amortisation costs/reversals.
Costs of major repairs and replacements are capitalised when they increase the useful life of the
asset to which they relate and are depreciated over the remaining period of useful life of that asset
or over its own useful life, if shorter.
The company assesses annually whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
there is any indication, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset (which is the
higher of the fair value of the asset or of a cash-generating unit less the selling costs and its value in
use) and recognises the impairment in profit or loss for the period where the recoverable amount
is less than carrying amount.
In assessing whether there is indication of impairment the following situations are taken into
account:
▪

During the period, the market value of an asset has declined significantly more than would
be expected as a result of the passage of time or normal use;

▪

During the period, significant changes have occurred, or will occur in the near future, with an
adverse effect on the entity, related with the technological, market, economic or legal
environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated;

▪

The market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased
during the period, and those increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in
calculating the value in use of an asset and substantially decrease the asset's recoverable
amount;

▪

The carrying amount of the entity's net assets is more than its market capitalisation;

▪

Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;

130

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

▪

Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity occurred during the period, or are
expected to occur in the near future, to the extent that, or to in the way in which, an asset is
used or expected to be used. These changes include an asset that has become idle, plans to
discontinue or restructure the operational unit to which the asset belongs and plans to
dispose of an asset before the previously expected date;

▪

There is evidence in in-house reports that indicates that the economic performance of an
asset is, or will be, worse than expected.

Impairment reversals are recognised in profit or loss (unless the asset is carried at the revalued
amount, in which case it is treated as a revaluation excess) and shall not exceed the carrying
amount of the asset that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been previously
recognised.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are carried at the acquisition, production and/or development cost, net of
amortisation and impairment losses, and are recognised only to the extent that they are
identifiable and it is probable that they will generate future economic benefits for the Company
and provided their value can be measured reliably.
This item primarily includes software and other licences, which are amortised using the straight line
method over a period of three years.
Costs directly related with the development of software expected to generate future economic
benefits over a period of more than one year are likewise recognised and recorded as intangible
assets.
All other charges related with IT services are recognised as costs as and when incurred.
4.3.6 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Results of financial assets & liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include:
 Equity instruments quoted publicly;
 The non-effective part of hedging derivatives;
 Derivatives other than hedging derivatives;
 Other assets held for trading;
and they are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the
period. Acquisitions and disposals of other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
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recognised on the trade date, that is, on the date on which the Group undertakes to acquire or sell
the asset.
A regular way transaction is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the market in question. A regular way transaction gives rise to a fixed price commitment between
trade date and settlement date that meets the definition of a derivative. However, due to the
short duration of the commitment it is not recognised as a derivative financial instrument. A
regular way transaction related to financial assets is recognised using trade-date accounting.
Impairment of these assets was s determined on the basis of the criteria described in Note 4.2.2.
To control the risks of its business, including the interest-rate and the exchange-rate risk, the Group
chose to invest in derivatives. These financial instruments are not classifiable in terms of hedge
accounting, either because they were not formally designated for that purpose or because they are
not efficient in hedging terms in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39.
Therefore, derivatives are initially recorded at fair value, and are subsequently measured at fair
value, changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss for the period
Indices, calculation conventions and interest-rate and exchange-rate repricing dates match as
closely possible matching the conditions established for the underlying borrowings, forming a
perfect economic hedge relationship.

4.3.7 Financial investments in associates and subsidiaries
Investments in associate companies and subsidiaries are recognised / derecognised on the date the
risks and advantages inherent in their possession are substantially transferred, regardless of the
date of financial settlement.
Investments in associate companies and subsidiaries are initially measured at their acquisition cost
in accordance with IAS 27.
Subsequent recognition of these investments is, in accordance with IAS 39, undertaken at fair
value. Independent valuations are performed to determine the fair value, which alters the value of
the financial investment and is taken to reserves if the fair value is greater than the book value
Should the fair value be less than the book value, the difference is recognised in the income
statement, except where there are reservations related to the fair value of that investment.
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All purchases and sales of these investments are recognised on the date of signature of the
respective contracts, regardless of the financial settlement date.
Investments are initially recognised at their acquisition cost, including transaction costs, in the case
of investments available for sale.
After initial recognition, investments measured at fair value through profit or loss and available for
sale investments are revalued at their fair value as marked to market as of the end of the reporting
period (as measured by their listed price or independent valuation), with no deduction in respect of
transaction costs that might be incurred up to their sale. Investments that are not listed for which
their fair value cannot be estimated reliably, are carried at acquisition cost less any impairment
losses.
Recognition of a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset shall be recognised directly in
equity through the statement of changes in equity except for impairment losses and foreignexchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised, when the gain or loss results
will be recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are
recognised in profit or loss when the entity's right to receive payment is established.
4.3.8 Taxes
Income tax costs are the sum of the current tax and the deferred tax.
4.3.8.1

Current Tax

As is the case of most companies having their registered office in Portugal, the Company is
subject to corporation tax (IRC) at the normal rate of 21% (2014: 23%), increased by 1.5% (2014:
1.5%) for the municipal surcharge, leading to an aggregate tax rate of 22.5% (2014: 24.50%
Additionally, the rate of the state surcharge applicable in in 2016 and 2015 is 3% on taxable income
in excess of €1.5 million, 5% if taxable income is between €7.5 million and 35 million and 7% over
€35 million.
However, since the Company and its subsidiaries meet all the requirements of Article 69 of the IRC
Code, they are subject to corporation tax under the special taxation of groups of companies
legislation ("RETGS"), this situation may occur regardless of whether the Company presents
consecutive tax losses.
Under the RETGS current corporation tax is calculated on the basis of the taxable profits of the
companies included in the consolidation, in accordance with the tax rates and laws in force at the
place where each Group company has its registered office.
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In accordance with the tax regulations in force in Portugal, the delivery of the tax assessed,
payments on account and special payments are the sole responsibility of the parent company,
except as provided in Article 105(5) of the IRC Code. This article determines that in the case of
companies of a group to which the special taxation of groups of companies legislation is applicable
for the first time, the payments on account for the first tax period are made by each of those
companies and are calculated in accordance with paragraph 1, the total of the amounts delivered by
them being taking into consideration for the purpose of the calculation of the difference payable by
the parent company or to be repaid to it, under the terms of Article 104.
The amount of current tax payable is determined based on the pre-tax book income adjusted in
accordance with tax rules in force.
4.3.8.2

Corporation tax – Deferred

Deferred tax assets and liabilities resulting from the determination of temporary differences
(deductible and taxable) between the accounting bases and the tax bases of the Company's assets
and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets reflect:
▪ Temporary differences deductible to the extent that is probable there will be future taxable
profits against which the deductible difference can be used;
▪ Unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which they can be used.
Deductible temporary differences are temporary differences which result in amounts that are
deductible in determining taxable profit/ tax loss of future periods when the carrying amount of
the asset or liability is recovered or settled.
Deferred Tax Liabilities reflect taxable temporary differences.
Taxable temporary differences are temporary differences which result in amounts that are taxable
in determining taxable profit/ tax loss of future periods when the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is recovered or settled.
Deferred tax relating to temporary differences associated with investments in associates and
interests in joint ventures are not recognised since it is considered that the following conditions are
met simultaneously:
▪ The Company is able to control the timeliness of the reversal of the temporary difference,
and
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▪ It is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
Measurement of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities:
▪ is carried out using the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates approved on the reporting date, and
▪ reflects the tax consequences arising from the way the Company expects, as of the balancesheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
4.3.9 Other assets
The items included in other assets refer to the following headings:
4.3.9.1

Clients non-financial activity

Client receivables are measured, on initial recognition, at fair value and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost less any impairment losses.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the company recognises an impairment loss in
the income statement. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets might be
impaired takes into account observable date calling attention to the following loss events:
▪

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

▪

Breach of contract, such as non-payment or default in payment of interest or
repayment of the debt;

▪

It becomes likely that the debtor will go into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

▪

Observable information suggesting that there has been a decrease in the
measurement of the estimated future cash flows of a group of financial assets
since their initial recognition.

4.3.9.2

Other receivables

Other receivables (Staff, Debtors for accrued income and Other debtors, State & other public
entities) are carried at amortised cost, less impairment.
4.3.9.3

Deferrals

This item reflects transactions and other events for which there the full recognition in profit or loss
during the period in which they occur is not appropriate but should be recognised in profit or loss
of future periods.
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Essentially, the Company uses the principle of accrual accounting for the majority of the headings
of the financial statements.
Therefore:
▪ Income generated by the provision of services is recognised in the income statement with
reference to the stage of completion of the provision of services as at the reporting date;
▪ Interest and financial income are recognised in accordance with accrual accounting
principles and in accordance with the effective interest rate applicable;
▪ Costs and income are recorded during the period to which they refer, regardless of when
paid or received;
Therefore, as at December 31, 2015:
▪ Deferred assets carried in the Statement of financial position, specifically insurance and
rents, correspond to prepayments of services that will only be provided in future periods.
▪ Deferred liabilities carried in the Statement of financial position include amounts inherent in
rents charged to third parties to be recognised as income in future periods.

4.3.10 Financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded according to the multicurrency system, that is, in the respective currencies of origin. Translation into euros of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies is carried out based on the indicative rate of exchange
published by the Bank to Portugal.
Income and costs determined in the various foreign currencies are translated into euros at the
exchange rate ruling on the day they are realised and are recognised under Other operating income

– Exchange rate differences. The spot position in a currency is the net balance of assets and
liabilities in that currency. The spot currency position is revalued on the basis of official exchange
rates of the day, disclosed on an indicative basis by the Bank of Portugal, the results being taken to
costs and income accounts.
4.3.11 Contingent assets and liabilities
A Contingent asset is an possible asset generated by past events, the existence of which will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
entirely under the entity's control.
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Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements so as not to result in recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, they are disclosed where a future inflow is probable.
A contingent liability is:
▪

A possible obligation generated by past events, the existence of which will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not entirely under the entity's control,

or
▪

A present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, or
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements so as not to result in
recognition of income that may never be realised. However, they are disclosed whenever there is a
likelihood of future outflows that is not remote.
4.3.12 Funds of credit institutions / debt securities
Borrowings are valued at amortised cost determined using the effective interest rate. In
accordance with this method, Borrowings are initially recognised under liabilities for the sum
received, net of costs incurred with their issue, which corresponds to their fair value as of that
date. Subsequently, borrowings are measured at amortised cost, which includes all financial
charges calculated in keeping with effective interest-rate method.
4.3.13 Finance leasing
Finance lease transactions, as lessee, are recorded as follows:
▪

Assets under finance lease are stated at fair value under assets, and at amortised
cost under liabilities;

▪

Rents in respect of finance lease contracts are broken down in accordance with
the respective financial plan, reducing the liability in the proportion of the
amortisation of the principal. Interest borne is recorded as interest & similar costs.

4.3.14 Provisions
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A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount.
Provisions are recognised when and only when the Company has a present obligation (legal or
implicit) resulting from a past event and that it is probable that, to fulfil such an obligation, there
will be an outflow of funds, provided that the amount of the obligation can be reasonably
estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the estimated expenditures to settle the obligation
using a rate that reflects the market evaluation for the discount period and the risk of the provision
in question.
Provisions for lawsuits are those that originated assessments by the Tax Authority, with which the
Company disagreed and challenged through the respective administrative and tax court. They are
measured taking into account the estimated amount payable in the future, should the Company
not deemed to be right.
4.3.15 Other liabilities
4.3.15.1 Trade accounts payable
Trade accounts payable are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
4.3.15.2 Other payables
Other payables (Staff, Customer Prepayments, Creditors for accrued costs; Other creditors) are
measured at amortised cost.
4.3.15.3 Staff costs
Staff costs are recognised when the service is rendered by employees regardless of their date of
payment. There follow several specifics for each type of Staff Costs:
4.3.15.3.1

Holiday pay & holiday bonus

According to the labour legislation in force employees are entitled to holiday pay and holiday
bonus in the year following that in which the service is provided.
Thus, an accrual was recognised in profit or loss for the period in respect of the amount payable
the following year, which is reflected in Other liabilities.
4.3.15.3.2

Termination of employment benefits
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Costs of termination of employment benefits are recognised when the Company is committed to
the termination of the employment contract with the employee and it has been accepted by the
employee, rendering its cancellation impossible. The amount to be recorded is the amount already
negotiated or the amount that is expected to be paid, in keeping with the terminations plan
approved and communicated.
4.3.15.3.3

Retirement benefits liabilities

The Company entered into a commitment to grant its employees taken on up to 1980 pecuniary
payments by way of retirement pension complements, which constitute a defined benefit plan, an
autonomous pension fund having been set up for the purpose. covering the difference between
80% of the last salary as a worker in service and the amount paid by Social Security by way of
pension.
To estimate its pension complement liabilities, the Company obtains actuarial studies each year,
performed by an independent, specialised entity in accordance with the "Projected Unit Credit"
method and internationally accepted technical and actuarial assumptions and bases.
In defined benefit plans, the recognition and measurement of the liabilities are conducted in
accordance with IAS 19 (revised) – Employee Benefits.
Accordingly, the cost of providing benefits is determined:
▪ Separately for each plan;
▪ Using the projected proposed credit unit method;
▪ Based on actuarial assumptions of the country where the beneficiaries are located.
Until December 31, 2012, the Company used the corridor method but, in keeping with the change
imposed by IAS 19 in force as from January 1, 2013, the corridor method was eliminated, giving rise
to restatement of the 2012 accounts with retroactive effect from January 1, 2012. Therefore,
actuarial deviations are recognised directly in equity when they occur.
Liabilities payable both to the Fund Management Companies or directly to the Group's employees
(in those cases where no fund has been set up) are reflected under Post-employment benefits
under Other liabilities (Note 22). The liabilities consist of the following items:
▪ Present value of obligation (using a discount rate based on high-quality bonds), less
▪ Fair value of the existing plans' assets.
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4.3.16 Share capital
4.3.16.1 Paid-up share capital
As at December 31, 2014 & 2015, the share capital was fully subscribed and paid up.
4.3.16.2 Treasury Shares
The articles of association do not totally prohibit the acquisition of treasury shares nor do they
reduce the cases of permission to lawfully acquire the shares described in Articles 317(2) and
317(3) of the Companies Code.
The number of shares held is within the limit established in Article 317(2) of the Companies Code,
that is, it does not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital.
According to the said article, while the shares belong to the company, a reserve of an amount equal
to that at which they are carried is not available for distribution.
Treasury shares acquired by contract or directly in the market are recognised in equity as a
separate item. Treasury shares are carried at cost, in the case of spot purchases, or at estimated
fair value if the purchase is deferred.
4.3.16.3 Issue premiums
This item includes not only premiums but also the deduction of the costs associated with the
issuance of equity instruments.
In accordance with Article 295 of the Companies Code these premiums are subject to the legal
reserve mechanism, which means they cannot be distributed except on liquidation and can only be
used to absorb losses, after having exhausted all other reserves, or for incorporation into the share
capital (Article 296 of the Companies Code).
4.3.16.4 Reserves
a) Legal Reserve
In accordance with Article 295 of the Companies Code at least 5% of income must be used to
create or increase the legal reserve until it equals at least 20% of the share capital.
The legal reserve is not distributable except in case of liquidation and can only be used to absorb
losses, after having exhausted all other reserves , or for incorporation into the share capital (Article
296 of the Companies Code).
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b) Revaluation Reserves and Other Reserves
Investment properties
This item includes:
- excesses of the free revaluation of the investment property;
- revaluations performed under the respective legislation.
In accordance with accounting standards in force, theses excesses are only available to increase
share capital or to cover losses incurred up to the date to which the revaluation refers and only
after they are realised (by use or sale).
Financial investments
The fair-value reserves refer to differences between the fair value and carrying amount of the
financial investments classified as available for sale. These reserves are available only on disposal of
such financial investments.
4.3.16.5 Retained earnings
This item includes profits realised and made available for distribution to shareholders and, in
accordance with Article 32(2) of the Companies Code, will only be available for distribution when
the elements or rights that gave rise thereto are sold, exercised, extinguished or liquidated.
4.3.16.6 Net income for the period
The income and costs for the period are recognised under this heading.
4.3.17 Financial charges on Borrowings
Financial costs related to borrowings are recognised in the income statement for the period to
which they relate, except where imputable to the acquisition/construction of qualifiable assets,
and include interest determined on the basis of the effective interest rate method.
4.3.18 Revenue
The revenue originated in the sales is recognised in the income statement, under other operating
results, when the risks and benefits inherent in the possession of the assets are transferred to the
purchaser and the amount of the income can be quantified reasonably. Revenue is recognised at
fair value, net of taxes, discounts and other costs inherent in its realisation.
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In the provision of services, although the revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the company, when an uncertainty
arises about the collectability of an amount already included in revenue, the uncollectable amount
or the amount in respect which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognised as a receivablebalance impairment and not as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognised.
Thus, revenue from services is recognised when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated
reliably, which occurs when all the following conditions are met:
▪ The amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
▪ It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the
Company;
▪ the stage of completion of the transaction can be measured reliably on the reporting date;
and
▪ Costs incurred with the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be
measured reliably.
4.3.19 Fair value of assets and liabilities
Fair-value accounting introduces complexity where that value cannot be obtained directly from the
market. Current accounting rules indicate three levels of fair-value measurement. The first level is
used in the instruments whose price can be obtained directly from the market. The second level,
for financial instruments that can be valued using models that only rely on observable market data.
The third level is required for more complex instruments, which to be evaluated have to resort to
models that use not only observable market data.
4.3.20 Subsequent Events
Events occurring after the reporting that provide additional information on situations that existed
as of the reporting date are reflected in the financial statements.
Events occurring after the reporting that provide additional information on situations that existed
as of the reporting date are reflected in the financial statements.
5. Accounting policies alterations
Application of the standards described in Note 3 (standards that have not been adopted,
application of which is mandatory only in future periods) did not lead to any adjustments
compared to last time. The effects of alterations to estimates are recognised prospectively. The
effects of alterations to estimates are recognised prospectively.
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6. Banco Inversis
On 12 July 2013 Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes (“SCOA”) signed an agreement for the
purchase of shares in Banco Inversis ("Inversis", or “BI”) with Banca March ("BM"). Both Inversis
and BM are financial institutions operating in Spain. Both are subject to supervision by the Bank of
Spain. The transaction then announced involved the following steps: (1) exercise by BM, on July 12,
2013, of its right of first refusal in the purchase-and-sale agreement of the whole of the Inversis
share capital for €217.4 million, having as reference date December 31, 2012; (2) the spin-off of the
retail business of Banco Inversis a subsequent sale to Andbank for €179.8 million, which came
about on November 29, 2014, and (3) the sale by BM of 50% (*) of the shares and voting rights in
Inversis to Orey for €21.1 million, subject to authorisation by the competent authorities Spain.
(*) For clarification, where it is stated that Orey purchases 50% of the shares and the voting rights in Banco Inversis from BM, the
intention is to say that Orey will buy 48.97% of the share capital in Banco Inversis from BM, since Banco Inversis carries 2.06% of
treasury shares in its balance sheet.

On July 9, 2015, SCOA signed an extension of the Share Purchase and Sale Agreement signed
between SCOA and BM and also a new partnership agreement with BM, which repealed and
replaced the previous Partnership Agreement signed on July 12, 2013.
In keeping with the new terms of the agreement, SCOA acquires a 49.99999936% holding in
Inversis from BM for an amount of €21,077,293.85. To this amount is added the result of
application of an interest rate of 5% per annum, from May 28, 2015, until the date of conclusion of
the Share Purchase and Sale Agreement. Together with its partner, BM, which is responsible for the
management of the Bank, SCOA will work to further develop Banco Inversis’s platform and existing
services, and to implement the growth strategy defined for the Bank.
In the Partnership Agreement, BM and SCOA agreed on a profit-distribution policy, according to
which 50% of the annual consolidated after-tax profit of the Inversis group will be distributed on an
annual basis and in the form of dividends, subject to certain conditions, in particularly related to
the capital ratios of Banco Inversis.
Prior to the deadline for the purpose, which was November 30, 2015, SCOA complied fully with the
conditions precedent of the transaction, defined in the purchase and sale agreement, namely: (1)
the decision of "no objection" of the ECB was obtained dated October 29, 2015, and (2) the
decision of "no objection" the CNMV was notified to SCOA on November 26, 2015 by letter dated
November 20, 2015. Compliance with the conditions precedent was communication to Banca
March (BM) on November 30, 2015.
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The financing agreement concluded with Andbank for the acquisition of Banco Inversis was signed
on December 10, 2015, the cash having been made available in the SCOA account at BM on
December 11, 2015, thus complying with the stipulations of the respective agreements.
Additionally, the source of the funds was certified by Andbank on a date prior to December 14,
2015, thus fulfilling the recommendations of Law 10/2010 of April 28, on the prevention of money
laundering and terrorist financing, and the transfer order to make payment of the acquisition by
SCOA of the holding banco Inversis was given to BM on December 14, 2015.
On December 15, 2015, SCOA turned up for the signature of the deed and BM failed to do so, and
this was recorded in a notarial act, BM having been notified of the breach of contract. On January
8, the transaction was finally undertaken under the same terms that would have occurred had the
transaction been carried out on December 15, there having been no alteration of the enforceable
negative bases (“BIN”) of the rights to dividends, wherefore the conditions acquisition are identical
to those which would result from an acquisition on December 15.
In this connection, the understanding of the SCOA Board of Directors is that (1) by complying with
the conditions precedent occurred prior to the respective deadline, and (2) by obtaining the
funding for the outstanding payment for the acquisition of the holding in Banco Inversis, the
irrevocable right to carry out the purchase is obtained, as is the irrevocable duty to carry it out. In
this sense, SCOA believes that this set of rights and duties has to be reflected in the accounts as a
forward contract, which has to be measured at fair value.
7. Cash and balances at central banks and Balances at other credit institutions
The breakdown of Cash and balances at central banks is as follows:
Cash and balances at central banks
Cash
TOTAL

Dec-15

Dec-14

5,595
5,595

7,040
7,040
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the amount carried under this heading related to sight
deposits, mainly denominated in euros, held at credit institutions, broken down as follows:
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Balances at other credit institutions

Dec-15

Dec-14

Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Comercial Português
Novo Banco
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Popular
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
BIG - Banco Investimento Global
Banco BIC
Banca March
Banco NovaGalicia
Banif
Haitong Bank
Caixa - Banco de Investimento
TOTAL

1,213
1,226
27,312
2,300
164
818
976
2,728
21,950,252
221
409
1,266
892
21,989,776

16,949
1,579,788
10,297
4,170
1,339
210,165
1,099
1,411
2,950,000
370
1,327
1,080
4,777,996

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Bank overdrafts as at December 31, 2015 & 2014, are detailed in Note 17.
The current account in the sum of €2.95 million at Banca March in 2014, acted as a pledge in favour
of the bank in respect of the debt contracted with AndBank relating to the process of acquisition of
Banco Inversis.
In 2015, the balance at Banca March includes the sum of €21,735,959 in an escrow account to
secure the amount payable for the purchase of Banco Inversis (see Note 6 and Note 12).

8. Placements with credit institutions
The Company’s placements with credit institutions in 2015 and 2014 refer in their entirety to
amounts deposited in "Behalf of Clients" accounts of the firm Orey Financial – Instituição
Financiera de Crédito, SA, by virtue of an investments portfolio that SCOA has with the said
company. The breakdown of these placements is as follows:
Placements with credit institutions
Other deposits
TOTAL

Dec-15
41,689
41,689

Dec-14
725
725

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

9. Loans to associates and subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Loans to affiliates and subsidiaries is as
follows:
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Loans to affiliates and subsidiaries
Loans granted
Orey Gestão Imobiliária
Lalizas
OA Technical Representations
Orey Investments Holding BV
Contrafogo
Orey Industrial Representations
OpIncrivel, SGPS, SA
Orey Capital Partners
Total (Note 35)

Dec-15

Dec-14

23,873
589,393
10,981,963
97,422
50,057
12,121
371,999
12,126,828

869,372
677,393
4,407,631
110,500
257,000
6,321,896

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

10. Investment Property
Investment properties comprise land and buildings held to obtain rents or for capital appreciation.
The property located in Alcântara is subject to a voluntary mortgage to Novo Banco as collateral for
the medium- to long-term loan taken out by the Company in 2008 (Note 17), the value of the
mortgage having been renegotiated in July 2014.
As at December 31, 2015, the current amount of this loan stands at €1,333,600 and as at December
31, 2014, it amounted to €3,147,000 (see Note 17).
On July 3, 2014, a promissory purchase and sale agreement was signed between Sociedade
Comercial Orey Antunes and the firm Orey Financial - IFIC regarding the property situate at Rua
Maria Isabel Saint Léger, 20, in Alcântara.
The price agreed between the parties for this property was €2,510,000. The first payment of
€2,000,000 was made on the date of the agreement and the remainder, €510,000 is to be paid at
the time of the purchase deed.
Upon payment of the €2,000,000, Orey Financial - IFIC, immediately settled the Municipal Property
Transfer Tax (IMT) inherent in the agreement.
However, as of December 31, 2015, the transfer the of rights and obligations inherent to this
property in to Orey Financial - IFIC had not yet been completed, by virtue of an ongoing process of
negotiation with the respective financial institution, about the possible withdrawal of the mortgage
attached to this investment, which may be achievable by means of presentation of new collateral.
The expectation of the Board of Directors is that this purchase deed will be signed by the end of the
first quarter of 2016.
Taking the foregoing into account, the evolution under this heading in 2014 and 2015 was as
follows:
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Properties

Opening Balance
as at Jan-15

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18, Alcântara

997,000

Total Properties

997,000

Adjust. Fair value
of net gains &
losses (Note
28)

Acquisitions

-

-

(25,000)

-

Closing Balance as
at Dec-15

Disposals

(25,000)

972,000

-

972,000
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Properties

Opening Balance
as at Jan-14

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria
Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara
Rua Luisa Holstein, 18, Alcântara
Total Properties

Adjustment Fair
value of net
gains & losses
(Note 28)

Acquisitions

2,510,000

-

3,000

983,000

-

14,000

3,493,000

-

Closing Balance as
at Dec-14

Disposals

(2,513,000)

-

-

17,000

997,000

(2,513,000)

997,000
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The property situate at Rua Luisa Holstein, 18A in Alcântara has a real-estate lease loan provided by
BES (see Note 17).
The fair value was determined by valuations conducted in accordance with the methodology
described in Note 4.3.4, as at the date of the financial position date, performed by Garen, an
independent entity, which are based on principles of "highest and best use" and on recent market
transactions. These valuations are reviewed in-house and submitted to the approval of
management.
In 2014 there was a positive impact of €17,000 on the fair value of the investment properties; in
2015 the impact of fair value was negative in the sum of €25,000.
The assumptions and values determined by Garen as at December 31, 2015, are detailed
hereunder:
Investment properties

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18, Alcântara

Assumed unit Assumed rental value
value / m2
/ m2
€1,227/m2

Total gross area / m2

Amount of rent / m2

Total amount of
rent

Profitability
(Current T.;
Potential T)

794

€4.16/m2

€39,600/year

8%

–

During 2015 the property was rented for the sum of €39,600/year.
The assumptions and values determined Garen as at December 31, 2014, are detailed hereunder:
Profitability
Total amount
(Current T. or
of rent
Potential T)

Investment properties

Assumed unit
value / m2

Assumed rental
value / m2

Total gross area / m2

Amount of rent / m2

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

€1,250/m2

€8.6/m2

794

-

-

8%

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

€1,177/m2

€8.30/m2

2,134

-

-

8.5%

No expenses were incurred during 2015 and 2014 in respect of repair and maintenance of
buildings.
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The valuation amounts determined correspond to the first level of the fair value hierarchy, in that
the price is obtained directly from the market
11. Other Tangible Assets and Intangible Assets

Other tangible assets
Up to December 2015 and December 2014, movement under tangible fixed assets, and also under
their depreciation, is as follows:
Gross assets

Opening
balance Jan-15

Plant & machinery
Office equipment
Other tangible assets
Gross assets

Revaluations

208,954
364,586
20,759
594,300

Increases
-

Transfer
22,092
22,092

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-15

Sales
-

(1,699)
(1,699)

208,954
384,979
20,759
614,693

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

Opening
balance Jan-15

Revaluations

Increases

Transfer

Saldo Final
Dez-15

Sales

Plant & machinery
Office equipment
Other tangible assets
Total accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

189,744
287,333
20,759
497,836

-

25,891
25,891

-

(755)
(755)

189,744
312,469
20,759
522,973

Net Value

96,463

-

(3,799)

-

(944)

91,720

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Gross assets
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible assets
Total Gross Assets

Balance as at
Jan-14

Revaluations

208,954
149,149
364,206
20,759
743,069

-

Increases

Transfer

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-14

Sales

1,699
1,699

(149,149)
(149,149)

(1,319)
(1,319)

208,954
364,586
20,759
594,300

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Balance as at
Jan-14

Revaluations

Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible assets
Total accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

189,744
149,149
262,997
19,750
621,640

-

25,179
1,009
26,188

Net Value

121,429

-

24,489

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

Increases

Transfer

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-13

Sales
(149,149)
(149,149)
-

(843)
(843)

189,744
287,333
20,759
497,836

(476)

96,463

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The Company's tangible fixed are carried at acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Intangible assets
During 2015 the company’s software was recorded as an intangible asset in progress, and its
evolution during the year was as follows:
Intangible assets

Software
Intangible assets

Opening
balance Jan-15

Revaluations

-

Increases

-

Transfer

4,465
4,465

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-15

Sales

-

-

4,465
4,465
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Intangible assets

Software
Intangible assets

Opening
balance Jan-14

Revaluations

-

Increases

-

Transfer

-

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-14

Sales

-

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

12. Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
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The value inherent in this heading amounts to €13,509,879 and is solely in respect of a
Forward on shares recorded by SCOA.
A forward contract is a derivative financial instrument that represents the right to buy or sell a
given quantity of product or type of asset, on a specific date and at a price fixed in advance. Both
the buyer and the seller under the contract have an obligation towards their counterparty.
As described in Notes 6 and 7, on July 12, 2013, Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes (“SCOA”)
signed an agreement for the purchase of shares in Banco Inversis ("Inversis", or “BI”) with Banca
March ("BM"). The transaction then announced involved the following steps: (1) exercise by BM, on
July 12, 2013, of its right of first refusal in the purchase-and-sale agreement of the whole of the
Inversis share capital for €217.4 million, having as reference date December 31, 2012; (2) the spinoff of the retail business of Banco Inversis a subsequent sale to Andbank for €179.8 million, which
came about on November 29, 2014, and (3) subsequent sale by BM of 49.99999936% of the shares
and voting rights in Inversis to Orey for €21.1 million, dependent on full and timely compliance with
the conditions precedent.
In the light of the contractual terms provided for in the purchase-and-sale agreement concluded
with Banca March, and the timetable of events, the SCOA Board of Directors considers that is has
the right and the duty to carry out the purchase of the Banco Inversis shares, and that Banca March
has the parallel right and the duty to sell those shares at a future date and at a price agreed in
advance. Since the completion of the transaction would depend, in the first instance, on the
conclusion of the spin-off of the retail business of Banco Inversis and its subsequent sale to
Andbank (having obtained the necessary authorisations from the competent authorities), then on
obtaining both the funding and the authorisations of the competent authorities, by SCOA, it is
considered that this transaction is not a regular way transaction (as defined in Note 4.3.6) since the
period of time for its conclusion substantially exceeds the normal period of time involved in a
purchase-and-sale transaction. Therefore, such a transaction should be recorded in the form of a
derivative to reflect in SCOA's accounts as at December 31, 2015, the irrevocable commitment
between BM and SCOA referred to above, which was just a awaiting the fulfilment of conditions
precedent, which occurred at the end of November 2015.
Moreover, it should be said that the derivative in question takes the form of a forward contract,
started on the date of conclusion of the agreement for the purchase-and-sale of Banco Inversis
with Banca March, but has a fair value other than zero when the conditions precedent for the
completion of the transaction are fully complied with. Since, as at December 31, 2014, all the
conditions precedent had not been fully complied with, and particularly bearing in mind that
compliance therewith was not dependent solely on SCOA but also on third parties, the fair value
determined was zero as of that date.
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13. Investments in associates and subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Investments in associates and subsidiaries is
as follows:

Direct Holdings
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Investments Holding BV
Orey Financial Holding, Sarl
Orey Serviços e Organização SA
Orey Gestão Imobiliária SA
Total

Opening
balance Jan15

Increases/reduction
of holdings

Other corrections to
Equity

38,071,000
40,778,000
459,000
5,058,413
84,366,414

12,500
12,500

200,000
200,000

Changes of fair
Closing
value (Notes 25 Balance as at
& 28)
Dec-15
(16,582,152)
(14,198,000)
(345,024)
(251,190)
(31,376,366)

21,488,848
26,580,000
12,500
313,976
4,807,223
53,202,547

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Direct Holdings
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Investments Holding BV
Orey Serviços e Organização SA
Orey Gestão Imobiliária SA
Total

Opening
Balance as at
Jan-14

Increases/reduction
of holdings

44,445,000
41,432,000
433,000
3,935,467
90,245,466

5,000,000
1,500,000
6,500,000

Other corrections to
Equity
-

Changes of fair
Closing
value
Balance as at
(Notes 25 & 28)
Dec-14
(6,374,000)
(5,654,000)
26,000
(377,053)
(12,379,053)

38,071,000
40,778,000
459,000
5,058,413
84,366,414

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As prescribed by IAS 27 and previously disclosed in note 4.3.6 of these Notes, investments in
subsidiaries are measured initially at their acquisition cost, and their subsequent recognition is in
accordance with IAS 39, undertaken at fair value (see note 26 ).
With regard to 2015, the most relevant events for the purposes of determining fair value were:
▪ The €200,000 registered as supplementary capital contribution at Orey Serviços e
Organização, SA, appear as financial collateral for the against the 2015 SME Growth loan
contracted with Banco Santander Totta. The possibility of a future merger between
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, and Orey Orey Serviços e Organização, SA, led to
the fair value being recorded at the book value, resulting in a devaluation of this particular
investment of €345,024 compared to the beginning of the period.
▪ The €14,198,000 change of the fair value of Orey Investments Holding BV in 2015 is the
result of the valuation performed on December 31, 2015, assuming the worst case
scenario (WACC +4 3 pp).
There are two specific factors at the base of this sharp devaluation:
o The devaluation of the investment inherent in Distressed Assets in Brazil, due to
the lengthening of the period of time for the implementation of bankruptcies
under discussion and the constant devaluation of the Real that is heavily
penalising the Brazilian economy; and
o The increase of the net debt of Orey Investments Holding BV itself, to continue to
fund the activities of the Distressed Fund.
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▪ The €16,582,152 change of the fair value of Orey Financial IFIC, SA, in 2015 is the result of
the valuation performed on December 31, 2015, assuming the worst case scenario (WACC
+3 pp). The reduction of the valuation value of Orey Financial is the result of the weighting
of the scenarios of the restructuring of companies headquartered in Brazil whose principal
activity is the liability management. With this restructuring it is expected that the last cash
flow, corresponding to the performance fees of the operations currently under
management, will be received in 2018, and the devaluation of the Real also impacts on
this reduction.
▪ Reduction of the valuation of OGI, again as a result of the devaluation that the real estate
market has undergone in recent years and has negatively affected the portfolio of this
company, since the properties that it holds in the portfolio are carried at their fair value.
With regard to 2014, the most relevant events for the purposes of determining fair value were:
▪ Share capital Increase at Orey Gestão Imobiliária during 2014 in the sum of €1,500,000.
▪ Share capital increase at Orey Investment Holding BV in the sum of €5,000,000 by
incorporation of dividends.
▪ Reduction of the valuation of Orey Investments Holding BV in the amount of €5,654 million
(assuming the worst case scenario, WACC +3 pp) due to the following:
o downward revision of the valuation of the Private Equity portfolio , a consequence
of the non-binding offer for the sale of the business of Angola and Mozambique,
o devaluation of the business inherent in the management of bankrupt estates of
FAWSPE in Brazil.
▪ Reduction of the valuation of the shareholding in Orey Financial IFIC, SA, as a result of the
review of the valuation of Private Equity explained above and the appreciation of the
business inherent to the management of bankrupt estates of FAWSPE in Brazil;
▪ Decrease of the appreciation of Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA (OGI) reflecting the devaluation
of the properties that it holds in its portfolio and are carried at fair value.
Assumptions 2015:
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Assumptions

Orey Financial IFIC

Orey Investments Holding
BV

Method employed

Discounted free cash flows

Discounted free cash flows

Base used

Business Plans 2016 - 2019 Business Plans 2016 - 2019

Cash-flow growth rates for 2019 to 2025

2%

2%

Cash-flow growth rates from 2025

0%; 1%; 2%

1%; 2%; 3%

Business plan success probabilities

60%; 20%; 20%

80%; 15%; 5%

Discount rate used

6.40%

11.00%

WACC +1 p.p.
WACC -1 p.p.
WACC +2 p.p.
WACC -2 p.p.
WACC +3 p.p.
WACC -3 p.p.

28,437,600
41,774,600
24,486,800
54,320,200
21,489,000
77,118,800

26,547,000
26,511,000
26,564,000
26,491,000
26,580,000
26,470,000

Valuation

21,489,000

26,580,000
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2015, due to the economic-financial reality of Brazil, and given the exposure of these two
subsidiaries o the effects arising therefrom, given the investments they have in Brazilian companies
and Distressed Fund business, the Company decided to perform a sensitivity analysis of these fair
values, projecting implementation scenarios with different probabilities of success: 40% probability
of the business inherent in the Distressed Assets being completed in 2018 with aa possible return
lower than that originally estimated; 20% probability of implementation in 2020 but with a possible
minimum return; 40% probability of implementation in 2016 with no alteration of the estimated
return.
Thus, the valuations carried in the financial statements result from the weighting of these three
scenarios.
Assumptions 2014:
Assumptions
Method employed
Base used

Orey Financial IFIC, SA

Orey Investments Holding
BV

Orey Serviços e
Organização

Discounted free cash flows

Discounted free cash flows

Discounted free cash flows

Business Plans 2015 - 2017 Business Plans 2015 - 2017 Business Plans 2015 - 2017

Cash-flow growth rates for 2018 to 2024

2%

2%

Variable

Cash-flow growth rates from 2024

1%; 2%; 3%

1%; 2%; 3%

1%; 2%; 3%

Business plan success probabilities

75%; 15%; 10%

80%; 15%; 5%

85%; 10%; 5%

Discount rate used

8.00%

4,5%-13,2%

8,60%

WACC +1 p.p.
WACC -1 p.p.
WACC +2 p.p.
WACC -2 p.p.
WACC +3 p.p.
WACC -3 p.p.

48,556,000
67,014,000
42,680,000
80,851,000
38,071,000
108,574,000

40,962,000
41,147,000
40,870,000
41,240,000
40,778,000
41,333,000

374,000
575,000
305,000
730,000
250,000
952,000

Valuation

38,071,000

40,778,000

459,000
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The fair value of Orey Gestão Imobiliária corresponds to its carrying amount because its assets,
which mainly entail properties already valued at their fair value.
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14. Taxes
The balances of income tax assets and liabilities taxes as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, were as
follows:
Taxes
Current tax liabilities
Estimated tax
Tax recoverable
Corporation tax (IRC) withheld at source
Special payment on account
Total current tax assets

Dec-15
-

Dec-14
(225,489)
71,822
44,317
283,433
174,083

Current tax liabilities
Estimated tax
Tax recoverable
Corporation tax (IRC) withheld at source
Special payment on account
Tax withheld
Total current tax liabilities

Dez-15
346,036
(71,822)
(17,584)
(213,433)
66,846
110,043

Dec-14
64,491
64,491

Deferred tax liabilities
Fair value changes

Dez-15
72,076

Dec-14
77,701

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As stated in Note 4.3.7, estimated current tax is determined based on the book net income
adjusted for tax legislation in force to which each of the companies included in consolidation is
subject.
The Company is subject to corporation tax (IRC) at the normal rate of 21%, increased by 1.5% for
the Municipal Surcharge, leading to an aggregate tax rate of 22.5%, plus the state surcharge.
Corporation tax (IRC) withheld at source refers to transaction undertaken by the entity owing
income whereby it retains the tax upon payment of the income, applying the appropriate rates, the
said income being paid net of this tax.
The item Special payment on account relates to the special payments on account of corporation tax
determined in prior years. These payments will be recoverable until the fourth year subsequent to
that in which they are made for the PECs paid up to 2013 (inclusive) and until the sixth year
subsequent to the PECs pais as from 2014, through deduction from the taxable income under IRC.
If no taxable income under IRC is determined for the years in question, that part of the special
payments on account that was not deducted may still be reimbursed upon request for
reimbursement made by the Company, which, for the purpose, will then be subject to inspection.
The balances and evolution of Deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2015 and 2014 were as follows:
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Deferred tax liabilities

Dec-14

Fair value changes - Investment properties
Total

Origin

Reversal

Dec-15

-

(5,625)
(5,625)

72,076
72,076

77,701
77,701

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Deferred tax liabilities

Dez-13

Fair value changes - Investment properties
Total

Origin

661,701
661,701

3,825
3,825

Reversal

Dez-14

(587,824)
(587,824)

77,701
77,701

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As stated in Note 10, on July 3, 2014, an irrevocable promissory purchase and sale agreement was
signed between Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes and the firm Orey Financial - IFIC regarding the
property situate at Rua Maria Isabel Saint Léger, 20, in Alcântara.
In 2014, since the agreement contains an irrevocability clause, Orey Financial - IFIC, immediately
settled the Municipal Property Transfer Tax inherent in the agreement.
As a result of this sale, of the deferred tax liabilities the Company had to derecognise the sum of
€584,000 in 2014, in respect of the fair-value revaluations made over the years.
Item

Total
31/12/2015

Transactions in the Incom e Statem ent

31/12/2014

31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Mov. Equity
31/12/2015

31/12/2014

Tem p. diff. giving rise to def. tax assets
Tax losses

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Tem p. diff. giving rise to def. tatax liabilities
Revaluation of fixed assets

305,500

330,500

(25,000)

(2,370,320)

-

-

305,500

330,500

(25,000)

(2,370,320)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Am ounts reflected in the balance sheet
Deferred tax assets

-

-

-

Deferred tax liabilities

72,076

77,701

(5,625)

(584,000)

Under current legislation, and until 2009, tax losses are carried forward for a period of six years
after they are incurred and can be deducted from tax profits generated during this period.
However, Law 3-B/2010 of April 28,2010 (2010 State Budget Act), established that as from January
1, 2010, this period for the deduction of tax losses carried forward is reduced to just four years.
Law 64-B/2011 of December 30, 2011 (2012 State Budget Act) once again altered the term,
increasing from four to five years the period of deduction of tax losses arising in and after 2012.
Later, under Law 83-C/2013 of December 31, tax losses generated in fiscal years beginning on or
after 1 January 2014 may be carried forward for a period of 12 years.
Also, in this respect, this Law determines that deduction of tax losses, including tax losses incurred
before January 1, 2014, is limited to 70% of taxable income for the year in which the deduction is
realised.
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In keeping with current legislation, tax returns relating to corporation tax are subject to review and
correction by the tax authorities for a period of four years (or six years where there are tax losses).
However, in situations where tax benefits have been granted or inspections, claims or appeals, are
in progress the deadlines are extended or suspended, depending on the circumstances.
Therefore, the Company's tax returns for 2012 to 2015 are still subject to review.
Nevertheless, in the opinion of the Company's Board of Directors, no correction for the years
referred to above is expected to have a material impact on the financial statements as at December
31, 2015.
The breakdown of the balance of Tax Costs (Income) in 2015 and 2014, recognised in the income
statement is as follows:
Income (Tax expenses)
Current Tax
Deferred taxes
Increase and reversal of temporary differences
Total

Dec-15
(107,067)
5,625
(101,442)

Dec-14
(88,844)
584,000
495,156

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The breakdown of deferred taxes is as follows:
Deferred taxes

Dec-15

Dec-14

Variation of deferred tax liability relating to the revaluation of investment properties

5,625

584,000

Total

5,625

584,000

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The reversal in 2014 and 2014 was caused:
 by the sale of the property located in Rua de Alcântara, 20, as a result of the irrevocable
promissory purchase and sale contract referred to above;
 by the reduction of the tax rate on which calculation of deferred tax was based, from 24.5%
(in 2014) to 22.5% (in 2015).

15. Expenses to be recognised and debtor accruals
The breakdown of Accruals and deferrals as at December 31, 2015 & 2014, is as follows:
Expenses to be recognised and debtor accruals
Debtor accruals
Costs pending recognition
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

257,781
101,303

92,169
109,992

359,085

202,161

(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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In 2015: Expenses pending recognition include rents of buildings in the sum of €36,543 (2014:
€35,591 Euros) and Guarantee in the amount of €54,727 (2014: €54,720).
In 2015 the Debtors for accruals are in respect of interest receivable.
16. Other assets
The breakdown of this item as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
Other Assets
Results Attributed
Orey Investments Holding BV

Dec-15
-

Settlement Agreement - Orey Transports and Logistics
Clients
Value added tax
OTLI bonds

Dec-14
2,500,000

136,071

136,070

84,661

135,612

900,535

883,336

92,974

-

Araras Bonds

536,470

457,300

Other Assets

311,344

775,323

Total other assets before impairment

2,062,055

4,887,641

Total other net assets

2,062,055

4,887,641

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2015 "Other assets" includes the total of:
 €150,124 of Payment on account of Corporation tax;
 €19,500 of VAT to be recovered;
 €72,723 in respect of debts to be rebilled; and
 €68,197 related to amounts to be settled with group companies.

In 2014 "Other assets" includes the total of:


€510,000 receivable from Orey Financial IFIC on account of the sale of the property at Rua
de Alcântara, 20.
As mentioned in Note 10, although the purchase deed of the purchase and sale of this
property is still pending, this amount was paid in full by Orey Financial IFIC to the Company
during April 2015;
and
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€227,574 related to amounts to be settled with Group companies. These liabilities are in
keeping with Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, since they are valued using models the make
use solely of observable market data.

17. Amounts owed to other credit institutions
The breakdown of amounts owed to other credit institutions and other borrowings is as follows:
Entity

Dec-15

Bank loans
Novo Banco
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Popular
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco BIC
Banca March
Andorra Bank AndBank

1,333,600
711,041
515,395
5,000,000
19,000,000

Bank overdrafts
Millennium BCP

130,939

Finance Leases
Novo Banco
Total

251,988
26,942,964

Dec-14

3,417,000
958,861
693,143
1,000,000
55,240
2,950,000
-

-

376,724
9,450,968
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Some relevant fact to be considered on the evolution of this item:


In June 2014 SCOA consolidated its financial positions at Novo Banco. In this way, the loan in
the sum of €2,166,166 that existed in 2013, together with the bank overdraft of €2,434,246
were partly repaid by means of the term deposit of €1,250,000, and of the remaining
amount a single loan was constituted in the sum of €3,417,000, which had a grace period
until December 2014. The instalments of principal are paid half-yearly, the first in June 2015.



In March 2015 a collateralised current account was opened with Caixa Geral de Depósitos in
the amount of €5,000,000. This account was renewed in March 2016 under the previously
existing terms and conditions, payment being scheduled for March 2017;



During April 2015 Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA, sold the property situate at Rua dos
Remolares, Lisbon. The amount of the sale was used to make a loan to Sociedade Comercial
Orey Antunes, SA (Note 19) in the sum of €1,750,000. This amount allowed SCOA partially
amortise the Novo Banco loan in the sum €3,417,000 mentioned in a previous paragraph;



In October 2015, the Company, as planned, fully repaid the loan of €2,950,000 Euros granted
by Banca March (see Note 19), which was secured by the deposit of the same amount made
at that financial institution, as explained in Note 7;
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As stated earlier, the Company completed the acquisition of Banco Inversis a final
consideration of €21,735,959, which was settled by means of loan of €2,950,000 that existed
with the Banca March and a loan of €19 million that AndBank granted to SCOA specifically to
fulfil this acquisition.
And this loan is repayable in 10 years and is remunerated at an interest rate of 5%;

Taking the foregoing into account, the breakdown of bank loans included under Amounts owed to
other credit institutions is as follows:
Bank

Form

Amount approved

Amount owed

Novo Banco
AndBank

-Med./Long term
-Med./Long term

3,417,000
19,000,000

1,016,981
19,000,000

3M Euribor + 2.25% spread

Novo Banco
Banco Popular
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria

- Short term
-Short term
-Short term
- Guaranteed current account

3,417,000
1,000,000
5,000,000
1,000,000

316,619
515,395
5,000,000
711,041

3M Euribor + 2.25% Spread

Effective Interest rate
31-12-2015

Interest rate

Non-current loans
2.4%

5%

5%

Current loans

3M Euribor + 7.0% to 7.5% Spread
6M Euribor + 3.5% Spread
3M Euribor + 7.25% Spread

2.4%
7.4%
3.6%
7.8%
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Effective Interest rate
31-12-2014

Bank

Form

Amount approved

Amount owed

Interest rate

Novo Banco

-Med./Long term

3,417,000

2,733,600

3M Euribor + 2.25% Spread

2.4%

Novo Banco
Banco BIC
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco Popular
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banca March

- Short term
- Short term
- Short term
- Short term
- Guaranteed current account
- Short term

3,417,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
2,950,000

683,400
55,240
1,000,000
693,143
958,861
2,950,000

3M Euribor + 2.25% Spread
3M Euribor + 7.0% Spread

2.4%
7.2%
5.7%
7.4%
7.8%
5.0%

Non-current loans

Current loans

6M Euribor + 4.5% Spread
3M Euribor + 7.0% to 7.5% Spread
3M Euribor + 7.25% Spread
5%

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Finance lease liabilities
The breakdown of finance leases as at December 31, 2015 & 2014, is as follows:
Dec-15

Liability for finance leases
Current liabilities

Dec-14

Non-current liabilities

Total

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Buildings, land & natural resources

132,972

119,016

251,988

124,629

252,094

Total

132,972

119,016

251,988

124,629

252,094

Total
376,724
376,724
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

And in 2015 and 2014 the detail by payment is as follows:
Type of Asset

Future payments Not more than 1 year

Over 1 year and
not more than 5

Over 5 years
-

Buildings, land & natural resources

251,988

132,972

119,016

Total

251,988

132,972

119,016

(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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Type of Asset

Future payments Not more than 1 year

Over 1 year and
not more than 5

Over 5 years
-

Buildings, land & natural resources

376,724

124,629

252,094

Total

376,724

124,629

252,094

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The amounts reflected in 2014 and 2015 are solely in respect of the lease of the refer exclusively to
the lease of the Alcântara, at Rua Isabel Saint Léger, 18, contracted with BESLEASING.
18. Debt securities
The Company also has two bind loans, one contracted in 2010, the paying agent of which is
Millennium BCP, and another in 2015, with duration of one year, the paying agent of which is Novo
Banco.
The details of these bond loans in 2015 are as follows:
Bond Loan

Issue limit

Bond loan
Orey Best / 2010-2018
Orey 1 year - Feb. 2015 - Feb. 2016
Total

30,000,000
5,000,000
35,000,000

Amount used
30,000,000
5,000,000
35,000,000

Carrying amount
28,967,394
4,977,474
33,944,868
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The details of this bond loan in 2014 are as follows:
Bond Loan

Issue limit

Bond loan
Orey Best / 2010-2018

30,000,000

Amount used
30,000,000

Carrying amount
29,766,152
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

During 2013 the Company issued bonds in the sum of €17,000,000. The conditions of this bond
loan are as follows:
▪

Issuer: Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA;

▪

Total amount approved of €30,000,000

▪

During the first five years payment is quarterly at an interest rate either of
5.5% or of the 3M Euribor with a spread of 2.5%.

▪

The coupon of the 6th year has an interest rate either of 6.5% or of the 3M
Euribor plus a spread of 3.5%.

▪

The coupon of the 7th year has an interest rate either of 7.5% or of the 3M
Euribor plus a spread of 4.5%.

▪

The coupon of the 8th year has an interest rate either of 8.5% or of the 3M
Euribor plus a spread of 5.5%.

The detail of the Orey 1 year bond issue is as follows:
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▪

Issuer: Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA;

▪

Total approved amount of €5,000,000;

▪

Denomination of the Bonds: €100,000

▪

Number of Bonds: 50

▪

Issue: May 19, 2015.

▪

Maturity: February 19, 2016.

▪

Early redemption: Not subject to early redemption at the initiative of the issuer or
of the bondholders

▪

Interest rate: 6%

▪

Interest payment: Bullet, on the maturity date

19. Loans from associates and subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of loans obtained from subsidiaries is as
follows:
Loans from associates and subsidiaries
Borrowings
Orey Inversiones
Orey- Gestão Imobiliária, SA
Oilmetric, SGPS, SA
Orey Serviços e Organização, SA
Total (Note 35)

Dec-15

Dec-14

650,000
2,426,532
78,500
-

259,010

3,155,032

259,010

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The amount owed to Orey Inversiones Financeiras, SA, of €650,000, refers to loan capital paid up
by the majority shareholder in November 2015.
The amount of the debt to Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA, refers mainly to:
 In an initial stage: the sale, in April 2015, of the property situate at Rua dos Remolares,
Lisbon, held by Orey Gestão Imobiliária, provided a cash inflow that gave rise to a loan
between Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA, and Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, in the sum
of €1,750,000, an amount used to amortise the debt of Orey Gestão Imobiliária, S.A. (Loans
Granted) that existed until April 2015, Orey Gestão Imobiliária being left with a credit
balance of €640,056 in relation to Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA. In turn, the
amount received by Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, was used to amortise the loan
contracted with Novo Banco.
 In a second stage, the sale in October 2015 of the property situate in Lapa, Lisbon, led to a
new loan between the companies, this time in the amount of €2,986,071, which in turn was
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used to amortise the loan granted to the Company by Banca March in the sum of
€2,950,000.
 As at December 31, 2015, Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, had a credit balance of
€2,426,532 (2014: debit balance of €869,372 – Note 9) vis-à-viz rOrey Gestão Imobiliária, SA.

20. Provisions
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, movement under provisions is as follows:
Provisions

Balance Jan-15

Increase

Use

Reversal

Provisions

2,310,395

122,218

-

-

Total

2,310,395

122,218

-

-

Balance as
at Dec-15
2,432,613
2,432,613

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Provisions

Balance Jan-14

Increase

Use

Reversal

Provisions

2,224,211

86,184

-

-

Total

2,224,211

86,184

-

-

Balance as
at Dec-14
2,310,395
2,310,395

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

This item refers to contingencies of ongoing proceedings which, though theoretically covered by
the statute of limitations, were inspected in previous years and are now subject to the
Administrative and Fiscal Court, which led to the recognition of these provisions in the Company's
accounts.
In 2013 the provision was increased by €797,004, due to Tax Authority proceedings in progress,
inherent the corporation tax in respect of 2001 to 2004 (inclusive), which are being judicially
challenged and await trial.
Likewise, a provision was set aside in 2013, relating to the RETGS 2010/2011 in the sum of
€1,427,207.
During 2014 the provision of €797,004 provision was reassessed taking into account the inherent
accrued interest, possible fines and court costs that are inherent, which led the Orey Group to
increase this provision by €86,183.63.
In 2015 the Company increased in the provision for tax contingencies in the amount of €122,218 by
way of update of existing provision.
21. Creditor accruals and income pending recognition
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of accruals and deferral is as follows:
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Creditor accruals and income pending recognition
Creditors for accrued interest
Creditors for accruals - other
Deferrals - Income pending recognition - Rents
Totals

Dec-15

Dec-14

745,547
841,176
3,300

459,801
496,454
-

1,590,023

956,255

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Creditors for comprise BCP Obrigaçõoes in the sum of €672,926 (2014: €412,889) and AndBank in
the sum of €57,903. In there were also BES in the sum of €7,000, CGD in the sum of €6,800 and
Banca March in the sum of €15,000 and €18,112 relating to Orey Industrial Representations
(“OIR”).
Creditors for accruals – Other mainly include amounts payable to consultants, lawyers and other
suppliers of the Company.

22. Other liabilities
The breakdown of Other Liabilities as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
Other liabilities

Dec-15

Dec-14

Creditors
Public Administrative Sector
Social security
IMI (municipal property tax)
Trade accounts payable

12,474
452,300

6,226
1,626
243,241

Dividends of previous periods

48,076

48,076

336,707
172,207
388,393

169,288
23,446
575,286

4,260

4,033

327,000
1,000,000

327,000
87
-

2,741,416

1,398,309

Costs payable
Bonus payable to Governing Bodies
Payments to employees - Holidays and holiday pay
Post-employment benefits
Other costs payable
Pension fund - Orey Comércio e Navegação, SA
Other costs payable
Other accrual accounts
Orey Industrial Representations
SCOA - Madrid branch
FloridaBlanca
Totals

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In December 2015, for the purpose of reinforcing the day-to-day treasury, the Company obtained a
loan from the firm Floridablanca in the amount of €1,000,000.
Contractually, this loan would have a duration of 1 (one) month, remunerated at an interest rate of
5% per annum. Although the amount has fallen due it has not yet been repaid because the
extension of its maturity is being under the existing conditions.
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With regard to the amounts under Retirement Benefits, it should be noted that the Orey Pension
Fund is at this time under a plan for the financing of liabilities for past services already fallen due,
with assets and pensioners, which has been approved by the Insurance and Pension Funds
Supervision Authority.
However, in keeping with IAS 19, the Orey Group updated the discount rate in accordance with
established benchmarks, thus adjusting it to the economic reality of which it forms part. On the
basis of the foregoing the Company informs that the actuarial assumptions and technical bases
were as follows for 2015 and 2014:

Actuarial assumptions and technical bases

Dez-15

Dez-14

1.7%
2.3%
1.0%
0%-0.5%

1.7%
2.3%
2.0%
1.0%

66 years
TV 88/90
TV 88/90
SR

66 years
TV 88/90
TV 88/90
SR

Financial assumptions
Actuarial underwriting rate
Annual rate of return of the fund
Annual wage growth rate
Annual pension growth rate
Demographic assumptions
Normal retirement age
Mortality table men
Mortality table women
Disability Table

Therefore net liabilities were as follows:
Dec-15

Evolution of Net Liabilities
Retired

In service

Opening balance
Cost of current services
Interest cost
Contributions
Real return on assets
Actuarial gains & losses

268,879
27,482
(131,211)
(23,683)
(51,012)

306,407
8,474
5,331
(5,422)
(16,851)

Total

90,455

297,939

Total
575,286
8,474
32,813
(136,633)
(23,683)
(67,863)
388,395
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Dec-14

Evolution of Net Liabilities
Retired

In service

Opening balance
Cost of current services
Interest cost
Contributions
Real return on assets
Actuarial gains & losses

636,746
25,710
(641,340)
13,203
234,561

242,268
8,474
4,215
(4,469)
55,918

Total

268,880

306,406

Total
879,014
8,474
29,925
(645,809)
13,203
290,479
575,286
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

During 2015 SCOA delivered a monetary contribution (2014: two contributions) to the pension fund
in the sum of €130,000 (2014: €638,000).
Thus, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the value of the Pension fund was as follows:
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Value of the pension fund

Dec-15

Dec-14

Opening balance
Contributions
Real return on assets
Benefits & premiums paid by the fund

1,310,529
130,000
23,683
(153,214)

Total

1,310,998

840,834
638,000
(13,203)
(155,102)
1,310,529
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2015 and 2014 the impact of the defined-benefit plan was as follows:
Defined Benefits
Defined Benefits
Total

2015
Net income

2014
Equity

10,971
10,971

Net income

67,864
67,864

Equity

43,793
43,793

290,479
290,479
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

And the liabilities and the value of the assets of the fund were as follows:
Liability and value of the fund's assets

Dez-15

Amount of liabilities allocated to the fund
Fund value
Fund shortfall

Dez-14

1,654,110
1,310,998
343,112

1,848,936
1,310,529
538,407
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

23. Share capital
As at December 31, 2015 & 2014, the subscribed and paid up share capital is represented by
12,000,000 ordinary shares, with no right to fixed remuneration, each of a par value of €1.

Share capital

Dec-15

Share capital

Dec-14

12,000,000

12,000,000

As at December 31, 2015, the qualifying holdings of the Company were as follows:
Qualifying Holdings

Quantity

Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Directly:
Indirectly:
- Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL

47,051

% of share capital

% of voting rights

0.39%

0.39%

9,252,949

77.11%

77.11%

9,300,000

77.50%

77.50%

424,449

3.54%

3.54%

121,211
242,421
788,081

1.01%
2.02%
6.57%

1.01%
2.02%
6.57%

TOTAL QUALIFIED HOLDINGS

10,088,081

84.07%

84.07%

OTHER

1,766,534

14.72%

14.72%

TREASURY SHARES
TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL

145,385
12,000,000

1.21%
100.00%

1.21%
100.00%

SUB-TOTAL
Joachin Michalski
Miguel de Melo Mardel Correia
Directly:
Indirectly:
SUB-TOTAL
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In comparison with 2014, changes of qualifying holdings were as follows:
Members of the Board of Directors
Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Francisco dos Santos Bessa
Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira
Alexander Somerville Gibson
Francisco Van Zeller
Juan Celestino Lázaro González
Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes
Total

Members of the Board of Auditors
José Martinho Soares Barroso
Acácio Augusto Lougares Pita Negrão
Nuno de Deus Vieira Paisana Salvador Pinheiro
Total

Held on
31-12-2014
9,252,949
214,252
219,786
160,492
280,458
10,127,937
Held on
31-12-2014
-

Acquired

Transferred

47,051
2,500
49,551

47,051
47,051

Acquired

Transferred

-

Held on
31-12-2015
9,300,000
214,252
219,786
162,992
233,407
10,130,437
Held on
31-12-2015
-

-

This information was obtained on the basis of the list provided by Interbolsa.
24. Issue premiums
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of issue premiums is as follows:
Issue
premium
sub-total

Deferred
taxes

Issue costs

Total issue
premium

Item

Year

Nº of shares

Unit premium

Increase of share capital through subscription of shares

2006

5,000,000

1

5,000,000

-233,725

64,274

4,830,550

Conversion of VMOPs

2008

3,409,272

1

3,409,272

-115,086

2,303

3,296,489

Conversion of VMOPs

2009

109,166

1

109,166

0

0

109,166

Reduction of share capital

2010

-750,000

1

-750,000

0

0

-750,000

Reduction of share capital

2011

-1,000,000

1

-1,000,000

0

0

-1,000,000

Total

6,486,204
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

25. Treasury shares
During 2015 there was no change in the number of treasury shares compared to 2014, so that at
the end of 2015 the Company had in its possession 145,385 treasury shares, or 1.21% of the share
capital and voting rights.
Treasury shares

Quantity

Held as at 31/12/2015 by:
- SCOA

145,385

Average value

2.23

Total Value

324,132

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

26. Revaluation reserves
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of reserves and retained earnings was as
follows:
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Reserves and Retained Earnings

Dec-15

Revaluation reserve
Revaluation of financial investments reserve
Total revaluation reserves
Other reserves and retained earnings
Legal reserve
Retained earnings
Total other reserves and retained earnings

Dec-14

(219,039) 22,181,744
(219,039) 22,181,744

Total

2,214,924
15,057,264
17,272,187

2,011,468
11,123,739
13,135,206

17,053,148

35,316,950

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The above Revaluation reserves cannot be distributed to shareholders until they are realised.
The financial investment revaluation reserve is as follows:

Revaluation of financial investments reserve

Dec-15

Orey Serviços e Organização, SA
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Investments Holding BV

Dec-14

1,322,406
-

Other

339,611
17,904,558
5,479,019

(1,541,445) (1,541,445)
(219,039) 22,181,744

Total

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The following table reflects the changes to the fair value detailed in note 13.

Revaluation of financial investments reserve
Orey Serviços e Organização, SA
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Investments Holding BV
Total

Fair-value
reserve
(339,611)
(16,582,152)
(5,479,019)
(22,400,783)

Net income
-

Total
(339,611)
(16,582,152)
(5,479,019)
(22,400,783)

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The difference between the amount recorded in the Financial investments revaluation reserve and
value of the financial investment is recorded as a fair-value loss and is detailed in note 29.

In 2014:
Revaluation of financial investments reserve
Orey Serviços e Organização, SA
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Investments Holding BV
Orey Gestão Imobiliária
Total

Fair-value
reserve
26,000
(6,374,000)
(5,654,000)
(12,002,000)

Net income

Total

26,000
(6,374,000)
(5,654,000)
(377,053)
(377,053)
(377,053) (12,379,053)
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

27. Strict net interest income
The breakdown of net interest income for the periods ended December 31, 2015 & 2014, is as
follows:
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Strict Net Interest Income
Interest & similar income
Interest on balances
Interest on loans granted
Other interest & similar income
Interest & similar costs
Interest of other credit institutions
Totals

Dec-15

Dec-14

3,921
264,471
10,331

22,759
305,372
-

(2,438,035) (2,893,132)
(2,159,311) (2,565,002)
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

28. Income on equity instruments
Income on equity capital instruments refers to gains on Group companies and its breakdown as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
Gains on Group companies

Dec-15

Dec-14

Orey Investments Holding BV - Dividends

-

Orey Financial IFIC, SA - Dividends
Orey Serviços e Organização SA - Dividends

Total

7,500,000
1,260,000
245,000
9,005,000
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2014 gains on Group companies refers to dividends of Group companies recognised in profit
or loss on the date of their appropriation.

29. Results of financial assets & liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The breakdown of assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is as follows:
Results of financial assets & liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments income
Fair value losses of subsidiaries and associates (Notes 12 & 25)
Investment properties

Total

Dec-15
13,509,879
(8,975,584)
(25,000)
4,509,295

Dec-14
(377,053)
17,000
(360,053)

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The Income from financial instruments heading refers mainly to the gains on the price of bonds in
the portfolio and to the fair value of the forward contract for the purchase of shares in Banco
Inversis (see Note 12).
In 2015 the Results of Assets and Liabilities at the fair value of investment properties refer to the
reduction of the valuation of the Alcântara property in 2015 by €25,000 (2014: increase of
€17,000).
In 2015, the fair-value losses of subsidiaries and associates comprise the following items:
 OREY Serviços e Organização shows a reduction of the fair value of the investment totalling
€345,024, a component of the valuation reverting to equity to be deducted from the existing
financial investments revaluation reserve;
 Orey Gestão Imobiliária in the sum of €251,190, as a result of the devaluation of its real
estate portfolio valued at fair value;
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 OREY Investments Holding, BV, a total of €14,198,000 for the change of fair value resulting
from the valuation as at December 31, 2015, assuming the worst-case scenario (WACC p.p
+3) – see Note 13.

In 2014 the value fair-value losses on subsidiaries and associates refer to the change recorded at
recorded in Orey Gestão Imobiliária (Notes 13 and 26).

30. Results of the sale of other assets
The breakdown of sales of other assets is as follows:
Results of the sale of other assets
Income/gains on disposal of financial investments
Costs/losses on disposal of financial investments

Total

Dec-15
(47)
(47)

Dec-14
206,522
(58,588)
147,934

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2014, the amount of income/gains on the sale of financial investments refer entirely to the sale
of bonds to Orey Financial.
The amount of expenses/losses recorded in 2014 is in respect of losses on the sale of securities in
the portfolio and bonds.

31. Other operating income
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Other operating income is as follows:
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Other operating income
Other operating income
Sales
Services rendered
Supplementary income
Assignment of premises
Recuperation of costs
Other
Excess tax estimate
Rents
Corrections to previous periods
Reimbursement of taxes
Other income
Currency translation differences
Other operating costs
Cost of sales
Tax estimate insufficiency
Prompt payment discounts
Sales of tangible fixed assets
Corrections to previous periods
Donations
Subscriptions
Fines
Other operating costs
Other taxes
Banking services
Currency translation differences
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

300,920

176
122,112

2,800
16,341
20,733
58,091
20,260
26
1,354

98,751
154,502
163,030
5,220
176,185
42,447
51,364
22,539

(6,210)
(86,938)
(600)
(8,769)
(6,470)
(41,350)
(109,963)
(14,173)
(6,385)

(176)
(13,002)
(476)
(5,353)
(20,500)
(8,451)
(8,023)
(101,922)
(9,583)
(29,176)
(9,158)

139,667

630,505

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

32. Staff costs
The breakdown of Staff costs recognised in the income statement as at December 31, 2015 and
2014, is as follows:

Staff costs
Remuneration of corporate officers
Remuneration of personnel
Post-employment benefits (Note 21)
Charges on remuneration
Insurance
Welfare costs
Other staff costs
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

1,535,336
217,946
10,971
96,954
11,911
313
125,810
1,999,240

904,323
93,384
43,793
46,311
10,795
193
97,927
1,196,725

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As at December 31, 2015, Corporate officers' remuneration included the bonus of €336,707 (2014:
€169,287.76) payable to the board of directors, equal to 10% of the consolidated net income in
keeping with the practice of previous years and as laid down in the Company's bylaws.
During 2015 and 2014 the Company had an average of 1 employee in Portugal and 4 in Spain.
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33. General administrative costs
The measurement criterion for General administrative costs is the cost, the breakdown of which is
as follows:
General and Administrative Expenses
Leases & rentals
Specialised services
Travel
Communications & despatch costs
Insurance
Fees
Entertainment allowance
Maintenance & repairs
Cleaning, hygiene & comfort
Guards & security
Materials
Energy & fluids
Litigation and notaries
Other sundry costs
Total

Dec-15
272,299
1,266,313
108,996
49,129
2,564
19,440
185,072
19,345
22,854
37,767
6,671
31,018
3,882
54,078
2,079,429

Dec-14
353,390
731,887
167,514
28,188
4,445
499,420
36,933
23,446
26,933
2,995
38,188
3,095
59,111
1,975,545

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The breakdown of specialised services is as follows:
Specialised services
Financial department
Salary processing
Auditors
Lawyers
IT services
Consultancy
Archive management
Contract management
Help-Desk
Maintenance
Projects
Property management
Other specialised work
Total

Dec-15
119,037
6,353
79,941
166,162
146,255
6,628
445
694
536
12,000
728,264
1,266,313

Dec-14
61,547
3,935
13,652
122,772
21,852
6,628
445
339
5,268
11,725
12,000
471,725
731,887

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

34. Depreciation charges for the period
Depreciation charges that were recognised during the period by type of asset, also referred to in
Note 11, are as follows:
Depreciation

Dec-15

Tangible Fixed Assets
Office equipment
Other tangible fixed assets
Total

Dec-14

25,891
25,891

25,179
1,009
26,188

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

35. Earnings per share
The Company's net earnings per share are as follows:

170

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

Earnings per Share

Dec-15

Net income for the period
Total nº of shares
Treasury shares
Nº of shares outstanding

Dec-14

(1,838,616) 4,069,117
12,000,000 12,000,000
145,385
145,385
11,854,615 11,854,615

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

-0.155
-0.155

0.343
0.343
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Basic earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the net income attributable to the Company,
the share capital and the average number of shares in circulation which, as at December 31, 2015
and 2014, involves 11,854,615 shares, taking into account the existence of 145,385 treasury shares.
The diluted earnings per share are consistent with the basic earnings per share, in that there are no
potential ordinary shares.

36. Transactions with related parties
The Company's related parties are detailed in Note 1.
The Company's governing bodies receive a fixed remuneration set by the remuneration committee
and bonuses of 10% of the consolidated profit, also approved by the remuneration committee.
Transactions with parties related with the Company are detailed below:

Related parties
Orey Serviços e Organização SA
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey- Gestão Imobiliária SA
Orey Industrial Representations, SA
OA Technical Representations - Rep.Nav.Ind. SA
Orey Investments Holding BV
Secur- Comércio e Representações Lda
Lalizas Marine
Op. Incrivél SGPS, SA
Orey Capital Partners GP
Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA
Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda
Orey Inversiones

2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014

Loans receivable
(Note 9)

Borrowings
payable (Note 18)

Interest Income

869,372
50,057
257,000
589,393
677,393
10,981,963
4,407,631
97,422
110,500
23,873
12,121
371,999
-

259,010
2,426,532
78,500
650,000
-

10,013
13,315
23,168
254,305
256,639
154
12,250
-

Favourable
currency
translation
differences
27,960
-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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Related parties

Purchases

OA Technical Representations- Rep.Nav.Ind. SA
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Apresto e Gestão de Navios Lda
Orey (Angola) - Comércio e Serviços Lda
Orey Super - Transportes e Distribuição
Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda
Orey Shipping, SL
LYNX Angola - Transporte e Logística, Lda
Orey Moçambique - Comércio e Serviços Lda
Orey Mauritius Transports and Logistics Ltd
Orey Industrial Representations
Contrafogo, Soluções de Segurança SA
Orey Técnica Serviços Navais, Lda
Orey Safety and Naval SA
Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA
Orey Capital Partners
Orey- Gestão Imobiliária SA
Orey Serviços e Organização SA
Secur- Comércio e Representações, Lda
SAFOCEAN - Comércio e Serviços, Lda.
Araras BV
Op. Incrivél SGPS, SA

2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014

33,489
501,326
54
19,449
41,132
975
428,247
221,078
-

2015
2014
2015
2014

485,944
461,250
-

Sales

Receivables

Payables

23,168
23,168
231,986
254,399
99,250
10,013
31,427

46,160
23,168
423,695
51,569
227
27,158
39
13,744
10
89
2,030
1,000
5,248
13,510
7,927

9,625
327,000
18,470

-

7,212

-

91
41,847
200,000
58,213
154
-

112
18,776
1,005
2,089
154
3,000
600
3,860

9,725
3,755
588
1,199
402,450
10,318
-

Other

Monte de S. José - Actividades Agri. Imob. e Recreativas SA
FloridaBlanca

-

6
-

128
1,000,000
-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

37. Remuneration of the Statutory Auditor
The remuneration billed by the Company's external auditors amounted in 2015 to €58,190 (2014:
€13,652), relating to statutory audit services.

38. Contingent assets and liabilities
As at December 31, 2015, financial commitments not carried in the balance sheet are as follows:
Bank guarantees provided to the State €893,101 (2014: €893,101)
Guarantees provided to other companies €21,000 (2014: €221,000).
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Entity
DGCI - IRC 2004
DGCI - IRC 2003
DGCI - IRC 2002
DGCI - IRC 2001
DGCI - VAT 2006 - OVT
DGCI - IRC 2010
DGCI - VAT 2006 - OVT
CTT - Correios de Portugal, SA
Galp Energia
OGI (Guarantor)
Total

Dec-15
111,665
244,704
181,176
259,460
5,498
84,466
1,133
5,000
21,000
914,101

Dec-14
111,665
244,704
181,176
259,460
5,498
84,466
1,133
5,000
21,000
200,000
1,114,101

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

39. Remuneration of corporate officers
As at December 31, 2015, remuneration paid to the Company's Governing Bodies has to do solely
with short-term benefits, as follows:

Remuneration earned by key personnel

Board of directors
Board of Auditors

Dec-15

1,198,629
21,000
1,219,629

Total

Dec-14

904,323
24,000
928,323

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

40. Classes of financial instruments
Financial instruments were classified as follows:
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Loans/
receivables

Financial Assets Dec-15
Cash & balances at central banks
Balances with other credit institutions
Placements with credit institutions
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Other assets
Other receivables

5,595
253,817
41,689
12,126,828
2,062,055
14,489,984

Available for
sale
-

Derivatives

Total

35,245,838
35,245,838

5,595
253,817
41,689
35,245,838
12,126,828
2,062,055
49,735,822
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Loans/
receivables

Financial Assets Dec-14
Cash & balances at central banks
Balances with other credit institutions
Placements with credit institutions
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Other assets

7,040
4,777,996
725
6,321,896
2,377,641
13,485,298

Available for
sale

Derivatives

-

Total

-

7,040
4,777,996
725
6,321,896
2,377,641
13,485,298

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Borrowings/
payables

Financial Assets Dec-15
Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Debt securities
Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries
Other liabilities
Other receivables

26,942,964
34,293,925
3,155,032
2,404,709
66,796,630

Available for
sale

Derivatives

-

Total

-

26,942,964
34,293,925
3,155,032
2,404,709
66,796,630

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Borrowings/
payables

Financial Liabilities Dec-14
Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Debt securities
Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries
Other liabilities

9,450,968
29,766,152
259,010
1,398,309
40,874,439

Available for
sale

Derivatives

-

Total

-

9,450,968
29,766,152
259,010
1,398,309
40,874,439

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

41. Risk management
Financial risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument may vary,
results being obtained other than expected, be they positive or negative, altering the asset value of
the Company.
In carrying on its current activities, the Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks that may
change its asset value, which, according to their nature, can be grouped into the following
categories:
▪ Market risk comprises the interest-rate risk and the exchange-rate risk
▪ Credit risk
▪ Liquidity risk
Management of the above risks - risks that stem in large measure from the unpredictability of the
financial markets - requires careful application of a set of rules and methodologies approved by the
Board, the ultimate goal of which is to minimise the potential negative impact on the asset value
and performance of the Company.
For the purpose, the entire management is oriented in the light of two essential concerns:
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▪ To reduce, where possible, fluctuations in the results and cash flows subject to risk
situations;
▪ To Limit deviations from the forecast results, through stringent financial planning, based on
budgets.
As a rule, the Company does not take speculative positions, so usually the operations undertaken
within the scope of financial-risk management are intended to control existing risks to which the
Company is exposed.
The Board defines the principles for risk management as a whole and the policies covering specific
areas such as exchange-rate risk, interest-rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and investment of
surplus liquidity.
Financial-risk management - including identification, evaluation and hedging - is conducted by the
Financial Department in accordance with policies approved by the Board.
Market Risks
40.1 Interest-rate Risk
Orey is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of having in its statement of financial position
floating-rate debt (borrowings, short-term placements and derivatives) and the resulting cash
flows, and is exposed to the euros interest-rate risk.
Considering that:
▪ the volatility of the Company's results is not dependent solely on the volatility of its financial
results associated with interest-rate volatility;
▪ in normal market situations there is a correlation between interest-rate levels and economic
growth and it can be expected that the impact of interest-rate movements (and the
respective volatility in the cash flows associated with the service of the debt) can, to a
certain extent, be offset by the movements under other headings of the income
statements, notably operating profits;
▪ Contracting any hedge instrument implies an associated opportunity cost, the Company's
policy in respect of the mitigation of this risk does not call for maintaining an minimum
proportion of fixed-rate debt (converted into fixed-rate by means of derivative financial
instruments), opting as an alternative for a dynamic approach to monitoring the exposure
that will allow market conditions to be matched to the Company's real exposure, so as to
avoid opening exposure that could have a real impact on the Company's consolidated
results.
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In view of the foregoing the Company's policy in respect of this matter establishes a case-by-case
analysis of each potential operation, and any derivative instrument contract must be in keeping
with the following principles:
▪ derivatives are not used for trading or speculative purposes;
▪ derivatives to be contracted must replicate exactly the underlying exposures in the matter of
the indices to be used, interest-rate refixing dates and interest-payment dates, as well as
the amortisation profile of the underlying debt;
▪ the maximum financial cost of the derivative and of the underlying exposure must be known
and limited as from the time the derivative is contracted, seeking to ensure that the
resultant interest falls within the cost of the funds considered in the business plans;
▪ all transactions must be subject to competitive auction involving at least two financial
institutions;
▪ all transactions have as their contractual support the market standard (ISDA-

International Swaps and Derivatives Association), their schedules negotiated with each
institution;
▪ in determining the fair value of the hedge operations, the Company Group uses a set of
methods in accordance with market practices, notably options-valuation models and
future cash-flow discounting models using certain market assumptions (interest and
exchange rates, and volatilities, etc.) prevailing on the balance sheet date. Comparable
quotes provided by credit institutions are also used as a valuation model;
All operations that do not meet all the principles established hereabove must be individually
approved by the Board of Directors.

With regard to the bond loans, the interest rate payable on the Orey Best 2010-2018 is the
greater of a fixed-interest rate of 5.5% and a floating-rate indexed to the 3-M Euribor rate plus
a spread of 2.5%. In 2015 and 2014 interest was paid on the basis of the fixed-interest rate
since the index plus the spread is still considerably lower. The Company presumes that in 2016
the interest on this loan will still be paid at the fixed-interest rate.
With regard to the Orey 1 Year bond loan the interest rate is 6% and is payable at maturity.
40.2 Exchange-rate Risk
The Company is engaged in international operations and the Company's exposure to the exchangerate risk inherent in its transactions.
For exposures involving some uncertainty the Company may make use of currency options.
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40.3 Credit Risk
The credit risk stems mainly from:
▪ credits over its customers and other receivables related with operating activity,
▪ its relationship with Financial Institutions in the normal course of its business in connection
with financing activities, and
▪ the risk of counterparty default on portfolio-management operations.
Credit over Customers and Other Receivables: The Company's credit-risk management is based on
the needs proper to its business, kept under constant observation:
▪ the particularities of the profile of the customers associated with each business;
▪ careful determination of credit limits suited, on the one hand, to the client's profile and, on
the other, to the nature of the business, avoiding excessive concentration of credit and,
consequently, minimising the exposure to this risk;
▪ regular monitoring of the clients' accounts;
▪ establishment of fragmented credit-extending processes, involving segregation between the
administrative and the decision procedures;
▪ recourse to the legal means needed to recover credit.
Financial Institutions Relationship – to mitigate this risk, the Company:
▪ only undertakes transactions with counterparties rated at least Investment Grade

and/or credit institutions having high credit quality, with a focus on those institutions
having a banking relationship with the Company;
▪ diversifies the counterparties in order to avoid excessive credit-risk concentration;
▪ defines a restricted set of eligible instruments (in order not to contract complex instruments
whose structure is not fully known), and the express consent of the Board of Directors is
required for the use of other alternatives;
▪ regularly monitors total exposures to each counterparty in order to ensure compliance with
established policy.
40.4 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity-risk management is intended to ensure that, from time to time, the Company has the
financial capacity, with no unfavourable market conditions:
▪ to fulfil its payment obligations as and when they fall due, and
▪ to ensure timely financing adequate to the development of its business and strategy.
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For the purpose, the Company intends to maintain a flexible financial structure and for this reason
the process of management of the liquidity risk within the Company involves the following
fundamental aspects:
▪ optimisation of the financial function within the Company;
▪ financial planning based on forecast cash flows and for different time horizons;
▪ a system of financial control in the short, medium and long term that will allow timely
determination of deviations, anticipate borrowing requirements and identify refinancing
opportunities;
▪ diversification of sources of financing and of counterparties;
▪ dispersal of the maturities of issued debt, with a view to avoiding excessive concentration of
amortisation of debt at certain points in time.
Regular monitoring by the Board allows effective implementation of a policy of aggregation of risks
at Company level and also fast, direct, centralised intervention.
On October 15, 2004, a financial committee known as ALCO (Asset-Liability Committee) was
approved at a meeting of the Company's Board of Directors.
The aim of the Asset-Liability Committee is to advise the Board of Directors on the Company's
financial management, defining and controlling application of the policy dealing with the financing
of the business and its growth, including balance-sheet and equity planning. The Company is
exposed to a diverse number of financial risks related with its operations, of which attention is
drawn to the interest-rate risk, the exchange-rate risk, the liquidity risk and the credit risk. The
Management Planning and Control area is responsible for providing the elements required to
assess these risks, and this is done on a weekly basis in some cases (liquidity risk and credit risk)
and on a monthly basis in others (interest-rate risk and exchange-rate risk).
42. Information required by legislation
No further information is required by law.

43. Litigation and contingencies
At of the date of the statement of financial position there are no disputes and contingencies other
than those reported.

44. Subsequent Events
As of the date on which the financial statements are authorised for issue by the Board of Directors,
May 16, , 2016, no subsequent events are known that impact on the financial statements of
December 31, 2015.
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Banco Inversis
As mentioned in Notes 6, 7 and 12, the completion of the purchase of 49.9999999936% of Banco
Inversis by SCOA was still pending as at December 31, 2015. The date for the signature of the
purchase deed initially agreed between the parties was December 15, 2015, a date on which SCOA
attended but BM failed to attend, which was recorded in a notarised affidavit, Banca March having
been notified of this fact. After the failure by Banca March to attend on December 15, 2015, and as
provided for in the contractual conditions, the signature of the purchase deed was reschedules for
January 8, 2016, and it was duly signed on that date in keeping with the normal conditions agreed
between the parties and under the same conditions as would have occurred had the transaction
taken place on December 15, 2015, the therefore conditions of acquisition are identical to those
that would have resulted from the acquisition on the latter date.

Orey Financial IFIC & DomusVenda Agreement
On February 12, 2016, SociedaComercial Orey Antunes, SA ("SCOA") concluded a number of
agreements forming part of a transaction that includes the transfer of the shares in of Orey
Financial – Instituição Financeira de Crédito, SA ("Orey Financial") and the assignment of credits:
 Agreement for the purchase and sale of all the Shares in Orey Financial whereby SCOA
agrees to sell all of the shares in Orey Financial for the price of €6,100,000 or €5,600,000,
after a number of conditions precedent have been fulfilled. These conditions precedent
include (1) the split of Orey Financial, spinning off to a new company ("Newco") that will
act as a Financial Brokerage Company, and (2) obtaining the approvals and decisions of
non-opposition by the regulatory and supervisory authorities required for the completion
of the transaction;
 Agreement for the Assignment of Credits whereby Orey Financial acquires two portfolios of
credits, one in respect of what were originally mortgage credits in a post-foreclosure
scenario and a series of credits designated as consumer credits.
This day, Orey Financial has paid €4,100,000 for the Assignment of Credits and the SCOA
€4,100,000 by way of advance payment in respect of the Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of
the Shares in Orey Financial. The remainder of the agreed price will be paid after the conditions
precedent have been fulfilled, this amount to be €2,000,000 should the conditions precedent be
fulfilled by April 20, 2016, and €1,500,000 if the conditions precedent are fulfilled between May 1,
2016, and the long-stop date (July 15, 2016, or October 15, 2016, if the latter comes to be agreed
between the parties).
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The shares in Orey Financial that SCOA undertakes to deliver are in respect of a company that will
have the following characteristics: (i) it will be authorised to act as financial credit company ; (ii) it
will not have its present establishment, which will have been transferred to NewCo, which, at the
time of conveyance of the establishment, will be duly authorised to operate as financial brokerage
company; and (iii) it will have equity in the amount of €7,500,000, and its balance sheet will
comprise the portfolio of credits that will have been assigned to it under the Agreement for the
Assignment of Credits, in the situation and with the value that this portfolio has at the time of
delivery of the Shares, and cash in the sum of €1,500,000.
Therefore, in this context, the current business of Orey Financial will come to be carried on by a
financial brokerage company. This agreement is a further step in the implementation of the
strategic plan of the Orey Group, which provides that part of Orey Financial’s operations will be
supported by the technological platform of Banco Inversis. This will allow greater synergies to be
generated by the recent acquisition by the Orey Group of the 49.99% holding in Banco Inversis.

Bond loan issue

On March 31 an unsecured bond loan was issued by private offering, in the amount of
€2,100,000.00 (two million one hundred thousand euros) maturing in March 2017.
The purpose of the issue is the investment by SCOA of the funds obtained in amortising the
debt of the companies of the Orey Group.
The conditions of the bond loan are as follows:




The issuer is Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, and the paying agent is Montepio;
Amount issued €2,100,000, maturing on 30/03/2017;
Interest paid at maturity (zero-coupon issue) at the rate of 6.5%.
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19. Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(expressed in euros)
Dec-15
ASSETS

NOTES
GROSS
ASSETS

Cash & balances at central banks
Balances at other credit institutions
Financial assets held for trading
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Placements with credit institutions
Loans & advances to customers
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Investment properties
Other tangible assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Expenses tpending recognition and debtor accruals
Other assets
Sub-total of Assets
Available-for-sale and discontinued assets
Total Assets

8 & 24
8 & 24
9 & 24
10 & 24
11 & 24
12 & 24
13 & 24
14 & 24
15 & 24
16
17
18
19
20
21
21
22
23 & 24

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Financial liabilities held for trading
Amounts owed to other credit institutions

Dec-14

NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS

9,133
28,544,299
83,646
13,992,992
11,720,697
56,138
59,747
1,248,307
760,745
3,470,000
4,431,725
162,849
8,745,765
9,355,911
10,448
24,426,409
3,424,249
110,503,058
48,721,574
159,224,633

10,419
8,146,495
85,216
478,580
15,594,390
323,978
725
1,312,344
1,764,187
5,259,300
10,428,461
68,417
8,745,765
8,939,075
82,577
8,877
22,063,287
2,822,130
86,134,223
52,185,213
138,319,436

NOTES
26 & 24
27 & 24

Dec-15
5,648
29,430,195

Dec-14
8,034
15,718,512

Debt securities

28 & 24

58,936,702

49,793,452

Loans to associates and affiliates

29 & 24

728,500

25

Provisions

30

Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

9,133
28,544,299
83,646
13,992,992
11,720,697
56,138
59,747
1,248,307
760,745
3,470,000
6,585,380
1,911,380
10,733,880
9,633,125
10,448
24,426,409
3,674,732
116,921,056
48,721,574
165,642,630

DEPRECIAT.
&
IMPAIRMENT
2,153,655
1,748,531
1,988,115
277,214
250,483
6,417,998
6,417,998

-

2,716,949

2,590,112

21

21,939

190,255

21

647,221

702,651

31
32 & 24

1,823,217
9,013,691
103,324,063

1,256,661
8,167,746
78,427,422

25

33,050,469
136,374,531

36,530,859
114,958,281

Share capital

33

12,000,000

12,000,000

Issue premiums

34

6,486,204

6,486,204

Treasury shares

35

(324,132)

Revaluation reserves

36

639,903

750,207

Other reserves and retained earnings

36

1,347,832

3,140,393

3,048,793

1,523,590

Creditor accruals and income pending recognition
Other liabilities
Sub-total of Liabilities
Available-for-sale and discontinued non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities

Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests

37

(348,499)
22,850,102
159,224,633

Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS
Off-balance sheet

NOTES
38

Dec-15
257,343,628

(324,132)

(215,106)
23,361,155
138,319,436
Dec-14
295,036,014
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The notes between pages 191 and 286 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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Consolidated Statement of Income by Nature of Expense
(expressed in euros)
Statement of Income

NOTES

Interest & similar income
Interest & similar costs

Dec-15

Dec-14

39
39

374,498
(7,736,864)
(7,362,367)

577,847
(8,050,359)
(7,472,512)

Services and commissions income
Services and commissions costs
Net Commissions

40
40

5,416,703
(240,678)
5,176,025

5,853,160
(642,316)
5,210,844

Financial instruments income
Results of the sale of other financial assets
Currency revaluation results
Other operating income
Product of the business

41
41
41
42

13,730,100
907,501
(6,582,854)
10,857,712
16,726,118

763,305
204,822
12,904
13,357,878
12,077,241

Staff costs
General administrative costs
Depreciation/amortisation charges for the period
Overheads
Provisions net of items written back and written off
Impairment of other assets net of reversals and recoveries
Results of associates and joint ventures
Net income before tax and non-controlling interests

43
44

(6,600,476)
(5,343,097)
(259,391)
(12,202,964)
(122,618)
(673,877)
746,041
4,472,700

(6,174,507)
(5,017,208)
(323,782)
(11,515,498)
(128,554)
(142,318)
(944,475)
(653,604)

Deferred taxes
Corporation tax

21
21

56,091
(770,916)
3,757,875

(142,290)
(1,336,640)
(2,132,534)

25
37

(842,474)
(133,392)
3,048,793
0.257
0.257

3,525,586
(130,538)
1,523,590
0.129
0.129

Strict Net Interest Income

30
45
20

Consolidated Net Income
Result of discontinuing operations
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Consolidated net income of the Orey Group
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

46
46

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The notes between pages 191 and 286 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(expressed in euros)
Consolidated Comprehensive Income Statement

Notes

Dec-15

Consolidated Net Income

Dec-14

3,048,793

Variation of currency translation reserves

36

(3,384,213)

(954,953)

(68,042)

(25,489)

(41,600)

50,794

-

34,383

67,864

(290,479)

(377,198)

337,847

(377,198)

337,847

Revaluation of financial investments
Revaluation of tangible assets

17

Equity method
Other

1,523,590

36

Comprehensive Income
Attributable to:
Shareholders

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Consolidated net income corresponds to items directly affecting the net income for the period,
the other items are changes to equity items that do not directly affect net income for the
period. The notes between pages 191 and 286 form an integral part of these Financial
Statements.
The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors

Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity
(expressed in euros)
Issued share
capital
Balance as at 01 January 2014

12,000,000

Issue
premiums

6,486,204

Treasury
shares – par
value
(145,385)

Treasury
shares –
discounts &
premiums
(178,747)

Revaluation
reserve

692,181

Legal reserve

2,702,931

Currency
translation
reserve
(2,629,965)

Other reserves

544,283

Retained
earnings

Net income

4,128,965

Income for the period

3,078,876

59,689

(954,953)

Total

26,579,054

1,523,590

(290,479)

(1,185,743)

Allocation of capital NCI

15,721

Allocation of profits NCI

(130,538)

Dividends

(3,437,838)

Transfer of the 2013 Net Income

3,078,876

Deferred tax adjustments

15,721
(130,538)
(3,437,838)

(3,078,876)

-

(1,664)

(1,664)

Constitution of reserves

369,568

(369,568)

Other

(3,055)
12,000,000

6,486,204

(145,385)

(178,747)

750,207

3,072,499

(3,584,918)

541,228

-

1,629
3,111,584

Income for the period

(1,426)
1,523,590

(215,106)

3,048,793

Other comprehensive income

(109,642)

(3,384,213)

Constitution of legal reserve

203,456

(3,425,991)

(203,456)

(133,392)

Transfer of the 2014 net income

1,523,590

Deferred tax adjustments

(662)
(49)
6,486,204

(145,385)

(178,747)

639,903

(133,392)

(1,523,590)

-

248

Other
12,000,000

23,361,155

3,048,793

67,864

Allocation of the NCI net income

Balance as at 31 December 2015

(100,289)

1,523,590

Other comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 December 2014

Noncontrolling
interests

3,275,955

(6,969,131)

541,179

(413)

(0)
4,499,830

(50)
3,048,793

(348,499)

22,850,102

The notes between pages 191 and 286 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(expressed in euros)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Direct Method)

Notes

Dec-15

Dec-14

OPERATING ACTIVITY
Cash receipts from customers

7,909,941

11,803,170

Cash paid to suppliers

(2,978,417)

(3,578,832)

Cash paid to employees

(4,521,689)

(5,177,935)

Cash generated by operating activities

409,834

Payment of corporation tax
Other relating to operating activity
Cash flow before extraordinary items

3,046,403

(183,967)

(441,836)

(4,702,869)

(5,624,521)

(4,477,002)

Net cash from operating activities [1]

(3,019,954)

(4,477,002)

(3,019,954)

INVESTING ACTIVITY
CASH RECEIVED FROM:
Tangible fixed assets

2,090

Financial investments

(113,958)

334,462

Other financial assets

(520,416)

8,708,280

Investment in Group companies

18,506,461

-

Interest & similar income

309,154

62,757

Dividends

1,077,310

9,107,588

19,258,550

CASH PAID IN RESPECT OF:
Tangible fixed assets

(243,672)

Intangible assets

(4,465)

Financial investments

(2,287,593)

(420,261)

-

(4,490,758)

Cash flows from investing activities (2)

(16,885,264)

4,616,830

2,373,286

FINANCING ACTIVITY
CASH RECEIVED FROM:
Loans

29,699,560

Sale of treasury shares

-

Equity capital increases, supplementary capital contributions & issue premiums

-

10,739,048
-

29,699,560

10,739,048

Loans

(3,231,546)

(5,756,831)

Amortisation of finance lease contracts

(3,616,212)

(31,130)

Interest & similar costs

(2,606,753)

(1,466,996)

CASH PAID IN RESPECT OF:

Dividends

-

(3,429,059)

(9,454,510)

Cash flows from financing activities (3)

Changes of cash & cash equivalents (1+2+3)
Effect of currency translation differences
Cash & cash equivalents at the start of the period
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period

7|8|9|24

(10,684,015)

20,245,050

55,032

20,384,878
70,663

(591,636)

8,157,639
28,613,179

8,749,275
8,157,639

The notes between pages 191 and 286 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The Certified Accountant

The Board of Directors
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20. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the period ended December 31, 2015
(All amounts are in euros, save where expressly indicated)

1. Introduction
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, ("Group" or "SCOA") was incorporated by Rui d'Orey under
the name Rui d'Orey & Cia. Its corporate object is commission and consignment trading and any
other branch of trade or industry that, by deliberation of the Board of Directors, it may decide to
undertake, provided it is not forbidden by law. SCOA has securities admitted to trading on Euronext
Lisbon.
SCOA is a company incorporated under Portuguese law, having its registered office at Rua Carlos
Alberto da Mota Pinto, 17, 6º A. Ed. Amoreiras Square, Lisbon, Portugal
In 2009 SCOA began a process of strategic repositioning and is currently focused on the financial
sector. Traditionally a Business Group centred on the areas of Shipping, Transport & Logistics and
Naval and Industrial agency business, it now stands in the market as an investment holding
company.
The Group's businesses have been transferred to a private equity fund managed by the Group's
financial area. The management of the investment is undertaken under a family-office

reasoning based on strategic, dynamic allocation of the various classes of assets that make up
the Group's investment portfolio.
The Group's business areas are divided into five categories:
(i) Private Equity - Concerning the Group's shipping and technical areas.
a. Shipping: Regular lines, Forwarding, Agency Business, Logistics and
Customs.
b. Naval Techniques: Naval Safety, Aviation Safety, Fire Fighting and
Procurement.
c. Industrial Techniques; Petrochemicals, water and sanitation,
monitoring and control and assistance services.
(ii) Strategic Assets - Concerning the Group's financial companies
a. Online Brokerage
b. Investment Consultancy and Discretionary Management
c. Mutual Fund Management
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d. Real-Estate Fund Management
e. Private Equity Fund Management
f. Extending Credit
(iii) Alternative Investments - Concerning the investment funds
(iv) Real Estate - Concerning property management
(v) Holding Company
The parent company of the Company is Orey Inversiones Financeiras, SLU (“Orey Inversiones”).
Orey Inversiones is a company incorporated under Spanish law having its registered office at Calle
de Goya, 15-1ª Planta, Madrid, Spain.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on May 16, 2016.
Under Article 68 of the Companies Code, the General Meeting may reject the proposal by the
members of the Baird of Directors in respect of the approval of the accounts, provided a reasoned
resolution is adopted to the affect that new accounts be drawn up in full or that specific points of
the accounts presented are amended.

2. Alteration of the structure of the presentation of accounts
Following the General Meeting held on June 1, 2009, at which the transfer of the non-financial
businesses of the Group to a Private Equity Fund was approved, 2011 marks the beginning of the
implementation of the restructuring of the Group's financial holdings that has reflected this
position of the Group as an investment holding company.
In the first half of 2012 the non-financial sub-holding companies were transferred to the Private
Equity Fund and were recorded in the financial position as financial investments, due to the sale of
shares in the entities engaged in these activities, and also to the formalisation of shareholders'
agreements.
These shareholders' agreement came about in the wake of the Orey transformation process, which
was reflected in the implementation of a joint-control model, replacing the individual control that
the Group had employed till then.
Following the conclusion the changes by the end of 2012, it was decided in 2013 to alter the model
of presentation of the accounts, when it came to use the model employed by financial institutions,
in both its separate accounts and its consolidated accounts.
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This change took place as a result of the consolidated accounts reflecting the majority of the
records of financial companies in Portugal and abroad, or other companies doing business that falls
within this presentation.
This reflects the beginning of a new cycle for Orey and is in keeping with the decisions taken at the
said General Meeting of June 1, 2009.

3. Adoption of new or revised International Financial Reporting Standards
The Group's financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS - formerly referred to as International
Accounting Standards - IAS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or
the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), on the date of preparation of the said
financial statements.
The attached financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis from the Group's
books and accounting records, based on the historic cost, except for land and buildings measured
at revalued value, investment properties, derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale noncurrent assets and available-for-sale financial assets, measured at fair value.
In preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the Group adopted certain estimates
and assumptions that affect reported assets and liabilities and income and expenses for the periods
reported.
All amounts shown in the Notes for which no other currency is indicated are in euros.
The Group has not adopted in advance any other standard, interpretation or alteration issued but
not yet effective, nor does it expect them to have a significant effect on the financial statements.
Up to the date of approval of these financial statements the European Union had approved the
following accounting standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions.
Of the said standards (standards that have not been adopted, application of which is mandatory
only in future periods) none have been applied in advance and they are not expected to generate
relevant impacts on the Company's financial statements.
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New standards and interpretations
As a result of the endorsement by the European Union (EU), there were the following issues,
revisions, alterations and improvements to the standards and interpretations:
g) Standards and interpretations that became effective in 2015
IFRIC 21 - Levies

IFRIC 21 is an interpretation of IAS 37, essentially on the recognition of liabilities, clarifying that
a past event that results in an obligation to pay a levy or tax (other than corporation tax (IRC)
corresponds to what is required/ regulated in the relevant legislation that obliges the
payment.
h) Amendments of standards that became effective in 2015
IFRS 1 (Amended) – First-time adoption of the IFRS

The improvement to IFRS 1 clarifies that a first-time adopter may use either the previous
version or the new version of a standard that, although yet being not necessarily applicable, is
available for early adoption.
IFRS 3 (Amended) - Business Combinations

The improvement to IFRS 3 clarifies that this standard does not apply to the initial accounting
for a joint arrangement established within the scope of IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements, in the
Financial Statements of the Joint Arrangement itself.
IFRS 13 (Amended)– Fair value: measurement and disclosure

The improvement clarifies that the exception to the fair value measurement of a portfolio on a
net basis is applicable to all types of contracts (including non-financial contracts) under IAS 39
– recognition and measurement.
IAS 40 (Amended) - Investment property

This improvement clarifies that IFRS 3 – Business Combinations must be used when an
investment property is acquired, to determine whether the acquisition is or not a business
combination.
i) Annual cycle of improvements 2010-2012
IFRS 2 – Share-based payments

The improvement to IFRS 2 amends the definition vesting conditions, and to provide for only
two types of vesting conditions: "service conditions" and "performance conditions”. The new
definition of “performance conditions" provides that only conditions related with the entity
are considered.
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IFRS 3 – Business combinations

The improvement to IFRS 3 clarifies that a liability for contingent consideration is classified in
accordance with IAS 32 – Financial instruments: presentation as a liability or as an equity
instrument should it meet the definition of a financial instrument. Contingent consideration
classified as liabilities is initially and subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.
IFRS 8 – Operating segments

This improvement alters IFRS 8, which now requires disclosure of judgements made by
management for the aggregation of operating segments, and also requires reconciliation
between assets by segment and the total assets of the entity, where this information is
reported.
IFRS 13 – Fair value: measurement and disclosure

The improvement to IFRS 13 clarifies that the standard does not eliminate the possibility of
measurement of current receivables and payables based on invoiced amounts, when the effect
of discounting is not material.
IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 – Intangible assets

The improvement to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarifies the accounting treatment of gross accounting
amounts and accumulated depreciation/ amortisation, where the entity adopts the
revaluation method in the subsequent measurement of tangible fixed assets and/or intangible
assets, using two recording methods. This clarification is significant when both the useful lives
and the methods of depreciation/ amortization are re-estimated during the revaluation period.
IAS 24 – Related party disclosures

The improvement to IAS 24 alters the definition of related party, and all entities that provide
management services to the reporting entity or its parent entity of the reporting entity come
to be part of this concept .
j) Changes to standards endorsed by the EU that have not yet become effective
IAS 19 – Employee benefits – Employee contributions

This amendment to IAS 19 refers to accounting for contributions of employees and third
parties for defined-benefit plans assigned to employees, and is intended to simplify the
accounting of these contributions, in cases that are independent of the employees' years of
service (dependency on other factors).
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IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation

This amendment clarifies that a revenue-based method of calculation of depreciation/
amortisation is not, as a rule, considered to be appropriate for the measurements of the
pattern of consumption of the economic benefits associated with the asset.
IFRS 11 – Account of the of an interest in a joint operation

This amendment introduces guidance on the accounting for the effect on acquisition of the
interest in a joint operation that qualifies as a business, the principles of IFRS 3 – Business
combinations to apply.
IAS 1 – Revision of disclosure initiatives

This amendment to IAS 1 is the result of a project to review disclosures of the IFRS and refers
to materiality and aggregation and to presentation of subtotals in IFRS financial statements.
IAS 27 – Equity method in separate financial statements

This amendment allows an entity to apply the equity method in the measurement of
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, in its separate financial statements.
This amendment is of prospective application.
IAS 16 and IAS 41 – Agriculture: plants that produce consumable biological assets

This amendment defines the concept of a plant that produces consumable biological assets,
and removes this type of assets from the scope of IAS 41 – Agriculture to the scope of IAS 16 –
Property, Plant and Equipment, with the consequent impact on the measurement. However,
biological assets produced by these plants remain within the scope of IAS 41 – Agriculture.
k) Annual cycle of improvements 2012-2014
IFRS 5 – Available-for-sale non-current assets and discontinued operating units

The improvement to IFRS 5 clarifies that when an asset (or disposal group) is reclassified from
available-for-sale” to “held for distribution to owners” or vice versa, it does not constitute a
change of the plan to sell or distribute.
IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: disclosures

The improvement to IFRS 7 includes additional information about the meaning of continued
involvement in the transfer (derecognition) of financial assets for the purposes of disclosure.
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IAS 19 – Employee benefits

The improvement clarifies that in determining the discount rate of liabilities for definedbenefit post-employment plans, it has to correspond to high-quality bonds of the currency in
which the liabilities are calculated.
IAS 34 – Interim financial report

This improvement clarifies the meaning of “information disclosed in another area of the
interim financial statements”, and requires the inclusion of cross-references for that
information.
l) Changes to standards not yet endorsed by the EU
IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 28 – Investment Entities: Applying the consolidation exception

This amendment clarifies that the consolidation exemption applies to an intermediate parent
undertaking that is a subsidiary of an investment entity. Additionally, it clarifies that the option
of applying the equity method is extensible to an entity that is not an investment entity but
has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity.
g) New standards not yet endorsed by the EU
IFRS 9 – Financial instruments
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 – financial instruments: recognition and measurement, as regards:
(i)

the classification and measurement of financial assets, introducing a simplification of the
classification based on the business model defined by management;

(ii)

recognition of the component of own credit risk of voluntary measurement of liabilities
at fair value;

(iii)

recognition of impairment on receivables, based on the model of estimated losses in
model rather than on the replacement of losses incurred model; and

(iv)

hedge accounting rules, intended to be more aligned with the economic rationale of riskhedging with the accounting treatment.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers
This new standard applies only to contracts for the delivery of goods or provision of services, and
requires the entity to recognise revenue when the contractual obligation to deliver assets or
provide services is satisfied and for the amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity is
entitled, as provided for in the 5-step method.
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4. Accounting Policies
4.1 Comparative information and changes
Of the said standards (standards that have not been adopted, application of which is
mandatory only in future periods) none have been applied in advance and they are not
expected to generate relevant impacts on the Company's financial statements.

4.2 Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements obliges the Board to make judgements and estimates
that affect the figures reported for income, costs, assets, liabilities and disclosures.
Nevertheless, the uncertainty surrounding such estimates and judgements may lead to future
adjustments that might affect future assets and liabilities. These estimates were determined on the
basis of the best available information at the time of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.
This information is based on historic events, accumulated experience and expectations about
future events. Nevertheless, events may occur in subsequent periods that, by virtue of their timing,
have not been included in these estimates.
Estimates and judgements that involve a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amount reflected in financial statements, include:

4.2.1 Useful life of tangible and intangible assets
The useful life of an asset is the period over which an entity expects that the asset is available for
use and must be reviewed at least at the end of each financial year.
The amortisation/ depreciation method to be applied and the estimated losses resulting from the
replacement of assets before the end of their useful life, due to technological obsolescence, is
essential to determine the actual useful effective life of an asset.
These parameters are defined in keeping with management's best estimate, for the assets and
businesses concerned, also considering the practices adopted by companies of the sector.

4.2.2 Impairment
Determination of impairment losses, if there any signs thereof, may be influenced by several
factors, be they the future availability of financing, cost of capital, the regulatory structure of the
market or other changes. The indicators in the determination of impairment involve of expected
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cash flows, discount rates applicable, useful lives and residual values, which the Board takes into
account in taking decisions.

4.2.3 Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all recoverable losses to the extent that it is probable that
there will be taxable profits against which the losses can be used, or where there are deferred tax
liabilities whose reversal is expected during the period in which the deferred taxes assets are
reversed.
Taking into account the context of crisis and the impact it may have on future results, judgement is
required of the Board of Directors to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, taking into account the probable date and amount of future taxable profits.

4.2.4 Fair value of the financial instruments
When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the financial reporting date is not
determinable on the basis of active markets, it is determined based on valuation techniques that
include the discounted cash-flow or other models appropriate in the circumstances. The data for
these models are taken, whenever possible, from observable market variables, but where this is
not possible, a certain degree of judgement is required to determine the fair value, which includes
considerations as to the liquidity risk, the credit risk and volatility.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is their market value, where available, or is
determined on the basis of valuation techniques, including discounted cash-flow models and
options valuation models, as appropriate.

4.2.5 Revaluation of tangible fixed assets
Land and buildings are measured using the revaluation method, the fair value being determined
whenever the carrying amount differs materially from fair value, through a valuation performed by
independent qualified professional valuers, as referred to in Note 4.4.10.
The assumptions used in each valuation reflect management's best estimate for those assets.

4.2.6 Fair value of Investment Properties
Investment property is measured at fair value.
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The Group decided to adopt the fair value model using the valuations of qualified, independent
professionals, as described in Note 4.4.9, the assumptions considered in each valuation correspond
to Management's best estimate for such assets.

4.2.7 Recognition of services rendered and inherent costs
The Company recognises revenue and respective costs at the time that they become effective, that
is, the moment when the service is provided of the cost incurred.
Use of this method requires that the Company estimate the revenue of the services to be rendered
in respect of the actual costs already booked and the costs to be recognised in services already
rendered and fully recognised as revenue for the year.

4.2.8 Provisions for taxes
Taking into account the liabilities recognised, the Company believes that any revision of these tax
returns will not result in material corrections to the financial statements requiring the
establishment of any provision for taxes, other than those already recognised.

4.2.9 Provisions
Recognition of provisions is entails determining the likelihood of future outflows and their reliable
measurement. These factors are often dependent on future events not always under the control of
the Group that may lead to significant future adjustments due both to changes in the assumptions
made, and to future recognition of provisions previously disclosed as contingent liabilities.

4.2.10 Actuarial assumptions
The determination of liabilities for retirement pensions requires the use of assumptions and
estimates of a demographic and financial nature which may significantly affect the amount of
liabilities determined at each reporting date. The more sensitive variables refer to the updating
rate of the liabilities, the rate of return on assets and the mortality tables.

4.2.11 Estimated margin on available-for-sale assets and liabilities
IFRS 5 - Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations applies to assets and disposal
groups, by sale or otherwise, aggregated in a single transaction, as well as all liabilities directly
associated with those assets that come to be transferred in the transaction ("asset and liability
disposal groups").
Non-current assets or asset and liability disposal groups are classified as available-for-dale when it
is expected that they carrying amount will be recovered through sale rather than continued use.
For an asset (or group of assets and liabilities) to be classified under this heading compliance with
the following requirements is necessary:
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 The sale is highly probable;
 The asset is available for immediate sale in its current state;
 There must be an expectation that the sale take place within a year of the classification of
the asset under this heading.

Assets under this heading are not depreciated and are valued at the lower of cost and fair value,
less costs to sell. The fair value of these assets is determined based on expert evaluations.
Should the carrying amount exceed the fair value, less costs to sell, impairment losses are recorded
under "Impairment of other assets net of reversals and recoveries".

4.3Consolidation principles
The consolidation methods adopted by the Group are as follows:

4.3.1 Financial holdings in Group companies
Financial holdings in companies to which the Group is exposed, or has rights to the variable returns
generated as a result of its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect these variables
returns through the power that is exerts over the relevant activities of the entity.
The entity presents consolidated accounts of the Group comprising it and all subsidiaries in which:
 Regardless of the ownership of capital, it is found that, alternatively:
 It can exercise, or actually exercises, dominant influence or control;
 It exercises management as if the two constituted a single entity;
 If it owns share capital:
o

It has the majority if the voting rights, unless it is shown that these rights do
not confer control;

o

It has the right to appoint or remove a majority of the members of the
governing body of an entity with the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity;

o

Exercises dominant influence over an entity, by virtue of a contract concluded
with it or of another clause of its articles of association;

o

Holds at least 20% of the voting rights and a majority of the members of the
governing body of an entity with the power to manage the financial and operating
policies of an entity that have been in office during the financial year to which the
consolidated financial statements relate, and that, in the preceding financial year
and until such time as they are drawn up, have been exclusively appointed as a
result of the exercise of their voting rights;
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o

It has, alone or by virtue of an agreement with other shareholders of that
entity, the majority of the voting rights of the holders of its share capital.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether or not there is control.
Subsidiaries are consolidated using the full consolidation method from the date of acquisition,
which is the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that control ceases.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared on the same reporting date as that of the
parent company, using consistent accounting policies.
All balances and gains and losses not yet realised resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full.
Non-controlling interests are presented separately. Transactions with non-controlling interests
arising on acquisition or loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, that is,
transactions between shareholders in that capacity. The difference between the fair value of the
amount paid and the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in Equity. Gains
or losses on disposals in favour of non-controlling interests are also recorded in Equity.
The purchase method is used in the accounting of acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets delivered, of equity instruments issued and of
the liabilities incurred or assumed as of the date of acquisition, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, as set out in IFRS 3 - Business combinations . Costs related with o the acquisition
are recognised as expenses for the year they are incurred.

The excess of the acquisition cost over the Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable
net assets and contingent liabilities acquired is recognised as Goodwill. If the acquisition cost is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired the difference is recognized
directly in the income statement for the year in which it is determined, after reassessing the
process of identification and measurement of the fair value of the net assets and contingent
liabilities.
In the consolidation process, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on intra-group
transactions and dividends distributed among Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the assets
transferred and not yet sold.
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The accounting policies used by subsidiaries in preparing their separate financial statements have
been altered, where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
The provisions of IAS 12 - Income Taxes were applied to temporary differences that arose from the
elimination of the results of intra-group transactions.
The equity and net income of the subsidiaries owned by third parties foreign to the Group are
presented under Non-controlling interests in the statement of financial position (separately, under
equity) and in the Consolidated statement of income, respectively. On the date of each
concentration of corporate activities, the amounts attributable to non-controlling interests are
determined by applying the percentage of the interest held by them to the fair value of the
identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities acquired.

4.3.2 Financial investments in Associates / Joint Ventures
Investments in associates, defined as such entities over which the Company exercises significant
influence and are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures, are valued in accordance with the equity
method. Joint ventures are also measured in the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method.
Associates are entities over which the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, or
over which the Group has significant influence, but cannot exercise its control.
The classification of financial investments in joint ventures is determined on the basis of
shareholder agreements governing the joint arrangement and require unanimous decisions.
The equity method was used as from the date on which each of the subsidiaries fell within the
aforesaid categories of associates or joint ventures.
On the date of acquisition of the investment, the difference between the cost of investment and
the Group's share of the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired was
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combinations. Therefore:
 The related Goodwill, less accumulated impairment losses, was included in the carrying

amount of the investment. However, amortisation of that Goodwill is not permitted and
is therefore not included in determining the results of subsidiaries;
 The excess of the Group's share in the fair value of the assets, liabilities and identifiable
contingent liabilities of the subsidiaries over the cost of the investment was excluded from
the carrying amount of the investment and was included as income in the results of the
period in which the investment was acquired.
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Transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions with Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, but are considered an impairment indicator for the asset
transferred.
Subsequent to the acquisition date the carrying amount of investments in associates and joint
ventures:
 Was increased or reduced to recognise the share of the subsidiaries' results after the date of
acquisition;
 Was decreased by dividend distributions received;
 Was increased or reduced to reflect, against equity, changes in the Group's proportionate
interest in the subsidiaries arising from changes in their equity not recognised in the
respective profit or loss. Such changes include, among other situations, those resulting from
the revaluation of Tangible Fixed Assets and from currency translation differences.

In measuring these investments the following provisions relating to the application of this method
were also respected:
 The financial statements of the subsidiaries had already been prepared, or were adjusted
extra-accounting, to reflect the same accounting policies as those of the Group before they
can be used to determine the effects of the equity method;
 The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in determining the effects of the equity
method are referred to the same date as those of the Group or, if different, do not differ
more than three months in relation to those of the Group;
 The results of 'ascending' and 'descending' between an investor (including its consolidated
subsidiaries) and an associate/ joint venture are recognised in the investor's financial
statements only to the extent that they correspond to the interests of other investors in the
associate not related to the investor;
 Where the value of the investment is reduced to zero, additional losses are taken into
account by recognition of a liability in the event that the company incurs legal or
constructive obligations. If, later, the subsidiaries report profits, the Group again recognises
them only after its share of the profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of
unrecognised losses.

The Group assesses on each reporting date any indicators of impairment relating to its investments
in associates, in order to determine whether these investments are impaired on these dates.
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Impairment losses are calculated as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate/ joint venture and its carrying amount when the recoverable amount is less than the
carrying amount.

4.3.3 Translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currency
If the company is foreign the assets and liabilities of the financial statements are translated into the
Group's reporting currency, the euro, using the exchange rates ruling at the date of the statement
of financial position. The costs and income as well as the cash flows are translated into euros using
the exchange rate ruling on the transaction date. Exchange differences arising on translation are
recorded as a currency-translation reserve, and the differences up to January 1, 2004, the date of
transition to IFRS, are written off against Retained earnings.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of foreign companies, which
are considered assets and liabilities of the acquired entity, are translated into euros using the
exchange rate ruling at the year-end.
On disposal of a foreign company, the amount of the accumulated exchange difference is
recognised as gain or loss in the income statement if there is loss of control or to non-controlling
interests if such loss of control does not occur.
The rates used in translating local currency to euros were as follows:

Currency

Brazilian Real
American Dollar
Angolan Kwanza
Mozambican Metical

Dec-15
Average for
the period

End of period

0.23480
0.91491
0.00665
0.02040

Dec-14
Average for the
period

End of period

0.27128
0.89900
0.00727
0.02311

0.30870
0.82271
0.00757
0.02495

0.32119
0.75448
0.00740
0.02439

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

4.4 Recognition and measurement criteria
4.4.1 Accrual accounting
The Group employs the accrual accounting principle with regard to the items of the financial
statements as a whole, particularly with regard to interest on loan and deposit transactions, which
are recorded as and when generated regardless of when paid or received.
Therefore:
▪ Income generated by the provision of services is recognised in the income statement with
reference to the stage of completion of the provision of services as at the reporting date;
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▪ Interest and financial income are recognised in accordance with accrual accounting
principles and in accordance with the effective interest rate applicable;
▪ Costs and income are recorded during the period to which they refer, regardless of when
paid or received;
Therefore, as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:
▪ Deferred assets, more specifically insurance and rents, are recognised in accordance with
accrual accounting principles, and costs imputable to the current period but whose
outgoings will occur only in future periods are recorded.
▪ The deferred liabilities include amounts inherent in rents to be recognised in future periods.

For financial instruments measured at amortised cost and financial instruments classified as
Financial assets held to maturity, interest is recognised using the effective interest method,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the set of future cash receipts or payments until
maturity or until the next repricing date, for the net amount of the financial asset or liability
currently recorded. When the effective interest rate is calculated an estimate is made of the
future cash flows considering all contractual terms and all other income or charges directly
attributable to the contracts. Dividends are recorded as income when received or made available
to the beneficiaries.

4.4.2 Cash and balances at central banks and Balances at other credit
institutions
The amounts included under Cash and balances at central banks and Balances with other credit
institutions correspond to cash and other deposits with maturities up to three months, which may
be mobilised immediately with insignificant risk of change of value.
These balances are measured as follows:
 Cash – at cost;
 Deposits with no defined maturity – at cost;
 Other deposits with defined maturity – at cost;
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, Cash & equivalents also includes, in addition to
cash and bank deposits, bank overdrafts included under Borrowings.

4.4.3 Financial assets held for trading
This category includes financial assets held for trading, acquired primarily for the purpose of being
realised within 12 months of the reporting date.
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These investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

4.4.4 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Results of financial assets & liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include:





Equity instruments quoted publicly;
The non-effective part of hedging derivatives;
Derivatives other than hedging derivatives;
Other assets held for trading;

and they are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the
period. Acquisitions and disposals of other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised on the trade date, that is, on the date on which the Group undertakes to acquire or sell
the asset.
A regular way transaction is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the market in question. A regular way transaction gives rise to a fixed price commitment between
trade date and settlement date that meets the definition of a derivative. However, due to the
short duration of the commitment it is not recognised as a derivative financial instrument. A
regular way transaction related to financial assets is recognised using trade-date accounting.
Impairment of these assets was s determined on the basis of the criteria described in Note 4.2.2.
To control the risks of its business, including the interest-rate and the exchange-rate risk, the Group
chose to invest in derivatives. These financial instruments are not classifiable in terms of hedge
accounting, either because they were not formally designated for that purpose or because they are
not efficient in hedging terms in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39.
Therefore, derivatives are initially recorded at fair value, and are subsequently measured at fair
value, changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss for the period
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is their market value, where available, or is
determined on the basis of valuation techniques, including discounted cash-flow models and
options valuation models, as appropriate.
Indices, calculation conventions and interest-rate and exchange-rate repricing dates match as
closely possible matching the conditions established for the underlying borrowings, forming a
perfect economic hedge relationship.
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4.4.5 Other Financial Assets
This item primarily relates to identifiable non-monetary assets that result solely from contractual
and legal rights of bankrupt estates, which assume no physical substance.
These assets are measured, at the initial moment, at cost and, in this particular case, this cost is the
fair value at the acquisition date and reflects market expectations of the likelihood that the
economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the entity.
After initial recognition, they continue to be measured at amortised cost and are subject o
impairment tests in accordance with valuations performed annually.

4.4.6 Available-for-sale financial assets
This category includes the following financial instruments:
 Floating-rate securities not classified as assets at fair value through profit or loss, including
equity instruments held on a stable basis;
 Bonds and other fixed-income securities;
 Investment fund units.
The investments are initially measured at their acquisition cost, including transaction expenses.
After initial recognition, investments measured at fair value through profit or loss and available for
sale investments are revalued at their fair value as marked to market as of the end of the reporting
period (as measured by their listed price or independent valuation), with no deduction in respect of
transaction costs that might be incurred up to their sale.
Investments that are not listed for which their fair value cannot be estimated reliably, are carried at
acquisition cost less any impairment losses.
Recognition of a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset shall be recognised directly in
equity through the statement of changes in equity except for impairment losses and foreignexchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised, when the gain or loss results
will be recognised in profit or loss.
Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the
entity's right to receive payment is established.

4.4.7 Placements with credit institutions
The amounts included under Placements with credit institutions are remunerated term deposits
with a maturity greater than 3 months.
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4.4.8 Loans & advances to clients and receivables from other debtors
These items include loans & advances to clients, as well as third-party debts. They are therefore
recorded at their nominal value, and the corresponding income, including interest and
commissions, are recognised over the life of the transactions in accordance with the amortised cost
method. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account income or charges directly attributable to
the origin of the asset as part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation of these charges or
income is recognised in profit or loss under Interest & Similar Income or Interest & Similar Costs.
Where an impairment loss is identified on loans to clients assessed individually, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the book value and the present value of that loan and
the present value of its estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original interest rate of the
contract. For the purpose of preparing the statement of financial position, loans & advances to
clients and/or other debtors carried in the balance sheet is reduced through the use of an
impairment loss account and the amount is recognised in profit or loss under Loan impairment net
of recoveries and reversals and/or Impairment of other assets net of recoveries and reversals. The

calculation of the present value of estimated future cash flows of loan with real guarantees
reflects the estimated cash flows that may result from foreclosure and sale of the collateral,
less the costs inherent in its recovery and sale.
4.4.9 Investment properties
Investment properties comprise land and buildings held to obtain rents or for capital appreciation.
The Group decided to adopt the fair-value method in the valuation of the Investment Properties. In
accordance with this method:
▪ An investment property is initially measured: (i) at cost, which comprises the purchase price
and any directly attributable expenditure (for example, professional fees for legal services,
property transfer taxes and other transaction costs); (ii) after initial recognition, all
investment property is stated at fair value, and is not depreciated.
Investment properties were subject to valuation by qualified, independent valuers as at December
31, 2015, as was the case of the procedure carried out on December 31, 2015 & 2014.
▪ The valuations were performed at market value, understood to be "presumed value of the
transaction on the open market" ("Open Market Value"), and on discounted cash flow
projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
existing contracts, using discount rates that reflect current market assessments as to
uncertainty in the amount and timeliness of the cash flows.
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It should also be pointed out that in this valuation process no conditioning factors of a commercial
nature or economic obsolescence of the businesses carried on in the properties were taken into
account. This valuation corresponding to the "highest and best use".
Costs incurred with investment property in use, namely maintenance, repairs, insurance and
property taxes (municipal rates) are recognised in the income statement for the year to which they
refer.

4.4.10 Other tangible assets
Under IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment, the tangible assets used by the Group in carrying on
its business are carried at acquisition cost (including costs directly attributable), less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for land and natural resources and buildings and other
constructions.
In the valuation of land and natural resources and buildings and other constructions, the Group
decided to adopt the fair value model. In accordance with this method:
▪ they are measured initially: (i) at cost, which comprises the purchase price and any directly
attributable expenditure (for example, professional fees for legal services, property transfer
taxes and other transaction costs); (ii) after initial recognition, they are measured at fair
value, and are not depreciated.
Land and natural resources and buildings and other constructions were subject to valuation by
qualified, independent professional valuers, as at December 31, 2015 & 2014.
▪ The valuations were performed at market value, understood to be "presumed value of the
transaction on the open market" ("Open Market Value"), and on discounted cash flow
projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
existing contracts, using discount rates that reflect current market assessments as to
uncertainty in the amount and timeliness of the cash flows.
Acquisition cost includes the purchase price of the asset, costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, including non-deductible taxes, and charges incurred in preparing the asset for use.
Repair and maintenance costs and other expenses associated with their use are recognised as cost
for the period under General administrative costs.
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is recorded on a systematic basis over their estimated useful
lives:
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Years of useful life
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible assets

2015
4 - 15
4-6
3-8
3-8

2014
4 - 15
4-6
3-8
3-8

Assets acquired under finance lease are depreciated using the same rates as other tangible fixed
assets, that is, based on their useful lives.
The useful lives of assets are reviewed at each financial reporting date so that depreciation charged
is in accordance with the patterns of use of the assets. Changes in useful lives are treated as a
change of accounting estimate and are applied prospectively.
Depreciation charges are recognised in the statement of income under Depreciation and
amortisation for the year.
Costs of major repairs and replacements are capitalised when they increase the useful life of the
asset to which they relate and are depreciated over the remaining period of useful life of that asset
or over its own useful life, if shorter.
The Group assesses annually whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If there
is any indication, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset (which is the higher of
the fair value of the asset or of a cash-generating unit less the selling costs and its value in use) and
recognises the impairment in profit or loss for the period where the recoverable amount is less
than carrying amount.
In assessing whether there is indication of impairment the following situations are taken into
account:
▪

During the period, the market value of an asset has declined significantly more than would
be expected as a result of the passage of time or normal use;

▪

During the period, significant changes have occurred, or will occur in the near future, with an
adverse effect on the entity, related with the technological, market, economic or legal
environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated;

▪

The market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased
during the period, and those increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in
calculating the value in use of an asset and substantially decrease the asset's recoverable
amount;

▪

The carrying amount of the entity's net assets is more than its market capitalisation;

▪

Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
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▪

Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity occurred during the period, or are
expected to occur in the near future, to the extent that, or to in the way in which, an asset is
used or expected to be used. These changes include an asset that has become idle, plans to
discontinue or restructure the operational unit to which the asset belongs and plans to
dispose of an asset before the previously expected date;

▪

There is evidence in in-house reports that indicates that the economic performance of an
asset is, or will be, worse than expected.

Impairment reversals are recognised in profit or loss (unless the asset is carried at the revalued
amount, in which case it is treated as a revaluation excess) and shall not exceed the carrying
amount of the asset that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been previously
recognised.

4.4.11 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on the date of initial recognition at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in business combination is its fair value at the acquisition
date.
After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on monthly basis using the straight-line method.
The depreciation rates are set in order to write down the assets in full by the end of their useful
lives and are as follows:

Computer Programs

Amortization Rate
33,33

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite or undefined.
Intangible assets having undefined useful lives are not written down but are tested annually for
impairment regardless of whether or not there are indicators that may be impaired.
Intangible fixed assets are amortised over their expected economic life and are evaluated for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Impairment of these assets is determined on the basis of the criteria described under tangible fixed
assets (Note 4.4.10).
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Impairment reversals are recognised in profit or loss and must not exceed the carrying amount of
asset that would have been determined if no impairment loss been recognised previously.
Software acquired from third parties is recorded under this heading. Internal costs associated with
the maintenance and development of Software are recognised as expenses when incurred on the
grounds that they are not reliably measurable and/or do not generate future economic benefits.

4.4.12 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an investment in subsidiary companies or of the
acquisition of a business, on the acquisition date, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3
Business Combinations. If the value of Goodwill is negative it is recognised as income on the date
of acquisition, after reassessment of the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
under Other Income & Gains.
Positive differences between the acquisition cost of investments in entities headquartered abroad
and the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of such entities are recorded in their
reporting currencies and are translated into the Group's reporting currency (euros) at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising on translation are
recorded under translation reserves in equity.

The Goodwill on acquisitions prior to the date of transition to IFRS (January 1, 2004) has been
maintained, based on the amounts presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in Portugal on that date, and was subject to impairment tests on the
reporting date. As from that date Goodwill is no longer amortised, though it continues to be
subject, at least annually, to an impairment test to check for impairment losses.
Goodwill is not amortised and is tested annually by independent bodies, to check for
impairment losses. Impairment losses on Goodwill encountered during the period are
recorded in the income statement for the period under Impairment of other assets net of
reversals and recoveries. Impairment losses relating to Goodwill cannot be reversed.
Where the Goodwill is part of a cash-generating unit and part of an operation within that unit
is sold, the Goodwill associated with the operation that is sold is included in the book value of
the operation to determine the gain or loss on the operation. Goodwill derecognised under
these circumstances is measured on the basis of the relative values between the operation
sold and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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For the purpose of Goodwill impairment tests, the Goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating
unit, or groups of cash generating units, which is the lowest level of monitoring Goodwill for
management-analysis purposes. The lowest level of cash generating unit corresponds to the
Group's operating segments.

4.4.13 Investments in associates and joint ventures
Investments in Group companies are recognised / derecognised on the date the risks and
advantages inherent in their possession are substantially transferred, regardless of the date of
financial settlement.
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are initially measured at their acquisition cost in
accordance with IAS 27.

Investments in entities of the following types are carried in accordance with the equity method
and are tested periodically for impairment:
 Associates, defined as such are entities over which the Group exercises significant
influence and are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures;
 Joint Ventures, defined as such are organisations whose joint control is established in
the contractual agreement and exerting significant influence:
Significant influence is assumed where the Group's holding exceeds 20% of the share capital or
voting rights.

The equity method has been used as from the date on which each of the subsidiaries fell
within the aforesaid categories.
4.4.14 Corporation tax
Corporation tax includes current tax and deferred tax. Corporation tax is recorded in the
income statement, except when it relates to items that are recognised directly in equity.
4.4.14.1 Corporation tax - Current
Companies having their registered office in Portugal that form part of the Group are subject to
corporation tax (IRC) at the normal rate of 21% (2014: 23%), increased by 1.5% (2015: 1.5%) for
the municipal surcharge, leading to an aggregate tax rate of 22.5% (2014: 24.50%
However, since Group companies meet all the requirements of Article 69 of the IRC Code, they
are subject to corporation tax under the special taxation of groups of companies legislation
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("RETGS"), this situation may occur regardless of whether the Company presents consecutive
tax losses.
Under the RETGS current corporation tax is calculated on the basis of the taxable profits of the
companies included in the consolidation, in accordance with the tax rates and laws in force at
the place where each Group company has its registered office.
In accordance with the tax regulations in force in Portugal, the delivery of the tax assessed,
payments on account and special payments are the sole responsibility of the parent company,
except as provided in Article 105(5) of the IRC Code. This article determines that in the case of
companies of a group to which the special taxation of groups of companies legislation is
applicable for the first time, the payments on account for the first tax period are made by each
of those companies and are calculated in accordance with paragraph 1, the total of the
amounts delivered by them being taking into consideration for the purpose of the calculation of
the difference payable by the parent company or to be repaid to it, under the terms of Article
104.
The amount of current tax payable is determined based on the pre-tax book income adjusted
in accordance with tax rules in force.
The state surcharge is due by resident entities engaged primarily in commercial, industrial or
agricultural activities, and by non-resident entities with a permanent establishment in
Portugal. The rates applicable in 2015 and 2104 are as follows:
 From €1.5 million to €7.5 million - rate 3%
 From €7.5 million to €35 million - rate 5%
 Over €35 million - rate 7%
The corporation tax on the remaining companies included in consolidation is calculated at rates
prevailing in the countries of their registered office:
Country
Portugal
Brazil
Netherlands

Dec-15
22,5%
34%
25%

Dec-14
24,5%
32%
29%

Under the legislation in force in the various jurisdictions in which the companies included in
consolidation carry on their business, the corresponding tax returns are subject to review by tax
authorities for a period ranging between 4 and 5 years, which may be extended in certain
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circumstances, particularly where there are tax losses, or inspections, claims or appeals are in
progress.
The Board of Directors, supported the positions of its tax consultants and taking into account the
liabilities recognised, believes that any review of these tax adjustments will not result in material
corrections to the consolidated financial statements.

4.4.14.2 Corporation tax – Deferred
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities stem from the determination of temporary
differences (deductible and taxable) between the accounting bases and the tax bases of the
Group's assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets reflect:
▪ Temporary differences deductible to the extent that is probable there will be future taxable
profits against which the deductible difference can be used;
▪ Unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which they can be used.
Deductible temporary differences are temporary differences which result in amounts that are
deductible in determining taxable profit/ tax loss of future periods when the carrying amount of
the asset or liability is recovered or settled.
Deferred Tax Liabilities reflect taxable temporary differences.
Taxable temporary differences are temporary differences which result in amounts that are taxable
in determining taxable profit/ tax loss of future periods when the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is recovered or settled.
Deferred tax relating to temporary differences associated with investments in associates and
interests in joint ventures are not recognised since it is considered that the following conditions are
met simultaneously:
▪ The Group is able to control the timeliness of the reversal of the temporary difference, and
▪ It is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
Measurement of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities:
▪ is carried out using the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates approved on the reporting date, and
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▪ reflects the tax consequences arising from the way the Group expects, as of the balancesheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

4.4.15 Other assets
4.4.15.1 Clients non-financial activity
Client receivables are measured, on initial recognition, at fair value and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost less any impairment.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the company recognises an impairment loss in
the income statement. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets might be
impaired takes into account observable date calling attention to the following loss events:
▪

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

▪

Breach of contract, such as non-payment or default in payment of interest or repayment
of the debt;

▪

For economic or legal reasons related to the financial difficulty of the debtor, the debtor
is offered conditions that would otherwise not be considered;

▪

It becomes likely that the debtor will go into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

▪

Observable information suggesting that there has been a decrease in the measurement
of the estimated future cash flows of a group of financial assets since their initial
recognition.

4.4.15.2 Other receivables
Other receivables (Staff, Advances to Suppliers, Debtors for accrued income and Other debtors,
State & other public entities) are carried at amortised cost, less impairment.
For each debtor Client an assessment is made at each reporting date, of the existence of objective
and subjective evidence of impairment, especially considering the following factors:
 the debtor's economic and financial situation;
 the debtor's overall exposure and the existence of credit in default within the financial

system;
 commercial information relating to the debtor;
 Analysis of the business sector in which the debtor is engaged, where applicable, and
 The links of the debtor with the group of which it forms part, where applicable, and analysis

of the latter regarding the variables mentioned before in terms of the debtor individually
considered.
In determining impairment losses in individual terms the following factors are considered:
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 The economic viability of the debtor generating sufficient means to cover the debt service in

the future;
 The value of the associated collateral and the estimated recovery amount and period; and
 The debtor's assets in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy and the existence of privileged

creditors.

4.4.15.3 Deferrals
This item reflects transactions and other events for which full recognition in profit or loss during
the period in which they occur is not appropriate but should be recognised in profit or loss of
future periods.
The Group uses the principle of accrual accounting for most items of the financial statements.
Therefore:
▪ Income generated by the provision of services is recognised in the income statement with
reference to the stage of completion of the provision of services as at the reporting date;
▪ Interest and financial income are recognised in accordance with accrual accounting
principles and in accordance with the effective interest rate applicable;
▪ Costs and income are recorded during the period to which they refer, regardless of when
paid or received;
Therefore, as at December 31, 2015 & 2014:
A. Deferred assets carried in the Statement of financial position, specifically insurance and
rents, correspond to prepayments of services that will only be provided in future periods.
B. Deferred liabilities carried in the Statement of financial position include amounts inherent in
rents charged to third parties to be recognised as income in future periods.

4.4.16 Financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded according to the multicurrency system, that is, in the respective currencies of origin. Translation into euros of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies is carried out based on the indicative rate of exchange
published by the Bank to Portugal.
Income and costs determined in the various foreign currencies are translated into euros at the
exchange rate ruling on the day they are realised and are recognised under Result of currency
revaluation. The spot position in a currency is the net balance of assets and liabilities in that
currency. The spot currency position is revalued on the basis of official exchange rates of the day,

212

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

disclosed on an indicative basis by the Bank of Portugal, the results being taken to costs and
income accounts.

4.4.17 Available-for-sale non-current assets and liabilities
This item includes assets (or disposal groups) whose carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use, which meet the following
conditions:
▪ Are available for immediate sale as found , subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups); and
▪ Their sale is highly probable. That is:
o

The appropriate management is committed to a plan to sell the asset (or disposal
group);

o

A start has been made to a programme to locate a buyer and conclude the plan;

o

The asset (or disposal group) has been widely advertised for sale at a price that is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value;

The sale will be completed within one year of the date of classification.
Immediately before classification of the assets (or disposal groups) as held for sale, the carrying
amounts of the assets (or of all assets and liabilities of the group) are measured in accordance with
applicable rules.
On the date of initial recognition, the assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less selling costs or, if purchased as part of a business
combination at fair value less selling costs.
Any initial or subsequent reduction of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less selling costs is
recognised as an impairment loss. Any gain resulting from a subsequent increase in the fair value
less selling costs of an asset is recognised, but not over and above the cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised.
Expenses and income generated by the Group for sale are recognised in profit or loss for the
period, and classified as Results of discontinuing operations if the Group for disposal qualifies as an
operating segment.
While classified as held for sale or while they are part of a disposal group classified as held for sale,
the assets are not depreciated (or amortised).
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Interest and other costs attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale
continue to be recognised.

4.4.18 Funds of credit institutions / debt securities
Borrowings are valued at amortised cost determined using the effective interest rate. In
accordance with this method, Borrowings are initially recognised under liabilities for the sum
received, net of costs incurred with their issue, which corresponds to their fair value as of that
date. Subsequently, borrowings are measured at amortised cost, which includes all financial
charges calculated in keeping with effective interest-rate method.
In borrowings for which there are fixed-rate or floating-rate interest-rate risk hedges, the
respective derivatives are carried under Other financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss.

4.4.19 Financial charges on borrowings
Financial costs related to borrowings are recognised in the income statement for the period to
which they relate, except where imputable to the acquisition/construction of qualifiable assets,
and include interest determined on the basis of the effective interest rate method.

4.4.20 Finance leases
Finance lease transactions, as lessee, are recorded as follows:
▪Assets under finance lease are stated at fair value under assets, and at amortised cost under
liabilities;
▪Rents in respect of finance lease contracts are broken down in accordance with the
respective financial plan, reducing the liability in the proportion of the amortisation of
the principal. Interest charges are recorded as financial costs.

4.4.21 Provisions
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount.
Provisions are recognised when and only when the Group has a present obligation (legal or implicit)
resulting from a past event and that it is probable that, to fulfil such an obligation, there will be an
outflow of funds, provided that the amount of the obligation can be reasonably estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the estimated expenditures to settle the obligation
using a rate that reflects the market evaluation for the discount period and the risk of the provision
in question.
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Provisions for lawsuits are those that originated assessments by the Tax Authority, with which the
Company disagreed and challenged through the respective administrative and tax court. They are
measured taking into account the estimated amount payable in the future, should the Group not
deemed to be right.

4.4.22 Other liabilities
4.4.22.1 Trade accounts payable
Trade accounts payable are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

4.4.22.2 Other payables
Other payables (Staff, Customer Prepayments, Creditors for accrued costs; Other creditors) are
measured at amortised cost.

4.4.22.3 Staff costs
Staff costs are recognised when the service is rendered by employees regardless of their date of
payment. There follow several specifics for each type of Staff Costs:

4.4.22.4 Holiday pay & holiday bonus
According to the labour legislation in force employees are entitled to holiday pay and holiday
bonus in the year following that in which the service is provided.
Thus, an accrual was recognised in profit or loss for the period in respect of the amount payable
the following year, which is reflected in Other liabilities.

4.4.22.5 Termination of employment benefits
Costs of termination of employment benefits are recognised when the Group is committed to the
termination of the employment contract with its employee and it has been accepted by its
employee, rendering its cancellation impossible. The amount to be recorded is the amount already
negotiated or the amount that is expected to be paid, in keeping with the terminations plan
approved and communicated.

4.4.22.6 Retirement benefits liabilities
The Group entered into a commitment to grant its employees taken on up to 1980 pecuniary
payments by way of retirement pension complements, which constitute a defined benefit plan, an
autonomous pension fund having been set up for the purpose. covering the difference between
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80% of the last salary as a worker in service and the amount paid by Social Security by way of
pension.
To estimate its pension complement liabilities, the Group obtains actuarial studies each year,
performed by an independent, specialised entity in accordance with the Projected Unit Credit
method and internationally accepted technical and actuarial assumptions and bases.
In defined benefit plans, the recognition and measurement of the liabilities are conducted in
accordance with IAS 19 - Employee Benefits.
Accordingly, the cost of providing benefits is determined:
▪ Separately for each plan;
▪ Using the projected proposed credit unit method;
▪ Based on actuarial assumptions of the country where the beneficiaries are located.
Until December 31, 2012, the Group used the corridor method but, in keeping with the change
imposed by IAS 19 in force as from January 1, 2013, the corridor method was eliminated.
Therefore, actuarial deviations, which came to be known as remeasurements, are recognised
directly in Equity when they occur.
The liabilities payable both to the Fund Management Companies or directly to the Group's
employees (in those cases where no fund has been set up) are reflected under Post-employment
benefits under Other liabilities. The liabilities consist of the following items:
▪ Present value of obligation (using a discount rate based on high-quality bonds), less
▪ Fair value of the existing plans' assets.

4.4.23 Share capital
4.4.23.1 Paid up share capital
As at December 31, 2015 & 2014, the share capital was fully subscribed and paid up.

4.4.23.2 Treasury Shares
The articles of association do not totally prohibit the acquisition of treasury shares nor do they
reduce the cases of permission to lawfully acquire the shares described in Articles 317(2) and
317(3) of the Companies Code.
The number of shares held is within the limit established in Article 317(2) of the Companies Code,
that is, it does not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital.
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According to the said article, while the shares belong to the company, a reserve of an amount equal
to that at which they are carried is not available for distribution.
Treasury shares acquired by contract or directly in the market are recognised in equity as a
separate item. Treasury shares are carried at cost, in the case of spot purchases, or at estimated
fair value if the purchase is deferred.

4.4.23.3 Issue premiums
This item includes not only premiums but also the deduction of the costs associated with the
issuance of equity instruments.
In accordance with Article 295 of the Companies Code these premiums are subject to the legal
reserve mechanism, which means they cannot be distributed except on liquidation and can only be
used to absorb losses, after having exhausted all other reserves, or for incorporation into the share
capital (Article 296 of the Companies Code).

4.4.23.4 Reserves
Legal reserve
In accordance with Article 295 of the Companies Code at least 5% of income must be used to
create or increase the legal reserve until it equals at least 20% of the share capital.
The legal reserve is not distributable except in case of liquidation and can only be used to absorb
losses, after having exhausted all other reserves , or for incorporation into the share capital (Article
296 of the Companies Code).

Revaluation Reserves and Other Reserves
 Investment properties
This item includes:
- excesses of the free revaluation of the investment property;
- revaluations performed under the respective legislation.
In accordance with accounting standards in force, theses excesses are only available to increase
share capital or to cover losses incurred up to the date to which the revaluation refers and only
after they are realised (by use or sale).



Financial investments
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The fair-value reserves refer to differences between the fair value and carrying amount of the
financial investments classified as available for sale. These reserves are available only on disposal of
such financial investments.



Currency translation reserve

The reporting currency of the financial statements is the euro.
This item reflects the translation differences of the financial statements of the entities included in
the consolidation where their reporting currency (the primary economic environment in which they
operate) is not the euro and result, on each balance sheet date, from the assets and liabilities in
foreign currency being translated using the closing rate and the gains and losses being translated
using the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction, or the average exchange rate.



Retained earnings

This item includes profits realised and available for distribution to shareholders and, in accordance
with article 32.2 of the CC, will only be available for distribution when the elements or rights that
gave rise thereto are sold, exercised, extinguished or liquidated.



Net income for the period

The income and costs for the period are recognised under this heading.

4.4.24 Contingent assets and liabilities
A Contingent asset is an possible asset generated by past events, the existence of which will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
entirely under the entity's control.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements so as not to result in recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, they are disclosed where a future inflow is probable.
A contingent liability is:
▪

A possible obligation generated by past events, the existence of which will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not entirely under the entity's control,

or
▪

A present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
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a. it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, or
b. the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements so as not to result in
recognition of income that may never be realised. However, they are disclosed whenever there is a
likelihood of future outflows that is not remote.

4.4.25 Subsequent Events
Events occurring after the reporting that provide additional information on situations that existed
as of the reporting date are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events occurring after the reporting date that provide additional information on situations that
occurred after that date, if significant, are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

4.4.26 Information by segments
The information by segments is presented taking into account that each business segment is a
separate component of the Group that provides differing products and services subject to risks and
returns that differ from those of the other business segments.
For the purposes of management review, the Group identifies the following segments:
(i) Private Equity - Concerning the Group's shipping and technical areas.
(ii) Strategic Assets - Concerning the Group's financial companies
(iii) Alternative Investments - Concerning the investment funds
(iv) Real Estate - Concerning property management
(v) Holding Company
However, given the economic importance of businesses carried on within the context of the
strategic assets, and for the purposes of the disclosures called for by IFRS 8, the Group opted to
break these segments down as follows:
(i) Discretionary Management;
(ii) Fund Management;
(iii) Brokerage;
(iv) Real Estate;
(v) Private Equity;
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(vi) Other
(vii) Alternative Investments
Note 5 details the companies included in the consolidation using the full and proportionate
methods that were associated with the segments detailed above.
The report by business segment is shown in the tables presented in Note 6, which complements
the information required by IFRS 8, providing for each of these business segments details about the
formation of its results and a summary of the assets and liabilities for the companies included
therein.

4.4.27 Income and costs for services and commissions
Service and commission income and costs are recognised as the services are provided and during
the period to which they relate, regardless of their receipt or payment. Services rendered by the
Group are remunerated mainly in the form of commissions. The main cost incurred by the services
rendered by the Group involves commissions.

4.4.28 Revenue
The revenue originated in the sales is recognised in the income statement, under other operating
results, when the risks and benefits inherent in the possession of the assets are transferred to the
purchaser and the amount of the income can be quantified reasonably. Revenue is recognised at
fair value, net of taxes, discounts and other costs inherent in its realisation.
In the provision of services, although the revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group, when an uncertainty
arises about the collectability of an amount already included in revenue, the uncollectable amount
or the amount in respect which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognised as a receivablebalance impairment and not as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognised.
Thus, revenue from services is recognised when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated
reliably, which occurs when all the following conditions are met:
 The amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the

Group;
 the stage of completion of the transaction can be measured reliably on the reporting date;

and
 Costs incurred with the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be

measured reliably.
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4.4.29 Dividend distribution
The distribution of dividends to the Group's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when they are approved by the shareholders
themselves at the General Meeting.

4.4.30 Fair value of assets and liabilities
Fair-value accounting introduces complexity where that value cannot be obtained directly from the
market. Current accounting rules indicate three levels of fair-value measurement. The first level is
used in the instruments whose price can be obtained directly from the market. The second level,
for financial instruments that can be valued using models that only rely on observable market data.
The third level is required for more complex instruments, which to be evaluated have to resort to
models that use not only observable market data.

4.4.31 Impairment
The company assesses annually whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
there is any indication, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset (which is the
higher of the fair value of the asset or of a cash-generating unit less the selling costs and its value in
use) and recognises the impairment in profit or loss for the period where the recoverable amount
is less than carrying amount.
In assessing whether there is indication of impairment the following situations are taken into
account:
 During the period, the market value of an asset has declined significantly more than would
be expected as a result of the passage of time or normal use;
 During the period, significant changes have occurred, or will occur in the near future, with an
adverse effect on the entity, related with the technological, market, economic or legal
environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which an asset is dedicated;
 The market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have increased
during the period, and those increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in
calculating the value in use of an asset and substantially decrease the asset's recoverable
amount;
 The carrying amount of the entity's net assets is more than its market capitalisation;
 Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
 Significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity occurred during the period, or are
expected to occur in the near future, to the extent that, or to in the way in which, an asset is
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used or expected to be used. These changes include an asset that has become idle, plans to
discontinue or restructure the operational unit to which the asset belongs and plans to
dispose of an asset before the previously expected date;
 There is evidence in in-house reports that indicates that the economic performance of an
asset is, or will be, worse than expected.
Impairment reversals are recognised in profit or loss (unless the asset is carried at the revalued
amount, in which case it is treated as a revaluation excess) and shall not exceed the carrying
amount of the asset that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been previously
recognised.

5. Consolidation
5.1 Holdings
The holdings of Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, are as detailed in the following below, and
these holdings as well as the consolidation method of each are described in section 5.3. Changes to
the consolidation perimeter are described in Section 5.2.
The Group's financial holdings are divided into the following business areas:
(i) Holding companies, investments and services sub-holding companies
(ii) Real Estate - Concerning property management
(iii) Strategic Assets - Concerning the Group's financial companies
(iv) Alternative Investments - Concerning the investment funds
(v)

Private Equity - Concerning the Group's shipping and technical areas.
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Entity

Registered Office

Business Sector

Type of holding

Holding %

Share Capital

Currency

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA

Lisbon

Other

------------

------------

12,000,000

EUR

Orey Investments Holding BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Other

Direct

100.00%

25,000,000

EUR

Orey Serviços e Organização, SA

Lisbon

Other

Direct

100.00%

100,000

EUR

NovaBrazil Investments Holding

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Other

Indirect

100.00%

18,200

EUR

Orey Investments Malta Ltd

Malta

Other

Indirect

100.00%

240

EUR

Orey Holding Ltd Malta

Malta

Other

Indirect

100.00%

240

EUR

Worldwide Renewables BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Other

Indirect

100.00%

18,000

EUR

Orey Financial IFIC, SA

Lisbon

Direct

100.00%

11,500,000

EUR

Orey Capital Partners GP,Sàrl

Luxemburg

Indirect

100.00%

35,000

EUR

Orey Management (Cayman) Ltd

Cayman Islands

Indirect

100.00%

42,384

USD

Indirect

100.00%

5,390,000

EUR

Indirect

100.00%

6,081

USD

Indirect

100.00%

40,000

EUR

Indirect

76.48%

600,000

BRL

Indirect

99.98%

7,601,573

BRL

Indirect

89.98%

305,000

BRL

Indirect

100.00%

12,500

EUR

Orey Management BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Orey Investments NV

Curacao - Netherlands Antilles

Football Players Funds Management Ltd

Cayman Islands

Orey Financial Brasil, SA

São Paulo - Brazil

Orey Financial Holding, SA

São Paulo - Brazil

OFP Investments

São Paulo- Brazil

Orey Financial Holding, Sarl

Luxemburg

Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage
Fund Management / Discretionary
Management / Brokerage

Orey- Gestão Imobiliária SA

Lisbon

Real Estate

Direct

100.00%

1,000,000

EUR

Horizon View - Navegação e Trânsitos, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

250,000

EUR

Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

850,000

EUR

Atlantic Lusofrete - Afretamentos, Transportes e Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

50,000

EUR

Mendes & Fernandes - Serv. Apoio à Nav., Lda.

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

5,000

EUR

CMA-CGM Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

20.00%

100,000

EUR

Storkship- Navegação, Trânsitos e Logística, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

250,000

EUR

TARROS Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

25.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey Capital Partners SCA SICAR

Luxembourg

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

17,046,000

EUR

OA International Antilles NV

Curacao - Netherlands Antilles

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

6,000

USD

Orey Apresto e Gestão de Navios Lda

Funchal

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey (Cayman) Ltd

Cayman Islands

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

USD
EUR

Orey Shipping, SL

Bilbao - Spain

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

60,000

CORREA SUR SL

Bilbao - Spain

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

60,120

EUR

Orey (Angola) - Comércio e Serviços Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,100,000

KWZ

Orey Super Transportes e Distribuição Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,400,000

KWZ

Parcel Express - Expedições Internacionais, Lda.

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

2,000,000

KWZ

SAFOCEAN - Comércio e Serviços, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

200,000

KWZ

LYNX Angola - Transporte e Logística, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

20,000,000

KWZ

LYNX Transports and Logistics, B.V.

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

132,150

USD

OA Technical Representations- Rep.Nav.Ind. SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

450,000

EUR

Orey Técnica Serviços Navais, Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

350,000

EUR

Sofema - Soc.Ferramentas e Máquinas,Lda.

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Contrafogo, Soluções de Segurança SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

537,155

EUR

Oilwater Industrial, Serviços e Representações SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Lalizas Marine- Equipamentos Nauticos Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

6,000

EUR

Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey Safety and Naval, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

100,000

EUR

Orey Industrial Representations, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Orey Safety Angola, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,000,000

KWZ

Orey Moçambique - Comércio e Serviços, Lda.

Maputo

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

60,000

MZM

Orey Mauritius Transports and Logistics Ltd

Mauritius

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

750,000

USD

FAWSPE - Empreendimentos e Participações, SA

São Paulo - Brazil

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

7,960,228

BRL

Araras BV

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

18,000

EUR

Op. Incrível SGPS, SA

Lisbon

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

EUR

OP. Incrível Brasil

São Paulo - Brazil

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

4,670,882

BRL

NovaOpIncrivel

São Paulo - Brazil

Alternative Investments

Indirect

100.00%

4,493,158

BRL

5.2 Changes to the consolidation perimeter
During 2015 the Group included the following companies in its consolidation perimeter:
 Orey Financial Holding Sàrl – -the finance company vehicle of Banco Inversis , where the
holding is registered, this company consolidates using the full consolidation method. Banco
Inversis consolidates using the equity method
 Orey Safety Angola, Lda – a naval techniques and security representation company in Angola
consolidates using the full consolidation method.
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 Worldwide Renewables BV, a company that consolidates using the full consolidation
method.
It should be noted that, during 2014, the Orey Group received a non-binding purchase offer
essentially directed at the businesses in Angola and Mozambique.
The companies included in this non-binding offer, by business, were:
Entity

Registered Office

Business Sector

Type of holding

% Holding

Share Capital

Currency

Angola
OA International Antilles NV
Orey Apresto e Gestão de Navios Lda
Orey (Cayman) Ltd
Orey (Angola) - Comércio e Serviços Lda
Orey Super Transportes e Distribuição Lda
Parcel Express - Expedições Internacionais, Lda.
SAFOCEAN - Comércio e Serviços, Lda
LYNX Angola - Transporte e Logística, Lda
LYNX Transports and Logistics, B.V.

Curacao - Netherlands Antilles
Funchal
Cayman Islands
Luanda - Angola
Luanda - Angola
Luanda - Angola
Luanda - Angola
Luanda - Angola
Amsterdam - Netherlands

Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity
Private Equity

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

6,000
50,000
50,000
1,100,000
1,400,000
2,000,000
200,000
20,000,000
130,070

USD
EUR
USD
KWZ
KWZ
KWZ
KWZ
KWZ
EUR

Moçambique
OreyMoçambique - Comeèrcio e Serviços, Lda.
OreyMauritius Transports and Logistics Ltd

Maputo
Mauricias

Private Equity
Private Equity

Indirect
Indirect

100.00%
100.00%

60,000
75,000

MZM
USD

By virtue of the negotiations under way on as of 31/12/2014, all companies involved in this offer
were later classified as Available-for-sale non-current assets and the assets and the liabilities
inherent therein have been identified separately in the consolidated financial statements in the
appropriate line.
In accordance with IFRS 5, and because the last 5% of the companies inherent in the business of
Angola were bought with the intention of selling them later, the Group applied the alternative
method of consolidation laid down in this standard: the "short-cut method".
The short-cut method consists of carrying the assets and liabilities of the entity that is to be sold at
their fair value less the cost inherent in their sale.
With regard to companies that made up the Mozambique business nucleus, and because they were
always fully included in the Company's portfolio, the full consolidation method was applied to them
in accordance with IFRS 5, to its full extent.
As disclosed in Note 25, in 2015, specifically in mid-September, it was found that for reasons
foreign to the Orey Group the sale did not materialise, despite the high probability assigned to this
transaction.
Meanwhile, even in the economic and financial situation of the countries involved, the Board
reiterated the commitment and efforts directed at the sale of the Angolan investment, and has
since been making new efforts through roadshows for external investors, which culminated with
the signature in November and in December 2015, of two NDAs with entities outside the Group.
It can be expected that the core business of Angola (including Mozambique) may therefore be sold
during the course of 2016, and therefore, since all the requirements laid down in IFRS 5 for these
cases have been met, the classification of assets and liabilities directly associated with assets
classified as held for sale have been maintained.
During 2015, and as part of a project for the restructuring of the investments in Angola and
Mozambique, the firm Orey Mauritius sold its subsidiary Orey Moçambique to the firm Orey
Aprestos e Gestão, whose core business lies in the Angolan market
With this transfer, the continuity of the firm Orey Mauritius was called into question and on
31/12/2015 this company is consolidated using the full consolidation method.
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5.3 Companies included in the consolidation
Companies consolidated using the full consolidation method
In the wake of the preceding note, as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the companies included in
the consolidation using the full consolidation method, their registered offices and the proportion of
share capital held were as follows:
Entity

Registered Office

Business Sector

Type of holding

% Holding

Share Capital

Currency

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Orey Investments Holding BV
Orey Serviços e Organização, SA
NovaBrazil Investments Holding
Orey Investments Malta Ltd
Orey Holding Malta Ltd
Worldwide Renewables BV
Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Capital Partners GP,Sàrl
Orey Management (Cayman) Ltd
Orey Management BV
Orey Investments NV
Football Players Funds Management Ltd
Orey Financial Brasil, SA
Orey Financial Holding, SA
OFP Investments
Orey Financial Holding, Sarl
Orey- Gestão Imobiliária SA
Orey Capital Partners SCA SICAR
FAWSPE - Empreendimentos e Participações, SA
Araras BV
Op. Incrível SGPS, SA
OP. Incrível Brasil
NovaOpIncrivel

Lisbon
Amsterdam - Netherlands
Lisbon
Amsterdam - Netherlands
Malta
Malta
Amsterdam - Netherlands
Lisbon
Luxemburg
Cayman Islands
Amsterdam - Netherlands
Curacao - Netherlands Antilles
Cayman Islands
São Paulo - Brazil
São Paulo - Brazil
São Paulo - Brazil
Luxemburg
Lisbon
Luxembourg
São Paulo - Brazil
Amsterdam - Netherlands
Lisbon
São Paulo - Brazil
São Paulo - Brazil

Other
Other
Other
Other
Other
Other
Other
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Fund Management / Discretionary
Real Estate
Private Equity
Alternative Investments
Alternative Investments
Alternative Investments
Alternative Investments
Alternative Investments

-----------Direct
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

-----------100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
76.48%
99.98%
89.98%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

12,000,000
25,000,000
100,000
18,200
240
240
18,000
11,500,000
35,000
42,384
5,390,000
6,081
40,000
600,000
7,601,573
305,000
12,500
1,000,000
17,046,000
7,960,228
18,000
50,000
4,670,882
4,493,158

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
USD
EUR
USD
EUR
BRL
BRL
BRL
EUR
EUR
EUR
BRL
EUR
EUR
BRL
BRL

The Group to finalise the liquidation of the financial company Football Players Funds Management
Ltd, in 2016. The Groups' Board does not expect any material losses in respect of what has been
recorded and consolidated.

Group companies consolidated using the equity method:
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the companies included in the consolidation using the equity
method, their registered offices and the proportion of share capital held were as follows:
Entity

Registered Office

Business Sector

Type of holding

Holding %

Share Capital

Currency

Horizon View - Navegação e Trânsitos, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

250,000

EUR

Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

850,000

EUR

Atlantic Lusofrete - Afretamentos, Transportes e Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

50,000

EUR

Mendes & Fernandes - Serv. Apoio à Nav., Lda.

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

5,000

EUR

CMA-CGM Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

20.00%

100,000

EUR

Storkship- Navegação, Trânsitos e Logística, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

250,000

EUR

TARROS Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

25.00%

50,000

EUR

OA International Antilles NV

Curacao - Netherlands Antilles

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

6,000

USD

Orey Apresto e Gestão de Navios Lda

Funchal

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey (Cayman) Ltd

Cayman Islands

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

50,000

USD

Orey Shipping, SL

Bilbao - Spain

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

60,000

EUR

CORREA SUR SL

Bilbao - Spain

Private Equity

Indirect

50.00%

60,120

EUR

Orey (Angola) - Comércio e Serviços Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,100,000

KWZ

Orey Super Transportes e Distribuição Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,400,000

KWZ

Parcel Express - Expedições Internacionais, Lda.

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

2,000,000

KWZ

SAFOCEAN - Comércio e Serviços, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

200,000

KWZ

LYNX Angola - Transporte e Logística, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

20,000,000

KWZ

LYNX Transports and Logistics, B.V.

Amsterdam - Netherlands

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

132,150

USD

OA Technical Representations- Rep.Nav.Ind. SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

450,000

EUR

Orey Técnica Serviços Navais, Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

350,000

EUR

Sofema - Soc.Ferramentas e Máquinas,Lda.

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Contrafogo, Soluções de Segurança SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

537,155

EUR

Oilwater Industrial, Serviços e Representações SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Lalizas Marine- Equipamentos Nauticos Lda

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

6,000

EUR

Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

50,000

EUR

Orey Safety and Naval, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

96.00%

100,000

EUR

Orey Industrial Representations, SA

Lisbon

Private Equity

Indirect

98.00%

100,000

EUR

Orey Safety Angola, Lda

Luanda - Angola

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

1,000,000

KWZ

Orey Moçambique - Comércio e Serviços, Lda.

Maputo

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

60,000

MZM

Orey Mauritius Transports and Logistics Ltd

Mauritius

Private Equity

Indirect

100.00%

750,000

USD
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6. Report by Segments
As mentioned in note 4.4.26, the Group presents, within the context of IFRS 8, the following
segments:
(i) Discretionary Management;
(ii) Fund Management;
(iii) Brokerage;
(iv) Real Estate;
(v) Private Equity
(vi) Other
(vii) Alternative Investments
Thus, as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown by business segment was as follows:
Items as at 31-12-2015
Revenue
External revenues
Inter-segment revenues
Total Revenues
Results
Depreciation & amortisation
Net income of associates and joint ventures

Discretionary
Management

Fund
Management

Brokerage

515,136
515,136

558,750
558,750

4,351,337
4,351,337

31,683
-

8,226
-

78,470
-

Real Estate
18,528
252,183
270,711

-

Private Equity

Alternative
Investments

Segments Total

896,331
2,504,296
3,400,627

2,557,862
-

-

8,897,944
2,756,479
9,096,561

2,213,190
(2,756,479)
(543,289)

11,111,134
11,111,134

140,574
-

(5,207)
(860,903)

-

253,746
12,648,976

5,645
1,606,944

259,391
14,255,919

Other

Adjustments &
eliminations

Consolidated

Segmental Result

(545,462)

31,328

1,059

(251,190)

(1,605,781)

(6,988)

145,219

(2,231,816)

5,280,609

3,048,793

Operating assets

3,633,395

1,211,132

11,073,204

7,029,292

147,684,829

50,678,391

70,297,805

291,608,047

(131,190,073)

160,417,974

725,442

241,814

2,210,870

2,222,069

84,438,308

34,937,302

68,601,522

193,377,326

Operating Liabilities

Items as at 31-12-2014
Revenue
External revenues
Inter-segment revenues
Total Revenues
Results
Depreciation & amortisation
Investment property impairment
Net income of associates and joint ventures

Discretionary
Management

Fund
Management

Brokerage

606,628

524,689

4,781,490

606,628

524,689

4,781,490

(48,408)
-

(8,668)
-

(85,562)
-

Real Estate

78,890
274,773
353,663

-

Other

Private Equity

394,182
2,397,297
2,791,479

-

(181,145)
-

(944,475)

Alternative
Investments
240,685
240,685

-

Segments Total

6,385,879
2,912,754
9,298,634

(323,782)
(944,475)

(56,127,732)
137,249,594
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Adjustments &
eliminations
12,091,307
(2,912,754)
9,178,553

-

Consolidated

18,477,186
18,477,186

(323,782)
(944,475)

Segmental Result

(76,423)

128,411

965,369

(377,053)

(3,401,198)

2,998,429

393,341

630,877

892,713

1,523,590

Operating assets

5,019,934

1,026,107

10,502,887

12,052,381

140,834,264

78,098,086

60,385,860

307,919,519

(168,572,415)

139,347,102

Operating Liabilities

1,113,109

227,527

2,328,886

6,993,968

55,569,541

37,992,379

57,637,867

161,863,276

(45,877,330)
115,985,946
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The operating results of these units are reviewed separately by management and all expenses and
income are allocated to the units of each operational segment.
The revenues correspond to the financial commissions and the other items included in the income
statement under Other operating income that correspond to revenues of companies that
consolidate but are not financial, in particular, Orey Serviços e Organização and Sociedade
Comercial Orey Antunes.

7. Banco Inversis
On 12 July 2013 Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, S.A. (“SCOA”) signed an agreement for the
purchase of shares in Banco Inversis ("Inversis", or “BI”) with Banca March ("BM"). Both Inversis
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and BM are financial institutions operating in Spain. Both are subject to supervision by the Bank of
Spain. The transaction then announced involved the following steps: (1) exercise by BM, on July 12,
2013, of its right of first refusal in the purchase-and-sale agreement of the whole of the Inversis
share capital for €217.4 million, having as reference date December 31, 2012; (2) the spin-off of the
retail business of Banco Inversis a subsequent sale to Andbank for €179.8 million, which came
about on November 29, 2014, and (3) the sale by BM of 50% (*) of the shares and voting rights in
Inversis to Orey for €21.1 million, subject to authorisation by the competent authorities Spain.
(*) For clarification, where it is stated that Orey purchases 50% of the shares and the voting rights in Banco Inversis from BM, the
intention is to say that Orey will buy 48.97% of the share capital in Banco Inversis from BM, since Banco Inversis carries 2.06% of
treasury shares in its balance sheet.

On July 9, 2015, SCOA signed an extension of the Share Purchase and Sale Agreement signed
between SCOA and BM and also a new partnership agreement with BM, which repealed and
replaced the previous Partnership Agreement signed on July 12, 2013.
In keeping with the new terms of the agreement, SCOA acquires a 49.99999936% holding in
Inversis from BM for an amount of €21,077,293.85. To this amount is added the result of
application of an interest rate of 5% per annum, from May 28, 2015, until the date of conclusion of
the Share Purchase and Sale Agreement. Together with its partner, BM, which is responsible for the
management of the Bank, SCOA will work to further develop Banco Inversis’s platform and existing
services, and to implement the growth strategy defined for the Bank.
In the Partnership Agreement, BM and SCOA agreed on a profit-distribution policy, according to
which 50% of the annual consolidated after-tax profit of the Inversis group will be distributed on an
annual basis and in the form of dividends, subject to certain conditions, in particularly related to
the capital ratios of Banco Inversis.
Prior to the deadline for the purpose, which was November 30, 2015, SCOA complied fully with the
conditions precedent of the transaction, defined in the purchase and sale agreement, namely: (1)
the decision of "no objection" of the ECB was obtained dated October 29, 2015, and (2) the
decision of "no objection" the CNMV was notified to SCOA on November 26, 2015 by letter dated
November 20, 2015. Compliance with the conditions precedent was communication to Banca
March (BM) on November 30, 2015.
The financing agreement concluded with Andbank for the acquisition of Banco Inversis was signed
on December 10, 2015, the cash having been made available in the SCOA account at BM on
December 11, 2015, thus complying with the stipulations of the respective agreements.
Additionally, the source of the funds was certified by Andbank on a date prior to December 14,
2015, thus fulfilling the recommendations of Law 10/2010 of April 28, on the prevention of money
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laundering and terrorist financing, and the transfer order to make payment of the acquisition by
SCOA of the holding banco Inversis was given to BM on December 14, 2015.
On December 15, 2015, SCOA turned up for the signature of the deed and BM failed to do so, and
this was recorded in a notarial act, BM having been notified of the breach of contract. On January
8, the transaction was finally undertaken under the same terms that would have occurred had the
transaction been carried out on December 15, there having been no alteration of the enforceable
negative bases (“BIN”) of the rights to dividends, wherefore the conditions acquisition are identical
to those which would result from an acquisition on December 15.
In this connection, the understanding of the SCOA Board of Directors is that (1) by complying with
the conditions precedent occurred prior to the respective deadline, and (2) by obtaining the
funding for the outstanding payment for the acquisition of the holding in Banco Inversis, the
irrevocable right to carry out the purchase is obtained, as is the irrevocable duty to carry it out. In
this sense, SCOA believes that this set of rights and duties has to be reflected in the accounts as a
forward contract, which has to be measured at fair value.

8. Cash and balances at central banks and Balances at other credit institutions
The breakdown of Cash and balances at central banks as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as
follows:
Cash and balances at central banks
Cash

Dec-15

Dec-14

9,133
9,133

TOTAL

10,419
10,419

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the amount carried under this heading related to sight
deposits:
Balances at other credit institutions
Sight deposits

Dec-15

Dec-14

28,544,299
28,544,299

TOTAL

8,146,495
8,146,495

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Bank overdrafts as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, are detailed in Note 27.

The total amount of sight deposits at other credit institutions includes a balance of €21,735,959
in an escrow account to secure the amount payable for the purchase of Banco Inversis from Banca
March (see Note 7 and Note 10).
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9. Financial assets held for trading
The item Financial assets held for trading refers to public debt securities and is government bonds,
broken down as follows:
Financial assets held for trading

Dec-15

Dec-14

Debt securities
Other assets held for trading;

82,744
902

TOTAL

83,646

84,038
1,178
85,216
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The debt securities total 77,000 securities at 107.46% (2014: 109.14%).
In accordance with IFRS 13, the following assumptions were used in the construction of the above
tables:
Active market prices (Level 1): this level includes financial instruments carried on the basis of active
market prices, and correspond to the first heading of the preceding table.
Prices based on market data (Level 2): This level includes financial instruments which, not carried
on the basis of active market prices, are carried on the basis of observable market variables. This
level includes participation in mutual funds valued in accordance with their published net asset
value and bonds not quoted on an active market, and correspond to the second item of the
preceding table.

10. Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The breakdown of Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is as follows:
Jan-14
Items

Market value

Dec-14
Purchases/
Sales/ Close of
positions

Results

Market value

Dec-15
Purchases/
Sales/ Close of
positions

Results

Market value

Units
Real-estate Investment Funds
Orey Reabilitação Urbana

126,683

341,526

-

468,209

Forward
Currency and interest-rate swaps
Interest Rate Cap
Nor/Lisgarante - Participation

48,795
3,000
178,478

(1,877)
339,649

(39,547)
(39,547)

7,371
3,000
478,580

-

6,077

474,286

Other

Total

13,509,879
13,509,879

(1,544)
4,533

13,509,879
5,827
3,000
13,992,992

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Units
There are 88,333 Orey Urban Rehabilitation fund units (2014: 88,333 units) at €5.3693 each (2014:
€5.3005).
In accordance with the fair -value hierarchy, these are first-level units, since their price may be
obtained directly through the market.
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Forward on shares
A forward contract is a derivative financial instrument that represents the right to buy or sell a
given quantity of product or type of asset, on a specific date and at a price fixed in advance. Both
the buyer and the seller under the contract have an obligation towards their counterparty.
As described in Note 7, on July 12, 2013, Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes (“SCOA”) signed an
agreement for the purchase of shares in Banco Inversis ("Inversis", or “BI”) with Banca March
("BM"). The transaction then announced involved the following steps: (1) exercise by BM, on July
12, 2013, of its right of first refusal in the purchase-and-sale agreement of the whole of the Inversis
share capital for €217.4 million, having as reference date December 31, 2012; (2) the spin-off of the
retail business of Banco Inversis a subsequent sale to Andbank for €179.8 million, which came
about on November 29, 2014, and (3) subsequent sale by BM of 49.99999936% of the shares and
voting rights in Inversis to Orey for €21.1 million, dependent on full and timely compliance with the
conditions precedent.
In the light of the contractual terms provided for in the purchase-and-sale agreement concluded
with Banca March, and the timetable of events, the SCOA Board of Directors considers that is has
the right and the duty to carry out the purchase of the Banco Inversis shares, and that Banca March
has the parallel right and the duty to sell those shares at a future date and at a price agreed in
advance. Since the completion of the transaction would depend, in the first instance, on the
conclusion of the spin-off of the retail business of Banco Inversis and its subsequent sale to
Andbank (having obtained the necessary authorisations from the competent authorities), then on
obtaining both the funding and the authorisations of the competent authorities, by SCOA, it is
considered that this transaction is not a regular way transaction (as defined in Note 4.4.4) since the
period of time for its conclusion substantially exceeds the normal period of time involved in a
purchase-and-sale transaction. Therefore, such a transaction should be recorded in the form of a
derivative to reflect in SCOA's accounts as at December 31, 2015, the irrevocable commitment
between BM and SCOA referred to above, which was just a awaiting the fulfilment of conditions
precedent, which occurred at the end of November 2015.
Moreover, it should be said that the derivative in question takes the form of a forward contract,
started on the date of conclusion of the agreement for the purchase-and-sale of Banco Inversis
with Banca March, but has a fair value other than zero when the conditions precedent for the
completion of the transaction are fully complied with. Since, as at December 31, 2014, all the
conditions precedent had not been fully complied with, and particularly bearing in mind that
compliance therewith was not dependent solely on SCOA but also on third parties, the fair value
determined was zero as of that date.
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Interest Rate Cap
The Group made use of interest-rate derivative financial instruments (interest-rate caps) with a
view to managing its exposure to movements of the interest rates ruling in its borrowings in order
to fix a maximum figure for its borrowing costs. According to the fair-value hierarchy these
instruments belong to the third level, since their valuation entails models that use only observable
market data.
These financial derivative instruments, though contracted with the objectives referred to above, do
not meet all the criteria of IAS 39 to qualify as hedge instruments.
The breakdown of derivative instruments held by the Group is as follows:
Derivative
Instrument

Subsidiary

Counterparty

Notional

Type

Maturity

Interest Rate Cap

Orey Gestão Imobiliária SA

BBVA

1,950,417

1-month Euribor interestrate cap at 4.5%

June 2027

5,825

7,276

Interest Rate Cap

Orey Serviços e Organização, SA

Santander Totta

225,000

1-month Euribor interestrate cap at 0.75%

July 2017

1

95

5,827

7,371

Total

Fair Value
2015

Fair Value
2014

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The following should be noted:
 The contract concluded by Orey Gestão Imobiliária, Lda, with BBVA arises from the a 20-year
floating-rate loan contracted in the sum of €3,100,000 relating to the acquisition of two
warehouses at the Lezíria Park in order to limit its borrowing cost to 4.5%. This instrument
constitutes an economic hedge. The interest rate and the discount rate used were the 1month Euribor.

Lis/Norgarante Holdings
The Group has SME Growth loans along at Banco Santander Totta with maturities better suited to
its needs and at costs lower than most market funding, of which 50% are guarantees by Lisgarante
(Note 24 and Note 27).
In connection with this loan, the acquisition of Lisgarante shares in the amount of 2% of the value
of the guarantee provided is mandatory. It strengthens the mutualistic characteristics of the system
and serves, in part, as collateral for the proper performance of the contract.
The Group therefore has an investment in the sum of €3,000 relating to holdings in Lisgarante,
which is carried using the cost method, which coincides with the par value per share, in that this
entity always guarantees the repurchase of those shares at their par value at the end of the
contract.
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11. Other financial assets
The evolution during 2015 and 2014 of the item Other financial assets is as follows:

Other financial assets
Credit rights
Contractual rights
Total

Jan-14
11,173,156
4,208,652
15,381,808

Inclusion in the
consolidation
perimeter
247,942
-35,359
212,582

Dec-14
11,421,097
4,173,293
15,594,390

Increases /
Reductions
(3,011,023)
(862,670)
(3,873,693)

Dec-15
8,410,074
3,310,623
11,720,697
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

This item corresponds to the business inherent in the Distressed Fund in Brazil subject to full
consolidation.

The core business of the Distressed Fund is management of insolvencies in the Brazilian
market, where such assets have been inadequately exploited as investment products.
In the current scenario, the Distressed Fund consists of two insolvency projects called OPINCRIVEL
and ARARAS. These projects have a duration of more than one year and their return is realisable
only at the end of the process.
OPINCRIVEL
In 2007, Orey Financial Brasil identified the business potential resulting from the acquisition and
management of bankrupt estates having great potential surplus, but are locked in complex
litigation and negotiation processes.

At the end of 2007 it conducted the first transaction and acquired all the assets of an bankrupt
estate, signing a contract, which was recorded as an investment in the assets of the
consolidated accounts of the Orey Group as a Contractual Right that, as at 31/12/2015, had a
total value of €1,088,714 (2014: €1,337,086).
For the management of this bankrupt estate a company was set up, OP Incrível SGPS SA, wholly
owned by Orey Investments Holding BV.
To manage this process company was set up, OP Incrível SA, in Brazil, wholly owned by Orey
Investments Holding BV, which was split into two companies in December 2012: OpIncrivel SA and
Nova OpIncrivel SA.
The corporate and management structure of the companies included in this project is to be altered.
These companies will receive the net assets and properties stemming from this bankruptcy
process, which that will be registered in companies in which the Company or its subsidiaries have a
minority position in the future.
ARARAS
FIP Orey I was set up to acquire holdings in vehicle companies whose object was the management
of bankrupt estates and acquisition of the respective assets and liabilities.
The initial capital of Orey FIP I was 9 million reals, divided as follows:
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- Orey Investment Holding BV – 6.5 million reals; and
- Orey Opportunity Fund – 2.5 million reals.
In December 2011, the equity capital was increased by 759,555 reals, subscribed solely by OA
Investment Holding BV.
At the time of the initial investment, the return on this investment was expected to occur over a
period of 3 to 5 years.
For purposes of economic efficiency, FIP OREY I was extinguished in December 2012 and the
investment came to be made in the vehicle company FAWSPE.

In 2011 FAWSPE acquired the right to manage this insolvency, signing a contract, which was
recorded as an investment in the assets of the consolidated accounts of the Orey Group as a
Contractual Right that, as at 31/12/2015, had a total value of €2,221,909 (2014: €2,836,207).
In addition to the right to manage the insolvency, this company has also acquired Credit Rights
over the years of this process, that is, it has bought from former creditors of the bankrupt
estate their right to claim pending debts on the basis of the assets of the insolvency.
In Brazilian jargon, credit rights are rights to receive an amount that is still pending definition or is
subject to challenge through the court.

As at 31/12/2015 FAWSPE had already acquired a total of €8,410,074 (2014: €11,421,097) of
Credit Rights, as per the foregoing detail of the consolidated accounts. This decrease in value
compared to 2014 is due essentially to the sharp devaluation of the Real in 2015, which is why the
Group negatively allocated €2,754,201 to its Currency conversion reserve in equity.
The amounts carried under these headings are recorded using the cost method.

12. Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets includes the bonds in the Company's portfolio, broken down as
follows:
Jan-14
Items
Available-for-sale financial assets
Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Momentum Debtmaster
Total

Market value

433,809
433,809

Dec-14
Purchases/ Sales

(109,831)
(109,831)

Market value

323,978
323,978

Dec-15
Purchases/ Sales

Market value

(267,840)
(267,840)

56,138
56,138

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The Orey Opportunity Fund (OOF) is a non-harmonised Hedge Fund that used a non-standard
approach to the multi-manager concept, investing in diversified assets and creating strategies that
could benefit from the different macroeconomic frameworks. It was managed by subsidiary Orey
Cayman Management. In October 2013 Orey Financial came to hold 100% of the Fund, which came
to be included in its consolidation perimeter.
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On February 17, 2014, the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority confirmed the cancellation of the
registration of the OOF and the update of the records accordingly. The OOF is now in winding-up
proceedings. The winding-up process is at its final stage and is essentially dependent on the
completion of the transfer of the holding of the OOF in 2 investment funds (Debt Momentum
Master Class and Absolute European Catalyst Fund Limited) to Orey Financial.
This financial asset is classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, since it is valued using models
that make use solely of observable market data.

13. Placements with credit institutions
Placements with credit institutions refers exclusively to cash deposits in on-behalf-of-clients
accounts of Orey Financial IFIC clients, broken down as follows:
Placements with credit institutions

Dec-15

Dec-14

Other deposits

59,747

725

TOTAL

59,747

725

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

14. Loans & advances to customers
Loans & advances to customers relates solely to the financial business carried on by Orey Financial,
broken down as follows as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Loans & advances to customers

Dec-15

Unsecured
Domestic credit
Companies
Loans
Individuals
Acquisition of securities
Interest receivable, net of deferred income
Total

Dec-14

787,000

846,000

434,320
1,221,320
26,986
26,986

434,320
1,280,320
32,024
32,024

1,248,307

1,312,344
jan/00

The maturity of the Loans & advances to customers in 2015 is as follows:
Liquidity Risk
Loans & advances to customers

Up to 3 3 months to 1
months
year

At sight
-

71,704

626,603

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years
-

Over 5
years
-

550,000

Indeterminate

Total
-

1 248 307

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The maturity of the Loans & advances to customers in 2014 is as follows:
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Liquidity Risk

Up to 3 3 months to 1
months
year

At sight

Loans & advances to customers

-

74,891

1,237,453

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years
-

Over 5
years
-

Indeterminate
-

Total
-

1 312 344

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The fair value of trade accounts receivable does not differ materially from their carrying amount.

15. Loans to associates and subsidiaries
The breakdown of Loans to associates and subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as
follows:
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Loans granted to subsidiaries
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

760,745

1,764,187

760,745

1,764,187

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

These figures primarily relate to loans to companies of the naval and industrial technical area as
detail the Notes to the Accounts (Note 47):
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
LALIZAS
OA TECHNICAL
SECUR
OREY IND. REPRESENTATIONS
FAWSPE
OREY MANAGEMENT BV

Dec-15
23,873
589,393
97,422
50,057
760,745

Dec-14
677,393
110,500
257,000
525,000
194,294
1,764,187

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

These loans are made in order to strengthen the day-to-day treasury of these companies, providing
financial support for its regular operational activities.
It should be noted that, on December 31, 2014, loans to subsidiary companies such as as FAWSPE
and Orey Management BV, which are a part of the consolidation perimeter, were carried in these
accounts. These amounts were delivered to the companies to buy financial assets for the Group,
which came about only in 2015, and for the companies in question it constituted just delivery of
assets within the scope of the securities under management.

16. Investment properties
Investment properties comprise land and buildings held to obtain rents or for capital appreciation.
The evolution under this heading during 2015 and 2014 is reflected in the following table :
2015:
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Closing
Balance as Acquisitions
at Jan-15

Properties

Subsequent
expenditure

Adjust. to Fair value
of net gains & losses

Disposals and
transfers

Closing
Balance as
at Dec-15

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

997,000

-

-

(25,000)

-

972,000

Campo Caído, Gondar Guimarães

27,300

-

-

(14,300)

-

13,000

Rua dos Remolares,12 - 18 -Lisbon

1,722,000

-

-

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

2,513,000

Total investment properties

5,259,300

-

-

-

-

(1,722,000)

(28,000)

-

(67,300)

(1,722,000)

2,485,000
3,470,000

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

2014:
Closing
Balance as Acquisitions
at Jan-14

Properties

Subsequent
expenditure

Adjust. to Fair value
of net gains & losses

Disposals and
transfers

Closing
Balance as
at Dec-14

14,000

-

997,000

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

983,000

-

-

Campo Caído, Gondar Guimarães

27,300

-

-

Rua dos Remolares,12 - 18 -Lisbon

1,690,000

-

-

32,000

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

2,510,000

-

-

3,000

Rua do Ptrocínio, 63 - 3ºB Lisboa

-

103,000

Activos classificados como detidos para venda.

5,313,300

-

-

-

27,300

-

1,722,000

-

2,513,000

-

(103,000)

49,000

(103,000)

5,259,300

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The amount of the fair-value adjustment in profit or loss is recorded in the income statement
under Other operating result, as Other operating costs.
During 2014, the property located at Rua do Patrocínio was sold, which was acquired by the Orey
Pension Fund for €104,000.
On April 16, 2015 the Group sold to Geoscotilha the property located at Rua dos Remolares, 14 to
18, in Lisbon, for €1,750,000. This property was sold free of any encumbrance or charge, and the
underlying mortgage with Novo Banco has since been cancelled by the bank. The Group
acknowledged, in 2015, under "Result of the sale of other financial assets" (Note 41) the result of
the sale of this property.
The amounts resulting from the adjustments shown in the preceding table were recognised in the
Group's profit or loss for the period. Likewise recognised in profit or loss was the following income
in respect of rents of the buildings listed below. These amounts are recognised under Other
operating results (Note 42), under Rents and other income, as follows:
Properties

Dec-15

Dec-14

Rua dos Remolares,12 - 18 -Lisbon

17,328

77,080

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

39,600

3,909

Total

56,928

80,989

(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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The fair value was determined by a valuation referred to the date of the financial position
performed by specialised independent professional consultants, based on principles of highest and
best use. These valuations are reviewed in-house and submitted to the approval of management.
The assumptions and values determined by the consultants as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, are
detailed hereunder:
Investment properties

Assumed unit Assumed rental value
value / m2
/ m2

Total gross area / m2

Amount of rent / m2

Profitability
Total amount of
(Current T. or
rent
Potential T)

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

€1,250/m2

€8.6/m2

794

-

-

8%

Campo Caído, Gondar Guimarães

€1.8/m2

€7.74/m2

7,366

-

-

9,48%

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

€1,177/m2

€8.30/m2

2,134

-

-

8,5%

Total gross area / m2

Amount of rent / m2

2014:
Investment properties

Assumed unit Assumed rental value
value / m2
/ m2

Profitability
Total amount of
(Current T. or
rent
Potential T)

Rua Luisa Holstein, 18/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

€1,250/m2

€8.6/m2

794

-

-

8%

Campo Caído, Gondar Guimarães

€2.7/m2

–

7,366

-

-

-

Rua dos Remolares,12 - 18 -Lisbon

€2,222/m2

€15.15/m2

1,380

€5.82/m2 (upper floors) and €24/m2 (ground floor)

€84,000

8.5%

Rua Luisa Holstein, 20/ Rua Maria Isabel Saint-Léger, Alcântara

€1,177/m2

€8.30/m2

2,134

-

-

8,5%

During 2015 and 2014 spending on investment property did not give rise to increases of rents
receivable, the amount of these expenses being recognised under General administrative costs.
The valuation amounts determined correspond to the third level of the fair value hierarchy, in that
the data are not obtained directly from the market and depend on the variables of the following
formula:
VM = IV x A
Where:
VM = Market value
IV = Sales Index in €/m²
A = Area

Please note that the property located at Rua Maria Isabel Saint Léger, 20, in Alcântara, has a
voluntary mortgage, renegotiated on July 22, 2014, with the Novo Banco, in the sum of €3,417,000
(2013: €2,166,166), as per Note 27.
The amount in debt is €1,333,600 in 2015.
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17. Other tangible assets
Up to December 31, 2015 and 2014, movement under tangible fixed assets, and also under their
depreciation, is as follows:
Gross Assets
Land & natural resources
Buildings & other constructions
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible assets
Fixed assets in progress
Total gross assets
Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

Opening balance
Jan-15

Revaluations

Impairment

2,376,581
6,816,654
573,310
21,826
1,535,150
120,953
983,583

(10,400)
(31,200)

-

-

-

12,428,056

(41,600)

Opening balance
Jan-15

-

Revaluations

Impairment

Increases

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer

722
112,779

-

-

Write-offs
(1,297,806)
(3,580,329)
(52,859)

15,000

(167,650)

-

(830,933)

128,500

(167,650)

-

(5,761,927)

Increases

Total accumulated depreciation & accumulated impairment losses

1,999,596

-

-

211,466

Net Value

10,428,460

(41,600)

-

(82,965)

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer
(167,650)

Abates
(57,408)

-

(5,704,519)

Closing Balance
Dec-15
1,068,375
3,205,125
574,032
21,826
1,595,070
120,953
6,585,380
Closing Balance
Dec-15
2,153,655
4,431,725
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Gross Assets
Land & natural resources
Buildings & other constructions
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Office equipment
Other tangible assets
Fixed assets in progress
Total gross assets

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

Opening balance
Jan-14

Revaluations

2,403,806
7,284,951
667,747
149,149
1,383,268
226,388
462,589

31,275
(292,797)

12,577,899

(261,522)

Opening balance
Jan-14

Total accumulated depreciation & accumulated impairment losses

2,179,453

Net Value

10,398,445

Impairment

Increases

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer

1,774
21,826
273,290
3,929
539,115

Revaluations

-

Impairment

(261,522)

839,934

Increases

-

-

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer

-

233,041

-

-

606,892

-

-

Write-offs

Closing Balance
Dec-14

(58,500)
(175,500)
(96,212)
(149,149)
(121,408)
(109,365)
(18,121)

2,376,581
6,816,654
573,310
21,826
1,535,150
120,953
983,583

(728,254)

12,428,056

Write-offs

Closing Balance
Dec-14

(412,899)

1,999,596

(315,355)

10,428,460
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2015, the Group recognised, under Result of the sale of other financial assets (Note 41), the sale
of the two condominium units (A and C) owned by the Company in the building at Rua de S.
Francisco de Borja, 63, in Lisbon, with a total area of 1,036 m2, for a total consideration of
€6,664,000.
The values of the land and buildings are in respect of the valuation performed on December 31,
2015, and reflect the fair value of these assets, which were determined by means of valuations
performed on the said date by specialised valuers, based on highest and best-use principles. These
valuations are reviewed in-house and submitted to the approval of management.
The valuation amounts determined correspond to the third level of the fair value hierarchy, in that
the data are not obtained directly from the market and depend on the variables of the following
formula:
VM = IV x A
Where:
VM = Market value
IV = Sales Index in €/m²
A = Area
The assumptions and values determined by the consultants as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, are detailed
hereunder:
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Assumed
Assumed
unit value / rental value /
m2
m2

Investment properties

Total gross
area / m2

Amount of rent / m2

Rua Espirito Santo nº 187 Leça de Palmeira - Matosinhos

€1,308/m2

12,8 €/m2

732

12,0 €/m2

Rua Roberto Ivens, nº 137 - Matosinhos

€920/m2

0

407

3,30 €/m2

Dois armazéns no complexo logístico Leziria Park, Forte da Casa Vila Granca de Xira

€694/m2

4,5 €/m2

4,370

4,08 €/m2

Total amount of
rent

Profitability
(Current T.,
Potential T)

78,768 €

16,138 €

8,75%

5,90%-9,60%

214,020 €

8,53%

Total amount
of rent

Profitability
(Current T.,
Potential T)

Investment properties

Assumed unit
value / m2

Assumed rental
value / m2

Total gross area / m2

Rua Espirito Santo nº 187 Leça de Palmeira - Matosinhos

€1,862/m2

14,8 €/m2

732

-

-

8,06%

Rua Roberto Ivens, nº 137 - Matosinhos

€726/m2

890 €/m2

407

5,34 €/m2

16,138 €

5,75%-9,25%

Dois armazéns no complexo logístico Leziria Park, Forte da
Casa - Vila Granca de Xira

€780/m2

4,87€/m2

4,370

6,62 €/m2

Rua São Francisco de Borja, nº 63 Lapa - Lisboa

€6,100/m2

-

1,892

-

-

15%

Rua de Arriaga, nº2 Lapa - Lisboa

€5,900/m2

-

294

-

-

15%

Amount of rent / m2

174,000 €

8,45%

Should land and buildings have been valued using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be
as follows:
Gross Assets

Dec-15

Land & natural resources
Buildings & other constructions
Accumulated amount depreciation and amortisation
Accumulated amount of impairments

1,169,509
4,384,420
(811,032)
(469,396)

Net Value

4,273,500

Dec-14
2,354,521
8,330,333
(827,052)
(857,431)
9,000,371
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

18. Intangible assets
During 2015 the movement under the value of intangible assets related with software, and under
amortisation and impairment losses was as follows:
Gross Assets
Useful life defined
Other

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses
Useful life defined
Other
Net Value

Opening
balance Jan15
1,779,101
1,779,101
Opening
balance Jan15

Revaluations

Increases

-

2,031
2,031

Revaluations

Increases

1,710,684
1,710,684

-

37,847
37,847

68,417

-

(35,817)

Transfer / Sale

167,650
167,650

Perimeter
alteration

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer

167,650

Reductions

(37,402)
(37,402)
Reductions

-

-

-

(37,402)

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-15
1,911,380
1,911,380
Closing
Balance as at
Dec-15
1,748,531
1,748,531
162,849

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The movement in 2014 was as follows:
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Gross Assets

Opening
balance Jan14

Useful life defined
Other

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses

Revaluations

1,715,106
1,779,101
Opening
balance Jan14

Useful life defined
Other
Net Value

Increases

-

68,774
68,774

Revaluations

Increases

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer / Sale

-

-

(4,779)
(4,779)

Perimeter
alteration

Transfer

Closing
Balance as at
Dec-14

Reductions

1,779,101
1,779,101
Closing
Balance as at
Dec-14

Reductions

1,556,818
1,710,684

-

153,866
153,866

-

-

-

1,710,684
1,710,684

68,417

-

(85,092)

-

-

(4,779)

68,417

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

19. Goodwill
The breakdown of goodwill calculated on the acquisition of Group companies is as follows:
Subsidiaries

Jan-15 (Net
Value)

Purchases

Sales

Impairment

Other
changes

Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Valores- Sociedade Correctora, SA
Orey Opportunity Fund
TRF Initiatoren GmbH
TRF Transferrechtefonds 1 Management GmbH
Orey Financial Brasil, SA
Full Trust -Soc Gestora de Patrimónios SA

8,009,266
83,937
154,134
498,428

-

-

-

-

Total

8,745,765

-

-

-

-

Transfer
-

Dec-15 (Net
Value)
8,009,266
83,937
154,134
498,428
8,745,765
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

2014:
Subsidiaries

Jan-14 (Net
Value)

Purchases

Sales

Impairment

Other
changes

Transfer

Orey Financial IFIC, SA
Orey Valores- Sociedade Correctora, SA
Orey Opportunity Fund
TRF Initiatoren GmbH
TRF Transferrechtefonds 1 Management GmbH
Orey Financial Brasil, SA
Full Trust -Soc Gestora de Patrimónios SA

8,009,266
83,937
154,134
2,100
2,100
1,983,915
498,428

-

-

(2,100)
(2,100)
(1,983,915)
-

-

-

Total

10,733,880

-

-

(1,988,115)

-

-

Dec-14 (Net
Value)
8,009,266
83,937
154,134
498,428
8,745,765
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

For the goodwill determined for the companies detailed above, there are impairments at Orey
Financial Brasil in the sum of €1,983,915 and at the firms TRF Transferrechtefonds 1 Management
GmbH and TRF Initiatoren GmbH totalling €4,200.
The firms Orey Valores and Full Trust are included in Orey Financial IFIC, SA in the process of
merging several financial companies.
Valuation methodology
To determine the goodwill on the acquisition of companies, the Orey Group used the discounted
cash-flow method.
In accordance with this method, the intrinsic value of the company is determined on the basis of
discounting the estimated cash flows for a given period of time and their residual or terminal value.
This residual value represents the present estimated value of the cash flows generated after the
explicit period.
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Thus, the present value of the cash flows determined on the basis of the budget for the first 3 years
was increased by the present value of the 5 following years, considering a growth rate of the cash
flows variable in keeping with the expectations for the business and, lastly, 7 years of cash flows at
a growth rate equivalent to that of the nominal growth of the economy, considering an interval of
between 1% and 3%.
The cash flows obtained are then discounted at a rate that incorporates the risk and reflects the
return on the business expected by investors (of borrowed funds and own funds).
The value in use of the company (business) is determined in this way and, as the projections are
subject to sundry external variables, the values obtained for the company are corrected for the
probabilities of success or otherwise of the forecast financial statements that underpin them.
Probability of complete success of the business plan – 75%
Probability of ½ success of the business plan – 15%
Probability of no success of the business plan - 10%
These probabilities may vary from company to company, depending on the degree of risk inherent
in each.
Having discounted the future cash flows and considered the probabilities, the amount of present
net debt is deducted in order to determine the value of equity.
There follows a table showing the assumptions used for 2015.
Assumptions

Orey Financial IFIC

Method employed
Base used
Growth rates of cash flows for 2018-24 (Orey Financial IFIC) and 2016-19 (Full Trust)
Growth rates of cash flows as from 2023 (Orey Financial IFIC) and 2020 (Full Trust)
Business plan success probabilities (1)
Discount rate used
WACC +1 p.p.
WACC -1 p.p.
WACC +2 p.p.
WACC -2 p.p.
WACC +3 p.p.
WACC -3 p.p.
Valuation

Full Trust

Discounted free cash Discounted free cash
Business Plans 2016 - Business Plans 2016
2020
- 2020
2%
0% to 2%
1%; 2%; 3%
0%;1%;2%
75%; 15%; 10%
85%; 10%; 5%
6.40%
10.10%
33,025,000
524,929
48,760,000
571,053
28,364,000
503,845
63,568,000
596,298
24,826,000
483,956
90,520,000
623,151
24,826,000
498,428
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

(1)

The probabilities correspond consecutively to the probability of success of the business
plan, the probability of achieving 50% of the business plan and the probability of
failure of the business plan

The assumptions for 2014 are as follows:
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Assumptions

Orey Financial IFIC

Full Trust

Method employed

Discounted free cash flows

Discounted free cash flows

Base used

Business Plans 2015 - 2018

Growth rates of cash flows for 2018-24 (Orey Financial IFIC) and 2014-18 (Full Trust)
Growth rates of cash flows as from 2023 (Orey Financial IFIC) and 2018 Full Trust
Business plan success probabilities (1)
Discount rate used

2%
1%; 2%; 3%
75%; 15%; 10%
8.00%

Business Plans 2015 2018
0% to 2%
0%;1%;2%
85%; 10%; 5%
15.20%

WACC +1 p.p.
WACC -1 p.p.
WACC +2 p.p.
WACC -2 p.p.
WACC +3 p.p.
WACC -3 p.p.
Valuation

48,556,000
67,014,000
42,680,000
80,851,000
38,071,000
108,574,000
38,071,000

794,649
794,649
794,649
794,649
794,649
794,649
794,649
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

(1)

The probabilities correspond consecutively to the probability of success of the business
plan, the probability of achieving 50% of the business plan and the probability of
failure of the business plan

20. Investments in associates and joint ventures
The non-financial business relating to:
▪

Domestic shipping;

▪

Naval and Security Techniques;

▪

Industrial Techniques;

are recognised in the Group's accounts as financial investments, and come to be included in the
consolidation perimeter using the equity method.
As mentioned in Note 5.2 and in Note 25, in 2014 the core business of International Shipping
(Angola, Mozambique and Mauritius) no longer belongs to this Group, and is classified as Availablefor-sale non-current assets.
Movement during 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
Financial investments in Joint Ventures

Dec-14

Income for
the period

Disposals

Orey Industrial Representations, SA
Orey Naval Safety, SA
Horizon View - Navegação e Trânsitos, SA
Other

1,343,185
2,742,024
4,847,867
6,000

396,006
32,794
317,241
-

-

Total

8,939,075

746,041

-

Held for sale
transfer
-

Changes in
equity

Other

Impairment

Dec-15

-

(54,820)
(3,106)
-

(125,001)
-

(101,139)
(45,141)
-

1,638,052
2,719,998
4,991,861
6,000

-

(57,925)

(125,001)

(146,279)

9,355,911

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

2014:

242

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

Financial investments in Joint Ventures

Dec-13

Income for
the period

Disposals

Held for sale
transfer

Changes in
equity

Orey Industrial Representations, SA
Lynx Transports and Logistics International
Orey Moçambique - Comércio e Serviços, Lda
Orey Naval Safety, SA
Horizon View - Navegação e Trânsitos, SA
Other

1,356,229
10,296,419
6,439
2,303,483
7,747,974
-

94,192
(24,583)
266,706
-

(47,010)
(2,992,285)
-

(10,296,419)
(6,439)

Total

21,710,545

336,316

(3,039,294)

(10,302,858)

-

Other

Impairment

Dec-14

23,698
510,133
(174,529)
-

6,000

(130,935)
-

1,343,185
2,742,024
4,847,867
6,000

359,302

6,000

(130,935)

8,939,075

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The more relevant facts under this heading:
 In June 2014 Private Equity sold 31.72% of the share capital of Horizon View – Navegação e
Trânsitos, SA, generating a loss of €1.699 million, recorded under Results of associates and
joint ventures in the Consolidated statement of income.
 Also in 2014 a new shareholders' agreement was signed at the Orey Safety Naval Group, and
the right to purchase 2% of the shares was subsequently exercised by non-controlling
interests.
 As explained in Note 5.2 of these Notes, in 2014 the Company received from the Inchacape
Shipping Services Group a non-binding purchase offer primarily targeting the businesses in
Angola and Mozambique. By virtue of the negotiations under way on as of 31/12/2014, all
companies involved in this offer were later classified as Available-for-sale non-current assets
and the assets and the liabilities inherent therein have been identified separately in the
consolidated financial statements in the appropriate line.
In accordance with IFRS 5, and because the last 5% of the companies inherent in the business
of Angola were bought with the intention of selling them later, the Group applied the
alternative method of consolidation laid down in this standard: the "short-cut method".
The short-cut method consists of carrying the assets and liabilities of the entity that is to be
sold at their fair value less the cost inherent in their sale.
With regard to companies that make up the core of the business of Mozambique, and because
they were always fully included in the Company's portfolio, IFRS 5 states that the full
consolidation method shall be to its full extent.
The amounts recognised under the heading Results of associates and joint ventures of the
income statement are detailed below:
Net income of joint ventures
Orey Industrial Representations, SA
Orey Safety Naval, SA
Horizon View - Navegação e Trânsitos, SA
Disposals
Total

Dec-15
396,006
32,794
317,241
746,041

Dec-14
94,192
(24,583)
266,706
(1,280,791)
(944,475)

21. Taxes
The balances of tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, were as follows:
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Taxes

Dec-15

Current tax assets
Estimated tax
IRC payable
IRC recoverable
Corporation tax (IRC) withheld at source
Special payment on account
Sub-total
Deferred tax assets
Tax losses
Sub-total

Dec-14
-

(436,905)
(9,663)
111,206
96,278
321,662
82,577

10,448
10,448

Current tax liabilities
Estimated tax
IRC payable
IRC recoverable
Special payment on account
Tax withheld
Sub-total
Deferred tax liabilities
Revaluations
Sub-total

8,877
8,877

554,257
0
(123,792)
(298,752)
(109,773)
21,939

190,255
190,255

647,221
647,221

702,651
702,651

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As stated in Note 4.4.14, estimated current tax is determined based on the book net income
adjusted for tax legislation in force to which each of the companies included in consolidation is
subject.
The Group is subject to corporation tax (IRC) at the normal rate of 21% (2014: 23%), increased by
1.5% (2014: 1,5% for the municipal surcharge, leading to an aggregate tax rate of 22.5% (2014:
24.5%) plus the state surcharge.
Corporation tax (IRC) withheld at source refers to transaction undertaken by the entity owing
income whereby it retains the tax upon payment of the income, applying the appropriate rates, the
said income being paid net of this tax.
The item Special payment on account relates to the special payments on account of corporation tax
determined in prior years. These payments will be recoverable by:
 the fourth year following that in which they are made, for the special payments on account
made up to and including 2013, and
 the sixth subsequent year for the special payments on account made as from 2014,
by means of deduction from the taxable income under IRS, as determined. If no taxable income
under IRC is determined for the years in question, that part of the special payments on account
that was not deducted may still be reimbursed upon request for reimbursement made by the
Group, which, for the purpose, will then be subject to inspection.
The evolution and balances of Deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2015 and 2014 were as follows:
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Balance as at
Dec-14

Deferred tax assets

Increase

Balance as at
Dec-15

Reversal

Tax Losses Brought Forward

8,877

4,092

(2,521)

10,448

Total

8,877

4,092

(2,521)

10,448

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Balance as at
Dec-13

Deferred tax assets

Increase

Balance as at
Dec-14

Reversal

Tax Losses Brought Forward

210,897

140

(202,161)

8,877

Total

210,897

140

(202,161)

8,877

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Balance as at
Dec-14

Increase

Revaluations

702,651

-

(55,429)

647,221

Total

702,651

-

(55,429)

647,221

Deferred tax liabilities

Balance as at
Dec-15

Reversal

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Balance as at
Dec-13

Deferred tax liabilities

Increase

Balance as at
Dec-14

Reversal

Revaluations

776,895

487,134

(561,379)

702,651

Total

776,895

487,134

(561,379)

702,651

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The breakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities by type of difference in 2015 and 2014 is as
follows:
Total

Items
Dec-15
Temp. diff. giving rise to def. tax assets
Tax losses
Deferred income
Temp. diff. giving rise to def. tax liabilities
Revaluation of fixed assets
Other
Amounts reflected in the statement of financial position
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

(10,909)
(10,909)

Dec-14

Operations in Income
Statement
Dec-15
Dec-14

(18,388)
(18,388)

-

Mov. Under Equity
Dec-15

Dec-14

(897,872)
(897,872)

7,479
-

-

2,594,881
2,594,881

2,841,022
862,021

(249,294)
(249,294)

(329,978)
(329,978)

3,153
3,153

-

10,448
647,221

8,877
702,650

(56,091)

202,021
(74,245)

1,571
662

-

Under current legislation, and until 2009, tax losses are carried forward for a period of six years
after they are incurred and can be deducted from tax profits generated during this period.
However, Law 3-B/2010 of April 28,2010 (2010 State Budget Act), established that as from January
1, 2010, this period for the deduction of tax losses carried forward is reduced to just four years.
Law 64-B/2011 of December 30, 2011 (2012 State Budget Act) once again altered the term,
increasing from four to five years the period of deduction of tax losses arising in 2012 and 2013.
Later, under Law 83-C/2013 of December 31, tax losses generated in fiscal years beginning on or
after 1 January 2014 may be carried forward for a period of 12 years.
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Also, in this respect, this Law determines that deduction of tax losses, including tax losses incurred
before January 1, 2014, is limited to 70% of taxable income for the year in which the deduction is
realised.
In keeping with current legislation, tax returns relating to corporation tax are subject to review and
correction by the tax authorities for a period of four years (or six years where there are tax losses).
However, in situations where tax benefits have been granted or inspections, claims or appeals, are
in progress the deadlines are extended or suspended, depending on the circumstances.
Therefore, the Company's tax returns for 2012 to 2015 are still subject to review.
Nevertheless, in the opinion of the Company's Board of Directors, no correction for the years
referred to above is expected to have a material impact on the financial statements as at December
31, 2015, other than those already included in the provisions set aside by the Group in this
connection.
The breakdown of the balance of Tax Costs (Income) in 2015 and 2014, recognised in the income
statement is as follows:
Expenditure (tax income)

Dec-15

Current Tax
Deferred taxes
- Increase and reversal of temporary differences

Dec-14

770,916

1,336,640

(56,091)
Total

714,825

142,290
1,478,930

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The breakdown of deferred taxes is as follows:
Deferred taxes

Dec-15

Reversal of deferred tax liability on the sale of Rua do Patrocínio
Reversal of deferred tax liability on the sale of Rua dos trabalhadores do mar
Deferred tax assets/liabilities generated by the financial companies
Increase of deferred tax liability relating to the revaluation of investment properties
Change in tax rate revaluation of properties
Reversal of deferred tax liability on the sale of Rua do Patrocínio
Reversal of deferred tax liability on the sale of Rua Roberto Ivens
Deferred tax liabilities revaluation reversal Rua Maria Isabel Saint Léger, 18
Total

48,756
1,710
5,625
56,091

Dec-14
(152)
(9,977)
202,161
3,825
(53,567)
142,289
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The rate used for the measurement of deferred taxes was as follows:



For tax losses, the rate used at the end of 2015 and 2014 was 21%.
For other types, revaluation of assets for example, at the end of 2014 the rate was
22.5% (2014: 22.5%), the corporation tax rate in force the following year plus the 1.5%
surcharge.

22. Expenses to be recognised and debtor accruals
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Expenses pending recognition and debtor
accruals is as follows:
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Expenses to be recognised and debtor accruals
Costs pending recognition
Debtor accruals
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

392,632
24,033,776

274,632
21,788,655

24,426,409

22,063,287

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The most significant amount under this heading account is "Debtors for accrual", closely
related with the business inherent in the Distressed Fund.
As mentioned in Note 11 of these Notes, the Orey Group manages a Distressed Fund in Brazil
whose core business is the management of insolvencies in the Brazilian market.
In the current scenario, the Distressed Fund consists of two insolvency projects called OPINCRIVEL
and ARARAS. These projects have a duration of more than one year and their return is realisable
only at the end of the process.
Given that these are uncertain-return processes in accordance with international regulations in
force, the expenses inherent in these processes shall fully recognised as expenses in the period
they occur. A best estimate shall then be made of the amounts of income to be recognised in their
respect, reflecting the prospect of a return on this business.
Thus, of the amount of debtors for income accruals in the sum of €24,033,776, carried in the
consolidated accounts as at December 31, 2015, the amount of €23,831,745 (2014: €21,261,653)
can be broken down as follows:

Debtors for accrued income

OPINCRIVEL

Costs incurred/Estimated Income
Margin recorded
Total

ARARAS

3,225,562
-

17,960,877
2,645,306

3,225,562

20,606,183

TOTAL
21,186,439
2,645,306
23,831,745
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

2014:
Debtors for accrued income

OPINCRIVEL

Costs incurred/Estimated Income
Margin recorded
Total

ARARAS

3,263,569
-

12,668,084
5,330,000

3,263,569

17,998,084

TOTAL
15,931,653
5,330,000
21,261,653
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

23. Other assets
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Other assets is as follows:
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Other assets

Dec-15

Dec-14

Clients
Advances to staff
VAT recoverable
Tax withheld
Inventories
Other debtors

1,406,692
108,050
1,117,103
1,042,888

691,741
11,772
926,215
24,641
220
1,424,334

Total other assets before impairment

3,674,732

3,078,923

(250,483)

Impairment of other assets

(256,793)

3,424,249

Total other net assets

2,822,130
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2015 the performance of Impairments compared to 2014 is as follows:
Balance as at
Dec-14

Increase

Utilização

Doubtful debtors

256,573

42,799

(10,261)

Total

256,573

42,799

(10,261)

Transfer

Alteração do
perimetro

-

Balance as at
Dec-15

Reversal

-

(38,628)

250,483

(38,628)

250,483

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

jan/14

Increase

Utilização

Doubtful debtors

258,466

55,173

(4,912)

Total

258,466

55,173

(4,912)

Transfer

Alteração do
perimetro

-

Balance as at
Dec-14

Reversal

-

(52,153)

256,573

(52,153)

256,573

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The impairment of Other assets refers in its entirety to client impairment.
All balances included in this heading have a maturity less than one year and their fair value does
not differ materially from their carrying amount.

24. Classes of financial instruments
Financial instruments were classified as follows:
Loans/
receivables

Financial Assets Dec-14
Cash and balances at central banks
Balances at other credit institutions
Financial assets held for trading
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Placements with credit institutions
Loans & advances to customers
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Other assets

10,419
8,146,495
15,594,390
725
1,312,344
1,764,187
2,822,130
29,650,690

Available for
sale
85,216
478,580
323,978
887,774

Derivatives
-

Total
10,419
8,146,495
85,216
478,580
15,594,390
323,978
725
1,312,344
1,764,187
2,822,130
30,538,464
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Loans/
receivables

Financial Assets Dec-15
Cash and balances at central banks
Balances at other credit institutions
Financial assets held for trading
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Other financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Placements with credit institutions
Loans & advances to customers
Loans to associates and subsidiaries
Other assets

9,133
6,808,340
11,720,697
59,747
1,248,307
760,745
3,424,249
24,031,218

Available for
sale
83,646
483,113
56,138
622,897

Derivatives
35,245,838
35,245,838

Total
9,133
6,808,340
83,646
35,728,951
11,720,697
56,138
59,747
1,248,307
760,745
3,424,249
59,899,952
(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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Borrowings/
payables

Financial Liabilities Dec-14
Financial liabilities held for trading
Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Debt securities
Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries
Other liabilities

15,718,512
49,793,452
8,167,746
73,679,710

Available for
sale
-

Derivatives

Total

8,034
8,034

8,034
15,718,512
49,793,452
8,167,746
73,687,744
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Borrowings/
payables

Financial Liabilities Dec-15
Financial liabilities held for trading
Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Debt securities
Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries
Other liabilities

29,430,195
58,936,702
728,500
9,013,691
98,109,088

Available for
sale
-

Derivatives

Total

5,648
5,648

5,648
29,430,195
58,936,702
728,500
9,013,691
98,114,736
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

25. Available-for-sale and discontinued non-current assets and liabilities
As explained in Note 5.2 of these Notes, in 2014 the Company received a non-binding purchase
offer primarily targeting the businesses in Angola and Mozambique. By virtue of this, all companies
involved in this offer were later classified as Available-for-sale non-current assets and the assets
and the liabilities inherent therein have been identified separately in the consolidated financial
statements in the appropriate line.

Angola
In accordance with IFRS 5, and because the last 5% of the companies inherent in the business of
Angola were bought with the intention of selling them later, the Group applied the alternative
method of consolidation laid down in this standard: the "short-cut method".

The short-cut method consists of carrying the assets and liabilities of the entity that is to be
sold at their fair value less the cost inherent in their sale, with subsequent evidence of the
liabilities valued at fair value.
Thus complying with the provisions of IFRS 5, the Orey Group informs that, as at December 31,
2015, the consolidated liabilities of the companies of Angola, stated at fair value, are as follows:
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale carried at fair value
Non-current liabilities
Suppliers of fixed assets
Recourse to other funding
Debt securities
Other payables
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable
Suppliers of fixed assets
State & other public entities
Recourse to other funding
Other payables
Total liabilities at fair value

Dec-15

Dec-14

189,790
430,859
12,454,398
13,075,046

275,462
877,428
11,630,322
1,024,793
13,808,005

7,576,819
730,745
127,273
1,052,057
9,813,467
19,300,360
32,375,405

9,004,395
980,085
65,111
512,268
11,516,504
22,078,363
35,886,368
(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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In 2015, specifically in mid-September, it was found that for reasons foreign to the Orey Group the
sale did not materialise, despite the high probability assigned to this transaction.
Meanwhile, even in the economic and financial situation of the countries involved, the Board
reiterated the commitment and efforts directed at the sale of the Angolan investment, and has
since been making new efforts through roadshows for external investors, which culminated with
the signature in November and in December 2015, of two NDAs with entities outside the Group.
It can be expected that the core business of Angola (including Mozambique) may therefore be sold
during the course of 2016, and therefore the classification of assets and liabilities directly
associated with assets classified as held for sale have been maintained.
In keeping with the fair-value hierarchy agreement, these non-current assets and liabilities held for
sale are at level 3, since the data are obtained from the market to determine the final value of the
investment.
Mozambique
With regard to companies that made up the Mozambique business nucleus, and because they were
always fully included in the Company's portfolio, IFRS 5 stipulates that the full consolidation
method should be applied to them to its full extent.
In 2014, the companies that made up the perimeter of the companies of Mozambique were Orey
Mauritius (the parent company) and Orey Moçambique (subsidiary company).
During 2015, and as part of a project for the restructuring of the investments in Angola and
Mozambique, the firm Orey Mauritius sold its subsidiary Orey Moçambique to the firm Orey
Aprestos e Gestão, whose core business lies in the Angolan market
With this transfer, the continuity of the firm Orey Mauritius was called into question and on
31/12/2015 and for consolidation purposes this company is carried as a discontinued asset.
In this way, in 2015, the assets and liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for
sale came to include just amounts in respect of the firm Orey Moçambique.
To that end, the Orey Group informs that, as of the 2015 and 2014 reporting dates, the breakdown
of the assets and liabilities related to the consolidation of the companies that make up the
Mozambique nucleus is as follows:
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Assets & liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale.

Dec-15

Dec-14

Assets
Tangible fixed assets
Clients
Other receivables
Deferrals
Cash & cash equivalents
Assets classified as held for sale

10,113
34,951
123,774
92,101
502,538
763,476

8,548
355,679
378,143
12,801
212,662
967,833

Liabilities
Provisions
Suppliers
Other payables
Liabilities associated with held-for-sale assets
Net assets directly associated with a group available for sale

444,635
230,428
675,064
88,412

4,476
137,563
199,856
341,895
625,938
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Result of discontinuing operations

Dec-15

Sales & services rendered
Other operating income
Third-party supplies & services
Staff costs
Other operating costs
EBITDA
Depreciation & amortisation
EBIT
Financial results
EBT
Tax costs (income)

Dec-14

2,557,862
1,270,965
(2,147,618)
(230,261)
(1,452,665)
(1,718)
(5,207)
(6,926)
(6,926)
(63)

Net profit for the period

3,495,766
274,418
(3,258,566)
(205,246)
(163,177)
143,195
(10,227)
132,967
11
132,979
(8,231)

-6,988

124,747
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

26. Financial liabilities held for trading
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Other financial assets is as follows:
Financial liabilities held for trading
Currency and interest-rate swaps

Dec-15

dez/14

5,648

8,034

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

27. Amounts owed to other credit institutions
The breakdown of Amounts owed to other credit institutions as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is
as follows:
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Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Entity

Dec-15

Bank loans
Novo Banco
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Popular
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco BIC
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Comercial Português
Banca March
Banca Andbank Andorra

1,333,600
788,949
515,395
5,000,000
363,800
1,943,518
19,000,000

Bank overdrafts
Banco Banif
Banco BIC

100,000
1,524

Finance Leases

383,410

Total

29,430,195

Dec-14

3,417,000
1,094,956
693,143
1,033,713
55,240
325,000
2,095,999
2,950,000
-

4,053,463
15,718,512
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Major events to be reported:
 In June 2014 SCOA consolidated its financial positions at Novo Banco. In this way, the loan in
the sim of €2,166,166 in 2013, and the bank overdraft of €2,434,246 were partly repaid by
means of the term deposit of €1,250,000, the remainder consisting of a single loan in the
sum of €3,417,000, which has a grace period until December 2014. The instalments of
principal are paid half-yearly, the first in June 2015.
 In March 2015 a collateralised current account was opened with Caixa Geral de Depósitos in
the amount of €5,000,000. This account was renewed in March 2016 under the previously
existing terms and conditions, payment being scheduled for March 2017;
 In October 2015, the Company, as planned, fully repaid the loan of €2,950,000 Euros granted
by Banca March, which was secured by the deposit of the same amount at that financial
institution;
 As stated earlier, the Company completed the acquisition of Banco Inversis a final
consideration of €21,735,959, which was settled by means of loan of €2,950,000 that
existed with the Banca March and a loan of €19 million that AndBank granted to SCOA
specifically to fulfil this acquisition.
And this loan is repayable in 10 years and is remunerated at an interest rate of 5%;
In short, the financing conditions for the more significant bank loans are as follows:
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Bank

Form

Amount approved

Amount owed

Novo Banco
Banco Comercial Português
AndBank

-Med./Long term
-Med./Long term
-Med./Long term

3,417,000
3,100,000
19,000,000

1,016,981
1,943,518
19,000,000

- Guaranteed current account
- Short term
- Loan / SME Line
- Loan / SME Line
-Short term
- Guaranteed current account
- Guaranteed current account
- Guaranteed current account

5,000,000
3,417,000
300,000
200,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
100,000
50,000

5,000,000
316,619
163,800
200,000
515,395
711,041
59,726
18,182

Rate as at 3112-2015

Interest rate

Non-current loans
3M Euribor + 2.25% spread

2.4%
2.6%

1M Euribor + 1.5% spread
5%

5%

Current loans
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Novo Banco
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Popular
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria

6M Euribor + 3.5% spread
3M Euribor + 2.25% spread
3M Euribor + 4.938% spread
6M Euribor + 4.25% spread
3M Euribor + 7.0% to 7.5% Spread
3M Euribor + 6.5% spread
7.25%
7.5%

3.6%
2.4%
6.5%
7.4%
7.8%
7.3%
7.3%
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Rate as at
31-12-2014

Bank

Form

Amount approved

Amount owed

Interest rate

Novo Banco
Banco Comercial Português
Banco BIC

-Med./Long term
-Med./Long term
-Med./Long term

3,417,000
3,100,000
1,000,000

3,417,000
2,095,999
55,240

3M Euribor + 2.25% spread

-Short term
-Short term
- Guaranteed current account
- Loan / SME Line
-Short term
-Short term
- Guaranteed current account
- Guaranteed current account
- Guaranteed current account

1,000,000
200,000
1,200,000
300,000
1,000,000
2,950,000
1,000,000
100,000
50,000

1,000,000
33,713
100,000
225,000
693,143
2,950,000
958,861
92,230
43,864

6M Euribor + 4.5% spread

Non-current loans
2.4%
2.6%
7.2%

1M Euribor + 1.5% spread
3M Euribor + 7.0% spread

Current loans
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Popular
Banca March
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria

1M Euribor + 4.0% spread
6M Euribor + 5.25% spread
3M Euribor + 5.0% spread
3M Euribor + 7.0% to 7.5% Spread
5%
3M Euribor + 6.5% spread
7.5%
7.5%

5.7%
5.8%
6.5%
6.5%
7.4%
5.0%
7.8%
7.3%
7.3%
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The breakdown of the loans between current and non-current as of 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
Dec-15

Borrowings

Current liabilities

Dec-14

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Novo Banco
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Popular
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco BIC
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Comercial Português
Banca March
Banca Andbank Andorra

316,619
303,861
15,395
5,000,000
99,588
154,808
-

1,016,981
485,088
264,212
1,788,710
19,000,000

683,400
306,024
668,888
1,033,713
55,240
160,000
162,380
2,950,000
-

Total

5,890,271

22,554,992

6,019,644

2,733,600
788,932
24,255
165,000
1,933,619
5,645,406
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Liabilities under finance leases are as follows:
Finance lease liabilities

Dec-15
Current liabilities

Dec-14

Non-current liabilities

Total

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Total

Buildings, land & natural resources

183,398

171,108

354,506

259,849

3,750,152

Transport equipment

24,794

4,110

28,904

15,228

28,235

43,463

Total

208,192

175,218

383,410

275,077

3,778,386

4,053,463
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

-

Type of Asset

Future payments

4,010,001

Not more than 1 year

Over 1 year and not
more than 5

Over 5 years

Buildings, land & natural resources

354,506

183,398

171,108

-

Transport equipment

28,904

24,794

4,110

-

Total

383,410

208,192

175,218

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Type of Asset

Not more than 1 year

Over 1 year and not
more than 5

4,010,001

259,849

1,044,948

43,463

15,228

28,235

4,053,464

275,077

1,073,183

Future payments

Buildings, land & natural resources
Transport equipment
Total

Over 5 years
2,705,204
2,705,204
(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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28. Debt securities
In April 2013 SCOA issued the remaining €17,000,000 relating to a bond loan (Orey Best), approved
in 2010 in the sum of €30,000,000, of which €13,000,000 were issued that year.
Thus, as at December 31, 2015, the detail of liabilities represented by the debt securities is as
follows:
Bond Loan

Issue limit

Bond loan
Orey Best / 2010-2018
Araras Bonds
Orey 1 year - Feb. 2015 - Feb. 2016
Total

30,000,000
5,000,000

Amount used
30,000,000
5,000,000

Carrying amount
29,167,741
24,769,397
4,999,564
58,936,702
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2014 the detail of the debt securities was as follows:
Bond Loan

Issue limit

Bond loan
Orey Best / 2010-2018
Araras Bonds
Total

30,000,000
-

Amount used
30,000,000
-

Carrying amount
29,881,363
19,912,089
49,793,452
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The conditions of the Orey Best bond loan are as follows:





The issuer is Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, and the paying agent is Millennium BCP
Total amount approved is €30,000,000, maturing on 08/07/2018.
The issuer has a call option after 2015, on an annual basis.
Up to 2015 payment is quarterly at an interest rate between 5.5% or 3M Euribor with a
spread of 2.5%.
 The 2016 coupon has an interest rate that varies between 6.5% or the 3M Euribor plus a
spread of 3.5%.
 The 2017 coupon has an interest rate of 7.5% or the 3M Euribor plus a spread of 4.5%.
 The 2018 coupon has an interest rate of 8.5% or the 3M Euribor plus a spread of 5.5%.
The conditions of the Araras bond loan are as follows:









The issuer is Araras Finance BV.
Amount of principal: €3,500,000 up to €50,000,000.
Start date: November 30, 2011.
Maturity date: November 30, 2016.
Duration: 5 years.
Coupon: Zero coupon.
Issuer's call option: After the 3rd year (inclusive), on an annual basis.
Price of the Call Option: 70% in the third year and 80% in the fourth year

Although several actions/negotiations by the Board are in progress, which are expected to be
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finalised by that date, to guarantee the fulfilment of that liability on the said date, the obtaining of
resources required for its payment had not yet been ensured.
The detail of the GNB Vida bond issue is as follows:
 Issuer: Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA;
 Total approved amount of €5,000,000;
 Denomination of the Bonds: €100,000
 Number of Bonds: 50
 Issue: May 19, 2015.
 Maturity: February 19, 2016.
 Early redemption: Not subject to early redemption at the initiative of the issuer or of the
bondholders
 Interest rate: 6%
 Interest payment: Bullet, on the maturity date
It should be noted that the Group settled this loan and the respective in full on February 19, 2016.

29. Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries is
as follows:
Borrowings of associates and subsidiaries

Dec-15

Oilmetric
Orey Inversiones Financieras

Dec-14

78,500
650,000
728,500

Total

-

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

30. Provisions
During 2015 and 2014 the evolution of provisions was as follows:
Balance as
at Jan-14

Increase

Used /
regularisation

Transfer

Balance as
at Dec-14

Reversals

Provisions

2,737,827

86,184

(233,900)

-

-

Total

2,737,827

86,184

(233,900)

-

-

2,590,112
2,590,112
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Balance as
at Dec-14

Increase

Used /
regularisation

Transfer

Balance as
at Dec-15

Reversals

Provisions

2,590,112

122,618

4,220

-

-

Total

2,590,112

122,618

4,220

-

-

2,716,949
2,716,949
(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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This item refers to contingencies of ongoing proceedings which, though theoretically covered by
the statute of limitations, were inspected in previous years and are now subject to the
Administrative and Fiscal Court, which led to the recognition of these provisions in the Group's
accounts.
In 2013 the provision was increased by €797,004, due to Tax Authority proceedings in progress,
inherent the corporation tax in respect of 2001 to 2004 (inclusive), which are being judicially
challenged and await trial.
Likewise in 2013 a provision was set aside relating to proceedings filed by Portuguese Tax Authority
under the Special Taxation of Groups of Companies Legislation (RETGS) for 2010 and 2011 in the
amount of €1,427,207. These proceedings are the result of a difference of understanding between
the Orey Group and the Tax Authority on the perimeter of the tax consolidation in the fiscal years
in question. All these processes have been challenged through the cvourts in the meantime and are
awaiting trial.
During 2014 the provision of €797,004 provision was reassessed taking into account the inherent
accrued interest, possible fines and court costs that are inherent, which led the Orey Group to
increase this provision by €86,183.63.
In 2015 the Company increased in the provision for tax contingencies in the amount of €122,218 by
way of update of existing provision.

31. Creditors for accruals and income pending recognition
The breakdown of Creditors for accruals and income pending recognition as at December 31, 2015
and 2014, is as follows:
Creditor accruals and income pending recognition
Creditors for accrued costs
Income pending recognition
Totals

Dec-15

Dec-14

1,435,797
387,420

997,715
258,946

1,823,217

1,256,661

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

32.Other liabilities
The breakdown of Other liabilities as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
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Other Liabilities

Dec-15

Public Administrative Sector
Tax withheld
Social security
VAT
Other taxes
Suppliers
Available profits
Staff
Remuneration payable
Trade union
Bonuses
Other creditors
Retirement benefits
Other
Totals

Dec-14

158,837
147,744
1,896,749
1,383,351
48,076

133,924
51,116
1,499,451
1,029,272
48,076

405,991
32
336,707

484,757
32
234,288

388,393
4,247,812

575,286
4,111,545

9,013,691

8,167,746

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

With regard to the amounts under Retirement Benefits, it should be noted that the Orey Pension
Fund is at this time under a plan for the financing of liabilities for past services already fallen due,
with assets and pensioners, which has been approved by the Insurance and Pension Funds
Supervision Authority.
However, in keeping with IAS 19, the Orey Group updated the discount rate in accordance with
established benchmarks, thus adjusting it to the economic reality of which it forms part.
On the basis of the foregoing the Company informs that the actuarial assumptions and technical
bases were as follows for 2015 and 2014:
Actuarial assumptions and technical bases

Dec-15

Dec-14

1.7%
2.3%
1.0%
0%-0.5%

1.7%
2.3%
2.0%
1.0%

66 years
TV 88/90
TV 88/90
SR

66 years
TV 88/90
TV 88/90
SR

Financial assumptions
Actuarial underwriting rate
Annual rate of return of the fund
Annual wage growth rate
Annual pension growth rate
Demographic assumptions
Normal retirement age
Mortality table men
Mortality table women
Disability Table

Therefore net liabilities were as follows:
Dec-15

Evolution of Net Liabilities
Pensioners

In service

Opening balance
Cost of current services
Interest cost
Contributions
Real return on assets
Actuarial gains & losses

268,879
27,482
(131,211)
(23,683)
(51,012)

306,407
8,474
5,331
(5,422)
(16,851)

Total

90,455

297,939

Total
575,286
8,474
32,813
(136,633)
(23,683)
(67,863)
388,395
(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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Dec-14

Evolution of Net Liabilities
Pensioners

In service

Total

Opening balance
Cost of current services
Interest cost
Contributions
Real return on assets
Actuarial gains & losses

636,746
25,710
(641,340)
13,203
234,561

242,268
8,474
4,215
(4,469)
55,918

Total

268,880

306,406

879,014
8,474
29,925
(645,809)
13,203
290,479
575,287
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

During 2015 SCOA delivered a monetary contribution (2014: two contributions) to the pension fund
in the sum of €130,000 (2014: €638,000).
Thus, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the value of the Pension fund was as follows:

Value of the pension fund

Dec-15

Opening balance
Contributions
Real return on assets
Benefits & premiums paid by the fund

1,310,529
130,000
23,683
(153,214)

Total

1,310,998

Dec-14
840,834
638,000
(13,203)
(155,102)
1,310,529
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

In 2015 and 2014 the impact of the defined-benefit plan was as follows:
Defined Benefits
Defined Benefits
Total

2015
Net income
10,971
10,971

2014
Equity

Net income

67,864
67,864

Equity

43,793
43,793

290,479
290,479
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

And the liabilities and the value of the assets of the fund were as follows:
Liability and value of the fund's assets
Amount of liabilities allocated to the fund
Fund value
Fund shortfall

Dec-15
1,654,110
1,310,998
343,112

Dec-14
1,848,936
1,310,529
538,407
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

33. Share capital
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the fully subscribed and paid up share capital is represented by
12,000,000 ordinary shares, with no right to fixed remuneration, each of a par value of €1.
Qualifying holdings in the Company are as follows:
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Qualifying Holdings

Quantity

Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Directly:
Indirectly:
- Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL

47,051

% of share capital

% of voting rights

0.39%

0.39%

9,252,949

77.11%

77.11%

9,300,000

77.50%

77.50%

424,449

3.54%

3.54%

121,211
242,421
788,081

1.01%
2.02%
6.57%

1.01%
2.02%
6.57%

TOTAL QUALIFIED HOLDINGS

10,088,081

84.07%

84.07%

OTHER

1,766,534

14.72%

14.72%

TREASURY SHARES
TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL

145,385
12,000,000

1.21%
100.00%

1.21%
100.00%

% of share capital

% of voting rights

0.00%

0.00%

SUB-TOTAL
Joachin Michalski
Miguel de Melo Mardel Correia
Directly:
Indirectly:
SUB-TOTAL

In 2014 qualifying holdings were the following:
Qualifying Holdings

Quantity

Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey
Directly:
Indirectly:
- Orey Inversiones Financieras, SL

-

SUB-TOTAL
Joachin Michalski
Tristão da Cunha menezes
MCFA, SGPS, SA
SUB-TOTAL

9,252,949

77.11%

77.11%

9,252,949

77.11%

77.11%

424,449
280,458
242,421

3.54%
2.34%
2.02%

3.54%
2.34%
2.02%

947,328

TOTAL QUALIFYING HOLDINGS
NON-QUALIFYING HOLDINGS
TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL

10,200,277
1,799,723
12,000,000

7.90%

7.90%

85.01%
14.99%
100.00%

85.01%
14.99%
100.00%

This information was obtained based on the list supplied by Interbolsa, and SaxoBank AS is a share
depositary bank.

34. Issue premiums
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of issue premiums is as follows:
Nº of shares

Deferred
taxes

Issue costs

Total issue
premium

Year

Increase of share capital through subscription of shares

2006

5,000,000

1

5,000,000

-233,725

64,274

4,830,550

Conversion of VMOPs

2008

3,409,272

1

3,409,272

-115,086

2,303

3,296,489

Conversion of VMOPs

2009

109,166

1

109,166

-

-

Reduction of share capital

2010

-750,000

1

-750,000

-

-

-750,000

Reduction of share capital

2011

-1,000,000

1

-1,000,000

-

-

-1,000,000

Total

Unit premium

Issue
premium
sub-total

Item

109,166

6,486,204
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

35. Treasury shares
During 2015 there were no changes to the Company's treasury share portfolio compared to 2014,
the detail of this item being as follows:
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Treasury Shares

Quantity

Held as at 31/12/2015 by:
- SCOA

Average cost

145,385

2.23

Total Value
324,132

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

At the end of the year the Group was in possession of 145,385 treasury shares corresponding to
1.21% of the share capital and voting rights.

36. Reserves and retained earnings
The breakdown of this item as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
Reserves and retained earnings

Dec-15

Dec-14

Revaluation reserve
Tangible fixed asset revaluation reserves

1,002,243

Financial investments in Associates’ assets var. reserve
Sub-Total

1,043,843

(362,340)

(293,636)

639,903

750,207

Other reserves and retained earnings
Legal reserve

3,275,955

3,072,499

Other reserves

(6,427,952)

(3,043,290)

Retained earnings

4,499,830

3,111,185

Sub-Total

1,347,832

3,140,394

Total

1,987,736

3,890,600
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Movements in 2015 and 2014 under reserves and retained earnings were as follows:
Reserves
January 1, 2014

Legal reserve

Revaluation
reserves

2,702,931

692,181

Currency
translation
reserve
(2,629,965)

Other reserves
544,283

Actuarial losses Orey pension fund
58,026

Financial statement conversion differences

369,568

December 31, 2014

3,072,499

3,078,876

3,078,876

(3,437,838)

(3,437,838)

(369,568)
750,207

(3,584,918)

(3,055)
541,228

Actuarial losses Orey pension fund

1,629
3,111,585
67,864

Temporary differences arising from the valuation of financial assets

(110,304)

Financial statement conversion differences

(3,384,213)

Dividends

203,456
31-12-2015

3,275,955

(203,456)
639,903

3,890,600
67,864
(3,384,213)

1,523,590

Other

(1,426)

(110,304)

Appropriation of 2014 profit
Constitution of legal reserve

(290,479)
(954,953)

Dividends
-

5,438,394
58,026

(954,953)

Appropriation of 2013 profit

Other

Total

4,128,965
(290,479)

Temporary differences arising from the valuation of financial assets

Constitution of legal reserve

Retained
earnings

(6,969,131)

(49)
541,179

1,523,590
-

248
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4,499,830

1,987,736
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The revaluation reserve for tangible fixed assets at fair value cannot be distributed to shareholders
until it is realised.
The currency translation reserve is included in Other reserves and it amounts to -€6,969,131 in
2015 (2014: -€3,584,918). The increase of the currency translation reserve in 2015 is due to
translation differences in translating financial statements in foreign currency (reals) to the
reporting currency (euro).
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37. Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests recognised in the statement of financial position correspond to 23.5% of
the average external holdings in the Group, in respect of several companies in Brazil, less the
internal results, cancelled in the meantime.
Thus, as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of non-controlling interests is as follows:

Non-controlling interests

% of share
capital

31.Dec.2014
On profit for
the year and
respective
Eliminations

On equity
instruments

31.Dec.2015
On profit for
the year and
respective
Eliminations

On equity
instruments

Total

Total

Orey Financial Holding

0.01%

-

-

401

-

-

401

OFP Investimentos

10.01%

15,721

-

14,317

-

-

14,317

Orey Financial Brasil

23.51%

-

15,721

(130,538)

(229,824)

(130,538)

(215,106)

-

-

(133,392)

(363,217)

(133,392)

(348,499)

38. Off balance-sheet items
The breakdown of this item as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
Off balance-sheet items
Guarantees received
Real guarantees on other credits
Total - Guarantees received
Guarantees provided
Assets pledged as collateral to SII
Personal/ institutional guarantees
Total - Guarantees provided
Commitments to third parties
Advisory
Monetary instrument deposit & custody
Private equity fund
Orey CS
Orey Reabilitação Urbana
Irrevocable credit lines
Total - Commitments to third parties
Third-party commitments

Dec-15

Dec-14

58,762,682
49,469,237
24,601,591
7,150,505
5,211,312
135,000
145,330,328

62,774,950
54,995,640
25,263,129
6,339,882
5,144,475
175,000
154,693,076

Advisory
Monetary instrument deposit & custody
Other third-party commitments
Total - Commitments
Total

58,762,682
49,469,237
4,381
108,236,300
257,343,628

62,774,950
54,995,640
1,669
117,772,259
276,212,954

3,472,106
3,472,106

3,441,155
3,441,155

82,744
222,149
304,894

84,315
222,149
306,464

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Securities deposit and custody corresponds to the value of the asset portfolios held by brokerage
clients and in the custody of the Company on the specified dates.
Private equity fund relates to the net asset value of the OCP SICAR Fund.

39. Strict net interest income
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As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of net interest income is as follows:
Strict net interest income

Dec-15

Dec-14

Interest & similar income
Interest on balances
Interest on other placements
Interest on loans granted
Interest on credit extended
Other interest & similar income
Sub-total
Interest & similar costs
interest of other credit institutions
Other interest and bank charges

(7,729,579) (8,033,894)
(7,285)
(16,464)

Sub-total
Total

(7,736,864) (8,050,359)
(7,362,367) (7,472,512)

58,656
18,875
10,166
144,652
142,148
374,498

14,750
136,845
48,733
310,779
66,740
577,847

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

40. Net Commissions
During the periods ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, Net commissions encompassed the
following items:
Net Commissions

Dec-15

dez/14

Management fees
Performance fees
Brokerage fees
Distribution fees
Other commissions received
Services income and commissions
Banking services provided by third parties
Management fees
For securities transactions
Procurement fees
Other commissions paid

625,384
1,427
4,777,296
12,595
5,416,703
(58,710)
(60,635)
(21,105)
(48,058)
(52,170)

932,338
1,467
4,800,530
112,781
6,043
5,853,160
(66,801)
(397,550)
(15,814)
(144,455)
(17,696)

Services and commissions costs
Total

(240,678)
5,176,025

(642,316)
5,210,844
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Brokerage commissions essentially refers to commissions charged to Saxo Bank for brokering
transactions undertaken by iTrade-platform clients. These commissions are primarily associated
with the volume of transactions carried out, and the commission rate applied generally increases in
the light of the risk of the financial instrument traded.
The amount carried under Management Fees refers to discretionary management and portfolio
advisory commissions and real-estate investment funds management fees.
The performance fees relate to discretionary management.
Distribution fees relate to fees charged by Orey Management (Cayman), Limited, for the
commercial distribution of the placement of the Orey Best and Araras bond issues.
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41. Results of other financial transactions
During the periods ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, Results of other financial transactions
encompassed the following items:
Results of other financial transactions

Gains

Financial instruments income
Results of the sale of other financial assets
Currency revaluation results

220,221
907,501
400,954
1,528,677

Results of other financial transactions

Dec-15
Losses

Total

13,509,879
(6,983,808)

13,730,100
907,501
(6,582,854)

6,526,071

8,054,747

Gains

Dec-14
Losses

Total

802,947
227,285
620,239

(39,642)
(22,463)
(607,335)

763,305
204,822
12,904

1,650,471

(669,440)

981,031

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The Income from financial instruments heading refers mainly to the gains on the price of bonds in
the portfolio and to the fair value of the forward contract for the purchase of shares in Banco
Inversis (see Note 10).
During 2015 the Rua dos Remolares property, in Lisbon, was sold, the total area of which was 1,380
m2, for a total consideration of €1,750,000.
Also in 2015, two condominium units (A and C) owned by the Group in the building at Rua de S.
Francisco de Borja, 63, in Lisbon, with a total area of 1,036 m2, were sold for a total consideration
of €6,664,000.
These two operations generated a total book gain for the Group in the sum of €907,501, which is
reflected in Results of the sale of other financial assets.

42. Other operating income
Other operating income as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
Other operating income

Dec-15

Dec-14

Sales
Services rendered
Supplementary income

119,745
11,061,776
308,934

Excess tax estimate
Corrections to previous periods
Reimbursement of taxes
Rents and other income
Other operating income
Other operating income
Cost of goods sold
Subcontracts
Taxes
Disposals
Other operating costs
Other operating costs

20,733
54,218
320,964
148,419
12,034,789
(132,850)
(268,568)
(232,418)
(543,193)
(1,177,077)

125,346
12,498,681
713,938
244,551
42,447
351,045
616,094
14,596,051
(113,659)
(389,537)
(112,882)
(324,102)
(1,238,173)

10,857,712

13,357,878

Total

(Monetary Unit - Euro)
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Services Rendered includes estimated income in the distressed fund operations, where the
estimated value of the business associated with FAWSPE and Op. Incrível amounted to €9,675,976
(2014: €10,889,869), (see Note 11 and Note 22 of these Notes).
The amount included under Services Renders also includes the figures for services rendered by OSO
in the sum of €1,356,707 (2014: €1,608,812).

43. Staff costs
During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Staff costs is as follows:

Staff costs
Remuneration of corporate officers
Remuneration of employees
Post-employment benefits (Note 21)
Indemnities
Charges on remuneration
Insurance
Welfare costs
Other staff costs
Imputation by twelfths
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

1,954,379
3,069,455
10,971
60,345
796,262
50,294
4,523
169,027
485,219

1,667,705
3,014,535
43,793
42,409
754,206
47,282
2,881
213,272
388,426

6,600,476

6,174,507

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

As at December 31, 2015, Corporate officers' remuneration included the bonus of €336,707 (2014:
€169,287.76) payable to the board of directors, equal to 10% of the consolidated net income in
keeping with the practice of previous years and as laid down in the Company's bylaws.
During 2015 the Company had an average of 489 employees (2014: 495 employees).

44. General administrative costs
Other operating costs as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
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General administrative costs
Electricity
Fuel
Water
Tools
Books & documentation
Office supplies
Gift articles
Leases & rentals
Entertainment allowance
Communication
Insurance
Travel, board & lodging
Fees
Litigation and notaries
Maintenance & repairs
Advertising & propaganda
Cleaning & hygiene
Guards
Specialised work
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

39,134
33,215
15,879
2,984
973
12,616
363
680,791
216,967
165,070
33,449
370,920
597,395
30,758
98,026
437,627
36,875
39,184
2,530,870

42,526
42,374
14,363
1,865
1,560
11,328
509
762,531
234,279
141,838
38,802
359,622
735,405
9,776
127,206
410,405
39,912
27,289
2,015,618

5,343,097

5,017,206

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

45. Impairment of other assets net of reversals and recoveries
The breakdown of Impairment of other assets net of reversals is as follows in 2015 and 2014:
Impairment of other assets net of reversals and
recoveries
Impairment
Customers & other debtors
Financial investments
Total impairment
Reversal
Other debtors
Total reversal
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

(42,799)
(669,706)
(712,505)

(55,173)
(139,694)
(194,867)

38,628
38,628
(673,877)

52,549
52,549
(142,318)

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

46. Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:

Earnings per share
Net income for the period
Total nº of shares
Treasury shares
Nº of shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Dec-15

Dec-14

3,048,793
12,000,000
145,385
11,854,615

1,523,590
12,000,000
145,385
11,854,615

0.257
0.257

0.129
0.129

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Earnings per share from available-for-sale transactions are detailed below:
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Earnings per share

Dec-15

Dec-14

Net income for the period
Total nº of shares
Treasury shares
Nº of shares outstanding

(842,474)
12,000,000
145,385
11,854,615

3,525,586
12,000,000
145,385
11,854,615

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

-0.071
-0.071

0.297
0.297

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

47. Transactions with related parties
Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, subsidiaries have relations among themselves that qualify
as transactions with related entities. All these transactions are conducted at market prices.
These transactions are eliminated in the consolidation procedure since the consolidated financial
statements present information on the parent company and its subsidiaries as though it concerned
just a single company.
The Group companies that provide services to other Group companies are as follows: Orey Serviços
e Organização, SA, in the areas of financial services, management control, information technology
and personnel, and Orey Gestão Imobiliária, SA, which owns buildings that are leased to Group
companies.
Besides the companies participated by the Group, there is also a related party, Monte São José, a
company owned by the chairman of the Group's Board of Directors.
Related parties
Monte de S. José - Actividades Agri. Imob. e Recreativas SA

Purchases
2015
2014

485,944
461,250

Sales

Receivables
-

Payables
6

128
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

All these transactions are conducted at market prices.
With regard to transactions with related parties that are key management persons, the Board of
Directors of Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, determined that these persons would
comprise the members of the Board of Directors of Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, the
members of the Board of Directors of the sub-holding companies (Horizon View SA, OA Technical
Representations - Rep.Nav.Ind. SA, OA International BV and Orey Financial – IFIC, SA) and the
directors of Orey Serviços e Organização, Lda, and of Orey Gestão Imobiliária, Lda:


Duarte Maia de Albuquerque d’Orey



Francisco Manuel de Lemos dos Santos Bessa



Miguel Ribeiro Ferreira



Tristão José da Cunha de Mendonça e Menezes:
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Francisco Van Zeller



Alexander Sommervile Gibson



Nuno Teiga Vieira



Rui Maria de Campos de Albuquerque d’Orey



Henrique Manuel Garcia Teles Feio



José Carlos Conceição Santos



Marcos Francisco F. A. Q. Saldanha



Miguel Carvalho Albuquerque d'Orey



João Luís Sacramento Teiga



João Pedro Cortez Almeida Ejarque



Vítor Paulo Figueiredo Monteiro



Salvador Albuquerque d’Orey



Gabriel Sousa Uva

Of the companies that are consolidated under the equity method, the balances of transactions
in 2015 and 2014 with Group companies are as follows:
Transactions
Related parties
OA Technical Representations- Rep.Nav.Ind. SA
Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda
Orey Shipping, SL
Correasur SL
Sofema - Soc. Ferramentas e Máquinas, Lda
Orey Industrial Representations
Contrafogo, Soluções de Segurança SA
Segurvouga- Comércio e Assistência de Equipamentos de Segurança SA
Secur- Comércio e Representações Lda
Orey Safety and Naval SA
Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA
Oilwater Industrial, Serviços e Representações SA
Storkship- Navegação, Trânsitos e Logística, SA
Atlantic Lusofrete - Afretamentos, Transportes e Navegação, SA
Horizon View, SA
Orey Técnica Serviços Navais, Lda
Lalizas Marine- Equipamentos Nauticos Lda
CMA-CGM Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA
Tarros Portugal - Agentes de Navegação, SA
Mendes & Fernandes - Serv. Apoio à Nav. Lda

Year
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014

Purchases
177
928
5,502
1,058
24
24,354
15,411
19,449
-

Sales
91,116
48,814
334,760
573,860
19,917
18,759
11,446
16,447
25,657
25,577
20,543
31,971
71,479
88,641
67,443
154
35,036
27,561
10,294
3,240
738
38,294
39,804
127,476
138,675
71,403
107,176
66,100
42,615
188,280
175,692
11,103
11,187
206,888
228,199
24,437
15,054
15,089
18,905

Receivables
135,296
34,029
8,645
111,654
9,085
26,501
7,392
19,326
708
295
4,000
12,058
109,588
28,837
21,154
204
13,178
15,284
54,978
172
1,334
11,778
24,347
1,283
17,944
5,816
10,410
39,640
63,726
14,978
3,237
(767)
27,587
541
1,994
305
1,421

Payables
114
169,668
130
62
327,000
18,470
97
27,571
31,550
18,015
148,193
588
3,022
150
219,050
9,725
8,900
178
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

Balances
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Loans
Receivable

Related parties
Orey Industrial Representations, SA

2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014
2015
2014

OA Technical Representations - Rep.Nav.Ind. SA
Secur- Comércio e Representações Lda
Lalizas Marine, S.A.
Oilmetric - Sociedade Gestora de Patrimónios, SA
Orey Comércio e Navegação, Lda

Borrowings
Payable

50,057
257,000
589,393
677,393
97,422
110,500
23,873
-

Interest Income

78,500
-

Favourable currency
translation
differences

10,013
13,315
23,168
154
12,250

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

The Group's governing bodies receive a fixed remuneration set by the remuneration committee
and bonuses of 10% of the consolidated profit, also approved by the remuneration committee.

48. Operating leases
The Group's operating leases, as well as the respective terms of the leases as at December 31,
2015, are as follows:
COMPANY
OSO

OFIFIC

LESSOR

OREY GROUP FLEET
Make / Model
RENTING

NUMBER PLATE

Volkswagen Renting-Unipessoal Lda.
LEASEPLAN
BMW RENTING
LEASEPLAN
LOCARENT
LEASEPLAN

01-QJ-57
41-OM-47
48 & -07
59-OC-94
22 & -80
90-MN-85

VW Passat 2.0 TDI 190cv DSG Highline
BMW 520d Touring
BMW 218d Line Cx. Man. Active Tourer (F45)
508 RXH HYbrid4
SEAT ALHAMBRA 2.0 TDI CR STYLE 140 CV
OPEL INSIGNIA SPORTS

ALD AUTOMOTIVE
LEASEPLAN
LOCARENT
LEASEPLAN
BMW Renting
BMW Renting
ALD AUTOMOTIVE
BMW Renting
Volkswagen Renting - Unipessoal Lda.
Nissan Business Finance / ALD automotive
Audi Financial Services
LOCARENT
BMW

77-OV-99

PEUGEOT 3008 1.6 HDI 115 CVM6 ALLURE
Land Rover - Range Rover Evoque 2.2D 2WD eD4 Pure Tech 150cv
OPEL Astra J Sports Tourer Diesel 1.7 CDTi Cosmo
VW SHARAN 2.0 tdI Highline 140 Cv 5P
BMW 328i Auto Line Modern Cx Aut. (F30)
BMW 318 d Touring Cx Man (F31)
AUDI A3 1.6 TDI ATTRACTION
BMW 318 d Line Sport Cx Man (F30)
VOLKSWAGEN Passat V. 2.0 TDi Highline DSG
NISSAN X-TRAIL 1.6 DCI 130HP ACENTA
AUDI A6 Avant Diesel (C7) A6 A 2.0 TDi Business Line
BMW 5 Series 520d
BMW 320d Touring Line Sport Cx Man (F31)

37-OL-89

03-OE-52
94-MJ-91
72-OR-66
06 & -26
85-LP-30
06 & -21
92 & -99
25 & -74
72 & -08
47-MB-01
54-OE-07

START

END

24/09/2015
01/04/2014
28/06/2015
08/11/2013
18/06/2015
29/12/2011
24/07/2014
13/03/2014
25/11/2013
16/11/2011
28/05/2014
05/11/2015
04/05/2011
05/11/2015
13/10/2015
18/09/2015
30/12/2015
05/08/2011
05/01/2014

23/09/2019
31/03/2018
28/05/2019
07/11/2017
17/06/2019
28/12/2015
23/07/2018
12/03/2018
24/11/2017
15/11/2015
28/05/2018
05/10/2019
03/05/2015
05/10/2019
12/10/2019
17/09/2019
29/12/2019
04/08/2015
05/01/2018

Total

AMOUNT FALLING DUE 1 YEAR FALLING DUE 1 TO 5 YEARS
41,779

7,291

27,342

51,532

7,857

17,677

43,252

6,554

22,394

39,398

8,226

15,766

36,194

6,793

23,775

35,224

-

-

27,153

4,171

10,776

46,000

8,695

19,563

26,287

5,532

10,603

40,300

-

-

44,391

8,283

20,016

34,124

5,376

20,609

33,988

-

-

33,546

5,379

20,621

42,245

7,244

27,767

29,941

5,940

22,276

52,180

9,376

37,502

58,145

-

47,060

8,130

762,740

104,846

16,938

313,625

The amounts of the rents of the operating leases during 2015 and 2014 were fully recognised as
cost and are listed below.
Operating lease rents
Orey Financial IFIC SA
Orey Serviços e Organização, SA
Total

Dec-15

Dec-14

93,065
40,322
133,387

114,669
49,755
164,423

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

49. Risk management
Financial risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument may vary,
results being obtained other than expected, be they positive or negative, altering the asset value of
the Group.
In carrying on its current activities, Orey is exposed to a variety of financial risks that may change its
asset value, which, according to their nature, can be grouped into the following categories:
▪ Market risk
▪

Interest-rate risk

268

Annual Report & Accounts | 2015

▪

Exchange-rate risk

▪ Credit risk
▪ Liquidity risk
Management of the above risks - risks that stem in large measure from the unpredictability of the
financial markets - requires careful application of a set of rules and methodologies approved by the
Board, the ultimate goal of which is to minimise the potential negative impact on the asset value
and performance of the Group.
For the purpose, the entire management is oriented in the light of two essential concerns:
▪ To reduce, where possible, fluctuations in the results and cash flows subject to risk
situations;
▪ To Limit deviations from the forecast results, through stringent financial planning, based on
budgets.
As a rule, Orey does not take speculative positions, so usually the operations undertaken within the
scope financial-risk management are intended to existing risks to which Orey is exposed.
The Board defines the principles for risk management as a whole and the policies covering specific
areas such as exchange-rate risk, interest-rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and investment of
surplus liquidity.
Financial-risk management - including identification, evaluation and hedging - is conducted by the
Financial Department in accordance with policies approved by the Board.

Market Risks
49.1 Interest-rate Risk
Orey is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of having in its statement of financial position
floating-rate debt (borrowings, short-term placements and derivatives) and the resulting cash
flows, and is exposed to the euros interest-rate risk.
Considering that:
▪ the volatility of the Group's results is not dependent solely on the volatility of its financial
results associated with interest-rate volatility;
▪ in normal market situations there is a correlation between interest-rate levels and economic
growth and it can be expected that the impact of interest-rate movements (and the
respective volatility in the cash flows associated with the service of the debt) can, to a
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certain extent, be offset by the movements under other headings of the income
statements, notably operating profits;
▪ contracting any hedge instrument implies an associated opportunity cost, the Group's policy
in respect of the mitigation of this risk does not call for maintaining an minimum
proportion of fixed-rate debt (converted into fixed-rate by means of derivative financial
instruments), opting as an alternative for a dynamic approach to monitoring the exposure
that will allow market conditions to be matched to the Group's real exposure, so as to
avoid exposure that could have a real impact on the Group's consolidated results.
In view of the foregoing the Group's policy in respect of this matter establishes case-by-case
analysis of each potential operation, and any derivative instrument contract must be in keeping
with the following principles:
▪ derivatives are not used for trading or speculative purposes;
▪ derivatives to be contracted must replicate exactly the underlying exposures in the matter of
the indices to be used, interest-rate refixing dates and interest-payment dates, as well as
the amortisation profile of the underlying debt;
▪ the maximum financial cost of the derivative and of the underlying exposure must be known
and limited as from the time the derivative is contracted, seeking to ensure that the
resultant interest falls within the cost of the funds considered in the business plans;
▪ all transactions must be subject to competitive auction involving at least two financial
institutions;
▪ all transactions have as their contractual support the market standard (ISDA-

International Swaps and Derivatives Association), their schedules negotiated with each
institution;
▪ in determining the fair value of the hedge operations, the Group uses a set of methods in
accordance with market practices, notably options-valuation models and future cash-flow
discounting models using certain market assumptions (interest and exchange rates, and
volatilities, etc.) prevailing on the reporting date. Comparable quotes provided by credit
institutions are also used as a valuation model;
The items of the statement of financial position that may be affected by changes in the interestrate interest are as follows:
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Amounts owed to other credit institutions
Entity

Dec-15

Bank loans
Novo Banco
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
Banco Popular
Caixa Geral de Depósitos
Banco BIC
Banco Santander Totta
Banco Comercial Português
Banca March
Banca Andbank Andorra

1,333,600
788,949
515,395
5,000,000
363,800
1,943,518
19,000,000

Bank overdrafts
Banco Popular
Banco Banif
Banco BIC

500,000
100,000
1,524

Finance Leases

383,410

Total

29,430,195

Dec-14

3,417,000
1,094,956
693,143
1,033,713
55,240
325,000
2,095,999
2,950,000
-

4,053,463
15,718,512
(Monetary Unit - Euro)

If there is an increase of the index between 0.25% and 0.50%, which is the maximum amount the
Company considers possible, the increase of the financial charges will not exceed the 74 to 147
thousand euros interval (2014: 39 and 79 thousand euros).
All operations that do not meet all the principles established hereabove must be individually
approved by the Board of Directors.

With regard to the Orey Best bond loan, the interest rate payable is the greater of a fixedinterest rate of 6.5% and a floating-rate indexed to the 3-M Euribor rate plus a spread of 3.5%.
In 2014 and 2015 interest was paid on the basis of the fixed-interest rate since the index plus
the spread is still considerably lower. The Company presumes that in 2016 the interest on this
loan will still be paid at the fixed-interest rate.
With regard to the Orey 1 Year bond loan the interest rate is 6% and is payable at maturity, as per
Note 28..
The Araras BV bond loan has a zero coupon, as per Note 28.

49.2 Interest-rate Risk
The Group is engaged in international operations and has subsidiaries operating in several
countries and is therefore subject to the exchange-rate risk. Since each business operates in
different markets a uniform policy has not been defined, rather individual policies for each
business. The Group is exposed to the exchange-rate risk at two levels: transaction risk and
transposition risks.
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The Group's exposure to the transaction exchange-rate risk arising on commercial transactions is
limited. For exposures involving some uncertainty the Group may make use of currency options.
The final and average exchange rates used during the period were as follows:

Currency

Dec-15
Average for
the period

End of period

Brazilian Real
American Dollar
Angolan Kwanza
Mozambican Metical

0.23480
0.91491
0.00665
0.02040

0.27128
0.89900
0.00727
0.02311

Dec-14
Average for the
period

End of period

0.30870
0.82271
0.00757
0.02495

0.32119
0.75448
0.00740
0.02439

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

49.3 Credit Risk
The Credit risk lies mainly with Orey Financial IFIC and its subsidiaries, and with the firms FAWSPE
and Op. Incrível, the latter directly related with their own business and with the close of the
operations.
The credit risk of Orey Financial IFIC and its subsidiaries, relates to financial losses arising from
default by the counterparties with which the financial instruments are concluded.
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the maximum exposure to credit risk by type of financial
instrument at the Orey Financial Sub-Group, excluding the securities in the portfolio, can be
summarised as follows:
Credit risk

Amount of exposure

Gross carrying amount

Provisions / impairment

Net carrying amount

Type of instrument

31.Dec.2015

Cash & balances at central banks

3 558

3 558

-

3 558

6 060 464

6 060 464

-

6 060 464

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

474 286

474 286

-

474 286

Available-for-sale financial assets

138 883

138 883

-

138 883

1 948

1 948

-

1 948

1 535 917

1 535 917

-

1 535 917

Balances with other credit institutions

Placements with credit institutions
Loans & advances to customers
Other assets

4 572 446

Financial liabilities held for trading
Total

4 572 446

( 554 034)

4 018 412

4 651 998

308 998

-

308 998

17,439,500

13,096,500

(554,034)

12,542,466

(Monetary Unit - Euro)
Euros

Credit risk

Amount of exposure

Gross carrying amount

Provisions / impairment

Net carrying amount

Type of instrument
Cash & balances at central banks
Balances with other credit institutions
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31.Dec.2014
3 410

3 410

-

3 410

2 733 881

2 733 881

-

2 733 881

468 209

468 209

-

468 209

Available-for-sale financial assets

2 979 694

2 979 694

-

2 979 694

Loans & advances to customers

2 208 112

2 208 112

-

2 208 112

Other assets

4 738 229

4 738 229

( 205 401)

4 532 828

Financial liabilities held for trading
Total

196 000
13,327,536

( 8 034)
13,123,502

-

( 8 034)

(205,401)

12,918,100

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

49.4 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity-risk management is intended to ensure that, from time to time, the Group has the
financial capacity, with no unfavourable market conditions:
▪ to fulfil its payment obligations as and when they fall due, and
▪ to ensure timely financing adequate to the development of its business and strategy.
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For the purpose, the Group intends to maintain a flexible financial structure , and for this reason
the process of management of the liquidity risk within the Group involves the following
fundamental aspects:
▪ optimisation of the financial function within the Group;
▪ financial planning based on cash-flow forecasts both at individual and at consolidated level,
for different time horizons;
▪ a system of financial control in the short, medium and long term that will allow timely
determination of deviations, anticipate borrowing requirements and identify refinancing
opportunities;
▪ diversification of sources of financing and of counterparties;
▪ dispersal of the maturities of issued debt, with a view to avoiding excessive concentration of
amortisation of debt at certain points in time.
Regular monitoring by the Board allows effective implementation of a policy of aggregation of risks
at Group level and also fast, direct, centralised intervention. As of this date this risk is diluted by the
presence of short-term balances to meet current borrowings. In general it should be pointed out
that the Current assets are greater than the Current liabilities and were the short-term debts
enforced there would be sufficient resources to fulfil these obligations.
On October 15, 2004, a financial committee known as ALCO (Asset-Liability Committee) was
approved at a meeting of the Company's Board of Directors.
The aim of ALCO is to advise the Board of Directors on the Group's financial management, defining
and controlling application of the policy dealing with the financing of the business and its growth,
including balance-sheet and own-funds planning. OREY is exposed to a diverse number of financial
risks related with its operations, of which attention is drawn to the interest-rate risk, the exchangerate risk, the liquidity risk and the credit risk. The Management Planning and Control area is
responsible for providing the elements required to assess these risks, and this is done on a weekly
basis in some cases (liquidity risk and credit risk) and on a monthly basis in others (interest-rate risk
and exchange-rate risk).

50. Remuneration of the Official Auditor
The remunerations billed by the Company's external auditors amounted to €195,170 in 2014,
relating to statutory audit services.
The breakdown of these amounts is as follows:
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Statutory Auditor’s Fees

Dec-15

Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA
Group entities
Total

Dec-14

58,190
169,370
227,560

12,360
182,810
195,168

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

51. Contingent assets and liabilities
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, financial commitments not carried in the balance sheet are as
follows:
Bank guarantees provided to the State €893,101 (2014: €893,101)
Guarantees provided to other companies €21,000 (2014: €221,000).
Total €914,101 (2014: €1,114,102).
Company
DGCI - IRC 2004
DGCI - IRC 2003
DGCI - IRC 2002
DGCI - IRC 2001
DGCI - IVA 2006 - OVT
DGCI - IRC 2010
DGCI - IVA 2006 - OVT
CTT - Correios de Portugal, S.A.
Galp Energia
OGI (Avalista)
TOTAL

Dec-15
111,665
244,704
181,176
259,460
5,498
84,466
1,133
5,000
21,000
0
914,102

Dec-14
111,665
244,704
181,176
259,460
5,498
84,466
1,133
5,000
21,000
200,000
1,114,102

(Monetary Unit - Euro)

52. Remuneration of corporate officers
As at December 31, 2015, remuneration paid to the Company's Governing Bodies has to do solely
with short-term benefits, as follows:

Remuneration of corporate officers
Remuneration of corporate officers
Board of Auditors

Dec-15

Dec-14

1,617,672
24,000

1,667,705
24,000

53. Information required by legislation
No further information is required by law.

54. Subsequent Events
As of the date on which the financial statements are authorised for issue by the Board of Directors,
May 16, 2016, no subsequent events are known that impact on the financial statements of
December 31, 2015.
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The Group also discloses the following subsequent events:

Banco Inversis
As mentioned in Note 7, the completion of the purchase of 49.9999999936% of Banco Inversis by
SCOA was still pending as at December 31, 2015. The date for the signature of the purchase deed
initially agreed between the parties was December 15, 2015, a date on which SCOA attended but
BM failed to attend, which was recorded in a notarised affidavit, Banca March having been notified
of this fact. After the failure by Banca March to attend on December 15, 2015, and as provided for
in the contractual conditions, the signature of the purchase deed was reschedules for January 8,
2016, and it was duly signed on that date in keeping with the normal conditions agreed between
the parties and under the same conditions as would have occurred had the transaction taken place
on December 15, 2015, the therefore conditions of acquisition are identical to those that would
have resulted from the acquisition on the latter date.

Sale of 10% of the share capital of Horizon View
On February 11, 2016, the Group, through OCPSICAR, signed a pruchase and sale agreements with
OREY COMERCIO E NAVEGAÇÃO, SA, in which it sold 25,000 shares in the holding company Horizon
View, SA, for the amount of €645,000.
These shares represent 10% of the said company's share capital.
This purchase and sale agreement has a repurchase option for OCPSICAR, which must be exercised
within a period of 6 months from the date of signature of this agreement.
In this way, as of the date of issue of the financial statements for the accounting period ended December
15, 2015, the Group holds only 40.0004% (2015: 50.0004%) of the share capital of Horizon View.

Orey Financial IFIC & DomusVenda Agreement
On February 12, 2016, SociedaComercial Orey Antunes, SA ("SCOA") concluded a number of
agreements forming part of a transaction that includes the transfer of the shares in of Orey
Financial – Instituição Financeira de Crédito, SA ("Orey Financial") and the assignment of credits:


Agreement for the purchase and sale of all the Shares in Orey Financial whereby SCOA
agrees to sell all of the shares in Orey Financial for the price of €6,100,000 or €5,600,000,
after a number of conditions precedent have been fulfilled. These conditions precedent
include (1) the split of Orey Financial, spinning off to a new company ("Newco") that will act
as a Financial Brokerage Company, and (2) obtaining the approvals and decisions of nonopposition by the regulatory and supervisory authorities required for the completion of the
transaction;
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Agreement for the Assignment of Credits whereby Orey Financial acquires two portfolios of
credits, one in respect of what were originally mortgage credits in a post-foreclosure
scenario and a series of credits designated as consumer credits.

This day, Orey Financial has paid €4,100,000 for the Assignment of Credits and the SCOA
€4,100,000 by way of advance payment in respect of the Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of
the Shares in Orey Financial. The remainder of the agreed price will be paid after the conditions
precedent have been fulfilled, this amount to be €2,000,000 should the conditions precedent be
fulfilled by April 20, 2016, and €1,500,000 if the conditions precedent are fulfilled between May 1,
2016, and the long-stop date (July 15, 2016, or October 15, 2016, if the latter comes to be agreed
between the parties).
The shares in Orey Financial that SCOA undertakes to deliver are in respect of a company that will
have the following characteristics: (i) it will be authorised to act as financial credit company ; (ii) it
will not have its present establishment, which will have been transferred to NewCo, which, at the
time of conveyance of the establishment, will be duly authorised to operate as financial brokerage
company; and (iii) it will have equity in the amount of €7,500,000, and its balance sheet will
comprise the portfolio of credits that will have been assigned to it under the Agreement for the
Assignment of Credits, in the situation and with the value that this portfolio has at the time of
delivery of the Shares, and cash in the sum of €1,500,000.
Therefore, in this context, the current business of Orey Financial will come to be carried on by a
financial brokerage company. This agreement is a further step in the implementation of the
strategic plan of the Orey Group, which provides that part of Orey Financial’s operations will be
supported by the technological platform of Banco Inversis. This will allow greater synergies to be
generated by the recent acquisition by the Orey Group of the 49.99% holding in Banco Inversis.

Bond loan issue
On March 31 an unsecured bond loan was issued by private offering, in the amount of
€2,100,000.00 (two million one hundred thousand euros) maturing in 2017.
The purpose of the issue is the investment by SCOA of the funds obtained in amortising the debt of
the companies of the Orey Group.
The conditions of the Orey Best bond loan are as follows:



The issuer is Sociedade Comercial Orey Antunes, SA, and the paying agent is Montepio;
Amount issued €2,100,000, maturing on 30/03/2017;



Interest paid at maturity (zero-coupon issue) at the rate of 6.5%.
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